
 

 

 
Friday, 15 January 2021 
 
To:   Members of the SCR - Mayoral Combined Authority Board and Appropriate Officers 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
You are hereby summoned to a meeting of the Sheffield City Regional Mayoral Combined 
Authority to be held at Virtual Meeting, on: Monday, 25 January 2021 at 10.00 am for the 
purpose of transacting the business set out in the agenda. 
 

 
Dr Dave Smith 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 

Webcasting Notice 
 

This meeting will be streamed live or subsequent broadcast via the Mayoral Combined 
Authority’s website. 
 
You should be aware that the Mayoral Combined Authority is a Data Controller under the 
Data Protection Act 2018.  Data collected during this webcast will be retained in 
accordance with the Mayoral Combined Authority’s published policy. 
 
By entering the meeting room, you are consenting to be filmed and to the possible use of 
those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 
 

 

You can view the agenda and papers  
at www.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk  
or use a smart phone camera  
and scan the QR code: 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/


 

 

Member Distribution 
 
Mayor Dan Jarvis MBE (Chair) SCR Mayoral Combined Authority 
Councillor Chris Read (Vice-Chair) Rotherham MBC 
Councillor Garry Purdy Derbyshire Dales DC 
Mayor Ros Jones CBE Doncaster MBC 
Councillor Bob Johnson Sheffield City Council 
Councillor Simon Greaves Bassetlaw DC 
Councillor Sir Steve Houghton CBE Barnsley MBC 
Councillor Steve Fritchley Bolsover DC 
Councillor Tricia Gilby Chesterfield BC 
Councillor Alex Dale NE Derbyshire DC 
James Muir Chair of LEP Board 
 



 

 

 
SCR - Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

 
 

Monday, 25 January 2021 at 10.00 am 
 
Venue: Virtual Meeting 

 

Agenda 
 

Agenda 
Ref No 

Subject Lead Page 
 

1.   Welcome and Apologies  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 

2.   Announcements  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 

3.   Urgent Items 
 
To determine whether there are any additional items 
of business which by reason of special 
circumstances the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered at the meeting; the reason(s) for such 
urgency to be stated. 
 

Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 

4.   Items to be Considered in the Absence of Public 
and Press 
 
To identify where resolutions may be moved to 
exclude the public and press.  (For items marked * 
the public and press may be excluded from the 
meeting.) 
 

Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 

5.   Voting Rights for Non-constituent Members 
 
To identify whether there are any items of business 
that apply only to the South Yorkshire Members of 
the Mayoral Combined Authority, ie, where it would 
not be appropriate for non-SY Members to have 
voting rights. 
 

Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 

6.   Declarations of Interest by individual Members in 
relation to any item of business on the agenda 
 
Declarations of Interest by individual Members in 
relation to any item of business on the agenda. 
 

Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 

7.   Reports from and questions by members  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 

8.   Receipt of Petitions  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 



 

 

9.   Public Questions  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 

10.   Minutes of the last meeting  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

5 - 14 

11.   Working Win Extension  Mr Gareth 
Sutton 

15 - 22 

12.   Housing Fund (Brownfield)  Mr Colin 
Blackburn 

23 - 40 

13.   Adult Education Budget Commissioning - Update  MS Helen 
Kemp 

41 - 46 

14.   Strategic Economic Plan  Mr Felix 
Kumi-
Ampofo 

47 - 108 

15.   Programme Approvals  Ms Sue 
Sykes 

109 - 116 

16.   Implications of the Spending Review  Mr Gareth 
Sutton 

117 - 126 

17.   Budget and Business Plan Development 2021/22  Mr Gareth 
Sutton 

127 - 160 

18.   Budget Revision 3  Mr Gareth 
Sutton 

161 - 188 

19.   Geographic Focus and brand of the MCA and future 
collaboration with the MCA's non-constituent 
authorities  

Dr D Smith 189 - 192 

20.   Appointment of SYPTE Non-Executive Director  Mr S 
Davenport 

193 - 194 

21.   Assurance and Monitoring & Evaluation Framework  Dr R 
Adams 

195 - 224 

22.   Delegated Authority Report  Dr D Smith 
 

225 - 230 

23.   Mayoral Remuneration  Mr S 
Davenport 

231 - 256 

24.   Freeport Bid Submission  Mr Mark 
Lynam 

257 - 260 

Date of next meeting: Monday, 22 March 2021 at 10.00 am 

At:Sheffield City Region, 11 Broad Street West, Sheffield S1 2BQ  



SCR - MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY BOARD 
 

 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON: 
 
MONDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2020 AT 10.00 AM 
 
SHEFFIELD CITY REGION, 11 BROAD STREET WEST, 
SHEFFIELD S1 2BQ 
 

 

 
Present: 
 
Mayor Dan Jarvis MBE (Chair) MCA Mayoral Combined Authority 
Councillor Chris Read (Vice-Chair) Rotherham MBC 
Councillor Julie Dore Sheffield City Council 
Mayor Ros Jones CBE Doncaster MBC 
Councillor Sir Steve Houghton CBE Barnsley MBC 
Councillor Alex Dale NE Derbyshire DC 
 
Officers in Attendance: 
  
Gareth Sutton Chief Finance Officer/S73 

Officer 
MCA Executive Team 

Dr Dave Smith Chief Executive MCA Executive Team 
Dr Ruth Adams Deputy Chief Executive MCA Executive Team 
Steve Davenport Principal Solicitor & Monitoring 

Officer 
MCA Executive Team 

Mark Lynam Director of Transport, Housing 
and Infrastructure 

MCA Executive Team 

Sue Sykes Assistant Director - Programme 
and Performance Unit 

MCA Executive Team 

  
In Attendance 
 
Melanie McCoole (Minute Taker)   
 
Apologies: 
 
Councillor Garry Purdy Derbyshire Dales DC 
Councillor Simon Greaves Bassetlaw DC 
Councillor Steve Fritchley Bolsover DC 
Councillor Tricia Gilby Chesterfield BC 
James Muir Chair of LEP Board 
 
1 Welcome and Apologies 

 
 The Mayor welcomed everyone to the meeting, and he introduced the 

Members present. 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 10



 

2 Announcements 
 

 The Mayor addressed the meeting in respect of the latest position on the 
coronavirus pandemic.  The country was now 12 days into a new national 
lockdown.  Prior to the new national restrictions, South Yorkshire had been in 
the highest level of the regional tiered restrictions.  There was no doubt that 
South Yorkshire, alongside much of the North of England was, and very 
possibly would remain, in an incredibly vulnerable and dangerous position in 
relation to the spread of the virus.  On that basis, it had been agreed with the 
Government for South Yorkshire to enter into Tier 3.  The same considerations 
of health and wellbeing for the communities would drive any future decisions 
about how South Yorkshire must respond as the national restrictions were 
eased in December 2020.  These were difficult times for the communities, 
businesses and the public services across local government, together with 
social care and the health services. 
 
It was hoped that the restrictions would start to bring down the case numbers 
and enable matters to resume back to normal as soon as possible.  A 
coronavirus vaccine was now in sight, which for the first time in 2020 was a 
cause for optimism and hope.  It was considered that science, technology and 
a great mobilisation of the public health system, army and local government 
would get us through this difficult time.  The Mayor considered that it was 
perhaps now the time for the Government to acknowledge that it was indeed 
the experts, whether they be the scientists or local government, that they 
should listen to. 
 
In relation to the coronavirus restriction support, the Mayor stated that setting 
aside the hope for 2021, focus was being given to the here and now.  He was 
pleased to observe that today’s meeting demonstrated the commitment to 
deliver real and tangible support to help the economy and weather the shock.  
This included extending the employment scheme Working Win to support a 
further 450 people with mental or physical health conditions to stay in or find 
work until March 2021, to put in place a £30m package of support for 
businesses that worked with the national support schemes, to support the local 
councils with financial support to deliver to the communities across South 
Yorkshire, to continue getting spades in the ground and cranes in the sky with 
the capital programme and to agree the investment of a further £45m of 
resources to deliver business support schemes, skills and employment support 
and a further programme of capital works to enable the economy to move. 
 
The Mayor stated that in relation to the Flood Summit, that whilst COVID-19 
had been a focus, the impact on the communities across South Yorkshire 
following the flooding that had occurred just 12 months ago had not been 
forgotten.  The Government had been pressed hard at the long-awaited Flood 
Summit, on their commitment to South Yorkshire, and they had subsequently 
been challenged to match the new commitment of £5.5m to protect 860 homes 
across South Yorkshire and to help ensure that the transport system was more 
resilient. 
 
In relation to the Comprehensive Spending Review, the Mayor stated that he 
had kept up the pressure on the Government to help South Yorkshire build 
back better with a submission to the Government’s Comprehensive Spending 

Page 6



 

Review, whilst pressing the importance of a longer term funding settlement for 
the region.  The Mayor recognised that this was an incredibly busy time for 
everyone.  He believed that this was a moment where the value of the Mayoral 
Combined Authority was being demonstrated. 
 
The Mayor was grateful to the Local Enterprise Partnership Board Members 
and all of the business groups that had contributed to the plans, together with 
the Members of the Mayoral Combined Authority that had worked long days 
and nights to make all of this happen. 
 

3 Urgent Items 
 

 Members were informed of the means by which the meeting would be 
conducted, to be compliant with appropriate legislation and pursuant of SCR’s 
own Constitution. 
 

4 Items to be Considered in the Absence of Public and Press 
 

 None. 
 

5 Voting Rights for Non-constituent Members 
 

 It was noted that non-constituent Members were welcome to participate in the 
discussion of every item on the agenda. 
 

6 Declarations of Interest by individual Members in relation to any item of 
business on the agenda 
 

 Councillor Read declared an interest in the matters to be considered at agenda 
Item 13 Gainshare: Emergency Recovery Fund and Item 14 Programme 
Approvals in relation to the Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council schemes, 
by virtue of being the Leader of the council. 
 
Mayor Jones CBE declared an interest in the matters to be considered at 
agenda Item 14 Programme Approvals in relation to the Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council scheme, by virtue of being the Leader of the council. 
 
Councillor Houghton CBE declared an interest in the matters to be considered 
at agenda Item 14 Programme Approvals in relation to any schemes relating to 
Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council, by virtue of being the Leader of the 
council. 
 
Councillor Dore declared an interest in the matters to be considered at agenda 
Item 13 Gainshare: Emergency Recovery Fund and Item 14 Programme 
Approvals in relation to Sheffield City Council schemes, by virtue of being the 
Leader of the council. 
 
The Mayor declared an interest at agenda Item 13 Gainshare: Emergency 
Recovery Fund, by virtue of being a Barnsley MP. 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

7 Reports from and questions by members 
 

 None. 
 

8 Receipt of Petitions 
 

 None. 
 

9 Public Questions 
 

 None. 
 

10 Minutes of the meeting held on 21st September 2020 
 

 RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on  
21 September 2020 were agreed as an accurate record of the meeting. 
 

11 Covid Tier 3 Restrictions Support   
 

 A report was presented to update the Board on the outcome of negotiations 
with Central Government together with an outline of how the funds received 
would be deployed. 
 
The Mayor stated that on Saturday 24 October 2020, South Yorkshire had 
entered into Tier 3 of the Covid restrictions as set out by Central Government, 
which had been at the end of the negotiations with the Mayoral Combined 
Authority, South Yorkshire local authority leaders and the Government.  The 
tier system had then been replaced by a month-long national lockdown for 
England from 5 November 2020.  Nevertheless, there was a need for decisions 
to be made on the £41.3m support that had been secured comprising of 
£11.3m support for track and trace and public health related activities, together 
with a £30m package for businesses and residents to mitigate the economic 
and social effects of the restrictions. 
 
Councillor Dore stated that this had been an incredibly difficult time for 
everyone.  The £30m package was very welcome, but she considered that it 
was definitely not enough when looking at the individuals and organisations in 
particular the small businesses, freelance workers, sole traders and the self-
employed that had fallen through the cracks in the Government’s scheme.  She 
considered that the work undertaken across South Yorkshire had been 
incredibly difficult, however she was really pleased that this had collectively and 
collaboratively concluded with a common scheme across South Yorkshire 
which would help those people that the Government had allowed to slip through 
the cracks in the scheme.  She expressed her thanks to colleagues and officers 
who had worked incredibly hard to get South Yorkshire to this point. 
 
The Mayor stated that he was sure that Councillor Dore’s sentiments would be 
shared across the MCA. 
 
Councillor Houghton CBE reiterated the positive nature of the Government’s 
scheme and the help that was required by the businesses.  However, prior to 
the national lockdown, South Yorkshire had been allocated £30m as a Tier 3 

Page 8



 

area, but the money had been utilised to support the impact of the national 
lockdown.  At the same time, the Government had allocated equivalent 
amounts of funding to other areas within the country going into the national 
lockdown.  Therefore, South Yorkshire would be no better off than other areas 
within the country.  The Government had indicated that post lockdown, that the 
areas would move back into their tiers which would mean that those areas 
returning back into Tiers 1 and 2 would have a financial advantage over South 
Yorkshire, as the restrictions placed upon Tier 3 were much more severe than 
those in Tiers 1 and 2.  It was important for South Yorkshire to receive 
additional funding to support the position in December 2020.  He had raised the 
position with the Local Government Association who would address the matter 
with the Ministers. 
 
Mayor Jones CBE concurred with the comments made by Councillor Dore and 
Councillor Houghton CBE.  She emphasised the need to press the Government 
hard that South Yorkshire should not be put at a disadvantage, and that its 
businesses and residents deserved better.  She was delighted to note that 
Councillor Houghton CBE had liaised with the Local Government Association 
who would press the Government. 
 
The Mayor agreed with the comments made and the urgent need to continue to 
press Government for additional financial support for the businesses and 
communities within South Yorkshire.  The Spending Review would take place 
next week, which would provide a further opportunity for the Government to 
invest into the region. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA:- 
 

i. Noted the agreement reached with the Government to support public 
health activities and also businesses and residents and the subsequent 
work on the detail of those strands.  

ii. Agreed to accept the grant of £30m for the purposes set out above. 

iii. Delegated authority to the Section 73 Officer to accept the money and 
put in place sub arrangements. 

 
12 Renewal Action Plan 

 
 A report was submitted which presented the priority interventions that had been 

endorsed by the Thematic Boards for implementing the Renewal Action Plan 
objectives in the immediate term. 
 
The Mayor stated that in response to the social and economic impact of the 
coronavirus pandemic, the Renewal Action Plan had been published and 
submitted to the Government earlier this year.  The Plan had laid out how 
£1.7bn of investment in the region’s people, businesses and places could kick-
start the fightback to the ongoing crisis.  The Plan had also formed the core of 
the submission to the Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review, which 
later this month would be drawn down to a one-year review.  He added that 
regardless of the Government’s decisions, the process of prioritising and 
delivering some of the much-needed interventions must commence. 
 
Councillor Read considered that it was correct to provide as much support as 

Page 9



 

possible within the MCA’s gift to support the local economy through what was 
likely to be an incredibly difficult situation over the next few years, in particularly 
to help people get into work or to stay in work, and to support local businesses.  
He considered that it was correct to agree the report in principle, and he looked 
forward to helping to develop more detail around the schemes moving forward. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA:- 
 

i. Considered the RAP interventions that had been prioritised by the 
Thematic Boards as set out in Annex 1 to the report. 

ii. Approved the use of £16.5m of gainshare revenue funding and £29m of 
gainshare capital funding to enable detailed development of the priority 
interventions. 

 
13 Gainshare: Emergency Recovery Fund 

 
 A report was submitted which sought authority for the award of grant totalling 

£5.75m to the South Yorkshire local authorities in support of Covid economic 
recovery efforts, with a proposal that it be funded from gainshare resource.  
The report also outlined the proposal to release a further £0.74m of gainshare 
funding to resource MCA pressures, and sought approval to progress the 
development of a Project Feasibility Fund and an Investment Framework. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA:- 
 

i. Approved the award of grant totalling £5.75m to the four South Yorkshire 
authorities to support local Covid economic recovery efforts. 

ii. Approved the release of £0.74m of gainshare resource to support MCA 
financial pressures related to Covid. 

iii. Approved the creation of a revenue ‘Project Feasibility Fund’ to enable 
pipeline Development. 

iv. Approved the continuing development of an ‘Investment Framework’. 
v. Delegated authority to the Chief Executive and the Section 73 Officer to 

transact the grant awards to the South Yorkshire authorities in the most 
efficient means possible. 

 
14 Programme Approvals 

 
 A report was presented which sought MCA approval in relation to the following 

items:- 
 
i) Approval of three schemes with a total value of £8.18m Getting Building 

Fund (GBF). 
ii) Approval of one Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Outline Business Case 

with a total value of £5,458,141 and early release of up to £546k 
development funding. 

iii) Approval of five change requests for existing Local Growth Fund (LGF) 
projects. 

iv) Approval for the acceptance of a grant totalling £40.16m for the A630 
Parkway Widening Scheme and the onward award of that grant to 
Rotherham MBC. 

v) Approval for delegated authority to be granted to the Head of Paid service 

Page 10



 

in consultation with the Section 73 Officer and the Monitoring Officer to 
enter into legal agreement for the schemes. 
 

An award of £33.6m GBF had been made to the MCA on 30 June 2020 to 
invest in ‘shovel-ready’ projects that would provide stimulus to local economies, 
with the funds to be utilised by 31 March 2022. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA approved:- 

 
i. The acceptance of a grant from the Department for Transport totalling 

£40.16m for the A630 Parkway Widening Scheme, and the onward 
award of that grant to Rotherham MBC. 

ii. Progression of Heart of the City Breathing Spaces to full approval and 
award of £4m grant to Sheffield City Council subject to the conditions set 
out in the Appraisal Panel Summary Table. 

iii. Progression of Rotherham Town Centre Masterplan to full approval and 
award of £2.18m grant to Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 
subject to the conditions set out in the Appraisal Panel Summary Table. 

iv. Progression of Century BIC II to full approval and award of £2m grant to 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council subject to the conditions set 
out in the Appraisal Panel Summary Table. 

v. Progression of iPort Bridge to Full Business Case and award of up to 
£546k business case development costs to South Yorkshire Passenger 
Transport Executive subject to the conditions set out in the Appraisal 
Panel Summary Table. 

vi. Project change request from “Digital Engineering Skills Development 
Network” to agree an extension to works completion from September 
2020 to September 2021, reprofile of £1.2m grant from 20/21 to 21/22 
and reprofile of outputs and outcomes in accordance with the revised 
timescales. 

vii. Project change request from “M1 J37 Phase 2” to agree a reprofile of up 
to £4.07m grant from 20/21 to 21/22 and reprofile of outputs and 
outcomes in accordance with the revised timescales. 

viii. Project change request from” M1 J36 Phase 1 (Hoyland)” to agree an 
extension to works completion from 20/21 to 21/22, reprofile of up to 
£544k grant from 20/21 to 21/22 and reprofile of outputs and outcomes 
in accordance with the revised timescales. 

ix. Project change request from “Greasbrough Road Corridor” to agree an 
extension to works completion from April 2021 to September 2021 and 
reprofile of £1.05m from 20/21 to 21/22 and reprofile of outputs and 
outcomes in accordance with the revised timescales. 

x. Project change request from “First Group Customer Contact” to agree an 
extension to works completion from March 2021 to March 2022, reprofile 
of £406K grant from 20/21 to 21/22 and reprofile of outputs and 
outcomes in accordance with the revised timescales. 

xi. Delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in consultation 
with the Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter into legal agreements 
for the schemes covered above. 

 
 
 
 

Page 11



 

15 Potholes and Challenge Fund Allocation 
 

 A report was submitted to present the MCA with a proposal for the allocation of 
Transport Infrastructure and Investment Fund - Pothole and Challenge Fund 
Allocation from the Department for Transport (Dft). 
 
In May 2020, the DfT had announced that it had awarded Sheffield City Region 
£13.605m from the £1.7bn Transport Infrastructure Investment Fund (TIIF), to 
improve journeys for cyclists, pedestrians and drivers across England through 
repairs to local roads.  Following a delay, the settlement letter for the award 
had been provided on 11 September 2020. 
 
RESOLVED - That the MCA agreed to the proposal for distribution of the 
funding. 
 

16 2019/20 Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 
 

 A report was presented to seek approval of the Annual Statement of Accounts 
and the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
The MCA was required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts and to 
perform an annual review of the effectiveness of systems of internal controls 
through the publication of an Annual Governance Statement by the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA approved:- 
 

i. The Annual Statement of Accounts. 
ii. The Annual Governance Statement. 

 
17 Budget Revision 2 

 
 A report was submitted which provided revised budget forecasts to the end of 

the year, including the adoption of a number of new funding streams. 
 
The economic disruption caused by coronavirus and the resultant fiscal 
response from the Government had resulted in a significant change to the 
MCA’s capital and revenue budgets over the course of the year.  The MCA’s 
financial position had been reviewed by a second budget revision exercise that 
had been undertaken at the mid-year mark. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA:- 
 

i. Adopted the revised budget estimates. 
ii. Approved the adoption into the capital programme of a gainshare capital 

fund totalling £18m. 
iii. Approved an increase in the revenue budget ceiling by £42m to 

accommodate gainshare funded activity and Covid Tier 3 Restriction 
funding. 

iv. Noted the slower than forecast pace of the capital programme. 
v. Approved the contracting arrangements to secure external support for 

the delivery of the Adult Education Budget Implementation Plan. 

Page 12



 

 
18 2021/22 Budget and Business Plan Development 

 
 A report was presented which outlined the process for developing the budget 

and the supporting business plan for the new financial year. The report noted 
the challenging environment in which the process was taking 
place, and the need for engagement with partners. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA:- 
 

i. Noted the budget and business planning process being undertaken 
within the MCA. 

ii. Noted the significant uncertainties shaping the process. 
iii. Noted the proposed approval timeline. 

 
19 Scheme of Delegation: Contracts and Accounts 

 
 A report was submitted which proposed an amendment to the threshold at 

which the MCA’s statutory officers were authorised to take decisions under 
delegation from the MCA for certain types of contracting for goods and 
services.  The proposal would align the MCA decision making processes to that 
of SYPTE and reduce the number of operational matters coming before the 
MCA Board. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA approved the increase in the delegation threshold 
under which statutory officers may accept a tender or quotation for the supply 
of goods, services, or materials to £200k for matters that could not be 
otherwise approved by a Thematic Board. 
 

20 Contract Procedure Rules 
 

 A report was presented which proposed the adoption of a new suite of Contract 
Procedure Rules as part of the MCA’s Constitutional documents.  The adoption 
of the new Contract Procedure Rules would ensure that the MCA’s core 
processes remained fit for purpose as its business evolved. 
 
Mayor Jones CBE requested that wherever possible, the monies should be 
spent within the procurement processes to ensure value for money with the 
local authorities within South Yorkshire, in order to help to stimulate its 
economy, instead of looking further afield. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA approved the adoption of the proposed Contract 
Procedure Rules. 
 

21 Risk Management Policy 
 

 A report was submitted which presented a new risk management policy and 
process, following a full internal Management Board review and an Internal 
Audit Report, which had enabled the risk management framework of the MCA 
to be revised and refreshed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the MCA considered and approved the revised Risk 

Page 13



 

Management Policy. 
 

22 Delegated Authority Report 
 

 A report was presented which provided the details of the delegations agreed by 
the MCA which were in addition to those made under the Scheme of 
Delegation, together with the details of the decisions taken under the 
delegation made to the Thematic Boards and the subsequent delegations 
made to officers where appropriate. 
 
RESOLVED – That Members noted the decisions and delegations made. 
 

 
I, the undersigned, confirm that this is a true and accurate record of the meeting. 
 
Signed  

 
Name 

 

 
Position 

 

 
Date 

 

Page 14



 

Purpose of Report 
 
Following discussion at the October (20) and following endorsement at the January 2021 Education, 
Skills and Employability Board, this paper is seeking the approval of the MCA Board to accept £3m 
grant and approval to enter into a partnership agreement with NHS Clinical Commissioning Group to 
procure and contract the appropriate provider(s) to deliver the programme. The paper is seeking 
delegated authority to the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the Section 73 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer to enter into legal agreements for the programme. 

 
Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme.  
 
Recommendations 
 
The Board consider and accept:  

1. The Work and Health Unit c£3m grant funding for the Working Win Programme subject to 
due diligence on any conditions of award. 

2. Entering into a Partnership Agreement with Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
in order for the Working Win programme to be procured as an NHS contract, as stipulated by 
the Work and Health Unit on terms to be agreed by the Head of Paid Service. 

3. Delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the Section 73 
and Monitoring Officer to enter into a legal agreement for the scheme covered above. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 

 1.1 As part of the devolution proposition development, Sheffield City Region MCA were 
offered the opportunity to develop a health-led employment trial to test an approach to 
improving employment outcomes for individuals through a programme focusing on 
supporting an individual’s health issues. The model developed focused on participants 
who were in work to retain and sustain work and those out of work to access employment.  
The health-led employment trial – Working Win – was one of only two national pilots 
funded by the Work and Health Unit, a cross department unit jointly sponsored by the 
Department for Work and Pensions and the Department for Health and Social Care. Since 
the first grant offer and a subsequent extension, the MCA has been in receipt of £9.56m to 
deliver the programme.  
 

 1.2   The Working Win Health Led Employment trial has been subject to rigorous national 
evaluation which continues. Our monitoring evidence is that over 3060 residents, of South 
Yorkshire and Bassetlaw, with mild/moderate mental health and/or any physical health 

25th January 2021 
 

Working Win 

Page 15

Agenda Item 11



 

issues (e.g. neck and back problems) have been supported to move into paid work or 
sustain employment which was at risk because of their health issue.   
 

 1.3 The WHU offered the opportunity to submit a business case for a further year of funding. 
This has been discussed by the Education, Skills and Employability Board in October 
2020 and earlier this month. This additional year would not be operated as a randomised 
control trial and the opportunity was offered to amend the focus of the extension.  
 
The Thematic Board Members approved the submission of a business case, retaining the 
key worker model and the focus on both employed and in-work cohorts.  Following that 
submission, on 11th December the MCA Executive has received notification that the 
proposal has been successful and the Director General of DWP is seeking to award the 
MCA c£3m to deliver the 12-month programme. The programme is currently restricted to 
12 months due to the 1-year Comprehensive Spending Review.   
 

2. Proposal and justification  
 

  The Outline Programme 
 2.1 Programme Focus 

 
The vision for this continuation programme is to actively intervene in supporting 
employment and minimising the barrier poor health plays in enabling our residents to fulfil 
their potential. With a more focused aim of intervening in order to mitigate the long-term 
effects on employment and health as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The programme will: 
 

• build on the core principles and fidelity scale of the established Individual 

Placement and Support (IPS) model but with in-built flexibilities to take into 

account the differing cohort that we will target and the corresponding differing 

support needs of that cohort.  

• continue to utilise a modified IPS model to seek to deliver a transformational 

improvement in employment, health and wellbeing outcomes for people who have 

a self-defined mild/moderate mental health and/or physical health condition.  

 

 2.2 The Service  
The programme will provide an intensive time limited support service for people with 
health conditions who are unemployed, or in work and their employers focussing on 
creating and maintaining a healthy workforce following Covid-19. It will also support those 
with health conditions that are at risk of redundancy, which may be particularly important 
for those that have been supported by the furlough scheme.   
 
As this new programme will not operate under the conditions of a medical randomised 
trial, we are proposing to consider some additional features to further enhance outcomes 
and benefits, which were not permissible in the trial due to the potential to compromise the 
evaluation of the model. These additions are still in development but include a 
consideration of broadening the travel concessions, childcare offer to offset the costs of 
securing or retaining work. 
 
The full details of the proposed service are included for consideration in appendix a 
 

 2.3 Engagement with Health Services 
A crucial feature of the WorkingWin programme has been the relationships between the 
service provider and partners, particularly in the health sector. This was highlighted in the 
local evaluation as one of the strengths of the programme with senior buy in from a large 
range of health organisations. It is proposed that these relationships will continue with 
referrals being actively sought from: 

Page 16



 

• primary health (GPs, Improving Access to Psychological Therapies [IAPT], 
Musculoskeletal [MSK]), in addition to 

• Community and voluntary sector organisations 

• Self-referrals  

• DWP 

• A target cohort will be patients who are going to the GP for a fit note. 
 

 2.4 Benefits and Outcomes  
The programme aims to support approximately 1,550 participants on the programme. 
Evidence from the evaluation of the first programme points to an indicative split of 
beneficiaries with c40% in work but struggling or off sick and c60% unemployed. 
As the programme seeks to maintain the strong linkage between employment and health, 
the geography for the programme will continue to mirror the ICS footprint of South 
Yorkshire and Bassetlaw. Participants will need to be registered with a GP in one of the 5 
local authority areas. This will be checked at the point of referral.  
 
The 1,550 participant target will be indicatively split across the boroughs in the following 
way, whilst recognising that the model is demand driven and therefore may not perfectly 
correlate to the estimated split of activity indicated below: 
 

• Barnsley: (19%) 

• Bassetlaw: (7%) 

• Doncaster: (21%) 

• Rotherham: (18%) 

• Sheffield: (35%) 
 

 2.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Operating Model 
Consideration has been given to the most efficient means of procuring this activity. 
The preferred option is that the procurement of the service provider will follow the route 
adopted for the trial, with the CCG procuring the contract via OJEU processes and the 
MCA funding the CCG via a grant funding agreement.   
 
This approach enables the MCA to maximise referrals from GP’s and from other NHS 
Departments and mitigates the challenges faced in accessing health data outside of NHS 
contracting could expose the MCA to a high level of scrutiny re medical ethics and patient 
data. Contracting via a health partner with the MCA leading the governance and 
programme management mitigates this risk.   
 
At the point of developing the business case engagement with the CCG confirmed their 
support and agreement to continue to fulfil this role.  The costs of a CCG led procurement 
are included in the financial forecasts for the programme. Should the CCG be unable to 
enter into the proposed arrangement the MCA will use this resource to undertake its own 
exercise. 
 

 Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 Do nothing:  The alternative to progressing with the programme is to rely upon the offer 
available within the current national Work and Health Programme and through other 
small-scale national programmes.  This was discounted by the Thematic Board. The 
Renewal Action Plan emphasises the need to support people into employment and in view 
of the extreme circumstances faced as a result of the pandemic, furlough, mental health 
issues the support offered by a WorkingWin style service is felt to be essential.  
 

 3.2 Do something: The proposal offered enables 1 year of support and bridges a gap whilst 
the Thematic Board and MCA can consider in greater detail its approach to employment 

Page 17



 

and health.  The scale of the need for support is greater than the beneficiaries abled to be 
targeted through this programme, but the volume is manageable in a one-year timeframe.  
Alternative approaches were considered to the operating model including commissioning 
outside of the NHS structure. To do this presents higher risks to the programme and 
delays in approval. The key reasons are cited in section 2.5. and predominantly involve 
issues in accessing health data outside of NHS contracting which would necessitate a 
significant amount of work to become compliant with medical ethics and patient data. 
Contracting via a health partner with the MCA leading the governance and programme 
management mitigates this risk. 
 

 3.3 Do more: The scale of need for alignment of health and employment outcomes will be 
significant as the full impact of the pandemic is realised. The development of the MCA 
Inclusion Strategy, planned for 2021/22 will consider in depth issues relating to inclusion, 
health and well-being and as a result of this enable the Thematic Board and MCA to 
develop a more medium-term approach to the development of the WorkingWin service 
and supplementary programmes and solutions. Until this depth of analysis and planning is 
undertaken it is not proposed the Board progresses a ‘do-more’ approach, although 
flexibility can be considered in the procurement exercise to provide opportunity if this is 
required. 
  

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial 
The MCA Working Win Programme is 100% funded through the Work and Health Unit. In 
the absence of a memorandum of understanding to cover the main tranche of funding, the 
financial risks cannot be fully evaluated at this stage. Hence, officers are seeking agreement 
in principle to enter into the arrangement with authority delegated to the Group Finance 
Director to accept the grant after due diligence on the terms and conditions of the offer has 
been carried out. 
 

 4.2 Legal 
Commercial procurement and legal technical support is being sought and has been 
engaged in the operational stage of the programme design.  
 
Any confidentiality obligations imposed upon the MCA by central government must not be 
breached because to do so may lead to government legal action and, possibly more 
importantly, would lead to a loss in confidence in central government in dealing 
confidentiality with MCA – to say nothing of the reputational risk.  
 
The MCA has power under Schedule 2 of the BDRSCA Order 2014 regarding both the 
general power of competence and educational functions as well as a more general power 
to do "anything it considers appropriate" for the purposes of carrying out its functions, or 
anything which is incidental or connection to, its functions (section 113A of the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009).  
 

 4.3 Risk Management 
The proposal is that the Education, Skills, and Employability Board provide detailed 
oversight of the Working Win programme and the associated strategic and operational 
risks.  A detailed risk plan is in development. 
 
The main strategic risks known at this stage are: 

• Mobilisation of the programme, such that the full benefits can be realised. This is 
mitigated in part by the proposal to utilise the CCG to procure the service provider 
as cuts out complexity in medical ethics requirements. A milestone plan is in 
development to ensure that a viable programme can be delivered. 

Page 18



 

• Financial risk as the MCA is required to implement and mobilise the programme 
before the formal Grant Offer Letter is received. This is largely mitigated by the 
DWP’s Director Generals underwriting of the funding. 
 

• Local Service Infrastructure – The existing WorkingWin investment is due to 
conclude at the end of the financial year which could lead to a break in continuity 
and a loss of skills. Work is on-going to consider how best to mitigate this risk, 
continuing the work done through the Local Integration Boards and within the 
health sector.  

 
 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion 

An equalities impact assessment will be undertaken, and the full programme design will 
go through the Medical Ethics Committee. This process will ensure that the interests of 
patients are protected, and any moral issues are identified and addressed. 
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 A communication and participation plan will be established and will be implemented.  Key 
stakeholders including service users, employers and providers will be involved in the 
design and development of the models and this will continue across the life of the 
programmes 
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  Appendix A : The service 
 

Report Author  Sue Sykes 
Post Assistant Director – Programme and Performance Unit 

Officer responsible Gareth Sutton 
Organisation Sheffield City Region MCA 

Email Gareth.sutton@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 
Telephone 0114 220  

 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad 
Street West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 

 

Page 19

mailto:Gareth.sutton@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A: Working Win Proposed Service Offer 

The programme for individuals will focus on areas such as: 

- returning to work following a long period working from home or on furlough or on sick 

leave. 

- a graduated approach back into work for those that need it, especially if previously 

unemployed. 

- managing transport and childcare needs to enable individuals’ access (and stay in) 

employment. 

- supporting those in work where their role is likely to have had an impact on their 

mental health e.g. care workers. 

- a place then train model including rapid job search for competitive jobs. 

- individualised job searches, with job matches based on an individual’s employment 

preferences, personal goals, needs and aspirations, and support to create a CV, and 

tailor to specific job opportunities. 

- Interview preparation and support. 

- Individualised in work support, providing participants with personalised support for 

sustaining work based on the job, their preferences, work history, needs, etc.; 

- Ongoing regular contact (i.e., every two weeks) with participants throughout the 

programme, providing advice, support and guidance, helping them to find and remain 

in work. 

- supporting aspects of remote where that could be retained. We are mindful that for 

many people with health conditions, long periods of flexible homeworking may be 

their only employment option. 

- Skills gaps (including digital skills) and mental health issues.  

The programme for employers will focus on supporting: 

- how the workplace can be made safe for those with physical and mental health 

conditions in relation to Covid-19 

- mental health first aid and disability confidence training 

- how a more flexible or blended approach to work can be continued 

- a budget for additional software or transport, that will allow employees to come safely 

back to the workplace where other support is not available. 

- individual cases where circumstances seem to indicate difficulty in employees 

starting work again including if required informal mediation between the employer 

and employee. 

A fund to support and enable work 

- This fund will be accessed on an individual basis to overcome barriers and allow the 

individual to return to work safely or to work more effectively from home, for example 

it could cover digital solutions, transport or childcare costs. 

Employers should be involved in the support package for the individual as soon as possible 

in the process, however, this should always be with consent from the individual. 

As this new programme will not operate under the conditions of a medical randomised trial, 

we are proposing to consider some additional features to further enhance outcomes and 

benefits, which were not permissible in the trial due to the potential to compromise the 

evaluation of the model. These additions are still in development but include a consideration 

of broadening the travel concessions, childcare offer to offset the costs of securing or 

retaining work. 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 

 1.1 In Summer 2020, the Government launched ‘A New Deal for Britain’ which is a key part of 
the Government’s Strategy to rebuild Britain following Covid 19 and support the economic 
recovery across the UK.  As part of this strategy, £40.3m of capital funding and £841k 
revenue funding has been allocated to the Sheffield City Region Mayoral Combined 
Authority (MCA) for supporting the development of housing schemes on brownfield land 
over the next 5 years. 
 

 1.2 This report provides an update in developing the Housing Fund (Brownfield) 5 year 
Programme and presents the Housing Fund (Brownfield) Prospectus and Strategic 
Business Case for the programme, which have both been recommended by the Housing 
and Infrastructure Board for approval by the MCA. 

 
2. Proposal and justification 

 
  

 
2.1 

Strategic Business Case and Prospectus 
 
A five year profile of capital funding for the Fund has been agreed with MHCLG as follows: 

Purpose of Report 

To provide an update on progress with the Housing Fund (Brownfield) and seek endorsement of the 
Strategic Business Case for the programme  

Thematic Priority 

This report relates to the following Strategic Economic Plan priorities:  

Secure investment in infrastructure where it will do most to support growth  

Freedom of Information  

The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme. 

Recommendations 

The Board is asked to: 

1. Approve the Housing Fund (Brownfield) Programme Strategic Business Case (SBC), noting the 
initial Early Deliverable schemes 
 

2. Approve the Housing Fund (Brownfield) Prospectus. 
 

3. Note the ongoing activity to develop the full 5 year programme scheme pipeline. 

25th January 2021 

SCR HOUSING FUND (BROWNFIELD) 

Page 23

Agenda Item 12



 

 

Early Delivery Remaining Programme 

2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025 

£6m £14m 6.67m 6.67m 6.67m 
 

  
2.2 

 
The Fund Conditions include: 
 

• Providing between 2,500-3,500 additional homes; 

• Projects being Green Book compliant and represent Value for Money; 

• Projects demonstrating a market failure; 

• Homes starting on site before 31 March 2025; 

• Local Planning Authorities must either have an up to date Local Plan in place, or an 

agreed plan with MHCLG for getting a Local Plan in place, to receive funding;  

• Meeting monitoring and reporting requirements; and 

• Making adequate progress against the spend profile and key delivery milestones. 

 
 2.3 To seek to achieve the initial spend profile deadline, work has focussed with Local 

Authority Housing Directors on identifying the Early Deliverable brownfield housing 
schemes for 2020/21, and the next pipeline of schemes for 2021/22.  This work informed 
the preparation of the Draft Strategic Business Case (Appraisal Panel Summary is 
attached at Appendix 1) and the Draft Housing Fund (Brownfield) Prospectus (Attached at 
Appendix 2) which sets out guidance to scheme sponsors on the expectations for the type, 
quality and quantity of homes to be funded. 
 

  Early Deliverable Schemes 
 

 2.4 The schemes listed in the table below are those that are being progressed as ‘Early 
Deliverable’ schemes, some of which are intended to be presented for funding approval 
before the end of March.  These include the schemes that were submitted for funding from 
MHCLG’s Competitive element of the Brownfield Housing Fund, which it has recently been 
confirmed by MHCLG have not being successful. 
 

  Scheme 2020/21 
(£) 

2021/22 
(£) 

Total 
(£) 

Homes 
Unlocked 

West Bar (Sheffield) 205,000 450,000 655,000 369 

Malthouses (Sheffield) 1,096,853  1,096,853 73 

City Centre Sites - 
Porter Brook 

350,000  350,000 200 

Rotherham Small Sites 
2020/21 

433,950  433,950 30 

Total Capital 
 

2,085,803 450,000 2,535,803 672 

Competitive Schemes 
 

 

Allen Street and 
Smithfield (Sheffield 
Housing Zone North) 

1,227,750 110,000 1,337,750 120 

Cannon Brewery 
(Sheffield Housing 
Zone North) 

4,309,500 200,000 4,509,500 450 

Hoyle Street (Sheffield 
Housing Zone North) 
 

1,102,000 126,000 1,228,000 700 

Town Centre Site 
(Rotherham) 

 2,700,000 2,700,000 30 

     

Page 24



 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 The conditions of acceptance of the Housing (Brownfield) fund impose a tight timetable for 
delivery with equally tight stages of development. There has not been scope to consider 
working alternatives to the proposed way forward. 
 

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial 
The MCA has agreed to accept the £40.3m capital and £841k revenue funding.  The 
funding will be received as Section 31 grant which allows flexibility in how the MCA 
spends the funding.  The FBC process will follow the MCA Assurance Framework to 
ensure proper due diligence and value for money. 
 
The costs incurred by the MCA Executive in managing this programme of activity will be 
met from top-slices of the capital and revenue allocations over the life of the programme. 
The funding for the Housing Fund (Brownfield) schemes will need to be committed in line 
with the agreed profiled spend, and all funding will need to be committed by 31 March 
2025. 

Total (including 
Competitive 
Schemes) 

8,725,053 3,586,000 12,311,053 1,972 
 

  
2.5 

 
Due to the end March deadline for the first tranche of schemes, they have been fast-
tracked to final business case.  Schemes below £2m will be reported to the Housing and 
Infrastructure Board for decision, with schemes requesting funding over £2m being 
reported to the MCA for decision. 

  
2.6 

 
Project Pipeline 
 
The table below presents the next tranche of schemes for 2021/22 and the revenue 
allocations recently been approved by the Housing and Infrastructure Board to help 
accelerate the development of their business cases.  The intention is for revenue funding 
to be capitalised at the point of a capital scheme approval; to be revolved back into the 
revenue ‘pot,’ to support project development for other housing pipeline schemes in the 5 
year programme.   
 

 

Scheme 2020/21 2021/22 Total 

Goldthorpe, Barnsley District 40,000 40,000 80,000 

Canklow, Eastwood & Riverside, 
Rotherham 

101,000 106,000 207,000 

DMBC Small Sites, Doncaster 70,000  70,000 

Former Nightingale School, 
Doncaster 

30,000  30,000 

Adwick, Doncaster 30,000  30,000 

Attercliffe Waterside, Sheffield 130,000  130,000 

MCA programme and financial 
management support 

10,000 10,000 20,000 

Total 411,000 156,000 567,000 
 

Available   274,000 

 

 2.7 Work is ongoing with Local Authority Housing Directors to develop the full 5 year 
programme pipeline of schemes.  Part of the Fund Conditions is to inform Government by 
June 2021 of the full proposed 5 year programme.   

   

Page 25



 

 
 4.2 Legal 

Subject to the grant conditions being acceptable, arrangements to comply with the grant 
conditions will subsequently be put in place. The legal implications of acceptance of grant 
will be fully considered by the S73 officer in conjunction with a representative of the 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Legal implications of individual projects brought forward through the Housing Fund 
(Brownfield) programme will be considered on a case by case basis by the S73 officer in 
conjunction with a representative of the Monitoring Officer. 
 

 4.3 Risk Management 
Risk management is built into the MCA’s due diligence processes and project and 
programme risks are regularly reviewed, and mitigating actions taken if necessary.   
 
Key risks in delivering the programme are: 
 

• Schemes not being delivered within programme timescales, resulting in potentially 
losing scheme funding; 

• Insufficient partner capacity to progress schemes to FBC and delivery; 

• Potentially escalating costs as the Market picks up post Covid 19 leading to 
unforeseen or cost over runs; 

• Insufficient capacity within the MCA Executive to expedite the programme; and  

• Complexity of funding packages for some schemes which may have an impact on 
delivery and the use of MCA funding; 

 
 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  

None arising directly from this report.  The delivery of infrastructure and housing capital 
schemes will stimulate economic growth in the SCR and, therefore, contribute to both the 
economic recovery and improving social inclusion. 
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 The funding announcement has already been publicised.  Further announcements may be 
required to publicise the programme more widely and there will be opportunities for positive 
communications as schemes are delivered. 
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  Appendix 1 – Housing Fund (Brownfield) Appraisal Panel Summary 
Appendix 2 – Housing Fund (Brownfield) Draft Prospectus 

REPORT AUTHOR  Colin Blackburn 
POST  Assistant Director Housing, Infrastructure & Planning 

Officer responsible Mark Lynam 
Organisation MCA Executive Team 

Email Mark.lynam@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 
Telephone 0114 2203442 

 
 

  

Page 26



Appendix 1 

Appraisal Panel Summary 

Scheme Details 

Project Name SCR Housing Fund (Brownfield) 

Grant Recipient Varies by project 

SCR Executive 
Board 

Housing & 
Infrastructure 

MCA Funding £40,300,000 capital 
£841,000 revenue 

% MCA Allocation Varies by project Total Scheme Cost Varies by project 

 

Appraisal Summary 

Project Description 

 
The Housing Fund (Brownfield) programme will build upon the work of the existing Housing Fund and 
ensure the MCA and LEP can support the delivery of a greater number of new homes to be developed 
on brownfield land to meet local needs which would otherwise not be brought forward by the market. 
Government have allocated £40.3m capital and £841k revenue to the MCA to deliver a total of at least 
2500 homes over the next 5 years.   
 
A pipeline of ‘early deliverable’ schemes has been identified which could commence delivery of new 
homes in 20/21 and 21/22, this includes four schemes that have been submitted to the Government’s 
Competitive Brownfield Housing fund, which if successful will be removed from the early deliverable 
pipeline.  These schemes are summarised in the table below: 
 

Scheme Sponsor 2020/21 2021/22 Units 

  Capital £ Revenue £ Capital £ Revenue £  

West Bar SCC            
450,000 

 2,000,000  369 

Malthouses 1,096,853    73 

Attercliffe 540,000  1,250,000  750 

City Centre – Porter 
Brook 

350,000    200 

Goldthorpe BMBC  40,000  40,000 20 

Small Sites 20/21 RMBC 433,950    30 

Riverside, Canklow 
and Eastwood 

  101,000  106,000 170 

Total 2,870,803 141,000 3,250,000 40,000 1,612 

Competitive Fund 
schemes 

     

Canon Brewery SCC 4,509,500    450 

Allen Street SCC 1,337,750    120 

Hoyle Street 1,228,000    700 

Rotherham Town 
Centre 

RMBC   2,700,000   

Total  6,639,250    1,270 

  9,510,053 141,000 5,950,000 40,000  
 

Strategic Case 

 
Many of the key locations in the Sheffield City Region are brownfield sites, with associated costs of land 
remediation and essential infrastructure requirements, which impact on scheme viability and prevent 
schemes from moving into delivery.  The Government’s launch on the 30th June 2020 of ‘A New Deal for 
Britain’ recognises the part that redevelopment of brownfield sites can play in delivering housing needs.  
It is a key part of the Government’s Strategy to rebuild Britain following Covid-19 and support the 
economic recovery across the UK. 
 

Page 27



In order to achieve the aspirations in the SCR Strategic Economic Plan, the Fund will prioritise projects 
that include: 
 

 Enhanced energy efficiency measures. 

 Renewable energy measures. 

 Modern methods of construction. 

 Adaptable and accessible properties to support local needs. 
 

Individual schemes will be required to demonstrate how they will support skills development and job 
creation amongst local residents and how the local supply chain can benefit from the investment.  Many 
of the schemes that the fund supports will include affordable and social housing.   
 

Value for Money 

 
A high-level Value for Money assessment has been undertaken and the results are is summarised 
below:  
 

  

Present Value 
Benefits (PVB) 

Present Value 
Costs (PVC) 

Net Present 
Value (NPV) 

Benefit Cost 
Ratio (BCR) 

BMBC Goldthorpe* - - - - 

RMBC Canklow** £813,933 £541,063 £272,870 1.50 

RMBC Eastwood** £1,434,208 £789,532 £644,676 1.82 

RMBC Small Site - Year 1 £546,329 £433,950 £112,379 1.26 

RMBC Small Site - Year 2*** £578,606 £405,300 £173,306 1.43 

SCC Attercliffe £880,448 £1,747,729 -£867,282 0.50 

SCC Malthouses £2,501,441 £1,057,803 £1,443,638 2.36 

SCC Porter Brook £507,161 £350,000 £157,161 1.45 

SCC West Bar £885,054 £2,382,367 -£1,497,314 0.37 

* Revenue request only at this stage    

**BCR based on capital, but only revenue request this financial year  
***BCR based on capital, MCA funding required 21/22 onwards  

      

 BMBC - - - - 

 DMBC - - - - 

 RMBC £3,373,075 £2,169,844 £1,203,231 1.55 

 SCC £4,774,103 £5,537,900 -£763,797 0.86 

 Total £8,147,178 £7,707,744 £439,434 1.06 

 
 

Risk 

 
Top 5 key risks as identified in the business case: 
 

1. Failure of schemes invited to proceed to the next stage to produce a compliant business case in 
line with agreed milestones 

2. Capacity of the MCA Exec to work with applicants to support them through the process 
3. Investment decisions for other public funds not achieved within the timescales required. 
4. Inability to commence on site delivery in the timescales agreed with sponsors 
5. Potentially escalating costs as the market picks up post Covid-19 leading to unforeseen or cost 

over runs 
 

Delivery 

 
The MCA will be responsible for the management and delivery of the overall programme ensuring that 
schemes are brought forward in a timely manner backed up by robust Full Business Cases. 

Page 28



 
The programme is being delivered using a two phased approach: Progress early deliverable schemes for 
years 1 and 2 with a further call for schemes for future years. 
 
Government has allocated £6m in 20/21 and a further 14m in 21/22.  This is an extremely tight timescale 
to develop and commence delivery on enabling works or housing schemes themselves.  Therefore to 
reduce the risk of losing this early allocation, Local Authorities only were approached to provide a list of 
shovel ready schemes that could commence in the short term.   
 
Following the commencement of the early deliverable schemes there will be a further open call for 
schemes to deliver housing over the remaining years of the programme.  A prospectus has been 
prepared which outlines the requirements of the programme and will be widely publicised to enable a 
broad spectrum of schemes to be considered for delivery.  Assessment will be done through the SCR 
Assurance Process with suitable schemes accepted on to the pipeline subject to endorsement by the 
Housing and Infrastructure Board and approval of the MCA. 
 
For individual scheme delivery details of the procurement process and associated defined milestones will 
be provided in the OBC/FBC and will be assessed as part of the appraisal of the schemes. 
 

Legal 

 
Scheme promotors will need to confirm State Aid eligibility as part of business case development. 
 

 

Recommendation and Conditions 

Recommendation Proceed with project development 

Payment Basis For revenue, payment on defrayal. For capital – N/A 

Conditions of Award (including clawback clauses) 

 
1. Once the information is available, this SBC should be amended to include suitable affordable targets and 

details on the type and tenure of housing the MCA is seeking to unlock through this investment 
2. Programme SBC should be resubmitted to the Appraisal Panel every time the pipeline is reviewed.  The 

panel should also be updated regularly on the progress of the programme. 

 
For revenue funding request 

3. Funding for revenue costs can be processed and released once a funding agreement is signed. 
Prior to this, key project development milestones need to be agreed with a clear appreciation of 
how exposure can be mitigated if a capital project does not materialise at the end of the process. 

 
For capital funding request 

4. Milestones for business case submission to be agreed and monitored. If there is slippage such that 
project cannot be approved this financial year, the MCA reserves the right the review assurance 
process for each of the early schemes. 

5. Confirmation that all project approvals, procurement, statutory permissions and funds will be in 
place prior to FBC submission. 

6. Programme SBC to be reviewed regularly in line with expectations of Housing and Infrastructure 
board. 

7. Requirement to capture wider benefits (quantifiable or otherwise) and present these clearly in 
scheme business cases. The MCA’s FLUTE model is available for promoters to use, if needed. 

8. For schemes in the pipeline that currently have a BCR below 1, and FBC cannot be submitted until 
this is no longer the case. 

 
 

 

Page 29



 

Record of Recommendation, Endorsement and Approval  

SCR Housing Fund Brownfield  

Appraisal Panel Recommendation Board Endorsement MCA Approval 

Date of Meeting 
 

Date of Meeting 
 

Date of Meeting 
 

Head of Paid Service 
or Delegate 

Ruth Adams 

Deputy CEX 

Endorsing Officer 
(Board Chair) 

 
Approving Officer 
(Chair) 

 

Signature 

 

 

 
Signature 

 
Signature 

 

 

 

Date 
 

Date 
 

Date 
 

S73 Officer or 
Delegate 

Simon Tompkins 

Finance Manager 

Statutory Finance Officer Approval 

 

Name: 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

Signature 

 

 

Date  

Monitoring Officer or 
Delegate 

Steve Davenport 

SCR CA Solicitor 

Signature 

 

 

Date  

P
age 30



Appendix 2 

 

 

 

 

 

Sheffield City Region  

Housing Fund (Brownfield) 

2020-2025 

 

(DRAFT) Prospectus 

Criteria and Assurance Process 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 31



 

Contents 

 

1. Background 

2. Housing Fund (Brownfield) 

2.1. Introduction   

2.2. Who can bid for funding? 

2.2.1. Early Delivery  

2.2.2. Remaining Fund 

2.3. What type of investments/ schemes can Brownfield Funding support? 

2.3.1. Capital Expenditure  

2.3.2. Revenue Expenditure 

2.4. Compatibility with Other Funding 

3. Fund Assessment Criteria  

3.1. What does a ‘good’ scheme look like? 

3.2. How schemes will be prioritised  

4. MCA Assurance Process  

4.1. Early Delivery  

4.2. Remaining Fund 

5. Terms and Conditions 

6. Definitions 

 

  

Page 32



1. Background  

Our Strategic Economic Plan (SEP)sets out what needs to be done to grow the economy and transform 

the lives and wellbeing of our people.  The Policy Objectives of the SEP are: 

 

 Growth: ‘Grow an economy that works for everyone’ 

 Inclusion:  ‘Ensuring that everyone has an opportunity to contribute to and benefit from economic 

growth’ 

 Sustainability: ‘Driving low carbon opportunities within the economy and delivering net-zero 

emissions’ 

 

The SEP identifies a number of Key Growth Areas that have the potential to create change at scale and 
bring benefits to the wider city region.  In these areas, Economic Blueprints and packages of interventions 
will be agreed to support locally driven approaches and provide additional capacity for site assembly and 
infrastructure investment. 
 
Integral to achieving these objectives will be ensuring that our residents have access to good quality, 
affordable, energy efficient homes in places that are pleasant to live in. 
 
Whilst house building in SCR is currently being delivered at a rate of over 6,000 new homes per year, 
there is more to do.  The SEP identifies three aspects of the SCR housing market that need to be 
addressed: 
 

 Existing Homes – There is potential for existing homes to play a much bigger part in regeneration 
and the local economy. Renewal or upgrades to the existing housing stock can unlock investment, 
creating new jobs and business opportunities locally. 

 New Homes – New housing needs to drive greater density in urban areas, benefit from (and 
deliver) transport connectivity and enhance the built environment, helping to create more 
attractive places and encourage demand.  

 Housing Innovation - Modern Methods of Construction has the potential to revolutionise the way 
new homes are delivered in South Yorkshire, providing higher build standards and more efficient 
technologies than traditional construction.  Alongside technical innovation we need to encourage 
investment in skills so that local people can benefit from the jobs this creates as well as new 
investment models and products such as build to rent, to provide the range of homes and 
tenures that people now demand. 

 
Whilst this Housing Fund will not be able to deliver all of the aspirations of the SEP, it can go some way 
towards it. 
 

2. Housing Fund (Brownfield)  

2.1 Introduction  

On the 30th June 2020, the Government launched ‘A New Deal for Britain’ which is set as the first 

step in the strategy to rebuild Britain following Covid 19 and fuel economic recovery across the UK.  

As part of this strategy, £40.3m of capital was allocated to the Sheffield City Region Mayoral 

Combined Authority (MCA) for supporting development of housing schemes on brownfield land over 

the next 5 years. 

 

Page 33



This funding will expand the existing Housing Fund and ensure the MCA and LEP can support the 

delivery of a greater number of new homes to meet local needs which would otherwise not be 

brought forward by the Market. 

The Fund will be delivered within the MCA Assurance Framework guidelines to ensure proper due 
diligence and value for money. 
 

2.2 Who can bid for funding? 

2.2.1 Early Delivery – up to March 2021 

For the first phase of the programme up to March 2021 – only projects brought forward by the SCR 

Local Authorities will be considered. This can include Partnerships / Joint Ventures that are led by 

the Local Authorities. 

2.2.2 Remaining Programme – 2021-2025 

Should it be considered that there would be insufficient schemes to meet the objectives of the 
programme, consideration will be given to opening the remaining programme to non-local 
authorities involved in providing new homes. 

The timetable for any wider invitation to submit schemes into the remaining programme will be 
publicised. 

2.3 What type of investments/ schemes can the Housing Fund (Brownfield) support? 

2.3.1 Capital Expenditure  

The Fund would look to support a range of financial interventions to enable the development of 
housing on brownfield land which would otherwise not happen. 
 
Eligible capital expenditure could be; 

 Off-site infrastructure 

 Neighbourhood infrastructure (including public realm, place-making interventions) which 
enhance assets  

 Site Remediation and demolition to prepare sites for housing 

 On site infrastructure  

 Direct delivery of new homes  

 Site acquisition and land assembly 

 Capacity to support any of the capital delivery activity detailed above where it is directly 
attributable to the creation or maintenance of a capital asset 
 

In order to achieve the aspirations in the SCR Strategic Economic Plan, the Fund would seek to 
particularly prioritise projects that include: 
 

 Enhanced energy efficiency measures. 

 Decarbonised heat measures. 

 Modern Methods of Construction. 

 Adaptable and accessible properties to support local needs. 

Page 34



There would be a flexible approach to the allocation of monies including non-recoverable funds 
(grant), part-recoverable funds, loan funds and other bespoke funding solutions to meet the 
requirements of individual schemes. 

2.3.2 Revenue Expenditure 

The primary purpose of the allocated revenue funding is to accelerate the delivery of the most 
strategic brownfield schemes in the region. The initial revenue element of the Housing Fund 
(Brownfield) is proposed to only be open to Local Authorities partners. 
 
Eligible revenue expenditure could be; 
 

 Site investigation/ geotechnical work 

 Survey work 

 Cost planning services 

 Planning advice 

 Options appraisal 

 Legal costs 

 Masterplanning 

 Capacity support 
 
In order to achieve the aspirations in the SCR Strategic Economic Plan, the Fund would also support: 
 

 Carbon reduction reports 

 Biodiversity net gain reports 
 
The aspiration of the MCA is to work in close collaboration with Local Authority partners to identify 
projects that offer value for money, strategic fit and deliverability.  
 
It is expected that this kind of early commitment and co-investment will bring forward more 
successful projects and will lower the risk of non-delivery. 
 
2.4 Compatibility with Other Funding 
 
The MCA encourages co-funding of schemes where the opportunity exists.  MCA interventions 
should add the maximum value and this case should clearly be proven by the funding application. 
 
Early discussion with other funding bodies is needed to ascertain compatibility. If there is a query 
about a particular type/source of funding, please contact the MCA Executive Team to discuss. 
  

Page 35



3. Fund Assessment Criteria 

3.1 What does a ‘good’ scheme look like?  

 

‘Good’ schemes would: 

o Contribute strongly towards each of the MCA’s strategic policy objectives (growth, 

inclusion and sustainability – link to Strategic Economic Plan. This must be evidenced, 

and applications will be assessed and prioritised on this basis. Location is key and 

priority will be given to schemes which support housing growth in the key Growth 

Areas.  Housing within existing urban centres or with good sustainable travel links to 

them will also be given greater weight. 

 

o Align with the ambitions of other relevant investment funds, for example the Town 

Deal Fund, High Street Fund and the Transforming Cities Fund. 

 

o Be supported locally. Evidence of compliance/ alignment with planning policy, local 

growth strategies (economic and housing) and objectively assessed housing need will 

have to be clearly set out 

 

o Be sustainable/ be working towards net zero. the MCA and all Local Authority areas 

have net zero carbon targets – housing plays a large role in this. Applications should 

evidence that everything possible has been done to achieve net zero on new 

developments. 

 

o Consider all risks, and mitigating actions identified, including an early assessment of 

State Aid implications. 

 

o Be deliverable, applicants to demonstrate they have the plan, capacity and expertise 

to deliver the proposed scheme on time. 

 

o Be inclusive, schemes should result in reasonably priced homes and offer a range of 

options which are commensurate with the local earnings and the vision for the area. 

 

 

Every scheme must: 

o be used to bring forward sites on brownfield land that have an evidenced 

rationale for taxpayer intervention. Projects with the highest additionality will be 

prioritised; 

o start on site during this Parliament (by a longstop date of 31 March 2025) 

o represent good value for money. This must be quantified wherever possible and 

evidenced as part of the application. 

Local Authorities must either have an up to date Local Plan in place, or an agreed plan with 

MHCLG for getting a Local Plan in place, to receive funding. 

Page 36

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/SCR-SEP-Final.pdf


3.2. How schemes will be prioritised  

Schemes will be prioritised based on their fit with the strategic priorities that the MCA and its 
Thematic Board; including: 
 

 Strategic fit – How well does the scheme follow themes set out in the emerging SEP click 

here, Energy Strategy click here, Transport Strategy click here and SCR Housing Review click 

here 

 Growth ‘Grow an economy the works for everyone’ 

Creation of vibrant, densified, liveable urban centres/ enhancing the built environment 

to create more attractive and affordable places/ money leveraged from public + private 

investment / jobs/ appreticehips  

 Inclusion ‘Ensuring that everyone has an opportunity to contribute to and benefit from 

economic growth’ 

Affordable living/ the right mix of type and tenure/ placemaking/ inclusive design 

 Sustainability ‘Driving low carbon opportunities within the economy and delivering 

net-zero emissions’ 

Low carbon/ biodiversity net gain/ well served by existing or planned transport links  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Innovation  

Modern methods of construction / new investment models and products such as Build 

to Rent to provide the range of homes and tenures that people now demand  

 

 

 

 

 

 Location – Priority given to schemes in the key Growth Areas highlighted in the SEP: 

 Sheffield City Centre 

 Barnsley, Rotherham, Doncaster Town Centres 

 Advanced Manufacturing Innovation District 

 Doncaster Unity 

 Goldthorpe in the Dearne Valley 

 Doncaster Sheffield Airport 

The MCA is committed to the net zero agenda, and low carbon / no gas 

solutions will be heavily prioritised. Scheme promoters can be supported to 

explore low carbon alternatives, renewable technology and no gas solutions. 

The MCA recognises the importance of supporting modern methods of 

construction to ensure the future stability of housing supply and other benefits 

such as lower carbon click here for SCR MMC Audit Presentation . MMC is 

encouraged where appropriate and not cost prohibitive, particularly, where it 

can be delivered at greater scale and contribute to enhancing the development 

of new skills and innovation within the sector. The inclusion of an MMC target 

within the Housing Fund is under consideration.  

The MCA is particularly aiming to accelerate development and regeneration in 

the key Growth Areas identified in the Strategic Economic Plan, which have the 

greatest potential to contribute to economic growth and inclusion. 

Page 37

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/SCR-SEP-Final.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/SCR-SEP-Final.pdf
https://moderngov.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s2220/Appendix%201%20Final%20Draft%20SCR%20Energy%20Strategy.pdf
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/SCR-Transport-Strategy-Consultation-Draft.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s2688/Annex%201%20Part%201%20Report.pdf
https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s2688/Annex%201%20Part%201%20Report.pdf
https://moderngov.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/documents/s2692/Appendix%201%20SCR%20MMC%20Audit%20Eco-System%20and%20Opportunity%20Report%20-%20Initial%20Finding%20and%20Recommendations%20.pdf


 
Developments outside of these Key Growth Areas will also be considered, 
particularly if they deliver a significant number of affordable homes; contribute to 
the wider local regeneration of places; and embed high quality design and higher 
standards of energy efficiency. Such schemes must clearly evidence how they meet 
the other criteria set out in this Prospectus. 
 

 Evidence of acceleration 

 Value for money – range of measures will be applied including 

 Benefit cost ratio 

 Land value uplift – based on Valuation Office Agency figures 

 Social amenity benefit  

 Affordable homes 

 Carbon reduction 

 Rational for public sector investment 

 Evidence of market demand (or need) for different types and tenures  

 Additionality – the extent to which the scheme outcomes are as result of an intervention – 

for more information see the HCA Additionality Guide  

 Evidence of deliverability  

 Commitment from delivery partners 

 Local suppliers in procurement 

 Local employment and training opportunities 

 Local Authority Support (compliance with statutory plans and processes) 

 Leverage – how much total private sector and additional public sector resource can be 

levered in per £1 of Housing Fund invested. 

 Recoverability – if it’s possible to pay back the whole or part of the Fund at a future date 

 

4. MCA Assurance Process 

The MCA Assurance Framework will govern this process. Please familiarise yourself with this before 

you begin the application process. (click here) 

Every scheme is different. The MCA Executive is, however, committed to working with you to ensure 

that potential schemes can be assessed in a robust, timely and proportionate way. 

The information set out below demonstrates the stages a typical scheme will need to progress 

through. We are happy to provide you with all the documents you may need to complete at an early 

stage so you can better understand the information we require as your scheme progresses. 

You will be supported throughout by a dedicated resource in the MCA Executive team. 

4.1 Early Delivery  

The timeframe for the MCA to approve schemes for the initial year’s funding is short (prior to April 

2021) but is necessary in order to accelerate delivery.  Therefore, the process below, which reflects 

the time constraints, will apply for the early deliverable schemes; 

 

 

Page 38

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Draft-SCR-Assurance-Framework-2020-v12.pdf


1. Scheme information submitted via Gateway Form 
Scheme promoters submit an enhanced Gateway Form for each project that requires capital 
(and revenue) funding – this form captures sufficient initial project detail in order that the 
schemes can be assessed/ prioritised for suitability and deliverability. 
 

2. MCA Executive team prepare a programme level SBC for MCA approval 
The programme level SBC will set out the overall 5 year programme ambitions and 
outcomes, as well as the early deliverable schemes for inclusion on the Housing Fund 
(Brownfield) pipeline. 

 
3. Completion of a Full Business Case (FBC) 

Scheme sponsors will then be invited to prepare FBCs for the early deliverable schemes, 
supported by the MCA Executive’s Housing Team.  All approvals, design, procurement and 
funding should be in place when FBC is submitted. 
 

4. Assessment, Appraisal and Due Diligence 
Assessment and appraisal will be undertaken in line with the Assurance Framework. 

 
5. Scheme approval recommendations  

The Housing and Infrastructure Board will consider Appraisal Panel recommendations for 
schemes with decisions taken by the Board for schemes seeking funding approval under 
£2m, and the MCA Board will take the funding decision for schemes of £2m or over; along 
with any proposed funding conditions. 

 

4.2 Pipeline Schemes 

The process for the remaining Fund programme running from March 2021 – end March 2025 will be 

as follows:: 

1. Scheme information submitted via Gateway Form 
Scheme promoters submit an enhanced Gateway Form for each project that requires capital 
(and revenue) funding – this form captures sufficient initial project detail in order that the 
schemes can be assessed/ prioritised for suitability and deliverability. 
 

2. Programme Strategic Business Cases 

Suitable schemes will be considered by the Housing and Infrastructure Board, and those 
approved will be added to the pipeline and the Programme SBC updated accordingly. 
 
Schemes requesting under £500k - In line with the new Assurance Framework, schemes 

requesting under £500k which are deemed by the Appraisal Panel to have low risk and 

complexity, and can evidence deliverability, can be recommended to produce a Business 

Justification Case instead of an OBC and FBC. This is for the Statutory Offices on the 

Appraisal Panel to decide and will be based on nature, scale, risk and complexity. 

Revenue funding – if revenue funding forms part of the request for funding, it may be 

provided at this stage to accelerate the process and improve the overall quality of the final 

FBC. 

3. Completion of an Outline Business Case (OBC) document 

Page 39



Once schemes are given the ‘green light’ to proceed to this stage, the applicant (supported 
by a dedicated resource in the MCA Executive Housing Team) will be required to submit an 
OBC. 

 
4. Assessment, Appraisal and Due Diligence 

Assessment and appraisal will be undertaken in line with the Assurance Framework. 
 

5. Completion of a Full Business Case (FBC) document  
FBCs will provide the remaining detailed level of information required. All approvals, design, 
procurement and funding should be in place when FBC is submitted. 
 

6. Final Assessment, Appraisal and Due Diligence 
As in Stage 4 above, assessment and appraisal will be undertaken in line with the Assurance 
Framework. 

 
7. Consideration by the Housing & Infrastructure Board and/or MCA Board 

The Housing and Infrastructure Board meet every 8 weeks and will consider the 
recommendations of the Appraisal Panel and any proposed funding conditions.  Where 
schemes are seeking £2m or more, a funding decision will be required from the MCA (which 
also meets every 8 weeks). Link to MCA Meetings 

 
5. Terms and Conditions  
 
For approved schemes, the grant recipient will claim funding either monthly or quarterly in arrears. 
Payments will be based on progress reports from the Applicant Organisation. Progress will be 
monitored against the agreed contract and delivery arrangements. 

All terms of the contract and arrangements for ongoing monitoring will be agreed with individual 
Applicant Organisations prior to providing funding. 

Standard forms of contracts are available on request.  It is advisable to seek early advice to prevent 
delays in the later stages of the application process. 

Page 40

https://governance.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1


 

 

 
 
 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
 1.1 

 
 
1.2 

AEB funding will be devolved to the MCA from 1st August 2021 and the process to 
commission AEB-funded provision is underway.  
 
The total value of AEB to be devolved to the MCA is expected to be c£38.5m, of which 
c£36m will be AEB and c£2.5m will be additional money for Level 3 provision as part of the 
Government’s Lifetime Skills Guarantee.  

   
2. Proposal and justification  

 
 2.1 A dual approach to commissioning provision is being taken across South Yorkshire to 

ensure the needs of residents can be met, taking into account the long-term skills challenges 
across the region, the impact of the pandemic and the need to support employment 
opportunities in key growth sectors. 
 

A. Grant funding agreements with Further Education colleges and Local Authorities 
based in South Yorkshire. This will ensure good quality provision is delivered within 
each borough.  We are actively engaging with all our grant funded providers in 
development of 3-year delivery plans.  

B. Procured Provision – through Call-Off Contracts to be providers who are successfully 
appointed to a new MCA Framework Agreement. The AEB procurement process 
was launched on 18th December. The value of this procurement is expected to be 
£10.2m in 2021/22 and £30.6 over 3 years. 
 

Purpose of Report 
 
This note provides an update on progress with preparations for commissioning Adult Education Budget 
provision in readiness for devolution of funding from 1st August 2021.   
 
Thematic Priority 
 
Develop the SCR skills base, labour mobility and education performance. 
 
Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme 

 
Recommendations 
 
Members are requested to note the progress in commissioning skills and employment provision using 
the Adult Education Budget.  
 

25th January 2021 
 

Adult Education Budget Commissioning - Update 

Page 41

Agenda Item 13



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.2 The procurement invites bids against four Lots as follows: 
 
Lot 1 - Supporting residents into employment 
This Lot will support residents who need support to enter/re-enter the workforce, with a 
focus on reducing the levels of digital exclusion; And Sector Work Academy Programme 
(SWAP) both linked to key employment sectors. 
Indicative Lot value: c£3,550,000 
 
Lot 2- Provision for adults in employment (self-employed) or at risk of redundancy 
This Lot will support residents in low paid work looking to reskill or upskill by gaining 
qualifications at higher levels. with a focus on flexible delivery of Full Level 2 and Level 3 
qualifications linked to key growth sectors.  
Indicative Lot value: c£3,550,000 
 
Lot 3 - No young person left behind 
This Lot will provide support for young people aged 19-24 who are Not in Employment 
Education or Training (NEET) or hidden NEET’s with a focus on key worker delivery 
models.  
Indicative Lot value: c£1,550,000  
 
Lot 4 - Test and Learn Adult Key Worker Model  
Focused on residents who face complex and/or multiple barriers and living in homes where 
there is intergenerational/family worklessness in our most deprived communities.  
Indicative Lot value: c£1,550,000  
 

 2.3 
 

Commissioning Timeline 
We expect to receive confirmation from DfE in January of the exact value of AEB that we will 
receive. Once we have this information, we will finalise our grant payments to FE Colleges 
and local authority providers in February in good time for providers to prepare for the new 
academic year.  
 

 2.4 The procurement process launched on 18th December 2021. The tender period will run for 
30 days, plus an additional 14 days in recognition of the Christmas/New Year break. 
Evaluation of bids will begin in February. This timetable will give time to onboard providers 
from May 2021 before commencement of provision from August. 
 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 In October the MCA undertook a Soft Market Testing Exercise1 to consult on priorities. 
Feedback generated was supportive of our proposed approach. 
 

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial  
A proportion of AEB funding will be used to fund MCA management of the devolved 
budget – estimated £800k per year.  
 

 4.2 Legal 
No new legal implications. Legal have cleared the procurement exercise.  
 

 4.3 Risk Management 

 

1 The AEB Soft Market Testing material is available at https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/project/adult-education-
budget/  

Page 42

https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/project/adult-education-budget/
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/project/adult-education-budget/


 

Insufficient interest from providers to deliver AEB funded provision – we are working with 
comms to drive up interest in this opportunity with 130 potential bidders registered 
currently to receive information on the procurement.  
 

 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  
Equality Impact Assessment completed as part of the preparation work for procurement.  
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 The launch of the procurement exercise was accompanied by a press notice and use of 
social media. Social media interest has been positive.  
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  Annex A – Lot descriptions as per live procurement.  
 

 
Report Author  Helen George 

Post Assistant Director Education, Skills and Employability 
Officer responsible Dave Smith 

Organisation MCA Executive 
Email Helen.george@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 

Telephone 07464 980561 
 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad Street 
West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
 
Other sources and references: 
 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A - Lots 

Lot 1 - Supporting residents into employment  

Residents who will need support to enter/re-enter the workforce.  

This Lot invites bids for provision which is complementary or additional to any national/regional or locally funded 
activity and should include at least the following activities: 

 Provision that reduces the levels of digital/data exclusion which includes training, linking directly to skills 
acquisition into any of our key employment sectors with sustainable jobs  

 All provision in this Lot should include basic (up to Level 2) English, Maths, and English to Speakers of Other 
Languages (ESOL) 

 Digital should reflect the current national entitlement (as a minimum)  

 Sector Work Academy Programme (SWAP) linked to key employment sectors. 

Key employment sectors are: 
        1 - Health, Public Services and Care 

4 - Engineering and Manufacturing Technologies 

5 - Construction, Planning and the Built Environment 

6 – Information and Communication Technology 
7 - Retail and Commercial Enterprise 

15 - Business, Administration and Law 

 

 

Lot 2 - Provision for adults in employment, self-employed or at risk of redundancy  

Residents looking to reskill or upskill by gaining qualifications at higher levels. This Lot invites bids for provision which 
is complementary or additional to any national/regional or locally funded activity and should include at least the 
following activities: 

 Support residents in low paid jobs1 (earns less than £18,135.00 annual gross salary) to access opportunities 
to upskill or retrain, enabling them to progress in-work or move into new jobs with a focus on our key growth 
sectors  

 Delivery of first fully funded Level 2 qualifications with a focus on our key sectors 

 Delivery of second fully funded Level 2 which link directly to our growth sectors 

 Delivery of a fully funded first Level 3 using accessible, modular, full and part-time flexible delivery models 
e.g. digital and blended learning linked directly to our key growth sectors.  

 All provision in this Lot should include basic (up to Level 2) English, maths, and  

 Digital should reflect the current national entitlement (as a minimum)  

 Key growth sectors  

2 - Science and Mathematics 
4 - Engineering and Manufacturing Technologies 
5 - Construction, Planning and the Built Environment  
6 – Information and Communication Technology 
8 - Leisure, Travel and Tourism 
9 - Arts, Media and Publishing  
15 - Business, Administration, Finance and Law 

  

 
 
 
 
 

                                                           

1 £18,135.00 annual gross salary is based on the Real Living wage low-pay threshold of £9.30 (hourly rate in 2020/2021) and on the 

assumption of a 37.5-hour contract with paid statutory holiday entitlement. This figure will be kept under review in the event that the 

threshold changes. * Subject to change 

Indicative Lot value: £3,550,000 
Geography: Across South Yorkshire  

Contract Values: 

 Min £250,000   Max £1,000,000 

Indicative Lot value: £3,550,000 
Geography: Across South Yorkshire  

Contract Values:  

Min £250,000   Max £1,000,000 

Page 45



Annex A - Lots 

 

Lot 3 – No young person left behind 
 
This Lot invites provision which is complementary or additional to any national/regional or locally funded activity 
supporting South Yorkshire’s young people. 
 
Support will be targeted at young people aged 19-24 who are Not in Employment Education or Training (NEET) or 
hidden NEETs.  
 
A key worker model is the preferred approach with wrap around support which could include but is not limited to: 
Information Advice and Guidance; a tailored programme of activity including English, Maths and Digital (ESOL where 
appropriate) which focuses on raising aspiration and attainment. With an emphasis on providing opportunities to 
gain the skills and employability experience they need to enter a Traineeship; apprenticeship; employment or 
progress in further learning. We would expect bids in this Lot to include a significant social value component. 
 
Approaches can include innovative end to end collaborative delivery models for specific cohorts of young people in 
each Local Authority area within South Yorkshire. 

 
 
 

 

Lot 4 – Test and Learn Adult Key Worker Model  

This Lot invites provision which is Grass root integrated delivery models focused on those adults 25+ that provide 
opportunities to achieve goals and outcomes that residents value. We would expect bids in this Lot to demonstrate 
a significant level of social value. With a key role for voluntary and third sector organisations working extensively 
with other partners and networks.   

The focus will be on residents who face complex and/or multiple barriers and living in homes where there is 
intergenerational/family worklessness in our most deprived communities.  Providing motivation to enable them to 
develop confidence and resilience, be more active members of their local community. Key outcomes will be 
sustained employment (and/or volunteering) alongside a recognition of the value of lifelong learning for future 
upskilling and or reskilling.   

The tender could include but is not limited to a key worker model with individually tailored programmes. New 
approaches to flexible delivery and progression/destination tracking for up to a maximum of three years. Innovative 
end to end delivery models for specific cohorts of residents in each Local authority area within South Yorkshire 

 

Indicative Lot value: £1,550,000  
Contract Values: Min £50,000   Max £500,000 
Geographic Maximum Call-off Contract Value for each are 
Barnsley £193k    Doncaster £289k   Rotherham £337k    Sheffield £731k   

Indicative Lot value: £1,550,000  
Contract Values: Min £50,000   Max £500,000 
Geographic Maximum Call-off Contract Value for each are 
Barnsley £249k - Doncaster £372k   Rotherham £306k    Sheffield £ 623k 
 

Page 46



 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
1. Introduction 

 
 1.1 Following the SEP consultation and feedback from the November 2020 LEP and MCA, 

final changes have been made to SEP.  
 

 1.2 This paper presents a final version of the SEP for approval.  
 

2. Proposal and justification  
 

 2.1 The final document is attached and has been taken to the LEP board for endorsement 
and approval. The SEP will sit with other MCA policies and strategies captured in 
documents like the Renewal Action Plan, Transport Strategy and Energy Strategy and 
plans and strategies within local areas and across the North of England (e.g. TfN) and 
UK (e.g. any revised Northern Powerhouse Strategy). Other plans and strategies will be 
developed following adoption of the SEP including an Inclusion Plan, Skills Strategy and 
an International Plan. 
 

  It is anticipated that implementation plans will be developed as appropriate through 2021.  
 

 2.2 Performance against the SEP will be measured regularly and reported to all the Boards. 
Data, insights and analysis will be available via the Data and Intelligence Hub which is 

Purpose 

This paper presents the final Strategic Economic Plan (SEP hereafter). 

Thematic Priority 

Cross-cutting across all six thematic priorities. 

Freedom of Information  

This paper will be made available under the MCA Publication Scheme.  

Recommendations  

MCA Members are requested to agree the Strategic Economic Plan. 

. 

25th January 2021 

Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) Final 

Page 47

Agenda Item 14



 

 

currently under development and this will be accessed through the MCA website, when 
ready. The SEP will be reviewed after 5 years, or earlier if circumstance demand this.  
 

 2.3 The MCA’s Monitoring and Evaluation Framework, will guide and inform how the 
assessment of impact being made by the SEP in the period ahead. 
 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 Do nothing or do less  
The previous SEP was a 10-year plan and so a revision could have been delayed or 
could have simply updated the targets / metrics. This option was discounted due to a 
desire to consider growth in the context of the wider policy objectives of inclusion and 
sustainability.  
 

 3.2 Different approach 
The MCA (and LEP) could have chosen to follow a different economic growth model, but 
in early discussions the focus on the three policy objectives was agreed. 
 

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial 
The SEP will help to secure additional funding from Government including the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund. The costs associated with the completion of the SEP including research 
have been accounted for within the existing approved budget.  
 

 4.2 Legal 
There are no legal implications arising from this paper.  
  

 4.3 Risk Management 
Major risks to the SEP are largely external to the LEP (e.g. current public sector 
financing) and reflect current socio-economic conditions as well as the limitations of 
funding for LEPs and MCAs (availability of funding for SEP is contingent on Government 
decisions). 
 

 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  
The SEP is focusing on the socio-economic wellbeing of residents in South Yorkshire. the 
vision and objectives, and the actions that follow from these will help to mitigate against 
increasing levels of exclusion and improve economic conditions for all. Inclusive growth is 
central to this and the strategy considers all aspects of society to understand where 
opportunities are not available or where barriers are preventing residents from accessing 
opportunities. 
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 A detailed engagement plan has been developed. All partners and stakeholders have 
been engaged in the development of the SEP and had the opportunity to review and 
comment on draft documents.  
 
BEIS and HMCLG have been regularly engaged. 
Once adopted, the vision, objectives and priorities in the SEP will be communicated 
widely through all the channels. 
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  Appendix A - Final SEP  
  

Page 48



 

 

REPORT AUTHOR  Jonathan Guest  
POST  Senior Economic Policy Manager  

Officer responsible Felix Kumi-Ampofo 
Organisation Sheffield City Region 

Email felix.kumi-ampofo@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk  
Telephone 0114 220 3445 

Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad 
Street West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
Other sources and references: 

 

 

Page 49

mailto:Dave.Smith@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Our Strategic  
Economic Plan  
2021-2041

Page 51



2

Our approach is underpinned by a simple vision:

We will grow an economy that works for everyone.  
We will develop inclusive and sustainable approaches that build 
on our innovation strengths and embrace the UK’s 4th Industrial 
Revolution to contribute more to UK prosperity and enhance  
quality of life for all.

Executive Summary 
The Opportunity

The SCR economy has huge untapped potential, but it faces some major challenges. 
Our productivity is lower than it should be. Too few of our businesses innovate 
or operate in national and global supply chains. Our transport system and urban 
centres need improvement to match the level of our ambition. Too few of our people 
have the right qualifications to get into and stay in employment commensurate 
with their potential, and that employment too often does not translate to genuine 
wellbeing. And we have yet to meet the urgent need to decarbonize. 

These challenges are holding back our people, and our region, from fulfilling their 
potential. Yet the same capabilities and entrepreneurship that put the city-region  
at the heart of the world’s first industrial revolution, give us the opportunity to be  
at the centre of the next. There is a huge need across the world for new:

• Approaches to traditional ways of working across our economy.
• Ways of transporting people quickly, efficiently and safely.
• Ways of getting our population healthy.
• Manufacturing and engineering processes.
• Ways of building and designing quality places to live
• Capabilities to transition to a net-zero carbon economy
• Methods of energy production and the means to scale them.
• Products and materials that are lighter, stronger  

and which use less energy in their production and their use.

Our research base, our institutions, our businesses  
and our people make us superbly placed to meet these  
challenges and take advantage of the opportunity they 
present. This Strategic Economic Plan sets out what  
we intend to prioritise to make this happen.

Our Vision

Contents

Executive Summary 3

Foreword 7 
Local Enterprise Partnership Chair  
& Sheffield City Region Mayor 

Introduction 8

Our Economic Strategy 2021-2041

1. The Vision for 2041 10

2. Vibrant and Resilient Places 18

3. Innovation, Enterprise and Growth 28

4. Skills, Education & Employment 42

5. Clean Energy & Net-Zero 48

6. Transport & Mobility 56

7. A Digital Revolution 64

8. Land, Housing & Built Environment 69

9. Outcomes, Benefits and Financial Implications 77

Appendix A 88 
Summary of Evidence Base

Appendix B 95 
Vibrant and Resilient Places (Detail)

3

P
age 52



A focus on growth,  
inclusion and sustainability
In the new landscape after Covid-19, we will not pursue growth at any cost:  
we will prioritise growth that helps create a better society. We will seek to build  
an economy which better supports and rewards innovation, enterprise and hard 
work. We will encourage a wider and more equitable distribution of its fruits,  
and a greater stake and say for ordinary people in the economy. We will work  
to decouple prosperity from environmental harm. More supportive of enterprise,  
more sustainable, more equitable: that is our path to a Stronger, Greener,  
Fairer economy.   

If we get this right:

1. We will be a net contributor to the national economy, supporting innovation  
and entrepreneurship, retaining talent rather than exporting it, and attracting  
new investors to locate in the region;

2. Our people will be happier, healthier, better off, better qualified and better  
able to access good opportunities;

3. We will have a high-quality natural environment which will contribute to  
an improved quality of life and wellbeing.

4. We will build a zero-carbon future through hydrogen, nuclear fusion, carbon 
capture utilisation and storage, and other clean energy technologies;

5. We will lead the world in testing, developing and commercialising ideas  
emerging from our research community and businesses;

6. We will have vibrant town and city centres with rich sporting, cultural  
and leisure offers attracting people and visitors from across the country.

The purpose of this plan is to point the way to  
a prosperous, inclusive and zero carbon future.
We have set out how we will build and sustain  
a competitive economy that unlocks prosperity  
for our residents, serves our communities,  
and is resilient in the face of global and national 
economic and climate headwinds. Our residents, 
businesses and all our communities are at the  
heart of this plan.

Across the SCR, it is in Barnsley, Doncaster, 
Rotherham and Sheffield where the economy  
plays out – where people work, and where 
communities benefit from growth. Our priorities and interventions show  
how, together, we can create a stronger, greener and fairer economy,  
which benefits everyone and protects our environment.

How will we do this?
We will build our innovation 
capacity and capabilities, 
facilitating the incubation of ideas, 
creation of new businesses,  
and helping them grow and access 
new markets.

We will build on our successful 
Advanced Manufacturing 
Innovation District. We will 
enable the development of 
emerging clusters and maximise 
opportunities in modern methods 
of construction, intelligent 
mobility, lightweighting, clean 
energy, digital and health. We will 
open up our business base and 
supply chains so that we become 
more outward facing  
and international.

The SCR will be a home to a world 
class technical education system 
which focuses upon quality and 
progression and supports talent to 
flourish here. We recognise that we 
need to support our people so that 
they can reach their full potential. 
Also, we will deliver an all-age 
careers, advice and guidance 
service that meets the needs of our 
people and industry and enable our 
people to access training, upskill or 
reskill and progress in work. Finally, 
we will work with employers to 
ensure our people are supported 
to (re)train, upskill and progress in 
work and, Post-Covid-19, that the 
health and wellbeing of our people 
at work is always paramount.

We are going to... 
secure the future for the  
next generation – nurturing our 
economy whilst protecting people 
and the environment, generating 
our own clean energy, and reaching 
net-zero emissions by 2041.

invest in our urban centres, 
arts, culture, and our natural capital.

build a fairer, more inclusive 
economy, linked more closely to 
wellbeing and to our communities  
– removing barriers so everyone  
has the chance to prosper.

develop our transport 
infrastructure – so people and 
products can better move and trade 
around our region, nation and the 
globe.

invest in a zero-carbon  
public transport system with 
cycling and walking central to how 
we get about our region.

make homes and land 
available for families and businesses 
to locate and grow here, maximising 
our outstanding natural environment 
and excellent quality of life.

make every penny count.  
We will invest where we see social 
value; where we can create good 
jobs, and grow businesses that 
help transform our economy, create 
opportunities for young people and 
inspire the next generation. We will 
seek to leverage public spending  
for greater social value.

Through this plan, we’re making  
the following commitments.

4 5

P
age 53



7

Foreword from the  
LEP Chair and Mayor

By 2041 our economy  
will look very different.

Inclusive growth, underpinned by 
productivity gains will drive an 

extra £7.6bn G
V

A

33,000 

 A
 Y

E
A

R

extra people in  
higher level jobs

People will live longer,  
healthier lives, improving by
for men and women in the SCR at birth.

3 years

Reducing income inequality 
whereby wages will have  
raised, particularly among  
the lowest-paid, by over 

A net zero  
carbon City Region

30,000 

more people with higher  
levels skills and 9,000  
people fewer with no skills  
or low qualifications. £1,500

Our region’s investment in R&D 
will be trebled, from £323m to 

£1.1bn

6

James Muir, Chair of the Sheffield  
City Region Local Enterprise  
Partnership Board.

Dan Jarvis MP,  
Mayor of the Sheffield City Region

Industrialising innovation and creating the skills sets to match 
are at the heart of this Strategic Economic Plan. These are 
the cornerstones in order to generate a significant uplift in 
productivity and spread wellbeing across as broad a spectrum 
of the Region’s population as possible. 

Our ambition is to make South Yorkshire a leading contributor 
to the 4th Industrial Revolution and beyond. We need to unlock 
the potential of people and businesses across South Yorkshire. 

This Strategic Economic Plan provides the blueprint for how 
we can come together to build a stronger, greener, fairer, more 
productive region – creating not just a bigger, but a better 
economy for all of us.

P
age 54



98

Introduction

This Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) sets out  
what needs to be done to grow the economy  
and transform the lives and wellbeing of our 
people. It focuses on the communities of Barnsley, 
Doncaster, Rotherham, and Sheffield and will 
inform what we do over the next 20 years.

This is an unprecedented period of significant national and global 
socioeconomic change, with new opportunities in products, services, 
technology, and markets, providing potential for economic growth.  
These opportunities sit alongside the need to respond to the  
climate emergency. 

Our people and communities must have the opportunity to shape,  
benefit from and take part in the new economy. This plan sets out how 
we will respond and ensure they can do this in a sustainable way. 

The time is right to deliver an ambitious agenda  
and do things differently.

Figure 1: Map of the Sheffield City Region and Neighbouring Local Enterprise Partnerships

 
Source: SCR 2019

Humber

Greater
Lincolnshire

Leeds City Region

Sheffield

Barnsley

Rotherham

Doncaster

Bassetlaw

Bolsover

N.E. Derbyshire

Derbyshire Dales

Chesterfield

Greater 
Manchester

Cheshire &
Warrington

© Duncan Philpott

P
age 55



1110

1.1 Vision and objectives 
that go beyond GVA

Our first SEP was focused on creating 
jobs and generating GVA. This made 
sense at that time. However, the 
world has moved on and experienced 
significant disruption. We still want 
to grow our economy, but we want to 
make it better, not just bigger. Growth 
is important, but as a means to the end 
of creating better lives for our people, 
healthier communities, and a stronger, 
greener and fairer future.

We want to build a better economy, 
higher value and higher tech, more 
directly linked to the wellbeing of our 
population and planet, where people  
are more engaged and empowered 
to share in the fruits of their labour. 
That does not sit in opposition to 
entrepreneurship: on the contrary it 
seeks to widen access to it. 

Productivity1 remains a key part of  
this challenge, as a strong determinant 
not just of economic growth but of 
quality of life and wellbeing. The 
evidence indicates that we must foster 
a much stronger culture of innovation 
to grow our productivity, accelerate 
the pace of economic growth, and give 
people better lives.

We are building on our long-standing, 
world-famous industrial heritage to 
exploit the opportunities being created 
by the 4th Industrial Revolution (Industry 
4.0)2. The time is right to deliver this 
ambitious agenda, embracing global 
changes in the way we work, live, and 
travel. Now is the time to do things 
differently.

1. The Vision for 2041
Vision

We will grow an economy that works for everyone. We will develop inclusive  
and sustainable approaches that build on our innovation strengths and embrace  
the UK’s 4th Industrial Revolution to contribute more to UK prosperity and  
enhance quality of life for all.

Outcomes

Overarching Policy Objectives

Growth
Growing the economy and enhancing its strength and resilience.

Inclusion
Ensuring that everyone has a fair opportunity to contribute to and benefit 
from economic growth, that people have a greater stake in their economy, 
and that work is more closely linked to wellbeing and a decent life.

Sustainability 
Driving low carbon, green and circular economy opportunities within  
the economy and delivering net-zero emissions and lower overall 
environmental impact.

Importance of 
Productivity 
When it comes to the economy, 
measuring the right thing 
matters. Productivity is an 
important measure of living 
standards and wellbeing in an 
economy. It quantifies the value 
that our people and businesses 
are contributing to the economy. 
SCR’s productivity compares 
unfavourably to other UK LEP 
areas and other post-industrial 
regions in Europe.

1SCR’s productivity has increased more quickly in recent years than in some of our peer LEP areas, but there are two important caveats: Firstly, this productivity growth 
was from a relatively low base; and, secondly, this productivity growth has been driven largely by efficiency savings made in processes, rather than through the creation 
of more productive jobs.
2Industry 4.0 is the next phase in the digitisation of the economy, driven by four disruptions: the rise in data volumes, computational power, and connectivity, new power 
sources and networks; the emergence of analytics and business-intelligence capabilities; new forms of human-machine interaction and augmented-reality systems;  
and improvements in transferring digital instructions to the physical world.

People connected  
to opportunity  

(Fairer)

Growing economy
(Stronger)

Healthy places &  
people / quality of life. 

(Greener)

P
age 56



1312

1.2 Growth needs to be 
inclusive and fair

The Sheffield City Region Mayoral 
Combined Authority (MCA) is seeking  
to create inclusive economic growth. 
This approach recognises that 
communities and sectors have specific 
needs or require different interventions, 
drivers and empowerment for 
communities, local businesses and  
the public sector to enact change.

Economic growth does not automatically 
lead to vibrant centres, reductions in 
poverty, or increases in employment 
and/or earnings for low-skilled workers. 
Our policies and our investment 
decisions must actively make this so. 

Those actions cut across every part of 
the SCR MCA and LEP’s work, from skills 
and education to transport to business 
support. But some areas are particularly 
worthy highlighting. 

The first is around encouraging greater 
engagement and a wider share in the 
economy. If we want a bigger and more 
inclusive economy in South Yorkshire, 
we need to help communities and 
individuals engage with it more directly.

Secondly, SCR MCA will seek to 
implement principles of Community 
Wealth Building and the Wellbeing 
Economy. We will work to create social 
value and advance our key policy 
priorities, for example by supporting 
local employment and local businesses, 
incentivizing companies to offer 
apprenticeships, and encouraging higher 
labour standards and decarbonisation. 
We will encourage local anchor 
institutions to do the same.

1.2.1 Tackling health inequalities 

We know that pre- and post-Covid-19, 
healthy people drive healthy economies. 
Good health is an asset that reaps 
rewards in the workplace as it enables 
people to find and keep jobs, gain 
well-paid employment, improve skills, 
and enjoy a better quality of life and 
wellbeing. Poor health represents  
a huge cost in lost earning potential, 
lower productivity and tax revenue,  
and expense of public resources,  
while also having a significant impact  
on individuals and communities.  
We must maximise the benefits  
of growth for marginalised groups  
and places, in order to reduce social  
and health inequalities.

1.3 Growth should  
also support a net-zero 
carbon future

The climate emergency represents 
the single biggest threat to economic 
stability. Its widespread, unprecedented 
impacts will disproportionately burden 
the poorest and most vulnerable 
people. Over the past decade, the 
relationship between carbon emissions 
and economic growth appears to be 
decoupling. Furthermore, circular 
economy approaches have become 
more prominent. This reflects economic 
changes, including a shift from  
carbon- intensive manufacturing to 
more efficient service-based industries, 
growth of green technology sectors,  
and an increased focus on 
environmental sustainability within 
policy and decision making. 

Health and the SCR 
economy 
Covid-19 has clearly illustrated 
the close relationship between 
health and the economy.  
The pandemic has created 
further social and economic 
challenges but also opportunities 
to address inequalities, reshape 
the economy and link people
to opportunity.

Long-term health conditions 
often lead to people being 
unable to work (economically 
inactive).. In SCR, of those who 
are economically inactive, nearly
1 in 3 (53,800 people) is due to 
long-term sickness. This is the 
largest contributor to economic 
inactivity.

Encouragingly, SCR has a higher 
proportion of economically 
inactive people who want to 
work: 27% compared to 20% 
nationally. This illustrates an 
aspiration for employment and 
highlights an opportunity to 
widen our labour market through 
tailored and local approaches  
to tackle worklessness and 
health- related absences.

SCR MCA has seen successes 
such as the Working Win trial, 
where an experimental control 
trial tested a new intensive 
employment support service 
for people, who are living with 
physical or mental ill health.

Inclusive growth 
Inclusive growth is a model 
which enables as many people 
as possible to contribute to  
and benefit from prosperity.  
Inclusive growth is a response 
to the failure of traditional 
approaches, which can focus 
upon high value-added and 
high-wage sectors that are then 
expected to produce wider 
benefits through ‘trickle down’. 
There are specific inclusion 
challenges for the SCR which 
include low productivity rates, 
low wages, in-work poverty, 
and a lack of higher-level 
occupations. The inclusive 
growth agenda is fast-moving 
and requires the development
of bold and innovative strategies 
and a willingness to pilot 
experimental approaches to 
make a real difference.

P
age 57



1514

1.4 Growing SCR’s 
economy better –  
as a system

The economic evidence highlights  
that there are several interrelated  
factors that directly influence and  
enable innovation, enterprise, and 
growth – the cornerstones of the SCR 
economy. These enablers are skills  
and employability; health and wellbeing; 
mobility; digital connectivity; clean 
energy; land assets, housing and the 
built environment;  and liveability.

Underpinning these enablers is the 
importance of locally distinctive, 
accessible and vibrant places. Across 
SCR, it is in Barnsley, Doncaster, 
Rotherham, and Sheffield where the 
economy plays out3 – where people 
work, and where communities benefit 
from growth. Individual places have 
distinctive strengths and these need
to be capitalised on to ensure that the 
benefits of economic growth reach all 
parts of our City Region.

This SEP provides an opportunity to 
transform the direction of the economy 
by tackling SCR’s systemic and 
entrenched challenges4. We will work 
together to create a dynamic, inclusive, 
and sustainable economy. We will  
rise to new challenges and spread 
opportunity and prosperity to all our 
people.

Vibrant and urban centres 
Reinvigorating SCR’s urban 
centres requires the appropriate 
mix of economic, social and 
environmental interventions. 
Further planning and investment 
in our urban centres should 
recognise their unique identities, 
culture, heritage, and creativity 
whilst also investing in their 
future and safety.

3Our thematic priority areas broadly map across to local authority economic strategies and the drivers of economic and productivity growth
4See Sheffield University’s Productivity Insight Network Productivity synthesis 2019 

1.3.1 Decisions should enhance and 
protect the climate and natural capital

We must seek to mitigate and adapt  
to the climate emergency, protect  
our environment, and enhance our 
natural capital. A successful transition 
to a net-zero carbon economy is now 
essential for all modern, forward- 
looking economies and is critical for 
SCR’s growth prospects. The transition 
will unlock numerous opportunities, 
have may co-benefits for people’s health  
and wellbeing and, through our business 
and research capabilities, we are well 
placed to play a leading role. 

1.3.2 Making bold and innovative 
decisions 

Innovative approaches to investment 
can drive inclusive growth and address 
barriers to opportunities  for people  
and organisations that are often 
excluded from traditional approaches 
to economic development. A fairer 
distribution of innovation needs to 
consider small and medium sized 
enterprises (SMEs) and organisations  
in the Voluntary, Community and  
Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector. 
Innovative decision making can also 
unlock benefits for organisations,  
in terms of providing extra capacity, 
developing new technologies, products 
and processes, leading to additional  
job creation, improved services  
and provision of new products that 
enhance quality of life. Innovation can 
also help build community wealth  
by generating jobs and developing  
local supply chains.
 

Climate and 
Environmental 
Sustainability
There is overwhelming 
evidence indicating that human 
activity has resulted in a global 
climate emergency which now 
threatens our future and that of 
generations to come.

Environmental sustainability is 
the capacity for people to
protect and enhance the natural 
environment. Our ‘stock’ of 
environmental assets which 
bring benefits to people is known 
as ‘natural capital’.

SCR MCA’s plans for 
environmental sustainability will 
set out a more comprehensive 
vision and set of policy actions 
on the transition to a net-zero 
carbon and climate-resilient 
economy.

P
age 58



1716

i. For the MCA to deliver the 
ambitions around growth, inclusion 
and sustainability our approach will 
need to be targeted, innovative and 
flexible. Maximising social value 
through the broad activities (including 
commissioning and procurement) 
provides the MCA with an opportunity  
to make this happen. 

SCR MCA’s sustainability and inclusion 
plans both present a set of policies 
and actions on how we are tackling 
inequality and enabling the transition  
to a net-zero carbon economy. Alongside 
these, we also have, or are developing, 
other key strategies and plans including 
our Transport Strategy, Skills Strategy, 
Energy Strategy and International 
Plan. This SEP should, therefore, be 
considered as one of a suite of strategies 
and plans which inform and guide our 
actions.

1.5.1   Measuring outcomes

What we measure matters.  
The outcomes we seek and indicators 
that demonstrate progress towards 
delivery will be designed to better 
balance our investment decisions 
against growth, inclusion, and 
sustainability. A set of outcomes and 
indicators have been developed to 
measure progress. These are presented 
at the end of the document. 

1.5   New ways of working

How we work together matters.  
Transformation and success will require 
us to work differently:

a.  Working together and leading 
Our approach must move beyond  
the ‘here and now’ concerns that  
can so easily distract attention from  
longer-term aspirational efforts.  
SCR MCA’s leadership will be 
collaborative and outward looking, 
working together with other anchor 
institutions and areas across the  
North and Midlands. 

b. Being innovative in our decision 
making and investments
Public sector funding and support are 
important drivers of innovation and 
economic growth. Our investment 
decisions must better harness the 
benefits for local economies, following 
principles of community wealth 
building. We will work collaboratively 
with partners, stakeholders, and the 
UK Government to attract and leverage 
private sector investment against public 
sector contributions to ensure our 
funding works harder and benefits our 
businesses, people, and communities. 

c. Looking outwards to enhance  
global influence and competitiveness
SCR’s economy is not sufficiently 
global5. Changing this is crucial.  
Future success will stem from our 
economy being more embedded in 
national and global supply chains,  
and innovation networks. We will be 
more outward looking. 

d. Promoting and projecting a culture  
of proactive excellence and confidence
We will work proactively to develop a 
culture of excellence and confidence 
in how we project ourselves as a City 
Region and switch from a narrative of 
comparative regional disadvantage to 
one of excellence and confidence. 

e. Highlighting economic distinctiveness
In this global context, economic success 
stems from being distinctive and from 
being known for our successes. Key 
to this is ensuring that our specialisms 
form a compelling ‘USP’ and that 
individual and collective branding 
is recognisable and distinctive. This 
recognition attracts and retains talented 
people, investment, and businesses. 

f. Act at the appropriate spatial level 
To deliver our vision, the MCA will be 
bolder in the Northern Powerhouse and 
within the UK Government. At a local 
level, devolution and anchor institution 
levers will unlock growth.

g. Present a unified position externally
Working together, we will achieve more 
than the sum of our parts and improve 
our national and international profile. 
Transformation requires considerable 
political investment to turn ambition into 
reality, utilising existing and new
knowledge and building on the skills and 
experience of local communities.

h. Involve communities in solution 
development
The MCA recognises our people, local 
communities and the voluntary sector 
as key economic assets and will include 
them, where possible, in developing 
solutions, interventions and policy.

5The City Region has one of the lowest shares of goods and service exports in England.

P
age 59



19

2.1 Collaboration and maximising opportunities2. Vibrant and 
Resilient Places 
By harnessing the strengths of SCR’s 
people and places, we will create a 
stronger, greener and fairer City Region 
where everyone, and every place, 
can succeed. The towns of Barnsley, 
Doncaster, and Rotherham, and 
Sheffield’s city centre are well placed  
to build on their current entrepreneurial  
and creative advantages to unleash  
the full economic potential.

18

Barnsley, Rotherham, Doncaster  
and Sheffield are distinct places within 
the regional economy. But we share 
more than just administrative borders.  
A set of shared themes and 
opportunities characterise the region. 

These include: 

•   Inclusion – Success will be measured 
by more than economic growth. It is 
essential that we integrate as much 
of our population in our economy as 
possible. This means delivering an 
inclusive economic plan which shapes 
how all partners operate and make 
decisions. 

•   Health – Covid-19 pandemic has led 
to a sharper and sustained focus on 
public health. We have an opportunity 
to embed health and wellbeing into 
our policies, investment decisions and 
initiatives. Recognizing the impact that 
different living and working conditions 
have on people’s health and wellbeing 
will help us to focus on ensuring a 
fairer, greener and stronger economy 
for all.

•   Net-Zero Carbon Economy – 
Development in SCR must reflect  
our shared agendas around pursuing  
a net-zero carbon economy,  
including exploiting the opportunities 
around public transport, active travel 
and co-health benefits of reduced 
air pollution and increased physical 
activity. SCR MCA will work with 
partners to unlock capabilities and 
opportunities to drive the net-zero 
carbon agenda. 

•   People – All areas across SCR are 
determined to play a role in creating  
a City Region that everyone can be  
proud of. We will:

-  Create employment and develop 
skills, opportunity and foster 
progression across all ages. 

-  Support people and businesses  
to grow and flourish with a focus  
on good jobs and well-paid work  
for the future. 

-  Harness the determination of our 
people and work together with them 
to make communities vibrant and 
confident.

-  Attract and retain our skilled  
and qualified people.

•   Transport – It is essential that 
our transport system connects 
communities to opportunities.  
Our main population centres must  
be better connected to one another 
and to future sites of major 
employment. This provides the 
opportunity for exploring “15 minute 
city” approaches or identifying roles 
within a wider economic system.

P
age 60



20

•   Greater density, liveability and 
vibrancy in our urban centres –  
Our urban centres in SCR are 
transforming, and a critical role of 
the SEP is to meet this challenge 
and future- proof them. This means 
advocating liveability, maximizing 
natural capital, unlocking culture, arts, 
and heritage, harnessing flexibility, 
and planning for mixed use to ensure 
that SCR’s urban centres are attractive 
and sustainable. We will work with 
local areas to modernise and deliver 
transformational developments. We 
will utilise digital technology to enable 
visitors and residents to interact with 
our places and access public transport, 
sport, arts and culture. Achieving 
individual and collective ambitions is 
a crucial element of the place-making 
approach to delivering an inclusive 
economy.

•   Environment – The natural 
environment is an asset and its 
importance will grow as expectations 
of safe, liveable, healthier and green 
spaces increase over time. The  
natural geography of our local 
authorities – which share the arterial 
River Don and its tributaries –  
provides opportunities and challenges. 
SCR MCA will work to enhance our 
natural capital, minimise impact, and 
improve resilience across all local 
areas. The River Don and its catchment 
in our region, provides a useful 
starting point for whole catchment-
based approaches and unlocking our 
natural environment’s potential.

21

P
age 61



2322

Barnsley
•  Prioritisation of urban centres

•  Delivering ambitious plans

•   Improved and greener 
transport connectivity

•   Improving adult education  
and developing skills pathways

•   Addressing health inequality 
and deprivation

•   Creating a community-led 
inclusive economy

•   Achieving Net-zero carbon 
commitments

•   Future proofing the economy 
through investment in digital 
Barnsley

Doncaster
•   Improving the prosperity and 

well-being of people  
and places 

•   Developing a more 
regenerative place with 
a circular, decarbonised 
economy.

•   Developing industry 
specialisms, green industries, 
the foundational economy  
and supporting services.  

•   Growing priority areas 
and investing in housing, 
infrastructure, local services 
and public realm 

•   Developing an intelligent, 
greener transport system and 
improving digital connectivity

•   Improving skills and supporting 
lifelong learning and creativity.

•   Purposeful, mission-orientated 
innovation to improve  
well-being

Sheffield
•   Creating an inclusive  

wellbeing economy

•   Increasing ‘good’ jobs and 
boosting business growth

•   Supporting the growth of 
productive and competitive 
businesses

•   Recognising the importance  
of place

•   Consolidating Sheffield  
as a Magnet City to attract 
innovators, visitors and 
investment.

•   Transformed transport 
connectivity linking people to 
jobs and cities to each other.

•   Housing that provides quality, 
choice and affordability across 
the city

•   Growing an environmentally 
sustainable, more resilient 
economy 

Rotherham
•   High quality housing and 

regeneration 

•  Densification of manufacturing 

•   Expanding the new 
manufacturing economy to 
deliver inclusive regeneration 
across the borough

•   Connecting the town centre 
to the northern, eastern, and 
southern economic corridors 

•   Enhancing and harnessing 
green & blue infrastructure

•   Enhance skills development 
and broaden opportunities  
for residents

•   Develop inclusive growth 
through strengthened local 
supply chains

P
age 62



2524

NESTA research found that Sheffield, 
for example, has a mixed track record 
in developing this talent, in terms of 
knowledge exchange and dedicated 
research, but with strengths in 
providing creative qualifications. It is 
however overall designated a ‘high 
growth’ industry, reflected by creative 
employment in SCR growing by 44% 
compared to 8% across all industries 
between 2009-2019. The city region 
more widely has relatively high activity 
around specialised design, architecture, 
advertising, sound recording, and 
photography, which is a pattern 
shared throughout comparator city 
regions. The region also has existing 
highly successful and internationally 
recognised companies in games, film 
and music publishing.

As well as building on our creative 
and cultural assets, SCR MCA and LEP 
will invest in our growing strengths 
and place-based potential. This will 
be especially important as we seek to 
modernise and diversify our vibrant 
urban centre offer and increase civic 
pride.

2.2.3 How do we create the 
transformative change needed?

The creative sector is highly 
entrepreneurial with typically very  
small firm sizes, demonstrating both  
its high growth potential and its diverse, 
disparate nature. The LEP and MCA’s 
role will be to develop a localised 
understanding of this unique sector, 
identifying its assets, and engaging  
with it to understand where value can  
be added. Value is created when 
technical innovation, creativity and 
business entrepreneurship are deployed 
together. SCR LEP and MCA support 
would focus on challenges the sector 
struggles to overcome. For example, 
it’s widely recognised that networks 
are vital for creative clusters, helping 
to raise their visibility and attracting 
investment and collaboration from the 
further afield. Identifying and exploiting 
gaps here could unlock further growth.

In addition to nurturing our creative 
capabilities, the MCA and LEP will  
work with partners to develop an 
investment offer which aligns with 
Mayoral commitments around putting 
“culture at the heart of South Yorkshire”.  
As such, economic growth activities  
will also be supported by activities in 
the following areas: 

•  Boosting Engagement

•  Providing Leadership

•  Unlock Signature Investments

•  Promotion and Branding

•  Securing Investment 

2.2   Creative South Yorkshire 

SCR has outstanding natural, heritage, cultural and artistic assets with significant 
economic potential. It is a City Region that brings together strong and proud 
communities across both urban and rural settings. Our communities have a deep 
sense of place and identity. We are a region that is proud to play a role on the global 
stage. From the Snooker World Championships at the Crucible to the St Leger 
Festival in Doncaster, we host several national and international events each year 
that sit alongside industry leading cultural productions and activities. SCR also has 
a thriving cultural scene, as the birthplace for many music bands, the location for 
world renowned performing arts and a sports scene across football, both codes of 
rugby, swimming, boxing, athletics, cricket, cycling and outdoor sports. 

There is enormous potential within the creative industries in SCR, particularly in the 
growing global demand for creative content and services. Growing SCR’s potential  
in creative and commercial activities can forge a distinct identity for the area and 
help address the uneven distribution. of opportunities, skills, finance and knowledge 
in this sector.

To realise our full potential, we need 
a transformational programme of 
investment in our cultural and creative 
assets.

2.2.1 Why do we need change? 

Creativity, culture, art, heritage, and 
leisure play a fundamental role in the 
dynamism or every economy, through 
commercial activities, and improving 
education and wellbeing across 
communities.

There are businesses, major assets  
and events across South Yorkshire  
which deserve more support and 
recognition to support economic  
growth and wellbeing6. In particular, 
the creative industries remain 
underdeveloped in South Yorkshire7  
and, if supported and nurtured,  
could help drive growth and realise 
untapped potential.

2.2.2 What do we need to do to grow 
our creative sector?

Many creative sectors which span 
marketing, broadcasting, programming, 
design, and more, are success stories 
nationally. These are high-growth 
sectors, in recent years seeing GVA 
growth twice as fast as the UK as 
a whole. They are a key source of 
‘disruptive innovation’ and are on the 
whole more productive than the rest  
of the economy. Realising the 
opportunities this sector presents can 
reach all parts of our region, since a 
flourishing ‘cluster’ is not limited to the 
‘creative cities’ model. 

Whilst they are highly diverse, creative 
industries share a need for creative 
talent, which are supplied by knowledge 
bases developed largely in higher 
education. R&D-intensive creative 
businesses in particular, draw on this 
knowledge. 

“ You’ll find jaw-dropping 
scenery, cities steeped 
in industrial heritage and 
hidden market towns in equal 
measures in South Yorkshire.”  
 
Visit Britain 2019

6Latest figures from Arts Council and the Great Britain Tourism Survey. Furthermore, funding from national cultural bodies is lower per head than other similar city regions. 
7All four local authorities in the region are below the national average for the size of creative sectors and tourism visits in SCR have been lower than neighbouring 
metropolitan LEP areas since data began. According to national surveys, people in SCR are less likely than the average person in England to have visited a museum,  
used a public library or indeed had any arts engagement.

P
age 63



2726

2.3.3 What do we need to do to create 
transformative change?

The SCR is a growing centre for health 
innovation, working in partnership with 
businesses and patients. SCR MCA will 
continue to work with health partners 
in the private sector and public sector. 
This includes establishing strong 
relationships with the Integrated Care 
service in South Yorkshire.

SCR MCA will invest in projects and 
programmes which deliver positive 
health outcomes, indirectly or directly 
through a focus upon inclusion, good 
jobs and innovation. We will create new 
jobs related to, or in, the new healthcare 
economy. A growing economy has more 
opportunities to unlock positive health 
outcomes but investing smartly will 
help the positive impacts spread more 
equitably. 

SCR MCA will encourage all local 
employers to recognise their role in 
offering providing good work and 
ensuring that the most disadvantaged 
in our society are not left behind in their 
ambitions and progression. 

 

SCR MCA will invest in healthcare 
innovation infrastructure, companies  
and skills assets in line with the 
aspirations set out in this document. 
This includes planned developments in 
emerging healthcare clusters and new 
capital infrastructure. We will continue 
to invest in the business support 
and networks needed to support the 
healthcare sector;

SCR MCA commits to assessing the 
impact of the SEP against a set of 
wellbeing measures. Chapter 9 of this 
Plan begins to set this out and will 
continue to evolve by working with 
a range of organisations (e.g. AWRC, 
public health professionals, Yorkshire 
Academic Health Science Network, etc).

2.3 Healthy communities 

2.3.1 Why do we need change?

There are significant health inequalities 
within SCR and when compared with 
the UK average. Inequality in health 
outcomes are strongly related to 
economic inequalities. Someone in a 
well-paid and secure job is more likely 
to have better health outcomes than 
someone that is unemployed or in a less 
well paid or secure job. 

Covid-19 has shown the intertwined 
nature of health and the economy. The 
public health impact of the disease has 
targeted the most vulnerable and has 
been particularly strong on deprived 
areas, Black, Asian and minority ethnic 
(BAME) people, the disabled and other 
vulnerable people. The economic impact 
has also targeted vulnerable people 
and places, centered upon many of 
the same population groups and many 
residents that were already economically 
disadvantaged.

The impacts of Covid-19 have illustrated 
that health and the economy are 
inextricably linked - an enhanced focus 
on the role of health and wellbeing 
within the economy can deliver 
transformative change by improving the 
health of people whilst also improving 
productivity. 

2.3.2 What do we need change? 

Economic growth in SCR will not 
automatically benefit the whole 
population nor improve the health and 
wellbeing of everyone. Interventions 
made should be planned to have 
positive impacts upon people’s lives:

Collaboration: SCR MCA will work  
with stakeholders to influence change. 
There is a need to collaborate with 
anchor institutions, our communities, 
and other partners to understand how 
change can be driven and delivered.

Unlocking mutual benefits: SCR MCA 
has already worked with health partners 
on several programmes connected 
to employment, business growth 
and health (e.g. the employment-
led health trial called Working Win). 
Undertaking and innovating with 
further direct (and indirect) positive 
health impact programmes will help 
cement collaboration, create the 
opportunity to unlock good jobs and 
yield mutual benefits (e.g. reducing 
health inequalities and improving job 
outcomes). 

Health Innovation: Healthcare assets 
within the SCR are highly important to 
the strength of our economy and unlock 
many population-wide benefits.

Good jobs: Employment growth is 
important in a healthy economy and  
the provision of ‘good jobs’ is an 
important part of this. Encouraging  
the creation of well-paid, progressive 
and secure employment is key to  
SCR MCA’s aspirations. Good jobs are 
beneficial to health and all employers 
have a significant contribution to make.

Measuring impact: The economy  
is driven by many different factors  
and understanding how wellbeing 
impacts our economic fortunes will 
shape future programmes of work  
and how we judge success. 

P
age 64



2928

3.2 The Sheffield City 
Region innovation 
approach

Our focus will be to increase the  
number of innovative firms and the 
number of firms innovating as a 
proportion of the whole. There will  
not be a one-size fits all policy to 
innovation, as we recognise that 
industries innovate differently.

To unlock transformational growth 
in our region, we need to accelerate 
the adoption of innovative products, 
processes and services in our 
businesses, alongside a transformational 
increase in the scaling up of both the 
discovery and commercialisation of  
new ideas, capabilities, and designs.

Innovation is a complex process which 
carries risks. It therefore needs careful 
and systematic management right 
through from discovery and incubation, 
to the commercialisation or spinning  
out stage. 

SCR MCA’s approach adopts the  
International Standards Organisation 
definition of innovation as follows,  
“the implementation of new or 
significantly improved products,  
goods or services, as well as processes, 
or new marketing methods”. 

We will promote collaboration between 
the public and private sector. To drive 
economic growth, we will also seek out 
efficiency, continuous improvement, 
and competitiveness in two key market 
opportunities for SCR: 

•  Decarbonisation - Noting the collective 
agreements around net-zero emissions 
commitments; and

•  Industry 4.0 - The trends towards 
automation and data exchanges, smart 
technologies, and complex computing. 

A step change is needed to industrialise 
and commercialise value-added 
activities. By championing and 
incentivising innovation through public 
support, SCR MCA is recognising 
its leading role in encouraging and 
promoting modernisation of businesses 
and communities.
 
The SCR MCA innovation approach 
will be shaped by an acceptance of the 
following principles:

•  Inclusion and risk taking – Through 
stakeholder engagement at key levels. 
Innovation leads to new discoveries and 
radical results. Either way the outcomes 
will be novel and will face risk and 
uncertainty, which SCR MCA’s will be 
ready to support businesses to address. 

•  Anchoring investment in the City 
Region – To support the innovation 
focus. By driving change at each stage 
of business maturity, we will address 
and overcome flawed expectations that 
investment will trickle down by default, 
from major businesses to the whole 
supply chain. We will support access to 
investment and finance for companies 
as well as Coops and social enterprises. 
In the medium to long term, we may 
seek to establish a regional development 
bank or similar structure.

3. Innovation,  
Enterprise and Growth
Innovation is at the heart of our plan to grow an economy that works for everyone. 

3.1 Why does innovation 
matter?

Innovation has a transformative effect 
on the economy. In every economy 
around the world the most innovative 
firms and industries are also the most 
productive. SCR is seeking to accelerate 
the intensity of innovation activities in 
order to drive economic development. 

Maintaining the status quo is not 
going to unlock transformational 
growth. We need incremental as well 
as transformational improvement 
of existing products, processes and 
services, alongside the discovery 
and commercialisation of new ideas, 
capabilities, and designs.

Increased investment is required to 
create the enabling conditions which 
will grow productivity and improve 
lives. To transform our economy, the 
city region must triple investment from 
£323 million to £1.1billion to meet the UK 
Government’s target of spending 2.4% of 
Gross Domestic Product (GDP) on R&D 
by 2027.

By offering structured innovation 
support to organisations of all sizes - 
whether those businesses are start-ups, 
established, high-tech, or traditional - we 
will develop inclusive and sustainable 
approaches that build on our innovation 
strengths.

Defining innovation
Innovation is the process of 
creating value from ideas. 
Developing new products and 
services requires skills. In turn, 
these create more jobs and 
growth. Innovation cannot be  
left to chance.

Innovation directly drives 
economic growth, helping 
organisations to scale-up and 
create employment. Innovation 
enables new ideas to be 
incubated, processes to be 
developed, and products to be 
commercialised. Innovation also 
expands services, increases 
capacity and creates growth 
opportunities in new and 
emerging markets. 

Innovation needs to be 
taken seriously to accelerate 
productivity growth. That means 
having a clear idea of where and 
how making changes will move 
the economy forward, combined 
with a long-term commitment 
to implement change and make 
innovation happen. 

P
age 65



3130

Communities

Capital &  
Finance

Skills  
System

Government 
(Local, Sub Regional 

and National)
Business

SCR 
INNOVATION 
ECOSYSTEM

•  A joined-up approach to align 
research, development and skills – 
Partnerships with organisations beyond 
universities can support innovation.

•  Our skills system must be reshaped  
to support the innovation system -  
The skills system from school, further 
and higher education and then 
throughout the working life must be 
better focused on industry needs.

•  All industries can be innovative 
- Start-ups exist in all sectors and 
businesses can be innovative and adopt 
technology in all sectors. Covid-19 
has also driven innovation in several 
industries. Evidence shows that some  
of our most productive businesses are  
in sectors that are traditionally thought 
of as unproductive.

•  The linkages and density of activity 
is important - Increasing the density 
of innovative firms is important for the 
formal and informal links of businesses. 
SCR MCA recognises that proximity is 
crucial for knowledge exchange. 

Collaboration is essential, bringing 
different communities together to 
innovate, connecting small and large 
businesses, and creating linkages across 
industrial sectors where risks are shared 
to enhance competitive advantage. 

SCR’s innovation ecosystem includes  
a range of stakeholders, such as the UK 
Government, educational institutions, 
firms, entrepreneurs, business support 
providers and mentors, communities, 
and investors. Each one plays a 
significant role in creating value and 
helping to ensure that innovation is 
harnessed with new ideas transformed 
into reality. 

This ecosystem creates a platform for the  
flow of information and resources and there 
are four approaches to innovation which 
SCR will embrace.

P
age 66



3332

1.  Traditional Innovation 

For firms that follow the traditional model, Research and Development (R&D) is key. 
In these sectors, new products, services or processes often depend on scientific 
breakthroughs. Innovation requires substantial scientific expertise, long timelines,  
and investment in capital and equipment.

2. Unconventional Innovation
 
In many sectors, the traditional innovation process does not fit. Firms in these 
sectors use a blend of market channels, traditional research and customer testing  
to develop new products, services or processes. Innovation in this model is  
not linear but includes feedback loops.

3. Mixed Industry Innovation
 
Many emerging sectors use different elements which rely on institutional 
approaches, formal and informal channels to achieve innovation. Innovation is not 
linked directly to academic research but is tested and pushed through engagement 
with suppliers and customers.

4. People driven innovation 

Often innovation can be driven by communities and the exchange of ideas  
through informal networks as well as with formal institutions. Innovation can  
come from markets, consumers, suppliers, community groups, social enterprises  
as well as businesses.

Opposite: Adapted from NESTA 2019 and Scott Andes (2016) How Firms Learn. Policy 2020.  
Global Development or International Affairs Intl Affairs. U.S. Politics & Govt.

1.  Traditional Innovation (e.g. manufacturing)

Outputs
(Products,  

Services, etc)

Government Research Industry

Commercialisation

3. Mixed Industry Innovation (e.g. technology)

Customer Driven Innovation

Supplier Driven Innovation

Research

Inventor Driven Innovation

Industry

4. People driven innovation (e.g healthcare)

Communities

Institutions

Research

2. Unconventional Innovation (e.g. materials or chemicals)

Customers

Institutions

SalesSupplier

P
age 67



3534

the opportunity to transform the 
intelligence, resilience and resource-
efficiency of commercial and residential 
buildings and other infrastructure, 
benefitting both our people and climate. 
With the strengths in this industry, 
SCR is an obvious location for a Centre 
for Innovation Excellence, focusing 
on Modern Methods of Construction 
(MMC) helping to develop new materials 
and skills needed in the construction 
industry to respond to market trends. 

Health

Covid-19 and its consequences have 
hit most vulnerable populations the 
hardest. With a background in healthcare 
technology, sport research and 
healthcare service design and flagship 
research Institutes for Neoroscience 
and Healthy Lifespan, we are a City 
Region that can help tackle global 
health challenges. The health sector has 
over 4,000 employers in SCR and has 
established a reputation for excellence in 
the development of innovative healthcare 
technologies. The City Region is host 
to many world-leading healthcare 
technology companies including 
Braun, Swann Morton, Orchid and JRI 
Orthopaedics and the only Olympic 
Legacy Park in the world outside of a host 
city. The City Region also has several 
large teaching hospitals, is the location 
for world leading clinical research and 
biomedical devices, and has several firms 
involved in diagnostic and interventional 
innovations (everything from surgical to 
artificial intelligence). 

The National Centre for Sport & 
Exercise Medicine is a globally leading 
transformation programme co-
locating health and activity in bespoke 
community facilities, utilising the 
unique demographic of Sheffield as 
a living laboratory for research and 
innovation. Sheffield Hallam University’s 
Advanced Wellbeing Research Centre 

(AWRC) builds on this capability to 
undertake world-class research in 
physical activity. The AWRC also 
develops collaborative community, 
academic and industry partnerships 
to drive innovation and co-design 
products, interventions and services that 
transform the social, behavioural and 
environmental determinants of health. 
Future developments including the Gene 
Therapy Innovation & Manufacturing 
Centre provide further opportunities.

Digital

Digital technology is changing 
how education, engineering, and 
manufacturing operates. The City 
Region has a lot to offer entrepreneurs, 
from Sheffield’s Digital Coalition,  
dotSHF and Sheffield Digital, to 
Barnsley’s Digital Media Centre.  
There is a growing value chain which 
is delivering specialist training to 
support growth in the sector and a 
thriving network of over 400 companies, 
incubators and organisations; all of 
which make up our digital media and 
technology ecosystem. Over 60% of the 
UK’s educational technology capacity 
is in Sheffield, and we are the home 
of national and globally significant 
businesses like The Floow, Sumo Digital, 
Wandisco, Plusnet, and 3Squared.  

Building on our capabilities, our 
approach will focus on the core areas  
set out below:

•   Increasing density in our successful 
innovation district (AMID) and 
emerging clusters

•   Supporting businesses to flourish  
and drive economic growth

•   Driving supply chain development  
and competitiveness regionally  
and nationally

3.3  Building on our 
capabilities

The City Region has a well-established 
but relatively small innovation network 
that contains world-class capabilities 
(such as our Universities and research 
flagship institutes), alongside emerging 
specialisms and services. The strength 
of this foundation stems from our supply 
chains, existing specialisms, and active 
networks.

Building our innovation capacity is 
crucial to meet growing demand for the 
digital technology and service sectors 
that we lead; such as learning and 
educational technology, wellness and 
health, and advanced materials and 
composites. We also have our traditional 
innovation networks and communities. 
For example, our manufacturers, 
steelmakers and forgers are established 
suppliers to global industries in 
advanced manufacturing, construction, 
and rail. These stakeholders are a 
core part of our established capability 
and global reputation for making and 
distributing excellent products and 
services.

Advanced Manufacturing  
and Engineering

The Advanced Manufacturing  
Innovation District (AMID) and adjacent 

business and science parks connect 
world-class capabilities and R&D 
assets in materials, clean energy, and 
advanced wellness. At AMID’s heart 
is the Advanced Manufacturing Park 
(AMP), and the University of Sheffield’s 
Advanced Manufacturing Research 
Centre (AMRC). The City Region is also 
home to the Institute for Energy. Since 
the early 2000s the AMP has helped 
change perceptions of SCR’s economy 
from a place for low-cost production 
to a location of choice for high-value, 
knowledge-driven engineering, 
manufacturing research, and skills 
development.

Intelligent Mobility 

As the pioneer of UK railways, Doncaster 
is at the forefront of intelligent mobility 
and the infrastructure of tomorrow. The 
borough is one of the most important 
rail hubs in the UK and at the centre of 
developing the next generation of rail 
skills and expertise. As well as skills and 
research, Doncaster offers access to an 
8,000 strong, highly skilled rail workforce 
and is home to the National College for 
Advanced Transport & Infrastructure 
and a new University Technical College 
(UTC) specialising in digital design and 
engineering.

Construction

This sector has the most businesses in 
SCR (over 8,200) and there are several 
important companies and supply chains 
which link into this sector. The potential 
of the sector is highlighted by University 
of Sheffield’s Integrated Civil and 
Infrastructure Research (ICAIR) Centre. 
The centre is translating disruptive 
technologies from other sectors, 
including advanced manufacturing, 
robotics and autonomous systems 
and applying it to the construction and 
infrastructure sector. This provides 

P
age 68



3736

3.3.2   Supporting businesses to flourish 
and drive economic growth

SCR MCA will focus on interventions 
that incentivise innovation and enable 
entrepreneurs and enterprises to locate 
here. This will involve us being more risk 
tolerant to achieve our policy objectives 
by targeting innovation that actively 
influences the direction and pace of 
growth. 

Enabling our business base to improve 
and grow requires increased trade (and 
export) with global markets. We will 
support and promote entrepreneurs and 
businesses to take innovative ideas to 
market. To achieve this we will:

•   Create the conditions to allow more 
entrepreneurs to develop and launch 
solutions quicker and be in a stronger 
position to scale them up. 

•   Establish new  partnerships with 
businesses and organisations in 
key sectors (e.g. CCGs) and finance 
organisations to build strategic 
relationships and facilitate formal 
and informal networks that drive 
innovation;

•   Boost business-academic-public 
sector collaborations in translational 
research;

•   Welcome risk-taking – inherent in the 
innovation process – by recognising 
that the state is a legitimate actor in 
the innovation process; 

•   Develop investment mechanisms so 
that the public and private sectors 
share risks and rewards.

•   Drive innovation through a range of 
activities, from financial incentives and 
investments, branding, influencing, 
networking, convening, and much 
more;

•   Deliver growth and scale-up support  
to help companies invest in digital 
technologies and develop strategic 
plans, export and coordinate access to 
investment as well as expert advice;

•   Work closely with the UK research 
councils to build collaborative 
initiatives that harness support from 
public institutes such as the British 
Business Bank, InnovateUK and social 
enterprise funding. Private and third 
sector funding is vital during the 
commercial stages of innovation; 
we will offer support to maximise 
benefits for organisation that invest in 
innovation (e.g. ranging from training 
support to R&D tax credits); and,

•   Identify innovation potential at all 
levels of scale and maturity, exploiting 
investible solutions. This could mean, 
seeding first stage R&D investment to 
accelerate competitive advantage to 
targeted high-value markets. It could 
also mean supporting firms adopting 
technology to deliver innovative adult 
social care in communities.

3.3.1 Increasing density in our  
successful innovation district (AMID)  
and emerging clusters

Working closely with the UK 
Government and local authorities, we 
will co-develop innovation clusters. 
We will support training practitioners 
and university researchers, alongside 
industry to increase the mix of 
activity, and we will collaborate with 
entrepreneurs and innovators.

We will accelerate innovation-led 
economic growth by supporting 
much greater density to harness the 
benefits of clustering. In SCR, the most 
established example of this is AMID, 
a world leading Innovation District, 
translating applied research and 
precision engineering strengths into a 
globally significant manufacturing centre 
of excellence that drives new business 
activity, creates jobs, and generates 
additional income for the region. 

The AMRC’s model of university- 
industry collaboration has driven the 
agglomeration of technology firms 
within AMID. Similarly, the Olympic 
Legacy Park, with the AWRC  as its 
central node, is emulating the AMRC 
model by attracting businesses to  
co-locate and collaborate with academic 
researchers at the AWRC and other 
research centres in AMID. 

There are other emerging clusters in 
SCR, and we will work with partners to 
develop these into hubs of innovation 
excellence:

Barnsley – The Digital Media Centre 
(DMC) has seen significant growth over 
the last three years as a hub for digital 
technology and creative  businesses,  
and a destination for events and 
business support. 

A key factor in the growth  of the DMC 
has been the ‘TechTown’ project, which 
is creating bold plans for the future 
of Barnsley. TechTown is creating a 
digital ecosystem by connecting people 
from the public and private sector, 
entrepreneurs and education providers 
to share and benefit from digital 
technology expertise. 

Doncaster – There are opportunities  
to build on current expertise and market 
opportunities in intelligent mobility, 
higher education, rail engineering, 
creative and digital technology, health, 
and green technologies in three key 
geographical areas:
o Town centre;
o Unity; and,
o Doncaster Sheffield Airport (DSA).

Sheffield City Centre is already  
a major professional services hub and 
employment centre, and there is an 
opportunity to further strengthen the 
city’s digital technology and creative 
businesses and clusters, and to support 
the scale up of digital businesses, 
particularly around the Castlegate area 
of the city centre (where Kollider is 
established).  This would build on the 
city’s technology clusters including 
edtech, mobility and entertainment,  
and complementarities to the Digital 
Campus in Barnsley.

There is further potential to establish 
other innovation assets and nodes 
across the City Region, for example  
a Modern Methods of Construction
Centre of Excellence and a Preventative 
Medicine Centre to build on our 
expertise and provide an anchor for 
innovation and business activity. We will 
invest in new anchor institutions and 
support existing ones.

P
age 69



3938

3.3.3 Driving supply chain development 
and competitiveness

SCR MCA intends to build on established 
supply chains and create new global 
value-chains. We will build strategic 
relationships with targeted businesses 
and anchor institutions. We will also 
build the capability of local businesses, 
to enable them to participate in supply 
chains beyond our City Region and work 
collaboratively so they can compete 
nationally and internationally.
This will create opportunities for 
businesses to diversify into new sectors 
or new export markets. We believe
this will result in increased open new 
markets, especially in non-EU  markets 
in a post-Brexit world. Our businesses 
will be better placed to take advantage 
of reshoring opportunities, to streamline 
the distribution of goods, reduce
risks, delays and costs, benefit the 
environment, and create more jobs.

Going beyond R&D
NESTA’s work on inclusive 
innovation highlights three main 
strands:

•   Broadening participation  
in the innovation economy

•   Ensuring that the benefits of 
innovation are shared by all

•   Involving the public in shaping 
innovation policy

These three areas provide 
the strategic lens to test our 
investments in innovation.

8Such as working with the Massachusetts Institute of Technology’s UK REAP project
9Such as through AMID’s membership of the Global Institute on Innovation Districts 

There are three stages to improving our supply chain capability:

Stage 1 

Supply Chain Readiness  

Linking businesses together and raising the awareness levels of business 
systems and processes required to compete. This will enable businesses 
to acquire the right skills, undertake business planning and focus on 
strategy, gain accreditations, and implement quality management systems 
or other specific requirements. 

 Stage 2 

Supply Chain Development 

This will include supporting those businesses that are nearly ready  
to grow and/or win bigger and more valuable supply opportunities.  
This may also include some aspects of the supply readiness programme 
or assistance  with diversifying their product range or target markets. 
To create the right environment for strong supply-chains in SCR, we will  
support  value- adding activities, utilise digital technology applications  
and develop practical outcomes from collaboration with world leading 
research programmes8.

Stage 3 

Opportunity Management 

We will work together to connect more businesses to opportunities.  
This could take many forms such as local procurement, Meet the Buyer 
events or developing regional Original Equipment Manufacturer challenges 
for local supply chains to address. We will continue to ensure we are at  
the leading edge of technology development, positioning the SCR globally, 
to attract inward investment9. SCR MCA will also build new and expand on 
existing global linkages to showcase our assets and capabilities and  
unlock economic opportunities. 

P
age 70



4140

Key intervention areas: 

•   Build strategic partnerships with businesses and entrepreneurs,  
unlocking growth contingent on social impact and supporting our  
transition to a net-zero carbon economy by establishing a social contract 
and a social value policy and action plan.

•   Bring together different communities to innovate by connecting small  
and large businesses and creating linkages across industrial sectors  
where risks are shared to enhance competitive advantage.

•   Enhancing innovation led community wealth building through the support 
and advocacy of cooperatives and other community ownership models.

•   Focus on interventions that incentivise innovation and enable 
entrepreneurs and enterprises to locate here.

•   Accelerate innovation-led growth by supporting much greater density  
to harness the benefits of clustering.

•   Build the capability of local businesses, to enable them to participate  
in supply chains beyond our City Region and work collaboratively so they 
can compete nationally and internationally.

3.3.4   Ensuring our innovation approach 
benefits the whole City Region

Innovation is inherently disruptive, 
creating winners and losers. It often 
does not reach disadvantaged groups. 
There are two aspects to our inclusive 
innovation ethos that address this.
Firstly, we will aim to enable all people 
to participate in delivering innovation 
initiatives. We will deliver more inclusive 
and diverse innovation systems.
To do this, we must ensure that the 
backgrounds and skills of decision- 
makers within the ecosystem are also 
diverse. Furthermore, we can unlock 
multiple benefits by considering 
innovation as a wider approach which 
encompasses natural-based solutions, 
cooperatives, community groups and 
community decision making.

Secondly, when making investments,  
we will establish an upfront social 
contract based on our terms of business 
and a social value policy and action 
plan which will govern both stakeholder 
behaviours and policy outcomes.

Ensuring that everyone has a fair 
opportunity to contribute is important. 
We will focus on the diffusion of 
innovation to disadvantaged groups and 
enable fair access to entrepreneurship. 
We will promote cooperatives and 
other social enterprises to ensure that 
benefits are more directly linked to 
SCR residents. Also, our approach 
will embrace university originated 
innovation as well as wider and 
informal sources. We will work across 
the economy, including cooperatives, 
foundational industries as well as high- 
end tech. Our approach is about helping 
businesses and people to do better – 
we will facilitate this by providing the 
enabling conditions needed for them  
to flourish.

Through an inclusive approach 
to employer commitments 
we will focus on the following 
areas to shape our terms of 
engagement: 

•   Environmental commitments 
towards a net-zero target

•   Driving social and 
environmental through 
procurement and supply  
chain activity

•   Recruitment and employment 
of apprentices (representative 
of society)

•   Commitment to achieving a 
gender balance in management

•   Employer commitment to  
skills and careers 

•   The provision of work 
placements and internships

•   A minimum living wage  
for all employees, including 
apprentices

P
age 71



4342

•  Apprenticeship growth is largely 
in low pay sectors – Whilst SCR 
has a comparatively high level of 
apprenticeships compared to other 
areas, and an economic base which 
could support further growth, there are 
constraints on the capacity to grow, 
and challenges with levels and subjects 
studied. For example, it is estimated  
that around 70% of apprentice starts in 
SCR are aligned to low pay sectors10.

•  Higher rates of poverty and 
worklessness – Higher unemployment 
rates and higher levels of economic 
inactivity11 underpin poverty in the City 
Region. The rate of young people living 
in workless households stands at 5.7% 
above the national average12. This can 
restrict the realisation of aspiration for 
generations. 

•  Low levels of diversity – Companies 
that commit to diverse leadership are 
more successful13. There are diversity 
challenges, with women and certain 
ethnic groups underrepresented across 
the labour market. The current lack of 
diversity in the City Region’s workforce 
constrains productivity and business 
performance. 

•  Mismatches in the employment  
and skills system – A lack of alignment 
between business and education 
and training providers damage the 
SCR economy and there are huge 
opportunities to align these better14.  
This mismatch limits the employment 
and earnings opportunities of individuals 
and prevent companies from maximising 
their performance15. Mismatches have 
been identified in technical education, 
graduate employment, and flexible 
working (e.g. the gig economy) which 
can limit progression. 

According to ONS 47% of SCR jobs  
are at risk of automation over the next 
two decades, compared to 39% in 
London16. Those with low qualifications 
are more likely to be unemployed in 
the future. The sectors and occupations 
at the highest risk are unfortunately 
the same sectors that have created the 
most jobs in SCR over the last decade. 
The prospects for a low qualification, 
low wage economy are concerning and 
urgent intervention and improvement  
is needed.

10SCR Analysis of DfE data and ONS: automation jobs index – 2019.
11This is the case even when students are taken out of the datasets.
12ONS Annual Population Survey 2019 
13 See for example, the McKinsey report on why diversity matters, available here:  

https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/organization/our-insights/why-diversity-matters
14 There are multiple complexities, but one example is the ‘gig economy’ which provides opportunities for those looking for flexible workers  

(e.g. part-time carers of children) but also faces challenges with pay and progression.
15BIS Research Paper Number 265 Research to understand the extent, nature and impact of skills mismatches in the economy (2016)
16ONS: automation jobs index - 2019

Addressing wider skills &  
employment issues in SCR

Meeting business growth needs:

Innovation led growth
Collaboration relationships

Supply of skills

Skills demand

•  Attainment and progression –  
Despite examples of world-class 
teaching facilities and training, the 
quality of education varies widely  
across all levels. SCR lags the national 
averages across all levels of formal 
education for many indicators  
(e.g.  English  and  Maths, Progress  
and Attainment 8). 

•  The workforce is typified by a lower 
qualification profile – Productive 
economies have a highly qualified and 
skilled workforce. Our system lacks the 
progression routes and the employment 
opportunities for these people. Low 
qualification levels are holding back 
economic growth and innovation. 

•  Workers’ health affects productivity 
and economic prosperity –  
The disruption experienced during 
Covid-19 pandemic confirms the close 
link between employment and health. 
People can be prevented from working 
due to either their own ill health or  
the health of someone they have caring 
responsibilities for. This may result 
in absenteeism and presenteeism 
(working while sick), time taken to 
attend hospital appointments, early 

retirement or premature deaths, all 
of which impact on productivity and 
limit personal resources and spending 
power. Economic performance is also an 
important wider determinant of health. 
The relationship between schools, 
colleges, training providers and higher 
education with industry is not strong 
enough. We do not do enough to inspire 
our young people, or to support people 
to move into work, or to progress in  
their career, or to support older workers 
in our labour market. At the higher level, 
our leadership and management skills 
are not universally strong. 

4. Skills, Education  
& Employment
To deliver an innovative and productive economy we must invest in our training 
facilities, we must unlock private sector investment in workforce development,  
and we must invest directly in activity that helps people to progress. 

4.1 Why do we need change? 

The City Region’s skills, education and employment system is not optimized. 
The SCR faces several skills and employability challenges, some of which are 
summarised below:

P
age 72



4544

4.3 What do we need to do to create transformative 
change? 

Building on the City Region’s assets, we will develop an employer-led World Class 
Technical (and Vocational) Education System that will match the traditional academic 
education route in terms of outcomes and relevance for our people and our 
economy. 

We need to ensure that our people develop the skills required for the economy to 
thrive – so that employers’ demand for skills is matched by a supply of sufficiently 
qualified workers. 

Figure 2: Balanced Skills Supply and Demand 

Source: Adapted from OECD Local Skills Strategies 2019

Supply Demand

Strong  
schooling  

and education 
system and 
pathways

Business  
technology  

transfer

Attracting  
and retaining  

talent

Innovation, 
design  

and new 
markets

Skills  
progression  

and adult 
training

Management, 
training  

and work  
progression

Highly 
skilled  
labour 
market

Skills  
utilisation 
by  
employers

Fu
n

ct
io

ni
ng

 s
ki

lls
 s

ys
te

m

4.2 The assets on which we must build

Despite severe challenges, the City Region has some major skills and employment 
advantages and assets to build upon, a host of forward-thinking businesses, and 
pioneering skills and employment programmes. 

•  SCR has two world-class Universities:

  o  Sheffield Hallam - the 10th largest university in the UK with a range  
of research centres, institutes, and award-winning teaching provision. 

  o  The University of Sheffield - a world top-100 and Russell Group 
university renowned for the excellence, impact, and distinctiveness of its 
research-led learning and teaching.

•   We have industry leading Further Education and specialist colleges that  
are leading the technical education and apprenticeship agenda. 

•   Our University Technical Colleges are bucking the trend in terms of 
learner numbers, progression of students and employer focused and led 
curriculum.

•   SCR is leading the way in the innovative delivery of Key Stage 3 and  
4 with several schools experimenting with different learning approaches  
and seeing great inspection results driven by qualification achievement  
and attendances.

•    Employers in SCR are supporting the creation of a high skilled workforce 
through a variety of means. Several leading examples include:

  o  Working with schools to deliver projects to equip students  
with industry skills to take forward in their careers. 

 o  Creating organisation-wide approaches to apprentice recruitment.
  o  Investing in workforce progression to supporting the needs of the 

workforce and business. 
  o  Recognising that investing in the health and wellbeing of staff can 

greatly improve productivity. 

•   SCR’s Health Led Employment Trial is the largest of its type to test the 
effectiveness of combining health and employment support. Over 6,000 
people have joined the trial and long-lasting relations have been developed 
with primary and secondary health referring agencies.

P
age 73



4746

Key intervention areas: 

•   Establishing SCR as a place for world class technical education with 
leadership and investment;

•   Deliver an all-age careers service that is truly best in class and meets  
the needs of our people and employers;

•   Deep and effective collaborations between businesses, education,  
and training providers to drive skills development;

•   Investment in our apprenticeship system to build upon existing  
high-quality education assets;

•   Maximising devolution levers and investment to support education  
quality and progression;

•   Working strategically with the UK Government, institutions, and businesses 
to raise aspirations, careers knowledge and investment in skills;

•   Building the data and evidence, supporting and driving collaboration,  
and brokering expertise.

Supply 
To tackle our supply side challenges, 
we will focus our resources on:

• Investing in our vocational 
education infrastructure, creating 
better facilities that are more aligned 
to the needs of our businesses.

• Incentivising excellence in 
teaching and the development of 
new collaborative learning delivery 
models.

• Targeting adult vocational education 
skills funding towards provision 
that explicitly meets the needs of 
employers and learners, and linking 
skills provision to employment 
creation (for example training people 
to carry out housing retrofits). 

• Developing a new approach  
to lifelong learning to ensure our 
learners can continue to respond to 
the changing needs of the economy; 

• Develop programmes that provide 
a clear pathway for those out of work 
to get into, stay and then progress 
in work. Where possible linking to 
economic opportunities (e.g. growth 
in green economy).

• Design and deliver an  all-age 
careers service that will provide  
our people with the information, 
guidance and advice they need to 
make informed choices, to reskill  
or upskill, and to access opportunities 
across the economy.

• Link to employer groups to help 
shape LMI and improve careers advice 
reach and quality.

• Building our intelligence and data  
to support intelligent decision making 
at every level.

Demand
To tackle our demand side challenges, 
we will focus our resources on:

• Creating good jobs and securing 
commitment from the wider SCR 
business base to invest in the 
development of technical skills across 
SCR.

• Working with pioneering employers 
to widen and unlock skills potential 
and create progression opportunities 
as part of any investment to grow 
such businesses.

• Ensure employers are better 
integrated in the skills system so they 
can co-invest, co-design, co-deliver, 
and co-govern to meet the needs 
of our economy and retain talented 
people.

• Work with businesses to develop 
strategies to unlock the provision 
of flexible working and supportive 
initiatives for our workforce.

• Create leadership and management 
development opportunities to support 
talent to flourish here.

• Establish a social value framework 
to support investment in skills.

• Work with employers to develop 
progressive HR strategies which 
enable greater diversity, and reward 
training with more progression 
opportunities and financial incentives.

• Provide connections between 
businesses and academic 
communities to enhance commercial 
aspirations around global expansion 
(e.g. language skills, capacity and 
international links).

• Stimulating the development of 
bespoke training and up-skilling 
packages to employers.

P
age 74



4948

5.2   What do we need to do to create change?

The opportunity to transform energy generation, supply, storage, and use will create 
benefits  for the local economy, our communities and the environment. To maximise 
these, we will focus on:

1.  Driving clean growth and decarbonisation in our local businesses,  
whilst maintaining their competitiveness.

2.  Promoting and enabling investment and innovation in low carbon energy 
generation, distribution, and storage.

3. Improving the energy efficiency and sustainability of our built environment.

4. Accelerate the transition to ultra-low emission vehicles and transport systems.

5.2.1  Driving clean growth in SCR’s 
businesses

The low carbon economy is projected 
to grow four times faster than the wider 
UK economy20. Providing the platform 
for clean growth makes good business 
sense as it drives both productivity 
and skills. Energy intensive businesses 
within SCR need to be supported to 
benefit from transformational projects 
and innovative technologies that deliver 
increased productivity and significant 
cost savings, to benefit their bottom-line 
and our environment. Delivering clean 
growth will also require skilled workers 
at all levels, providing the opportunity for 
its benefits to be enjoyed across SCR.

Green Hydrogen
A key economic focus in  
the move towards a net-zero 
carbon economy is ‘green’ 
hydrogen. This is hydrogen from 
electrolysis using renewable 
electricity. ITM Power, based 
in Sheffield, has the largest 
electrolyser manufacturing site 
in the world thus giving SCR an 
unrivalled advantage in this area. 

Opportunities for green 
hydrogen include: 

•  Vehicles – fuelling larger 
vehicles like buses and HGVs 
which make battery use 
unnecessary; 

•  Resilience – more efficient 
storing of hydrogen produced 
from curtailed renewable 
electricity;

•  Industry – producing hydrogen 
on-site when electricity costs are 
low can reduce costs compared 
to fossil gas. 

•  Heating – decarbonising the 
gas networks by increasing the 
proportion of hydrogen. 

5. Clean Energy & Net-Zero

Energy plays a key role in SCR’s economy, powering its businesses, infrastructure 
and homes. Energy security and increasing costs negatively impact on business 
productivity and families (e.g. deepening household fuel poverty). Furthermore, 
addressing the climate emergency requires urgent and far-reaching changes.

5.1  Why do we need change?

There are several challenges that will need to be 
overcome to achieve net-zero carbon emissions17:

•   A large proportion of SCR’s 52,000 SMEs are  
not actively improving their energy efficiency. 

•   The size of the green economy is currently  
lower than other city-regions and on current 
trends less than 1% of the 50,000 new jobs  
in the energy sector in the next 15 years  
are expected to be in the SCR.

•   There is a lack of electric vehicle  
charging and hydrogen refueling stations.  
Yorkshire and Humber has only 5% of  
the UK’s electric vehicle (EV) charging points 
and only one hydrogen refueling point. 

•   Only 20% of electricity consumed in SCR is generated in the City Region.  
This provides an opportunity to vastly increase the amount of renewable energy 
generation and storage capacity in the region and become more resilient. 

•   Two-thirds of houses in SCR have an Energy Performance Certificate rating  
below C18. Most houses will require additional insulation measures and/or low 
carbon heating systems to be installed if the net-zero target is to be met. 

•   SCR has 28 Air Quality Management Areas. Carbon emissions from vehicles  
and public transport are a significant contributor to localised air pollution.

17Major changes will take time, which means that fossil fuels will continue to be part of the UK and SCR’s energy mix for the short to medium term.
18Forthcoming SCR Draft Energy Strategy (2020)

SCR has adopted challenging targets to achieving a net-zero carbon economy 
by 2041, with local partners also setting individual targets. These targets 
provide a focus for sustained investment. Key priorities include reducing 
carbon emissions, generating low carbon energy, improving the energy 
efficiency and sustainability of buildings, and accelerating the transition to 
ultra-low or zero-emission transport. 

P
age 75



5150

Figure 3: Map of mines in South Yorkshire

Heat Networks – SCR is already  
leading the way on heat networks,  
with Sheffield being home to one of  
the most developed examples in the UK. 
Given the existing industrial activity, 
there is significant potential to capture 
waste heat and feed this into a regional 
portfolio of low carbon, district heat 
networks. Heat networks can deliver 
significant local benefits including 
alleviating fuel poverty, improving  
air quality, reducing costs, and 
supporting job creation. In addition to 
the above, more established low carbon 
energy generation, distribution and 
storage technologies such as wind or 
solar offer significant opportunities  
and developments in these areas  
should continue to be promoted and 
invested in. 

5.2.2   Promoting investment and 
innovation in low carbon energy 
technologies

Smart technologies are increasingly 
important in alleviating strain on the 
electricity network and meeting the 
demands of new patterns and types of 
energy consumption. This is achieved 
by shifting some of the demand to 
off-peak times, matching demand with 
generation, and digitising energy. This 
reduces the extent to which large scale 
replacement and upgrading works will 
be needed on the electricity network 
thus keeping costs down for consumers. 
With a global movement towards 
decentralised energy generation and 
use, the time is right for SCR to invest in 
a ‘smart grid’. 

Whilst energy use can be minimised 
through increased efficiency and the 
use of smart technologies, SCR also 
needs to ensure that more of the energy 
consumed in the City Region has been 
generated by renewable sources and 
that the security of supply has been 
increased. 

The key opportunities that exist in 
SCR, in addition to our green hydrogen 
capabilities are:

The UK Atomic Energy Authority 
(UKAEA)’s Research Facility – with this 
facility and other related assets like the 
Nuclear AMRC, the SCR is in a strong 
position to commercialise nuclear 
fusion as a major source of low-carbon 
electricity in the years ahead. In SCR, the 
opportunity is to grow the supply chain 
to support this growing industry. 

Mine Water – Mine Water could 
potentially offer resilience and energy 
supply to micro heat networks for those 
communities that are not connected to 
urban heat networks. South Yorkshire 
has over 400 mines and is ideally 
placed to be a testbed for Mine Water 
technology. Our mining assets are 
exploited at pace so that the City Region 
becomes a front runner in developing 
former coalmines for use in energy 
schemes and thereafter benefitting 
from a variety of first-mover advantages 
in the market. The Coal Authority 
estimates that the heat stored in the UK 
mine network could heat 180 million 
homes for 100 years21. With most of 
South Yorkshire’s mines located in 
disadvantaged communities, there 
are wider benefits, not least supplying 
cheaper energy to households that are 
more susceptible to fuel poverty. 

21Source: UK Coal Authority 2019

What is the climate 
emergency?
The declaration of a ‘climate 
emergency’ recognizes that 
the negative impacts of climate 
and environmental change are 
evident in the UK and throughout 
the world, such as more extreme 
weather conditions, increasing 
flooding, loss of habitats and 
species, and acceleration in the 
melting of polar ice caps and 
glaciers. Carbon emissions are 
proven to be the key cause of 
these changes and this must be 
where action at all levels needs 
to be focused. 

P
age 76



5352

In line with the national climate target, 
emissions from aviation (alongside other 
‘Scope 3’ emissions) are not included 
within SCR’s net-zero commitment.  
However, we recognise the importance 
of this sector and the requirement for 
its activities to be as clean as possible. 
We are working with the University 
of Sheffield to develop sustainable 
aviation fuels.  Alongside commitments 
for better public transport access to 
the Doncaster Sheffield Airport, and 
research into light-weighting of materials 
already taking place within SCR, we will 
be part of the solution in decarbonising 
aviation.

5.2.3   Improving the energy efficiency 
and sustainability of our built 
environment

Enhanced energy efficiency has the 
potential to significantly reduce fuel 
bills, protecting residents against rising 
energy prices and reducing fuel poverty. 
As fuel poverty and health problems 
are intrinsically linked, it is crucial that 
the affordability of energy is addressed. 
A strategic approach to tackle fuel 
poverty and improve energy inefficient 
dwellings must cover both existing 
and new homes. New homes must be 
built to better sustainability and energy 
efficiency standards; incorporating 
renewable energy systems into the 
design and using modern methods of 
construction (MMC) wherever possible 
to increase construction productivity. 

Existing homes - which will make up 
around 90% of the housing stock in 
2050 - will need better energy efficiency, 
and the potential for microgeneration 
opportunities must be explored through 
increased public and private investment.

Community energy projects are 
a perfect way to accelerate the 
deployment of distributed energy, 
putting our people at the heart of 
energy systems. These schemes can 
deliver many benefits such as improved 
resilience, education, and empowerment 
for local communities. Whilst Energise 
Barnsley is the largest local energy solar 
PV and battery storage project in the 
UK22, across SCR there is a relatively  
low number of community energy 
projects per resident compared to the 
South West or London. Community 
energy projects can unlock multiple 
benefits in deprived communities and 
targeting support work could encourage 
greater take-up. 

5.2.4 Accelerate the transition to Ultra 
Low Emissions Vehicles (ULEV) and 
transport systems

Road transport alone contributes 36%  
of carbon emissions in South Yorkshire23. 
With a high proportion of SCR residents 
commuting to work using their car24, 
behaviour changes of transport can 
deliver big gains. The SCR Energy and 
Transport strategies set an ambition 
to deliver an innovative, zero-emission 
public transport network and kick-
start further ambitious active travel 
interventions.  

Where active travel or public transport 
are not viable options, there is a need 
for a coherent City Region-wide network 
of transport infrastructure, helping 
to increase the uptake of electric and 
other ULEVs. Companies within SCR 
are already at the forefront of hydrogen 
technology, providing an opportunity to 
build on this competitive advantage and 
widen access to hydrogen as a transport 
fuel source. 

Behaviour change to  
meet our targets
The importance of behaviour 
change in relation to both 
minimising energy use 
and implementing energy 
efficient practices cannot be 
underestimated. Everyone’s 
behaviour needs to change to 
achieve the net-zero emissions 
targets – local government, 
industry, residents, and visitors. 
We simply cannot keep on using 
the amount of energy that we 
are today. 

22Forthcoming SCR Draft Energy Strategy (2020)
23Forthcoming SCR Draft Energy Strategy (2020)
24ONS Travel to Work (2011)

P
age 77



5554

D.  Investment and deployment  
of energy efficiency measures and 
technologies:

•  Prioritising the energy retrofit of 
households by helping with the capital 
costs of installing energy efficiency 
measures through innovative funding 
mechanisms;

•  Working closely with Community 
Energy England to identify opportunities 
for energy schemes which provide  
a community benefit;

•  The public sector leading by example, 
improving its building stock and 
embedding ethical and low carbon 
criteria into procurement and investment 
decision processes;

•  Investing in expanding the network of 
Electric Vehicle (EV) charging points and 
hydrogen refuelling stations to ensure 
full coverage across SCR;

•  Delivering a zero-carbon public 
transport network and active travel city 
region; 

•  Ensuring that new homes built in SCR 
are high-quality in terms of energy use 
and efficiency.

These will largely be delivered through 
the implementation of SCR’s energy 
and transport strategies There are also 
further ambitions identified for clean 
energy which are captured in other 
sections related to low carbon buildings, 
skills pipeline and transport. 

Key intervention areas: 

•  Exploiting circular economy 
and value chain opportunities 
(e.g. nuclear SMRs and fusion),

•  Grow the green economy 
especially existing renewables 
technologies and emerging 
technologies like hydrogen, 
low emission transport and 
Carbon Capture Utilisation  
and Storage capabilities;

•  Significantly increased 
renewable energy generation 
and storage to improve 
resilience; and

•  Investment and deployment  
of energy efficiency measures  
and technologies.

5.3  How do we create  
the transformative change 
needed?

Decarbonising SCR’s economy could 
cost around £1.7billion per year but 
could unlock over £2.8billion per year  
in benefits and create thousands of jobs.  
Innovative and long-term funding 
mechanisms will be required to  
achieve this. 

To grow our net-zero economy, we will 
focus on four actions: 

A.  Expanding the circular economy  
and value chain opportunities 

•  Supporting businesses to take 
advantage of market opportunities in 
clean and low-carbon energy generation 
and supply chain capacity, particularly 
for hydrogen, nuclear (including SMRs 
and fusion) and Carbon Capture, 
Utilisation and Storage (CCUS).

B.  Grow the green economy; especially 
hydrogen, low emission transport and 
CCUS capabilities:

•  Exploiting the potential of our 
hydrogen and other established 
renewable capabilities to grow our 
business base and tackle energy 
challenges;

•  Utilising the City Region’s research 
strengths (including the Translational 
Energy Research Centre) to establish 
SCR as an innovation incubator 
where clean energy ideas can be 
taken from concept to production and 
commercialisation;

•  Supporting businesses to reduce 
their environmental impacts, and take 
advantage of market opportunities in 
clean and low-carbon energy generation 
particularly for hydrogen and small 
nuclear;

•  Developing a more circular economy 
that looks towards the future, focused 
upon developing solutions to protect 
and enhance the health and wellbeing of 
residents and responding to the climate 
emergency.

C.  Significantly increased renewable 
energy generation and storage to 
improve resilience:

•  Utilising and/or repurposing current 
infrastructure and natural resources to 
decarbonise the energy supply, including 
the use of energy from minewater;

•  Investigating energy storage for 
energy intensive industries to make 
them more efficient and help to balance 
the load on the local electricity/gas 
distribution network; and

•  Supporting the decarbonisation 
of heat including: 4/5th generation 
heat networks, hydrogen for heat, 
electrification of heat, and zero-carbon 
smart microgrids.

P
age 78



5756

6.1 Why do we need  
to change?

The SCR has a diverse and well-
connected economy comprising  
a dynamic core city, thriving towns  
and fabulous countryside and a 
significant rural economy. We have  
good national and international 
connectivity being served by the 
motorway network, East Coast and 
Midland Mainline rail routes and the 
Doncaster Sheffield Airport. However, 
a key challenge is ensuring our 
transport network keeps pace with 
planned growth across the City Region. 
A growing population coupled with 
increases in planned development will 
lead to further challenges if the transport 
offer continues to favour car travel  
over other modes. 

Elsewhere, capacity on more popular 
routes has been identified as an area 
for improvement, particularly on 
train services where both the service 
frequency and the seating capacity on 
board is recognised as poor. Transport 
in the City Region is focused around a 
relatively small urban area, meaning 
that some areas are poorly served, 
particularly in the more rural areas of 
the City Region.  There are also several 
locations outside of urban centres 
earmarked for development with little 
public transport provision available.

The changes we seek can be 
summarised as follows:

•   Connectivity: Linking people and 
places – including residential areas,  
key destinations, emerging 
development sites and growth areas.

•   Frequency: Public transport should be 
frequent and well-timed to match busy 
periods.

•   Capacity: There needs to be plenty  
of seats so that routes do not become 
overcrowded and unattractive to 
users.

•   Reliability: Tackling transport choice 
and reliability is essential to ensure 
that public transport can be as 
attractive as the private car.

6.2   What do we need to 
do to create growth?

Our aim of ensuring ‘residents and 
businesses are connected to economic 
opportunity’ has three associated 
policies:

1.   Improve the existing transport 
network to enhance access to jobs, 
markets, skills and supply chains, 
adopting technology solutions to 
support this.

2.   Enhance productivity by making our 
transport system faster, more reliable 
and more resilient, considering the 
role of new technologies to achieve 
this.

3.   Invest in integrated packages of 
infrastructure to unlock future 
economic growth and support 
Local Plans, including new housing 
provision. 

6. Transport & Mobility

A reliable, efficient, and affordable 
transport system is a crucial driver 
of economic growth. Transport 
is fundamental to linking people, 
businesses, and services; whether  
it is connecting residents to jobs, 
education, or visitors and residents to 
green spaces and recreational facilities 
or ensuring our businesses can readily 
access their markets.

Evolving markets dictate the need  
for an integrated transport system  
that provides the connectivity, capacity, 
reliability and resilience needed to 
support wider regional objectives.  
Pre-Covid, the evidence suggested that 
congestion was restricting growth, and 
without intervention could significantly 
curb future productivity. Covid-19 
has also changed how people use 
transport and how transport operates; 
encouraging the potential for active 
travel and highlighting the criticality 
of the public transport network for 
communities. 

Our Transport Strategy’s vision is to ‘build a transport system that works for 
everyone, connecting people to the places they want to go within the City 
Region as well as nationally and internationally. Our transport system will 
be safe, reliable, clean, green, and affordable. It will be one of the best in the 
United Kingdom and Europe’.

Whilst the Transport Strategy also has goals which support a shift to a 
cleaner, healthier and more environmentally sustainable transport network, 
this section specifically focuses upon the need for ‘residents and businesses 
to be connected to economic opportunity’. This is how the Transport Strategy 
will directly help to provide the underpinning conditions required to achieve 
the aims of this Economic Plan. 

P
age 79



5958

6.2.2   Enhance productivity by making 
our transport system faster, more 
reliable and more resilient, considering 
the role of new technologies to achieve 
this.

Transport improvements can enhance 
productivity by making travel to and 
from work, as well as travel for work, 
quick and efficient, so that more time 
can be spent being productive. We know 
that congestion in our City Region is 
already restricting economic growth. 
For example, analysis shows that travel 
times can be over 30% longer at peak 
times compared to off peak times for 
rail services arriving and departing from 
Sheffield Midland station.

The solution is not more roads but how 
we use road space more efficiently, 
prioritising uses that move people most 
effectively. Pedestrians, cyclists, and 
other transport modes that involve 
physical activity need the highest 
priority when planning, designing, and 
developing our road infrastructure. 

As a result of Covid-19, our experience 
and expectations of travel is undergoing 
a revolution. Covid-19 has meant that 
some trends have accelerated. Major 
upward trends in intelligent mobility and 
transport systems, autonomous vehicles 
and artificial intelligence need to be 
embraced. The successful adoption of 
future mobility and digital applications 
and services in SCR are reliant not only 
on technological advancement, but
also on the governance and regulatory 
regime within which they operate.  

There is also potential for the future 
of technology to address aspects of 
transport poverty, low carbon futures, 
and unlock economic growth. We will 
harness the opportunities presented by 
regional employment and specialisms  
in the transport sector. 

Provision of accurate and timely 
transport information allows SCR 
residents to make the best travel 
choices. Currently information can be 
patchy or in some cases it is not
available at all. Working with Transport 
for the North (TfN), regional partners  
and local operators, there is a need to 
maximise digital applications to support 
modern payment methods and mobile 
travel information. This will improve the 
passenger experience and can address 
reliability by reducing boarding times.

6.2.1  Improve the existing transport 
network to enhance access to jobs, 
markets, skills and supply chains, 
adopting technology solutions to 
support this.

We need to develop integrated transport 
connections and improve access on four 
geographical scales:

•  within our City Region;

•   to other areas (e.g. non-constituent 
areas) and centres in the North;

•   to locations in the UK beyond the 
North, such as London; 

•  to our international markets.

By increasing intra-regional connectivity, 
we will provide access to jobs, skills and 
education opportunities for everyone in 
our City Region, while improving access 
to markets and supply chains for our 
businesses. 

Most SCR residents (85.3%) commute 
within the City Region boundaries, with 
the highest amount of intra-regional 
commuting taking place between 
Sheffield and Rotherham, highlighting 
the need for improved connectivity by 
sustainable modes.

We also need to improve inter-regional 
connectivity, particularly east-west 
connections, and connectivity  across 
the North, which will widen our labour 
market as people can live and work in 
different city regions. HS2 and Northern 
Powerhouse Rail (NPR) provide the 
prospect of transformational change.
The UK Government plans to invest
£106bn to build HS2, from London 
to Birmingham, South Yorkshire, 
Leeds, and Manchester. HS2 and NPR 
have the potential to be a catalyst for 
regeneration across the City Region. 
There is much to be done however, in 
the short to medium term to secure 
benefits from rail investment, including 
completing the upgrade of the Hope 
Valley Line and making the case to 
reinstate rail routes that are not in use  
or are currently underutilised.

Access to national and international 
markets is essential in our ever-
increasing global economy and we 
will seek to embrace both new and 
proven technologies that will improve 
this. We are in an excellent position 
to capitalise on our existing assets to 
achieve this, in particular, Doncaster 
Sheffield Airport and the proposed 
development surrounding it. However, 
connectivity to and from DSA needs to 
be as sustainable, efficient, and effective 
as possible. We will work with DSA to 
achieve its full potential, whilst also 
recognising that we must balance this 
with the need to rapidly reach net-zero 
carbon emissions.

P
age 80



6160

6.3   How do we create 
the transformative change 
needed?

The following priorities were outlined in 
the SCR Transport Strategy and highlight 
our priorities on the evolving transport 
agenda. We will build on existing 
strategies to drive sustainable and 
inclusive economic growth: 

A.  Improve the existing transport 
network

Mass transit, buses, and local rail 
links play a crucial role in driving the 
economy as well as reducing carbon 
emissions, providing a vital service 
to communities and are particularly 
essential transport modes for the 35% 
of households without access to a car. 
The Transport Strategy’s ambition is for 
a world-class public transport system 
that connects different travel modes 
seamlessly into one comprehensive, 
easy-to-use network. By using our road 
network efficiently, we shall continue 
to support growth but also secure the 
modal shift commitments set out in the 
SCR Transport Strategy. SCR MCA will 
transform the performance, image and 
experience of public transport to make  
it an attractive choice for all:

•  Buses - We will work with 
partners to action, where possible 
the recommendations of the SCR 
independent bus review, focusing upon 
improved performance, principally 
reliability, frequency, affordability, 
and connectivity, as well as cutting or 
eliminating carbon emissions. We will 
work with the business community in 
the redesigning of our bus network 
to ensure their needs are captured 
alongside everyone else’s.

•  Tram Renewal - SCR MCA must 
futureproof the existing ageing 
Supertram network. We will work  
with the UK Government to secure  
the support needed to renew this 
strategic asset.

•  Train-Tram Extension - The extension 
is a crucial part of the broader Strategic 
Transit Network promoted in the SCR 
Transport Strategy. Tram-Train has the 
potential to plug gaps in mass-public 
transport between key urban centres 
and strategic assets whilst also relieving 
capacity constraints. Train-Tram is a key 
component supporting our urban centres 
and key growth sites and will connect our 
people to opportunities in a sustainable 
way. Key interventions needed include 
completion of the innovative tram-train 
pilot, business case development for 
extension into Doncaster and Barnsley, 
and options appraisal for expansion 
of Park & Ride provision to reduce 
congestion in urban areas.

•  Active Travel – Enabling more cycling 
and walking to take place across the 
region. 

•  Road investment – Roads can unlock 
growth potential, provide connection to 
public transport and join up a network 
where other options are not available. 
The road network also facilitates the 
performance of SCR’s businesses and 
supports inter-regional flow, particularly 
for freight and logistics sectors. 

In the context of a climate emergency 
and a commitment to achieve net-zero 
carbon emissions by 2041, the focus 
will be on making the best of existing 
roads, before building new ones. Public 
transport priority and investment in 
high quality cycling options will be an 
important focus of road investment. 

6.2.3. Invest in integrated packages 
of infrastructure to unlock future 
economic growth and support Local 
Plans, including new housing provision.

Unlocking sites for housing and 
commercial growth requires integrated 
packages of infrastructure that consider 
land use planning and the aims of our 
SEP holistically. This holistic approach 
will enable the best use of our existing 
assets and capitalise on our current 
resources to unlock growth in a cost 
effective and sustainable way. Transport 
requirements should be considered 
during the early stages of planning a 
new development to ensure enough 
provision is made. This also needs 
to align with and support Local Plans 
so that there is a coordinated and 
concerted effort to plan transport, 
development and regeneration in a 
coordinated manner.

Transport can play a major role in 
improving the quality of our outdoors. 
Vehicle emissions affect air quality, 
which affects human health and
can impact on biodiversity. Carbon 
emissions are worsening the climate 
emergency. Furthermore, the resilience 
of the transport system to current and 
future climate risks, especially flooding, 
remains a continued concern. 

P
age 81



6362

SCR MCA requires investment in 
infrastructure and schemes to support  
a move to zero-carbon transport fuel 
such as hydrogen, encourage a modal 
shift to active travel and public transport, 
and prioritise sustainable travel modes 
over private cars to reduce the number 
of vehicles on our roads. The SCR also 
needs to rapidly improve its EV charging 
infrastructure, as outlined in section 5. 

SCR can maximise opportunities 
from future transport investment and 
innovation. SCR MCA will support the 
growth of our transport industry to enter 
and prosper in global supply chains. 
SCR MCA will work in partnership with 
our universities and businesses to 
accelerate the translation of research 
and development of new transport 
technologies into prototypes, pilots,  
and trial products.

Key intervention areas: 

•   Connect residents to employment opportunities and key growth sites with 
rapid, efficient public transport and cycling and walking infrastructure.

•   Encourage modal shift to active travel and public transport by growing an 
extensive and integrated network of cycling and walking routes. 

•   Harness our intelligent mobility capabilities and ambitions.

•   Deliver a range of transport packages to connect SCR to national and 
international markets. 

•   Work in partnership with our universities and businesses to accelerate the 
translation of research and development of new transport technologies into 
prototypes, pilots, and commercialised products.

•  Invest in infrastructure and schemes to support a move to zero-carbon 
transport fuel.

B.  A transport system that is faster, 
more reliable and more resilient

We will connect our employment, 
housing and commercial sites through 
rapid, efficient, affordable public 
transport and cycling and walking 
infrastructure. It is essential that key 
employment centres like our urban 
centres, AMID and our emerging 
innovation clusters are equipped with 
better transport connectivity to enable 
accelerated growth. These will benefit 
from investment to improve mode 
choice, smarter traffic information 
systems and charging point networks 
for electric vehicles, using renewable 
energy sources. Rapid public transport 
connections will require the patronage 
to make this sustainable and therefore 
the way that journeys are currently 
undertaken needs to change. 

We need to plan for growth at all scales. 
Transport interventions are often vital 
to unlocking new sites for development. 
There is an opportunity to re-open rail 
infrastructure that has laid dormant or 
is currently underutilised to support 
growth. It will be essential to designing 
new and growing places to support 
sustainable transport. As we plan for 
growth for the whole City Region, our 
plans for tram renewal and extension 
will be taken forward.

C.  Integrated packages of infrastructure 
to unlock future economic growth 

The significant transport investment 
needed in SCR, as set out in our 
Transport Strategy, is well aligned with 
TfN, NPR, and other UK Government 
plans. Our plans look to maximise the 
benefits of HS2 and NPR. The SCR 
Integrated Rail Plan includes several 
priorities with the following specifically 
aligned to this SEP:

•  Connecting HS2 trains from the centre 
of Sheffield to Leeds and the north east 
of England; improving the speed and 
frequency of trains from SCR to Greater 
Manchester and Leeds; new Intercity 
rail connectivity direct into the town 
centres of Barnsley and Rotherham; 
a new station in the Dearne Valley, a 
direct national rail connection to DSA, 
major improvements at Sheffield 
Midland station and other local stations 
through NPR; completing the upgrade 
of the Hope Valley Line; and opening 
of low usage or closed rail lines to 
new passenger and freight services; 
for example, Waverly station (to serve 
AMID).

P
age 82



6564

But it is not just about speed. Our 
digital capabilities and the successful 
application of digital technology is 
equally vital. The increasing number of 
‘smart’ devices are disrupting markets 
for basic everyday appliances (e.g. 
TVs, heating systems, and fridges)26. 
New product design, manufacturing 
techniques, use of artificial intelligence, 
autonomous vehicles, smart devices, 
new forms of wireless connectivity  
(5G and 6G in the future) and 
infrastructure upgrades all present 
significant opportunities for new 
jobs, investment, and productivity 
improvements. A society  that does not 
adapt, enable and fully exploit these 
changes and opportunities will be left 
behind both economically and socially. 

7.1.2 Strengthening SCR’s digital 
economy 

Our City Region’s digital technology  
industry currently makes a smaller 
contribution to the economy compared 
to northern England and the national 
average. However, SCR has a notable 
presence in several digital technology 
sub-sectors including creative, mobility, 
industrial, data science and learning 
(EdTech) technologies.

However, demand and take up of full 
fibre digital connectivity SMEs is still 
relatively low, suggesting that across 
the economy the benefits of enhanced 
digital connectivity, for improving 
productivity and driving economic 
innovation, may not be fully realised.

Accelerator programmes within the 
City Region have been limited so 
far. Although there has been recent 
progress, we want to ensure that
we have digital technology accelerator 
programmes comparable with the 

private sector-driven offer available 
in other Northern cities. The supply 
of incubator facilities and managed 
workspaces has grown strongly in recent 
years, and there is a healthy pipeline of 
new innovation-focused development, 
particularly in Sheffield and at the 
Barnsley Digital Media Campus.
However, a lot more is needed and there 
are reported constraints in accessing 
suitable grow-on space as digital 
technology and creative sector firms 
scale up.
 

27SCR Digital Action Plan Evidence Base (2018)
28SCR Digital Action Plan Evidence Base (2018)

Economic gains  
from digital infrastructure
Significant economic gains are 
possible if we can deploy the 
best infrastructure for digital 
connectivity. Analysis of the
benefits of digital infrastructure 
has posited that the total 
economic impact of  deploying 
full fibre broadband networks in 
South Yorkshire could be as high 
as £2.8bn over 15 years. Almost 
half of these gains are derived 
from 5G connectivity which is 
anticipated to open new business 
models and bring forward 
products and services in sectors 
such as transport & logistics, 
finance, health & social care, 
manufacturing, and retail.

7. A Digital Revolution 
 

7.1 Why do we need change?  

7.1.1 Digital technology does not  
stand still

The quality and coverage of SCR’s  
digital infrastructure is critical to 
realising future ambitions. During 
Covid-19 ‘lockdown’, the quality and 
coverage of digital infrastructure has 
shown some limitations and confirmed 
the ‘digital divide’. There is a need  
for full fibre and 5G coverage across  
the whole region, some areas of which  
still have inadequate 4G coverage.  
SCR is already lagging behind other  
city regions, with open access full  
fibre coverage only half the national 
average. In addition, although we  
now have near 100% superfast (30-100 
Mbps) coverage due to the successful 

Superfast South Yorkshire Programme, 
the city region needs to gear up to 
ultrafast services (300+Mbps) and 
Gigabit speed25 services, which
is transforming how information is 
processed, and services are delivered.
 
The Government has set a target for  
full Gigabit service coverage across the 
UK by 2025, but there is an opportunity 
to achieve this target across the SCR 
before 2025; thereby maximising the 
economic and inclusive opportunities 
this would present.

25 HD TVs run at 8mbs; 4k TVs stream at 32mbs each and the next generation of TVs will be even higher –  
NB definition of Superfast is 24-30mbs (not enough for one 4k TV)

26Also termed the ‘Internet of Things’ (IoT)

The digital revolution is transforming every aspect of our lives, globalising 
communications, forming new linkages, and driving new economic activity. 
Covid-19 appears to have intensified the move towards digital technologies  
in our homes and workplaces. Digital connectivity enables residents and 
businesses to use digital solutions to improve their lives and to sustain,  
grow, and create new businesses. 

SCR will drive sustainable and inclusive growth by ensuring we get the 
balance right between ‘soft’ and ‘hard’ infrastructure. This means creating 
the enabling conditions for residents and businesses to connect, gain digital 
skills, adopt new processes, and exploit the opportunities this opens. It also 
means securing investment in the ‘hard’ infrastructure to make this possible 
and ensure we have digital connectivity fit for the 21st century.

This chapter focusses on how greater adoption of digital technology can help 
people and organisations throughout the region to prosper. Our approach for 
how to support growth and innovation the digital and tech sector itself – a 
key strength within the region – is set out in Chapter 3.

P
age 83



6766

7.2 What do we need to  
do to create change?

The ambition for digital is that SCR 
will be recognised as one of the best- 
connected city regions in the country 
where coverage, choice, and speed  
of communication stays ahead 
of demand and where there is an 
abundance of multi-skilled, digitally 
mature individuals to cater for every 
industry’s business needs. Enhanced 
digital connectivity and skills enable 
people to use digital applications 
and solutions to improve their lives 
and to sustain, grow, and create new 
businesses. Almost every aspect of  
the economy is being transformed by 
digital technology. The rationale for 
change outlines four strategic areas  
for us to focus on:

A.  Secure cutting-edge digital 
infrastructure to develop smart 
communities 

We will enhance SCR’s digital 
ecosystem by ensuring the supply of 
‘hard’ infrastructure (full fibre and 5G) 
across the whole of the SCR, some 
areas of which still do not have 4G 
connectivity. This will likely require 
public interventions where market failure 
exists to accelerate and bring forward 
delivery. However, extending digital 
connectivity coverage alone will not in 
itself achieve the economic and social 
benefits that we want to realise. This will 
rely on progressing the other three areas 
of activity above in parallel.

B.  Improve digital skills 

We need to increase  understanding  
and take-up of digital technologies 
across the whole of the City Region.  
We will develop, attract, and retain 
talent, increasing (and enhancing) the 

supply of digital skills and ensuring 
that the digital technology and creative 
curriculum (at all levels) is relevant to 
rapidly changing business needs.

C.  Ensure that we build inclusivity

We must support and enable digital 
inclusion to widen participation and 
build capability for all. We will do this by 
combating the factors that keep people 
excluded from the digital economy, and 
ensuring all of SCR’s residents have, at 
the very least, the basic access, skills, 
and confidence they need to harness the 
benefits of digital in their lives and work. 

D.  Support business innovation  
and growth

We will support businesses, particularly 
SMEs, to better understand and exploit 
the productivity improvements that 
enhanced broadband connectivity and 
application of digital technology in 
their business could bring. We will do 
this by supporting SMEs to become 
full-fibre and 5G connected; providing 
better links to schools, colleges and 
universities to access the future digital 
skills they will need; and enabling them 
to exploit the commercial benefits 
of digital applications and services 
to innovate and scale-up business 
activities and growth. This could include 
deployment within the public sector to 
increase efficiency of services, as well 
as within innovating firms that stand 
to benefit from greater exposure and 
capabilities of digital technology. It also 
involves developing investor networks 
and attracting commercial digital 
accelerators, building on home-grown 
examples such as those established in 
Sheffield.
.

7.1.3 Digital skills need to be embedded 
within the existing and future workforce

The growth of our economy is 
strongly linked to the digital skills of 
the workforce. Digital technology and 
creative workers are highly skilled, 

with over 40% qualified to degree level 
or higher27. Forecasts also suggest 
that 10,000 new digital technology 
and creative sector employees will be 
needed by 2024 in SCR28, equivalent 
to around half of the whole digital 
workforce. The pace of change means 
that all sectors will become ‘digital’ and 
will need to upskill their workers. This 
highlights challenges and opportunities 
for large employers and anchor 
institutions in the City Region.

We are building on strong foundations 
of existing activities and delivery to 
upskill the workforce with effective 
school, college, apprenticeship and 
UTC programmes providing a talent 
pipeline for businesses utilising digital 
technologies. Despite strengths in 
delivery, digital exclusion is high. Few 
women engage in IT-related learning 
at higher technical level, and learner 
pathways are unclear. None of these 
factors are unique to the SCR, although 
local learning providers and businesses 
have expressed frustration at the 
apparent mismatch between supply and 
demand in a fast-moving technology 
rich environment. 

7.1.4 A digital world should not leave 
people behind

Covid-19 has confirmed that is crucial 
that the population has the ability and 
confidence to use digital technology, 
particularly as more everyday activities 
and services become digitised, affecting 
all aspects of our lives. The benefits are 
ever-growing and include accessing 
public services like healthcare and 
private services like banking, but also 
social engagement, media connectivity, 
and shopping. Importantly, this can align 
with other critical agendas such
as reducing carbon emissions and 
minimising the costs of travel.

The platform for raising 
digital skills 
•  Schools - As the national 
leader, and a globally significant 
player in EdTech, SCR has a good 
opportunity to enhance digital 
skills within the future workforce 
from an early age.

•  Universities - SCR’s university 
base is an important source of 
talent, with around 700 graduates 
in computer science and related 
subjects each year. 

•  Apprenticeships - Every year 
1,200 people enrol on digital-
related apprenticeships. 

•  Further Education - Almost 
10,000 people in the SCR enrol 
on ‘digital-related’ education 
and training courses per year, 
primarily within SCR’s Colleges. 
In addition, the City Region’s 
UTCs’ focus on engineering, 
digital, and manufacturing.

•  Informal Learning - Many of 
the City Region’s coding clubs 
and other informal activities 
are driven on a voluntary basis, 
often located within schools and 
public venues. Some schools run 
free after school code clubs for 
9 to 13-year olds, supported by 
organisations such as Raspberry 
Pi Foundations.

P
age 84



6968

8.  Land, Housing & Built 
Environment 
 

8.1  Why do we need 
change? 

SCR has over 1,300 ha of employment 
land ready for commercial and industrial 
development across the City Region, 
able to accommodate up to 96,000
new jobs. At the same time, we are 
building over 6,000 new homes every 
year with plans to continue this over 
the next ten to 15 years. However, we 
are not attracting enough productive 
and growing businesses to these sites. 
Furthermore, Covid-19 has changed how 
people interact spatially, and their needs 
for housing and workspace demonstrate 
the necessity of more creative and 
flexible to be considered within existing 
and new developments. 

Many of our larger sites are well 
served by roads but have little in the 
way of public transport or active travel 
options, meaning that they are not well 
integrated into surrounding communities 
and difficult to reach from other parts  
of the city region. 

At the same time, a reliance on road 
links skew land development towards 
certain sectors, many of which have 
traditionally largely generated low value 
jobs. This then displaces or restricts 
development which unlock decent jobs. 

Furthermore, our industrial past means 
that investment is needed to remediate 
sites and improve the local environment 
in order to create the basis for new 
development.

The availability of good quality, well connected and attractive development 
land for new homes and jobs is a major competitive advantage for SCR. 
But there are challenges with the quality of our existing built environment, 
especially in urban areas, and a need to invest in our current housing stock. 
The attractiveness and viability of some employment locations mean that 
they are not attracting the quality of jobs and development we demand. 

SCR MCA’s approach to land, housing and built environment is to;

•   Improve the quality of existing and new housing stock, whilst maintaining 
housing growth;

•   Ensure the supply of good quality, attractive and sustainably developed 
employment land that is widely accessible; and,

•   Proactively work on strategic planning opportunities to unlock potential 
through joined-up investment packages.

7.3  How do we create the 
transformative change 
needed?

Our digital priorities that relate to skills 
and business will be delivered in line 
with the respective sections already 
presented in this strategy. The actions 
below are focused on infrastructure and 
inclusion.

A.  Secure cutting-edge digital 
infrastructure to develop smart 
communities 

•  Identifying and leading on barrier-
busting measures to accelerate 
deployment of full fibre and 5G, 
including the utilisation of public sector 
land and assets.

•  Providing infrastructure support and 
interventions where it is commercially 
prohibitive such as ‘hard to reach’ areas.

•  Ensuring consistency in local planning 
approaches across the SCR to future 
digital infrastructure and service 
provision requirements, both promoting 
provider certainty for investment in 
the sector and enabling accelerated 
adoption of the digital developments 
and the ‘SMART’ agenda.

B.  Build inclusivity and essential skills 
for life and work:

•  Supporting the role of formal and 
informal (e.g. community-based) 
learning provision for adults at risk or 
those excluded from the digital economy 
or digital-first services;

•  Connecting with initiatives (e.g. 
the Future. Now alliance) to improve 
essential digital skills in the wider 
workforce, building digital adaptability 
of staff, suppliers and businesses; 

•  Actively supporting the development 
of ‘assistive technologies’ which enable 
people with disabilities to better access 
digital services and products;

•  Working with partners across SCR to 
improve access to digital infrastructure 
and services, which is affordable 
for residents, where this remains a 
significant barrier for people; and

•  Working across education, business, 
the wider public sector, community 
organisations, libraries and charities 
(e.g. Good Things Foundation) to ensure 
digital inclusion is a critical element of 
our approach.

Key intervention areas:

•   Creating the enabling conditions 
for a digital future through 
the accelerated roll-out of full 
fibre and 5G across the SCR 
and supporting ‘SMART cities’ 
interventions.

•   Ensuring SCR is an attractive place 
to invest in the digital sector and 
encouraging the private and public 
sector to adopt cutting edge digital 
technology and innovate.

•   Maximising digital’s contribution 
to economic growth by nurturing 
commercial and entrepreneurial 
successes and increasing 
businesses’ digital capability, 
adoption and access.

•   Boosting digital skills development 
by connecting talent with 
employers, connecting the digital 
community and maximising 
opportunities from digital skills 
development programmes. 

•   Focus on digital skills and 
collaboration to support 
individuals and organisations in 
tackling digital inequalities.

P
age 85



7170

8.2.3  Strengthening our urban centres 

SCR MCA will adopt an integrated  
place-based approach to developing 
strategic regeneration proposals in 
urban centres which aligns investment 
in infrastructure (e.g. land remediation, 
housing, transport and other 
infrastructure) to create sustainable 
employment and housing. This will  
focus on supporting Local Plans to 
re-structure town and city centre 
economies, helping to re-populate and 
re-purpose our urban cores so that they 
act as a magnet for people, businesses 
and growth in  South Yorkshire.

Where it is best placed to lead, SCR 
MCA will ensure that key growth 
areas are developed through master 
planning, site assembly, marketing and 
investment. 

8.2.4  Managing land sustainably

Our natural capital and cultural and 
heritage assets are rich and diverse. 
We will ensure that land is developed 
sensitively and sustainably, protecting 
and enhancing key environmental assets 
whilst unlocking new sites, improving 
access to and the resilience of natural 
space to climate change and other 
related threats. This will involve making 
the most of the infrastructural assets 
already in place as well as adopting 
different approaches, such as nature-
based solutions like natural flood 
management, and biodiversity net gain.

SCR MCA will also work closely  
with surrounding areas and our  
non-constituent member areas31 
so strategic sites continue to offer 
opportunities and benefits for the  
wider economic area. 

31Non constituent areas include Bassetlaw, Bolsover, Chesterfield, Derbyshire Dales, and North-East Derbyshire.

In terms of the housing market, there are 
stark differences across the city region. 
The polarisation is a barrier to inclusion, 
limiting social mobility and contributing 
to widening inequalities across the city 
region. The quality and energy efficiency 
of the housing stock is also poor with 
around 400,00 homes in need of 
improvements to meet the standards we 
expect over the lifetime of the SEP29.
Sites and buildings in South Yorkshire 
are not always resilient to the impacts 
of the climate emergency or fit for a low 
carbon future. Flooding events across 
South Yorkshire illustrate the threat of 
a changing climate to communities and 
our economy.

8.2  What do we need to 
do to create change? 

8.2.1  Land to deliver growth aspirations

We must bring forward a combination 
of mixed-use developments, large 
strategic opportunities and strategic 
regeneration in key growth areas. We 
need to focus on a small number of big 
opportunities - sites and developments 
that have the scale to benefit the wider 
city region. This will demand a much 
more joined up approach between local 
authorities and other public agencies to 
share resources and jointly deliver, as 
well as private sector investment. We 
must also continue to work across South 
Yorkshire to provide a more consistent 
and proactive development environment 
that offers support, provides certainty 
and pushes for higher quality. 

8.2.2  Unlocking our housing potential 

There are three aspects to SCR’s 
housing market which can deliver  
a sustainable housing market:

•  Existing Homes - There is potential 
for existing homes to play a much 
bigger part in regeneration and the local 
economy. Renewal or upgrades to the 
housing stock can unlock investment, 
creating new jobs and business 
opportunities locally. 

•  New Homes - New and affordable 
homes needs to drive greater density in 
urban areas, benefit from (and deliver30) 
transport connectivity and enhance the 
built environment, helping to create 
more attractive places to encourage 
demand. 

•  Housing Innovation:  
Modern methods of construction  
have the potential to revolutionise  
the way that new homes are delivered 
in South Yorkshire, providing higher 
build standards and more efficient 
technologies than traditional 
construction. Alongside technological 
innovation, we need to encourage 
investment in affordable housing that 
utilises cutting edge innovations  
(e.g. heating). Housing investments 
will need to complement skills and 
employment opportunities so local 
people can benefit from the jobs this 
creates as well as ew investment models 
and products such as Build to Rent,  
to provide the range of homes and 
tenures that people now demand. 

2966% of existing stock is below EPC Rating C. 
30Through greater density, urban areas can make public transport connectivity more viable and development can also release new investment in existing transport.

P
age 86



7372

B.  Planning Strategically - A long-
term and more integrated approach for 
development. SCR MCA will lead by:

•   Building on the SCR Statement of 
Common Ground through joined up 
strategic working on cross boundary 
place issues (e.g. biodiversity, flood 
risk, housing, economic growth, low 
carbon, transport and flood risk);

•   Providing a framework to consider 
spatial impact of development to 
ensure that new employment sites are 
accessible and modern;

•   Releasing/unlocking sites by 
overcoming barriers to viability and 
working proactively to make the most 
of public funding and drive through 
development;

•   Working with local authorities to 
authorise compulsory purchase 
orders or other powers we need 
around key development sites to 
push development forward, where 
appropriate; and,

•   Providing the framework to benefit 
from land value capture and ensure 
a return on investment to fund 
infrastructure needed.

C.  Maximise public assets - Utilising 
public assets and the public estate 
to drive regeneration, host digital 
infrastructure, and enable innovative 
place shaping.

D.  Natural capital enhancement - 
Deploying innovative finance, policy, 
and delivery mechanisms to improve the 
stock of natural capital (and biodiversity) 
to allow us to be the first generation to 
leave our natural environment in a better 
state than we found it.

E.  Develop infrastructure investment 
‘place packages’ - Agreeing packages 
of interventions for each of the key 
growth areas in the SEP, supporting 
locally driven approaches with 
additional capacity for site assembly 
and infrastructure investment. We will 
focus on a small number of areas which 
have the potential to create change at 
scale and bring benefits to the wider city 
region:
 
•  Sheffield city centre: 
•  AMID
•  Barnsley Town Centre
•  Rotherham Town Centre
•  Doncaster Town Centre
•  Doncaster Unity
•  Goldthorpe in the Dearne Valley
•  Doncaster Sheffield Airport

8.3   How do we create 
the transformative change 
needed?

Creating strong employment locations in 
key parts of SCR, with good access from 
residential areas, is central to achieving 
a growing, inclusive, and sustainable 
City Region. The core ambitions are 
therefore to:

•    Develop the right residential, 
industrial and commercial sites and 
premises, well connected and in the 
right locations at a scale to support 
densification and economic growth in 
key parts of SCR;

•   Ensure that new development is 
well served by high quality, modern 
infrastructure, well connected to other 
parts of the city region and resilient to 
flooding and the impacts of a changing 
climate;

•  Ensure that SCR’s urban centres 
are quality places where people and 
businesses choose to locate – offering 
the opportunities to live, work, study 
and relax in a dynamic and diverse 
environment. 

It is critical that we ensure there is 
enough viable land in the right locations, 
clusters and stronger urban centres32. 
To do so, the key priorities for land, 
housing, and the built environment in 
supporting our innovation and growth 
agenda are outlined below:

A.  Liveability and our housing offer 
Improve the quantity and choice 
of high-quality homes by adopting 
Modern Methods of Construction and 
supporting new and innovative models 
of investment through: 

•   Working with partners to promote 
development that adheres to quality 
standards, low carbon and biodiversity 
net gain requirements and prioritise 
modern methods of construction;

•   Supporting the delivery of new 
housing and business space; 

•   Upgrading existing housing stock to 
higher environmental standards;

•   Ensuring that all new housing 
developments have full fibre digital 
connectivity;

•   Stimulating the development of 
affordable homes in sustainable, 
vibrant and mixed urban centres.

32Please see section 3 for more details

P
age 87



7574

M1

M1

M18

A1(M)

Doncaster 
Shef�eld Airport

Barnsley Digital 
Media Centre

Unity

Goldthorpe

AMID
Advanced Manufacturing

Innovation District

Sheffield

Doncaster
Barnsley

Rotherham 

Sheffield’s City Centre

Rotherham’s Town Centre

Doncaster’s Town Centre

Barnsley’s Town Centre

P
age 88



7776

9.  Outcomes, Benefits and 
Financial Implications 
SCR MCA’s vision – centred on 
growth, inclusion, and environmental 
sustainability – is underpinned by 
our outcomes framework. SCR has 
developed targets to complement the 
outcomes. These will help to measure 
progress against the outcomes on 
a regular basis. The outcomes and 
metrics are ‘live’, and will be reviewed 
over time33. They also reflect a focus 
upon the systemic nature of economic 
development and the linkages to health, 
wellbeing, environment and civic 
society.

The SEP Implementation Plan will set 
out the activities that will take place and 
how the strategy will be delivered.

It will set out the specific actions that will 
be taken forward and the organisations 
that are responsible for delivering those 
actions.

The outcomes and targets (Figure 5  
and table below) will guide all investment 
decisions that SCR controls or influences 
to ensure this is coordinated and that 
impact is maximised to deliver our policy 
objectives.

We have developed the outcomes 
and targets to not only provide 
transparency and accountability in terms 
of our progress, but also to inform the 
decisions we make in how we invest the 
resources available to us and how we 
commission services. 

33 SCR will work with stakeholders to measure so that we can track our performance as accurately as possible.  
This also provides an opportunity to adapt targets in light of more information or more detailed understanding.

Figure 5: Linking the vision to outcomes to indicators  

Vision

A growing and 
resilient economy

Everyone has  
opportunity

Our places are  
sustainable

Outcomes

Our increasingly productive 
workforce and strategic  

investments lead to a growing 
economy.

Our people are well-connected 
to new job opportunities, with 

access to progression, supported 
by affordable living.

Healthy, safe, and vibrant places 
offer climate and environmental 

resilience alongside a high quality 
of life offer.

Indicators

GVA per worker, R&D 
spending and high level 

occupations increase

Our lag in digital capability, 
educational outcomes and 

wage levels close whilst 
housing remains affordable

Environmental quality and 
cultural participation rise 
whilst fuel poverty and 

deprivation decline

Key intervention areas:

•   Ensure the supply of viable land in the right locations, maximising  
the potential for clusters and improving our urban areas.

•   Improve the quantity and choice of high-quality homes.

•   Plan strategically through a long-term and more integrated approach  
for development.

•   Working in partnership with stakeholders to deliver place-based  
policies that improve economic growth, inclusion and environmental 
sustainability.

•   Develop infrastructure investment packages for key development 
opportunities in SCR.

9.1 Outcomes and indicators 

P
age 89



78

The targets highlight areas where we would like to monitor progress and are mostly 
relative, meaning that progress is measured against wider change. The targets will 
require regular review, particularly when data and metrics improve, evolve, or if the 
wider economic, social, or environmental context changes. At time of writing, the 
targets will lead to the following outputs by 2041:

•   Economy: Productivity growth which will drive an extra £7.6 billion  
Gross Value Added (GVA).

•  J obs: Progression will see an extra 33,000 in higher level jobs.

•   Wages: Raise average wages, and particularly the lowest wages, across South 
Yorkshire, in line with the national average (closing the current gap of £1,500 for 
the lowest paid and £2,800 for the average).

•   Environment: Delivering a net zero carbon emission target for South Yorkshire.

•    Skills: Skills and education progression and attainment rates improve,  
leading to 30,000 more people with higher levels skills (NQF Level 3+)  
and 9,000 fewer people with no skills or low qualifications.

•   Health: Healthy life expectancy at birth to match the national average,  
with an improvement by roughly 3 years for men and women in SCR.

More detail on the outcomes and targets is provided in the following tables.

79

P
age 90



8180

Indicator Desired outcome/output Data 2041 target

Productivity Our workforce’s productivity will increase, positively 
benefitting the prosperity of our residents.

Labour productivity measured in Gross Value 
Added (GVA) per employee. Annual Population 
Survey.

82% of UK average (2017)

100% of UK average*

Economic output  
per capita

The size of our economy relative to our population 
will increase.

GVA per capita, rather than employee as above. 
Annual Population Survey.

68% of UK average (2017)

100% of UK average*

R&D expenditure A greater investment in R&D (relative to our 
economy) indicates an innovative economy.

R&D expenditure as a proportion of economy 
using ONS and EUROSTAT data.
SCR approx. 1%

UK Government  
target of 2.4%

Personal Wellbeing Estimated levels of worthwhile, life satisfaction, 
happiness and anxiety are indicators of personal 
well-being.

Individual areas in SCR currently lower for 
anxiety and happiness wellbeing estimates than 
the national average.

Exceeding national  
average.

Enterprise Higher density and growing business base. Enterprise growth rate is approximately 15-16% 
using ONS Business Demography data.

Target birth rate of 16%.

Car usage Car usage falls, indicating mode share and lower 
pollution due to transport.

Car usage measured by vehicle miles.  
Annual road traffic statistics by Department  
for Transport.

4960 million vehicle miles (2018)

To be developed

Digital connectivity A higher proportion of our region is covered by both 
full fibre & 5G broadband.

Percentage of full fibre coverage of residential 
and business premises. Weekly network  
rollouts modelled by Think Broadband based  
on Openreach data.

8.4% (2020)

Equal to UK level

Housing costs The housing system and wider economy means 
that earning power is not being eroded by inflating 
house prices.

Lower quartile house price to earnings ratio. 
MHCLG ‘House price (existing dwellings) to 
residence-based earnings ratio’.

No increase in ratio

*MCA and LEP will work with partners to ensure SCR at least achieves these lower bound targets.

P
age 91



8382

Indicator Desired outcome Data 2041 target

School leavers More children leave secondary school  
with better attainment to boost their prospects 
entering further education and employment.

Attainment 8 scores average, Department  
for Education administration data.

BMBC – 42.5, DMBC – 42.7, RMBC – 43.6,  
SCC – 44.6
England – 46.1
(2018)

Equal to England level

Education A higher proportion of working-age population 
possess higher qualifications, indicating progression 
in education and employment.

NVQ level 3 and above included.  
Annual Population Survey.

SCR – 54.2% 
GB – 57.8%
(2018)

Equal to UK level

Wage levels A lower proportion of employees on low earnings 
(defined as 20th percentile of earnings distribution).

Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings.
£8.92 per hour 3% below UK level
(2019)

Equal to UK level

Higher-level occupations Higher proportion of employees in managerial, 
technical & professional occupations.

Standard Occupation Classifications  
1-3 represent higher-level occupations. 
Annual Population Survey.

SCR – 43.4%
UK – 47.0%
(2019)

Equal to UK level

Unemployment More working-age people are in employment. Annual Population Survey.

SCR – 5.2% 
UK – 4.0%
(2019)

Equal to UK level

P
age 92



8584

Indicator Desired outcome Data 2041 target

Air quality Improvement in air quality, as measured by relevant 
different particulate matter.

To be developed based on public health 
agreements and available data.

Equal to England level

Health Our population live increasingly long, healthy lives. Healthy life expectancy at birth.
SCR – male 60.2 years, SCR – female 60.2 years
UK – male 63.1 years, UK – female 63.6 years

Equal to UK level

Fuel poverty Fewer households living in fuel poverty. BEIS Sub-Regional Fuel Poverty Estimates.
SCR – 10.6%
England – 10.9%
(2017)

Equal to UK level

Cultural participation Gap for overall participation in cultural activity 
between SCR and national average closes.

To be developed awaiting regular updates  
and reliable data.

Equal to UK level

Deprivation Lower share of local areas in deprivation. MHCLG Index of Multiple Deprivation –  
a composite of indicators including income, 
employment, education, health, crime, barriers 
to housings and services, living environment 
deprivation.

BMBC – 22%, DMBC – 24%, RMBC – 22%,  
SCC – 22% (2019)

Equal to UK level

Climate and 
environment

Improving ‘value’ of natural environment measured 
by ecosystem service provision.

To be developed awaiting regular updates  
and reliable data.

P
age 93



8786

9.2 Economic  
and Financial Benefits
This SEP, when delivered, will make  
a significant economic contribution 
to the national economy and financial 
benefits to the public purse. The actions 
and ambitions set out in the document 
will unleash the potential of people, 
employers and places and accelerate 
the transformation of South Yorkshire, 
levelling it up with the rest of the UK.

Quantifying the additional benefits that 
this SEP offers has been informed by 
an econometric analysis of the outputs 
and outcomes. This was informed by the 
development of a series of logic models 
to align the key policy objectives with 
the broad mechanisms through which 
these are to be achieved. The modelling 
has been underpinned by engagement 
with and scrutiny from industry experts 
and academics. 

Investment in SCR will yield a  
significant return on investment for 
Government, delivering quality jobs, 
higher productivity, new businesses  
and more new and commercialised  
ideas that will keep the UK at the  
cutting edge of innovation globally. 

Based upon the analysis of current 
trends and critical assessment of 
agreed targets, the headline benefits 
are summarised here. This shows the 
additionality that delivery of the SEP 
offers South Yorkshire, the North of 
England and the UK.

Potential benefits from delivering the SEP 

These benefits confirm that investment in South Yorkshire is prudent and sensible 
and will provide a valuable return on investment for the local and national economy. 
The LEP and MCA’s track record of delivery will ensure that these opportunities are 
realised in this generation. South Yorkshire has made remarkable progress, but the 
transformation is only just beginning. Our track record, combined with the economic 
potential set out in this SEP, shows how investment can deliver a stronger, greener 
and fairer South Yorkshire. 

+ £4.8 billion
Potential annual growth by 2041 as a result  
of uplifting growth in high value sectors  

+ £10,880
GVA (economic output) per employee 

+ £9,200
GVA (economic output) per capita 

+ 33,310
Employees in higher skilled occupations

+ 4,855
Enterprise births

+ £1.1 billion
Cumulative financial benefit to the public purse

+ £2.49
Gross hourly wages 

+ £2.8 billion
Potential annual growth by 2041 as a result  
of investment in decarbonised economy  

Growth

Inclusion

Sustainability

Estimated Benefits
(unless otherwise stated all metrics refer to the annual benefits achieved by 2041  

above the baseline position without delivery of the new SEP).

1. Barnsley
2. Doncaster
3. Rotherham
4. Sheffield

1 2

4
3

P
age 94



8988

What’s going well?

There are green shoots of economic  
and productivity growth 

Even though our economy has grown 
ahead of targets set in the last SEP, 
productivity growth has remained flat 
– although this has improved in recent 
years. There are several factors that 
drive productivity growth37, with many 
highlighting a lack of innovation; in its 
broadest sense and in every part of the 
economy38. Innovation is acknowledged 
as a vital component for improving 
productivity and economic development, 
with the spatial component of this (e.g. 
clusters within specific geographies) 
remaining a key theme of economic 
theory and policy. 

There are opportunities for productivity 
growth. The SCR has strengths in 
several high-productivity sectors39  
relative to the UK average, such as in 
high-precision engineering and design. 
We also have a significant proportion of 
high-growth businesses in sectors such 
as professional services, and scientific 
and technical activities. 

Our strongest potential to form 
a distinctive, market-led, and 
internationally competitive offer exists  
in fostering and building on our 
expertise in manufacturing, engineering 
and materials as well as healthcare, 
digital and creative technologies.

Our business base is much larger 
now than in 2015 and evidence points 
towards increased scale-up potential. 
SCR has a higher proportion of high-
growth businesses40 compared with

other similar LEP areas (16% compared 
with 12% in Greater Manchester and 
Liverpool and 11% in Tees Valley)41. 
Our five-year business survival rate is 
two percentage points higher than the 
England average.

The enabling conditions for growth 
exist but need to be strengthened

Pre-Covid-19, SCR saw high and growing 
employment rates consistently above 
other similar city regions. We are home 
to several globally renowned skills 
assets and industry-leading examples 
of technical education delivery, such 
as the AMRC, AWRC and UTCs. These 
are changing how the private sector 
engages with skills institutions and 
drives innovation.

The City Region is centrally located 
for national road and rail networks, 
and DSA is growing in international 
importance, with passenger numbers on 
UK, European and Transatlantic flights 
increasing by 47% since 201643. We have 
benefited from some recent transport 
upgrades and there are major projects in 
the pipeline, such as NPR and HS2.

Superfast broadband (30mbps)  
coverage is over 97% within SCR, 
and our digital technology industry 
is diverse, including gaming and 
entertainment, business software, 
hardware and devices and telecoms, 
with the presence of nationally and 
internationally important firms. 
However, there is a lack of connectivity 
around new digital infrastructure  
(e.g. 5g and ultrafast).

37See Productivity Evidence Synthesis - Productivity Insights Network 2018
38As directly measured by patents or indirectly measured through firm surveys or research studies
39In GVA terms
40Defined broadly as a company that has seen 20% growth in turnover and employment in the past 3 years.
41Sheffield City Region Economic Evidence Base (2019) 
42Inclusive Growth Report – SCR. CRESR (2019) 
43Sheffield City Region Economic Evidence Base (2019)

Appendix A – Summary  
of Evidence Base
Over the last decade the SCR economy has grown much faster than expected. Latest 
figures show the economy generated £27bn in GVA (around 8% of the Northern 
Powerhouse total)34. The GVA, job growth, and business start-up targets35 that were 
set in the 2015-2025 SEP have all been exceeded. However, SCR still lags the England 
average for productivity and is ranked 33rd out of 38 LEP areas, which is lower than 
all other English city regions. 

Figure 5: Productivity per worker 

 
Source: ONS GVA per worker estimates 2018

In addition, the benefits of productivity gains have not been felt by the majority of 
our population. Growth since 2015 has predominantly been in low-wage and lower 
productivity sectors (such as public administration, health/care, education, and 
logistics)36 and low-skill occupations (such as administration, trades, and service 
occupations).

This SEP aims to achieve a step change and give everyone an opportunity to benefit 
from prosperity, not just those working in high-wage and high-skill professions. 

34 This data refers to SCR’s current composition of the nine local authorities of Barnsley, Bassetlaw, Bolsover, Chesterfield, Derbyshire Dales, Doncaster,  
North East Derbyshire, Rotherham and Sheffield. From April 2020, SCR will only comprise the four South Yorkshire authorities of Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham  
and Sheffield – data from ONS.

35 This data refers to SCR’s current composition (see 36) From April 2020, SCR will only comprise the four South Yorkshire authorities of Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham 
and Sheffield – throughout the SEP we have used data for these four authorities where available. However, in some cases, data is only available for the wider city region. 

36ONS and EMSI 2019

£90,000

£80,000

£70,000

£60,000

£50,000

£40,000

£30,000

£20,000

£10,000

£-

£47,000

£46,500

£46,000

£45,500

£45,000

£44,500

£44,000

£43,500

£43,000

£42,500

£42,000

GVA per worker

GVA per worker

London

United Kingdom

West Midlands
Greater 

Manchester

Liverpool City 
Region

Leeds City 
Region

Leeds City 
Region

Sheffield City 
Region

Sheffield City 
Region

Barnsley, 
Doncaster and 

Rotherhan

Sheffield

P
age 95



9190

There are also known skills mismatches 
and skill supply constraints in the 
economy, with areas such as Sheffield 
experiencing under-employment of 
qualified people, while other areas 
struggle to retain highly skilled people. 
Educational attainment at all educational 
levels is often below the national 
average49 in too many areas, with a close 
alignment between areas that have poor 
educational outcomes, high deprivation 
and higher levels of worklessness.

Prosperity and Inclusion - Workplace 
earnings are significantly lower than 
the national and regional averages50  
and one third of SCR’s workforce is 
employed in the four sectors most 
strongly associated with in-work poverty 
(wholesale and retail, accommodation 
and food, administrative and support 
services, and residential care). There has 
also been an increase in temporary and 
flexible working which, though welcome 
for some, presents challenges for low 
wage economies. There is also evidence 
that several groups remain distant from 
the labour market (e.g. ethnic minorities, 
disabled people and women). The 
number of people that are economically 
inactive due to temporary ill-health and 
long-term illness is significantly higher 
at 29% than the England average (25%), 
indicating serious health inequality51. 

Development and Place -  
SCR has opportunities through its 
available development land and 
commercial space but this is often 
low value, constrained or lacking the 
digital, transport or flood protection 
infrastructure required to encourage 
businesses to invest and relocate.  
This holds back speculative development 
and retention of businesses looking 
to grow. SCR has spatial inequalities 
in terms of deprivation, access to 
employment and health outcomes, 
affecting quality of life for our 
communities. Many of our urban centres 
are fighting back against the ongoing 
retail restructuring. SCR has substantial 
natural capital, heritage and sporting 
assets; but despite these advantages, 
visitor numbers, spend, and participation 
in culture, arts, and heritage is relatively 
low. The impact of wider environmental 
degradation and flood risk is also 
affecting lives and livelihoods and the 
level of risk is likely to increase with a 
worsening climate emergency.

49DfE - Attainment and Progression Data 2019
50ONS – Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings 2019
51ONS - Annual Population survey 2019

We are also in a strong position to 
develop and implement solutions that 
will place clean growth and energy 
efficiency at the heart of our industrial 
base. This includes the opportunity to 
build on our strong research capabilities, 
major employment sites, local 
engineering and manufacturing supply 
chains, and strengths in logistics to 
manufacturing in the low carbon market; 
contributing towards the net-zero carbon 
emissions target set by SCR MCA  
for 204144.

What needs improvement?

Productivity growth remains important

SCR needs more jobs but the level of 
productivity is the most fundamental 
and important factor determining the 
standard of living. The UK is facing a 
productivity crisis and SCR has some 
of the lowest levels of productivity in 
England. In SCR, higher productivity 
sectors represent a relatively small share 
of jobs45 and the strongest employment 
growth is forecast in lower productivity 
sectors (such as residential care, food, 
logistics, retail and warehousing)46. 
There is evidence that the productivity is 
impacted by this structural composition 
of the economy but also by a lack of 
firms headquartered in SCR and by 
undeveloped supply chains47. This is 
compounded by overall low levels 
of inward investment and exporting 
(compared with UK averages) and 
limited entrepreneurial behaviour, 
resulting in sub-optimal private sector 
business creation. 

Supporting conditions for growth 
require addressing

Innovation - Around £325 million is 
spent on R&D in the SCR with almost 
65% of that total spent by our two 
universities. The share of business 
investment, UK Government and 
private non-profit expenditure on R&D 
in SCR is low compared to the national 
average (despite pockets of greater 
investment). Whilst this is only one 
measure of innovation, it confirms 
that the innovation platform in South 
Yorkshire needs to re-framed. There are 
opportunities to rebuild our innovation 
landscape. Many aspects of innovation 
are flourishing in the SCR, presenting 
opportunities for new, wealth-creating 
products and services, but the evidence 
shows that not enough companies 
are taking full advantage of these 
opportunities. SCR has the track record 
and institutional capacity to invest 
in translational research to explore 
models for new interventions that will 
raise productivity levels – not just in 
traditional ‘high technology’ sectors, 
but also in areas of the foundational 
economy such as social care and retail.

Education, Skills and Employment - 
SCR’s occupational profile is weighted 
more towards lower skilled occupations. 
We have a higher share of low-
skilled jobs (36%) and a lower share 
of managerial and professional jobs 
(43%) compared to the national average 
(33% and 47%). Also compared to the 
national average, we have a slightly 
higher proportion of people with no 
qualifications (8% compared to 7.8%) 
and a lower proportion with higher level 
skills (33% compared with 39%)48. 

44Each individual area within SCR has its own carbon neutral target and this figure is the whole SCR target.
45For example; Professional, Scientific and Technical Activities make up 5.9% of jobs compared to 8.7% in the national economy.
46EMSI sector and employment forecasts to 2040.
47As identified in SCR Evidence base and GIC evidence base.
48ONS - Annual Population Survey 2019

P
age 96



9392

Market Opportunities for SCR

Several opportunities are before us which could have a significant impact on our 
economy and our communities. We will work to capitalise on these:

Healthy Communities – Across the world, innovation in 
approaches to prevention, treatment and public health practice 
are changing the structure of health and care systems and 
improving lives for many people. The response to Covid-19 
and demographic change is an increasingly dominant 
economic theme. This leads to economic opportunities (e.g. 
new models of healthcare and employment) and challenges 
(e.g. retraining, upskilling, care). What is certain is that it 
necessitates a rethink of care and health systems across SCR. 
Through SCR’s health strengths, especially the AWRC, we have 
the potential to lead cutting-edge prevention techniques and 
support new economic opportunities. 

The Climate Emergency and Transition to a Net-Zero 
Carbon Economy  – The national commitment to achieve 
net-zero carbon emissions by 2050 has been translated to 
a commitment to achieve the same goal by 2041 for SCR. 
Therefore, our approach to delivering this SEP must enable 
this transition. Achieving the net-zero goal will require major 
changes in how we work, live and travel, while also creating 
economic opportunities for SCR. In addition, extreme climate 
events, such as flooding, will increase in frequency, therefore 
resilience to these risks must be enhanced for SCR’s  
residents, business and visitors. 

Industry 4.0 – This is characterised by major changes to  
the way we live, work and communicate due to the adoption  
of cyber physical systems, the Internet of Things, and the 
Internet of Systems. Industry 4.0 will lead to much greater 
application of digital services and products  across all 
industries and aspects of society, as well as the need for 
much better digital infrastructure. SCR has a strong creative 
and digital technology economy and our capabilities are 
well aligned to the opportunities (e.g. industrial digitisation) 
presented by Industry 4.0. SCR will also be affected by the 
automation of jobs in sectors that form a large part of our 
economy, which is both an opportunity and a threat. 

Connectivity - Congestion and 
connectivity challenges across the 
transport network restrain economic 
growth, inclusion and environmental 
sustainability. Poor rail connections 
(both in terms of regularity and 
quality) within the City Region, and a 
substantially high proportion of journeys 
made by car, contribute to congestion 
and poor air quality. Across the four 
local authorities, SCR has 28 Air Quality 
Management Areas. Current superfast 
broadband connectivity (30mbps) 
needs upgrading to 100mbps to satisfy 
the requirements of businesses and 
domestic consumers over the next five 
to ten years. Full fibre infrastructure 
in SCR is presently at 3.62%, which 
is half the national average52 and 
insufficient to support the exponential 
increase in broadband service demand. 
Digital exclusion is high in some areas, 
particularly Barnsley and Doncaster.

Shift to Low Carbon - SCR has a 
higher proportion of energy-intensive 
businesses than the national average 
with a heavy reliance on fossil fuels. 
Only a low proportion of SMEs have 
adopted energy-efficiency measures, 
and most of the existing housing 
stock is not energy-efficient. 87% of 
homes in the City Region have a poor 
energy rating, with 93,000 households 
in fuel poverty53. However, SCR has 
internationally excellent and world-
leading research in environmental 
technologies. The opportunity for 
exploiting and translating this research 
into commercial products and alternative 
energy supply is significant.

52SuperFast South Yorkshire 2019
53SCR Energy Strategy (Forthcoming)

P
age 97



9594

Appendix B – Vibrant  
and Resilient Places
Barnsley
Barnsley’s vision is to “build a sustainable inclusive economy which benefits all its 
communities”. This aligns with SCR MCA’s focus on inclusive growth, noting that the 
parameters of inclusive growth require a different spatial focus. 

Barnsley is focused on delivery against four key priorities: 

•   Growth – Barnsley is seeking a step change in transitioning towards good 
economic growth that is aligned to the wider three priorities. 

•   Human Capital – Barnsley is continuing to deliver a ‘More and Better Jobs 
Strategy’ with a focus on enabling residents to get into work, get on in work and 
stay in work. This also prioritises development of skills pathways in key sectors. 

•   Zero 40 – Barnsley is seeking to reduce emissions to net-zero by 2041.  
The strategy (called Zero40) will be delivered through four five-year action plans 
from 2021 to 2041 which include developing a green economy both in terms  
of employment and business growth opportunities.

•   Health Inequality and Deprivation – A central element of inclusive growth is to 
ensure that all residents benefit from economic growth in Barnsley. This includes 
addressing health, skills and employability challenges within communities. 

Delivering on these priorities requires a holistic approach given the co-dependencies 
and linkages between each strand.

Intelligent Mobility – Technology is changing the way  
people access travel information and how they use transport. 
In the last ten years, the rise in on-demand travel, growth in 
digital and mobile technologies, and our understanding of 
people and transport movements has increased  substantially.  
Looking to the future, the growth of autonomous vehicles,  
and digital applications  and assistive technologies, could 
radically change how people travel to work and access 
education and leisure. SCR’s research and industrial 
capabilities in the development  of sustainable fuels mean 
we are well-placed to deliver alternative fuel technology to 
support intelligent mobility. It will be important in addressing 
transport poverty and ensuring that areas of deprivation are 
better connected to employment opportunities..

New Markets – As well as selling products and services across 
the UK, SCR businesses are strongly integrated into global 
markets. Significant changes in the global economy present 
opportunities for our assets, skills and industries. The strong 
performance of economies outside of Europe presents huge 
commercial (e.g. trade), cultural (e.g. touring exhibitions) and 
skills (e.g. students) opportunities. There is also the need to 
exploit existing markets through the development of supply 
chains both within the SCR and other city regions.

P
age 98



9796

2.  Delivering Ambitious Plans

Barnsley has adopted an ambitious  
Local Plan that opens significant 
amounts of land for housing, creating 
space for 21,000 new homes, and 
providing well located strategic sites  
for employment growth. 

SCR MCA will work with Barnsley on this 
growth opportunity in terms of housing 
targets, inward investment, indigenous 
business growth and linkages to other 
city regions (e.g. Leeds City Region).

3.  Improved and Greener Transport 
Connectivity

SCR MCA will work with Barnsley,  
TfN and other city regions, in improving 
connections through Barnsley to 
other large urban areas (e.g. Leeds, 
Birmingham and London). Within the 
borough, public transport, rail and active 
travel is recognised as highly important 
in encouraging modal shift away from 
car usage. 

SCR MCA has published a Transport 
Strategy and is seeking to go further on 
the inclusion agenda with the transport 
commitments. Addressing transport 
poverty requires improved public 
transport connectivity and more joined 
up decision making. SCR MCA will 
work with stakeholders across Barnsley 
to create an excellent, affordable and 
high-quality transportation system. 
This includes prioritising access 
to employment, skills and leisure 
opportunities, encouraging a shift away 
from the reliance on the car; which 
in turn will reduce congestion and 
significantly contribute to our aspirations 
for a net-zero carbon economy. There 
are specific opportunities around 
connectivity in the Dearne Valley and 
through Barnsley town centre.

4.  Improving Adult Education and 
Developing Skills Pathways
 
Barnsley is keen for a regional-led 
approach to the development of skills 
pathways for key growth sectors. 
SCR MCA will work with Barnsley 
stakeholders to support adults into 
employment and encourage in-work 
progression. SCR MCA will use its 
devolved Adult Education Budget 
to encourage skills progression in 
Barnsley and explore creative use of the 
Apprenticeship Levy to align with the 
current and future needs of businesses. 

5.  Addressing Health Inequality  
and Deprivation

SCR MCA will work with Barnsley 
to ensure that health inequality and 
deprivation is addressed. This includes 
exploring ways in which investment 
can positively uplift health outcomes 
and encourage innovation in the health 
sector (e.g. community health sector, 
NHS). 

6.  Community-Led Inclusive Economy

Barnsley continues to devolve significant 
funds and resources through the 
Area Councils and Ward Alliances 
neighbourhood working model. 
Forward-thinking initiatives like this 
which revitalise community spirit, 
strengthen civic pride and make tangible 
improvements to where people live, will 
be supported by SCR MCA. Similarly, 
Barnsley’s Town Spirit brand and 
#lovewhereyoulive has gained traction 
with local communities and led to a 
surge in local volunteering. SCR MCA 
will work with Barnsley to strengthen 
approaches around an inclusive 
economy, tackling health inequalities 
and improving the environment in 
communities.

Economic Role
 
Barnsley’s location and growth 
opportunities position the borough as a 
key node in future northern prosperity. 
Barnsley’s economic strategy outlines 
the delivery of good growth for its 
communities. 

The Council has committed to creating 
a 2030 vision for the borough which will 
include all key stakeholders, and will be 
co-produced with Barnsley residents, 
communities and businesses. The 2030 
vision will set and define Barnsley’s 
long-term priorities moving forward. 

The main immediate challenge and 
opportunity for Barnsley is to see a 
real shift in terms of economic strategy 
to ensure that the growth delivered at 
both a local and regional level, directly 
benefits all residents and communities. 
Despite achieving a good level of growth 
over recent years, Barnsley still has 
significant areas of deprivation and 
health inequalities across the borough. 
Therefore, any future strategy must seek 
to deliver systematic change; ensuring 
that sustained and equitable growth is 
delivered across the borough. 

Partnership Working –  
Our Shared Priorities 

Barnsley is seeking to ensure that 
growth is inclusive and sustainable by 
improving educational outcomes and 
skills for adults as well as young people; 
providing pathways to more and better 
jobs, increasing entrepreneurship, 
tackling transport poverty and 
increasing sustainable and active travel. 
SCR MCA is seeking to support this 
ambition and will work with Barnsley on 
the following key priorities:

1.  Prioritisation of Urban Centres

Urban Centres and place remain a 
priority for Barnsley and SCR. Barnsley 
is looking at the next stage of rethinking 
high streets and place shaping in 
the town. SCR MCA has worked with 
Barnsley to invest in the town centre; 
for example, the £180m Glassworks 
scheme. The regeneration of the town 
centre and completion of the award-
winning Glassworks scheme is an 
immediate priority. 

SCR MCA will work with Barnsley on 
their Principal Towns Programmes and 
aligning future urban centre funding 
opportunities to further capitalise on the 
foundations that have been established 
across the borough. This includes the 
Stronger Towns Funding for places like 
Goldthorpe, which provides a platform 
to unlock urban inclusive growth.  
SCR MCA will also work with Barnsley 
on a framework for towns funding for  
its town centre.

P
age 99



9998

Doncaster
Doncaster is changing. A growing and 
more diverse economy contributed to 
an increase in GVA of £1.4bn (31.8%) 
and 10,000 extra jobs between 2013 and 
2018, creating an economy worth almost 
£5.9bn. Record levels of employment 
and house building have enabled more 
residents to benefit from this success.  

The quality of Doncaster as a place to 
live, work and do business is further 
enhanced by outstanding national 
connectivity, new leisure developments 
and environmental assets.

‘Doncaster is responding to the 
climate change and biodiversity 
emergency by re-imagining the 
borough of the future.’

At the same time, Doncaster is tackling 
long-standing challenges, many of 
which have been exacerbated by the 
Covid-19 pandemic. Therefore, in 
addition to creating new jobs at scale, 
the focus remains on improving the 
quality, flexibility and fairness of the 
jobs available alongside developing an 
education and skills system that meets 
the needs of the economy and learners. 

Doncaster is responding to the climate 
change and biodiversity emergency 
by re-imagining the borough of the 
future. Doncaster’s geographical scale 
and dispersed settlement pattern also 
requires improved transport and digital 
connectivity and supports a thriving, 
networked city. 

7.  Achieving Net-Zero Commitments 

SCR MCA is committed to supporting 
Barnsley in their Zero40 commitments 
and energising environmental 
sustainability. Local and regional  
carbon aspirations will unlock national 
carbon targets. SCR MCA will work  
with Barnsley to develop: 

•   An inclusive economy in Barnsley  
and prioritise the development and 
growth of the low carbon sector;

•   Make net-zero decisions to ensure that 
carbon reduction commitments are 
hard wired into processes;

•   Invest in low carbon transport and 
sustainable travel (e.g. charging points 
and active travel);

•   Support commercial and residential 
energy use reduction and efficiencies 
(e.g. solar and battery storage);

•   Mandate better quality new housing 
(e.g. standards), 

•   Establish retrofitting outcomes for 
existing homes and incorporating 
sustainable travel into new 
developments; and

•   Support and invest in innovative 
climate agenda technologies, 
propositions and solutions  
(e.g. Mine Water Energy solutions).

. 

8.  Future proofing the economy 
through investment in digital Barnsley

Barnsley is showing the importance 
of local level working. The superfast 
broadband programme in Barnsley 
exceeds its targets of take-up (above 
50% which exceeds many other areas). 
Switching Barnsley to full fibre and 
5G is a priority which is being built 
into planning approvals. The growth 
potential that is presented through 
digital also includes the core and wider 
business base, digital infrastructure, 
skills, inclusion and innovation.  
Specific activities include:

•   Creating business support products 
aligned to unlocking the growth 
potential of local businesses;

•   Unlocking world-class digital 
infrastructure in Barnsley, related  
to full fibre and 5g;

•   Supporting the adoption of digital 
technology by SMEs;

•   Providing digital skills to businesses  
in all sectors;

•   Supporting work with City Fibre  
and Openreach to help secure further 
investment in fibre capability; 

•   Expanding the Barnsley Digital 
Campus and wider growth 
opportunities in Barnsley through 
focused investments; and

•   Seeking further collaborations with 
skills institutions and businesses  
in digital and key economic sector

P
age 100



101100

Doncaster will contribute significantly 
to the decarbonisation of the SCR’s 
economy, for example through the 
development of an intelligent, greener 
transport system, the retro-fitting of 
homes and supporting businesses to 
decarbonize. 

The SCR MCA will also work with 
Doncaster to ensure there is a more 
regenerative approach to investment 
when developing plans for improving 
land use, green spaces transport and the 
built environment. 

2.  Developing industry specialisms 
as well as green industries, the 
foundational economy and supporting 
services.    

Doncaster’s existing industry strengths 
and opportunities will support future 
economic growth, create quality jobs, 
increase productivity and help to 
achieve greater economic resilience. 
Key industry specialisms Doncaster will 
support and develop are: 

•  Intelligent Mobility 

•  Engineering and Technology 

•  Creative and Digital Industries 

•  Advanced Materials 

Doncaster and the MCA will work to 
drive decarbonisation and a more 
circular economy. In addition, Doncaster 
will support growth in:

•   Green Industries – exploiting the 
opportunities created by new 
innovations and technologies 

•   The Foundational Economy – 
particularly health, medical and  
social care.  

•   Supporting Services - comprising  
a range of professional and business 
services sectors.

3.  Growing priority areas and investing 
in housing, infrastructure, local services 
and public realm 

There are several geographic areas 
within Doncaster which will be the 
focus of growth. Each of these locations 
has unique strengths, outstanding 
connectivity and large land allocations 
for commercial and residential 
development. These sites also link 
to Doncaster’s priority industries 
and provide a focus for  economic 
development support. They are:

•   Doncaster Town Centre – including 
the major Waterfront urban centre 
extension.

•   Doncaster Sheffield Airport (DSA) 
Gateway East development – to 
deliver jobs and housing at scale and 
maximize the impact of GatewayEast 
as an innovation-led growth cluster 

•   Unity - one of the largest regeneration 
and infrastructure projects of its kind 
in the UK will deliver a mixed-use 
development of regional importance.

These developments will impact on the 
wider Borough (e.g. job opportunities, 
housing and reputation of Doncaster).  
A flexible approach to investment 
outside of Doncaster’s three priority 
areas will be taken to reflect the 
priorities, strengths and distinctiveness 
of local areas.

The MCA will work with Doncaster to 
ensure its urban areas are characterised 
by high quality public realm, green 
spaces and strong community facilities, 
including excellent housing, health and 
education services. The resilience and 
vitality of Doncaster’s villages and rural 
communities will also be promoted 
through appropriate development.

Economic Role
 
As a rapidly expanding economic 
centre, and home to key industries and 
economic assets, Doncaster is vital to 
the success of South Yorkshire and the 
wider UK economy.

The scale of opportunity is significant, 
given Doncaster’s established industry 
specialisms in advanced engineering 
and technology (including rail), 
intelligent mobility (including logistics) 
and the opportunity to create new 
specialisms in creative, digital and 
advanced materials.

Partnership Working –  
Our Shared Priorities 

Doncaster’s goal is to improve the 
prosperity and well-being of people and 
places through an inclusive, greener, 
stronger and more productive economy.   

1.  Developing a more regenerative 
place with a circular, decarbonised 
economy 

This will simultaneously address  
the climate and biodiversity emergency 
whilst providing new economic 
and social opportunities. Doncaster 
aims to push beyond sustainability 
(“doing no harm”) to regenerative 
development which renews and 
improves. This requires a ‘whole 
catchment’ approach with collaborative 
working across Doncaster, the SCR and 
beyond, given how natural systems, 
resources, institutions, challenges and 
opportunities cross boundaries. To 
achieve this Doncaster will seek to:    

•   Change the linear ‘take-make-dispose’ 
economic model to a circular system.

•   Regenerate, restore and protect 
natural capital, working with partners 
to maximize its contribution to the 
local economy and inward investment, 
quality of place and well-being.

•   Create social value and build 
community wealth by increasing 
the impact of local investment on 
economic, social and environmental 
well-being (including circulating more 
of the ‘Doncaster pound’ around the 
local economy).

•   Develop, where beneficial, shorter, 
more resilient supply chains.

P
age 101



103102

Rotherham Rotherham’s economic ambition is to be 
an attractive, desirable place to live, at 
the forefront of the new manufacturing 
economy in the North, with high quality 
neighbourhoods connected to economic 
opportunities across the borough and 
the wider City Region. 

Rotherham is central within South 
Yorkshire and England. It has an 
abundance of green space, a growing 
leisure economy, a town centre 
poised for regeneration, a number of 
distinctive towns such as Maltby, and 
well-connected employment sites with 
industrial capability and expertise.

4.  Developing an intelligent, greener 
transport system and improving digital 
connectivity

The MCA will work with Team Doncaster 
to:  

•   Connect residents to employment 
opportunities and key growth sites, 
supported by efficient public transport 
and cycling and walking infrastructure.

•   Connect Doncaster to regional, 
national and international markets  
and supply chains.

•   Push for a train station at the DSA.   

•   Invest in decarbonizing transport 
infrastructure, vehicles and fuels 

•   Invest in integrated packages of 
infrastructure to unlock future 
economic growth and support local 
plans and strategies, including new 
housing provision. 

•   Further improve Doncaster’s digital 
infrastructure.

5.  Improving skills and supporting 
lifelong learning and creativity

Doncaster will work with a diverse set  
of partners to create a mixed - or ‘hybrid’ 
- education and skills system, with 
technical and vocational pathways that 
meet the needs of all residents, support 
a modern economy and widen access  
to high-quality employment. 

Based on collaboration with the SCR 
MCA and a number of local Further 
Education, Higher Education Institutions 
and specialist colleges for vocational 
skills pathways, we will will develop 
Centres of Excellence that link directly 
to Doncaster’s economic strengths,  
opportunities and challenges. Alongside 
this, Doncaster and the MCA will work 
to:

•   Ensure all children have the best start 
to learning

•   Accelerate educational achievement 

•   Extend opportunities to all

•   Improve access to arts, culture and 
creative opportunities 

6.  Purposeful, mission-orientated 
innovation to improve well-being. 

To support the delivery of its priorities,
Doncaster will take a mission-orientated 
approach to innovation that is focused 
on the big societal challenges and 
also supports businesses to grow and 
become more productive and resilient. 
Doncaster’s approach will be, inclusive, 
whole system, asset based, intelligence 
led and guided by the ‘Three Horizons’ 
approach. 

P
age 102



105104

led manufacturing network across SCR 
and be the industrial centre of the new 
manufacturing economy. SCR MCA 
will ensure that inclusive pathways 
and productivity growth are unlocked 
through the sharing of capital, the 
pooling of labour, and specialisation and 
matching of local supply chains.

SCR MCA will work with Rotherham 
to physically connect the new 
manufacturing economy to areas and 
communities to distribute the benefits 
and create new skills programmes and 
job opportunities. This will enable a 
full range of options for Rotherham 
communities to develop high-tech skills, 
find graduate placements, enlist in high 
quality apprenticeships, seek re-training 
and upgrade their skills. 

3.  Expanding the New Manufacturing 
Economy to Deliver Inclusive 
Regeneration Across the Borough

The expansion of new manufacturing 
opportunities is a model of collaboration 
between industry and the public sector 
that has underpinned Rotherham’s 
success in commercialising research and 
innovation in advanced manufacturing, 
engineering and materials. It will 
address future challenges in related 
industries such as low carbon energy, 
light-weighting and automation. 

SCR MCA will work with Rotherham 
to unlock several well-connected 
employment sites across the borough 
including Swinton, Wath and Manvers 
(as part of the wider Dearne Valley), 
Maltby, Hellaby, Thurcroft, Dinnington, 
Wales, and Woodhouse Mill.

SCR MCA will also work with Rotherham 
to scale-up AMID and expand its fluid 
geography. Waverley is the area that 
is most closely associated with AMID 
but the wider area, including parts of 

Sheffield, have the potential to become 
part of the AMID concept. SCR MCA 
will work with Rotherham and others, 
to promote a compelling and distinctive 
brand for new manufacturing, attract 
interest and establish credibility with 
global industry leaders. 

4.  Connecting the Town Centre to 
the Northern, Eastern and Southern 
Economic Corridors 

At a sub-regional level and a local level, 
there is a coherent case for smarter 
decision making around local transport 
connectivity. SCR MCA will work with 
Rotherham to unlock sustainable 
transport options across AMID, Waverley 
and the wider area to provide a step 
change in transport connectivity. 

SCR MCA will work with Rotherham to 
build a strategic business case for major 
infrastructure investment including 
transport connectivity within central 
Rotherham and its northern, eastern 
and southern economic corridors, to 
allow a broader range of communities 
and businesses to share the benefits of 
the new manufacturing economy. This 
includes developing business cases for:

•   A mainline station in Rotherham, 
which would significantly increase 
regional and national connectivity, 
as well as providing the opportunity 
to unleash the full potential of tram-
train by maximising frequencies and 
facilitating extensions;

•   Working with other South Yorkshire 
authorities to explore economically 
beneficial tram and tram train 
extensions; and

•   Transport connectivity for Rotherham’s 
rural areas and growing visitor 
economies in Rother Valley and 
Wentworth. 

Economic Role 

Building on historic strengths in steel 
and engineering, Rotherham has 
successfully modernised heritage 
industries and has a strong reputation 
in advanced manufacturing, engineering 
and materials. It has developed an 
innovation network concept that has 
international resonance, and AMID 
attracts industry leaders across 
the globe to collaborate on the 
commercialisation of research and 
development.

Rotherham’s recent economic growth 
has been supported by the incubation 
of ideas, skills and businesses, and 
delivered through four Council-operated 
business incubation centres, the UK’s 
High Value Manufacturing Catapult, 
the AMRC ‘Centre of Excellence’ for 
apprenticeships, incubation facilities 
at the Advanced Manufacturing Park 
Technology Centre, and innovative 
and enterprising programmes for new 
business ideas such as Y-Accelerator. 

AMID is based on the clustering and 
connectivity of economic assets such 
as world-class manufacturing brands 
McLaren and Rolls-Royce, and the UK’s 
Advanced Manufacturing Catapult. 
Therefore, although centred on the 
Don Valley corridor, it has inherently 
fluid geographic boundaries, and 
Rotherham’s regeneration ambition 
extends to a wider geography.

Partnership Working –  
Our Shared Priorities
 
Rotherham is well placed to build on 
the innovation, growth and enterprise 
activities outlined in this SEP. Building 
on the opportunity to develop the 
new manufacturing economy across 
the borough, Rotherham will create a 
unique asset for the city region; a place 
that draws-in and develops world class 
people, a place where world-leading 
companies come to explore new 
technologies and operating methods 
and where research and technology 
can be commercialised and delivered 
through the SCR and UK supply chains. 
SCR MCA will support Rotherham in 
delivering the following key priorities:

1.  High Quality housing and 
regeneration 

SCR MCA will work with Rotherham to 
deliver the vision for Rotherham Town 
Centre and overcome the challenges it 
is facing. This will involve shifting the 
focus from an outdated retail-focussed 
model to a more diverse and multi-
faceted offer, which provides modern 
and exciting places to live, work and 
visit, a welcoming, attractive and 
connected urban environment, and 
a vibrant cultural offering. Work on 
the Towns Fund will result in a Town 
Investment Plan being produced that will 
set out the borough’s key infrastructure 
and regeneration priorities for the next 
exciting phase of development for 
Rotherham Town Centre.

2.  Densification of Manufacturing
 
SCR MCA will work with Rotherham to 
establish the area as the centre of the 
new manufacturing economy in the 
North of England. SCR MCA will work 
with Rotherham to power an innovation-

P
age 103



107106

Sheffield
Sheffield’s vision is for a stronger, more 
inclusive and sustainable economy that 
improves people’s lives. By harnessing 
growth in a way that increases skills  
and business productivity, more people 
will be enabled to contribute to and 
benefit from a prosperous economy.  
To achieve this, more businesses need 
to start-up, grow and invest. Education, 
skills and training support also needs  
to be delivered to enable local people 
 to access fulfilling and rewarding jobs.

Sheffield’s unique economic and cultural 
assets need to become a stronger 
magnet to attract innovative and creative 
businesses and visitors. 

The importance of place will underpin 
Sheffield’s approach to the city’s 
economy: with both the city centre 
and AMID forming concentrations 
of economic activity and innovation 
communities. Sheffield’s reputation as 
the ‘Outdoor City‘ offers superior quality 
of life, combining outdoor adventure  
and city culture.

All this needs to be underpinned 
by a strong transport system and a 
good quality housing offer, whilst 
acknowledging the intrinsic links that 
the economy has with people’s health 
and the environment. The potential 
of Sheffield’s economy needs to be 
unlocked so that it plays its part in 
reducing the city’s health inequalities 
and carbon footprint.

SCR MCA will also develop Rotherham’s 
active travel infrastructure, taking into 
consideration its public health, and 
environmental plans. This will build on 
committed funding and will look at the 
next phase of investment required. 

5.  Harnessing and Improving the Green 
and Blue Infrastructure

Making best use of our green and blue 
Infrastructure is critical. SCR MCA will 
work with Rotherham to ensure rivers 
and green spaces are a significant asset 
both in Rotherham town centre and 
across the borough. In support of this, 
and in recognition of the devastating 
flooding events in 2019 across South 
Yorkshire, SCR and Rotherham will 
seek investment and action on Flood 
Alleviation Schemes.

Following Rotherham’s commitment 
to a climate emergency, SCR MCA will 
work with the Council on delivering its 
commitment and action plan. This will 
also align with SCR’s clean energy and 
net-zero carbon activities whilst also 
seeking to enhance local interventions.

6.  Enhance Skills Development and 
Broaden Opportunities for Residents

A key priority for Rotherham is growing 
local pride and ambition by ensuring 
that local communities benefit from 
regeneration and economic growth. 
Connecting communities with 
opportunities will distribute the benefits 
of economic growth more evenly.  
Going forward, SCR MCA will seek to 
leverage investment in the University 
Centre Rotherham and the AMRC 
Training Centre to help capture the full 
range of opportunities for local people. 

SCR MCA will work with Rotherham’s 
Employment and Skills Strategy, 
‘Extending Prosperity to All’ to maximise 
opportunities and invest in projects 
that respond to the needs of the local 
economy.

7.  Develop Inclusive Growth Through 
Strengthened Local Supply Chains

SCR MCA will help to champion social 
value and inclusive growth activities 
across South Yorkshire. SCR will work 
with Rotherham around key priorities 
such as wages, living standards and 
sustainability, and will focus on policies 
and interventions that strengthen the 
local supply chain. This will include 
building the capacity and sustainability 
of SMEs and local voluntary organisations 
and making a commitment to maximise 
local spend.

P
age 104



109108

SCR MCA will support Sheffield in 
utilising the universities’ research 
expertise, business potential and 
community energy to transition to a 
sustainable and low-carbon economy. 
SCR MCA will work with Sheffield to 
develop a successful and growing 
‘low carbon and clean energy’ sector; 
creating and providing jobs, services 
and products locally. 

4.  Recognising the importance of place 
Sheffield’s city centre is a distinct and 
strong economic growth area. It has a 
concentration of highly skilled sectors 
as well as valuable cultural assets and 
two world class universities. SCR MCA 
will work with Sheffield on the main 
priorities within the city centre:

•   Completion of Heart of the City 2 –  
A mixed use development delivering 
high quality retail, leisure, offices, 
residential space, restaurants and 
public realm.

•   The Sheaf Valley and Midland Station 
– HS2 and Northern Powerhouse will 
be the catalyst for this next major 
regeneration project in the city centre, 
maximising the opportunities created 
by improved connectivity to expand 
the city centre’s business districts and 
delivering accessibility and air quality 
improvements for the area.

•   Housing – Ambitions to significantly 
increase the number and choice of 
housing options in the city centre, 
including developments at Kelham 
Neepsend (with potential funding 
through the Housing Infrastructure 
Fund) and the Devonshire Quarter.

•   Development is also expected as part 
of the University campuses, West 
Bar, the Moor and Moorfoot and 
Castlegate.

AMID is one of Europe’s leading 
innovation-led, Advanced Manufacturing 
districts, where world-class 
manufacturers collaborate and co-locate 
alongside a concentration of skilled 
engineers, high-tech firms and applied 
research facilities. SCR MCA will work 
on priorities for the area such as: 

•   Growing the pipeline of world-class 
innovation, research and technology 
assets that attract inward investment 
and produce knowledge spill-overs in 
new emerging markets;

•   Creating a supportive environment for 
good ideas to lead to more business 
start-ups, with local SME’s benefitting 
from a networked environment that 
is connected to international markets, 
new solutions and supply chain 
opportunities;

•   Increasing the number of local 
residents securing fulfilling 
employment, or pursuing 
entrepreneurial pathways into 
advanced manufacturing occupations; 

•   Improving accessibility, particularly 
through public transport options and 
active travel;

•   Addressing congestion issues on the 
strategic highways network. Much 
of the Lower Don Valley’s ability 
to accommodate future growth of 
AMID depends on addressing traffic 
congestion and associated air quality 
issues in the area; and 

•   Opportunities for regeneration for 
employment land and developing a 
broader mix of sustainable housing 
and amenities with a direct and visible 
impact on the development of adjacent 
communities such as Attercliffe.

•   Outdoor city brand – SCR MCA will 
work with Sheffield to build upon 
the ‘Outdoor City‘ brand and offer 
a superior quality of life, combining 
outdoor adventure and city culture.

Economic Role 
 
As the only city in the Sheffield City 
Region, Sheffield is a major employment 
centre for the SCR economy, particularly 
for higher skilled jobs. Sheffield has a 
concentration of knowledge intensive 
businesses, especially in advanced 
manufacturing, creative and digital 
technology industries, healthcare 
technologies and business, professional 
and financial services. It also acts as a 
major transport hub for the City Region.

Partnership Working –  
Our Shared Priorities 

SCR MCA will work with Sheffield on the 
following key priorities:

1.  Creating an Inclusive Wellbeing 
Economy

SCR MCA will work with Sheffield 
to create an economy that works for 
everyone living and working in Sheffield; 
the aspiration being for all people to 
live well, realise their ambitions and 
contribute to the life of Sheffield and the 
wider City Region.
 
2.  Increasing ‘good’ jobs and boosting 
business growth

SCR MCA will work with Sheffield on 
their skills strategy and outline how 
progression routes can be developed 
to ensure that local residents are able 
to access a range of education and 
employment opportunities. Key to this 
is creating the aspirational jobs which 
are critical to address the productivity 
challenge and low wages across SCR.

3.  Supporting the growth of productive 
and competitive businesses 

Wages and business density in  
Sheffield compare unfavorably to 
other major cities. It is imperative that 
Sheffield residents earn more and 
that there is a stronger economy in 
Sheffield that creates new opportunities 
for people. SCR MCA will work with 
Sheffield to tackle low pay, create 
quality jobs and boost business growth, 
particularly amongst the SMEs that form 
the bedrock of the economy. 

P
age 105



110

5.  Consolidating Sheffield as a  
Magnet City

Sheffield is a destination city; a magnet 
for enterprise and talent, a hub of 
employment and curator of creativity 
and culture. As part of Sheffield’s 
Magnet City proposition, SCR MCA will 
work collaboratively on the magnet 
city principles (including assets 
strategy, the Outdoor City brand and 
physical renewal), to create a high-
performing, productive, high-quality city 
environment that provides opportunity 
for business, employment, residential 
and culture communities. 

6.  Transformed transport connectivity 
linking people to jobs and cities to each 
other

Sheffield’s vision for transport, as set 
out in its Transport Strategy, is ‘Reliable 
and clean journeys for everyone in 
a flourishing Sheffield’; where it is 
easier to get around the city, it is better 
connected, safer and more sustainable. 
SCR MCA will work with Sheffield to 
make sure that everyone across the City 
Region has access to highly-skilled job 
opportunities, skills and education and 
cultural assets in Sheffield. 

A well-functioning city transport system 
contributes to both economic growth 
and people’s quality of life. Sheffield is 
a physically large, and topographically 
diverse city. SCR MCA will work with 
Sheffield on targeted investment in new 
transport infrastructure to ensure that by 
2034, Sheffield’s transport system eases 
congestion, improves access across the 
city and facilitates rapid connection to 
other cities. SCR will specifically work 
with Sheffield on: 

•   Ensuring the transport system opens 
up the city’s economic opportunities 
for everyone; 

•   Becoming a leading low-carbon city, 
with a transport system that supports 
low emission travel and improvements 
in air quality; and  

•   Developing active travel infrastructure 
and programmes.

7.  Housing that provides quality, choice 
and affordability across the city

Sheffield is recognised as being a 
city with some of the highest quality 
neighbourhoods in the North of England. 
This is a major asset  and  means that 
wealth generated and earned in Sheffield 
often stays within the city. At the same 
time, there are areas that need more 
affordable housing. Improving housing 
stock quality and retrofitting are priorities 
across the whole city. SCR MCA will 
work with Sheffield to deliver a housing 
market that provides quality, choice and 
affordability across the city. This includes 
increasing the amount of housing, 
making sure all neighbourhoods are 
vibrant and sustainable and improving 
the quality of existing housing.

8.  Growing an environmentally 
sustainable, more resilient economy

Sheffield is working towards becoming  
a net-zero carbon city by 2030, is paying 
its full contribution to the Paris Climate 
Change agreements and responding
to the climate emergency. With rising 
fuel and energy prices, congestion and 
air quality issues, Sheffield needs to 
move onto a more sustainable footing 
to ensure that the city remains resilient 
to the effects of the climate emergency 
as it changes and grows. Sustainability 
will cut across everything that SCR MCA 
and all local authorities do. SCR MCA 
will work with Sheffield on the many 
challenges the city faces relating to 
the climate emergency such as energy 
resilience, flooding and transport.

111

P
age 106



Sheffield City Region

11 Broad Street West,  
Sheffield,  
United Kingdom 
S1 2BQ
+44 (0)114 2203400
economy@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk
Contact us on MS Teams  
sheffieldcityregion.org.uk

Publication Date: January 2021

Our new strategic economic plan will  
improve prosperity and create opportunity 
for all, while protecting our environment.

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Purpose of Report 
 
This paper seeks: 
 

1. Approval of one Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) scheme with a total value of £2m, and  
2. Delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the Section 73 

and Monitoring Officer to enter into legal agreements for the scheme covered at point 1 
above. 
  

Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme.  
 
Recommendations 
 
The MCA consider and approve:  

1. Progression of Project ‘Sheffield Heart of the City Breathing Spaces’ to full approval and 
award £2m grant from the Transforming Cities Fund to Sheffield City Council subject to the 
conditions set out in the Appraisal Panel Summary Table attached at Appendix A 

2. Delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the Section 73 
and Monitoring Officer to enter into a legal agreement for the scheme covered above. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1. 

 
Introduction 
 

 1.1 
 

In March 2020 the MCA was awarded £166.3m funding for the MCA’s TCF aspirations.   
This grant was allocated from April 2019 to March 2023 resourcing a programme of 
transformational public transport, active travel and rail initiatives. 
 

 1.2 
 

This paper requests progression of one scheme to full approval subject to any conditions 
to be set out in the Appraisal Panel Summary Table with a value of £2m. 

   
2. Proposal and justification  

 
 2.1 Sheffield Heart of the City Breathing Spaces Project - Appendix A provides a summary 

of the scheme appraisal and the suggested conditions of award 
 

 2.2 The Project - This investment is for a £2m grant from TCF towards a total scheme cost of 
£12m 
 
The scheme is to enhance the city centre by creating three new spaces including a pocket 
park, a vibrant small square on Carver Street and expansion of the Peace Gardens 
between the Town Hall and the proposed new hotel on Pinstone Street.  
 

25th January 2021 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME APPROVALS 

Page 109

Agenda Item 15



 

The new spaces adjoin developments in the £480m Heart of the City2 (HoC2) project 
which aims to increase attractiveness to occupiers and visitors 
 
Total costs are £12m with £2m TCF grant alongside Sheffield City Council investing £6m 
and a further £4m has been approved through the Getting Better Building Fund (GBF).  
 
The TCF proposal will provide a permanent solution on Rockingham Street to improve the 
reliability of public transport and provide safer routes to promote active travel but provide 
limited green infrastructure. This project will make walking and cycling more enjoyment 
attractive and help boost public transport use. The pocket park is adjacent to a proposed 
new bus mini-interchange on Rockingham Street and a recently installed cycle route 
into/out of the city centre to western suburbs.  
 
Works will improve accessibility around the town centre and address existing DDA 
compliance issues. 
 

 2.3          The Benefits and Outcomes  
 
Based on the assessment of the business case the scheme would provide low value for 
money. The value for money of the scheme is enhanced when considered alongside the 
wider Breathing Places scheme approved through GBF, overall representing Good value 
for money. 
 
The project aligns closely to SCRMCA SEP and Renewal Action Plan objectives and the 
scheme objectives are directly aligned to the need to respond to the impacts of COVID-
19. The project seeks to achieve four main objectives: 
 
• Recovery from Covid19 by providing safe outdoor spaces for play, events and leisure 
(footfall counts etc.) 
• Addressing climate change through investment in new green infrastructure, including 
cycling and pedestrian routes (space m2 and length of new routes; cycle counts) 
• Catalysing economic growth and investment with a high-quality environment and place 
making (measure investment £; floor space built/let; job numbers) 
• Place Making, attracting more people to live/work in the City Centre (residential units 
built and occupied; area m2 of adjoining plots sold for development) 
 
The business case describes the complementary nature of the office development, public 
realm investment and improvement to the transport network as part of a holistic approach 
to support regeneration in the city centre and increase footfall. 
 

 Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 Do nothing:  – The report proposes the projects presented today are recommended for 
approval subject to the conditions set out in the Appraisal Panel Summary Table. To be 
eligible for grant, expenditure will have to have been defrayed by 31 March 2023. 
 

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial 
The project presented for approval today are profiled to drawdown £2m from the TCF 
allocation of £166.3m.  
 

 4.2 Legal 
The legal implications of the projects have been fully considered by a representative of the 
Monitoring Officer and included in the recommendations agreed by the Appraisal Panel as 
presented in the supporting information.  
 

Page 110



 

 4.3 Risk Management 
Risk management is a key requirement for each of the submissions and is incorporated 
into the FBC submissions. Where weaknesses have been identified in the FBCs in terms 
of risk management, further work to capture and mitigate these risks is included as a 
condition of award in the appraisal panel summary sheets. Risks and Issues management 
is reported quarterly to the MCA Executive as part of contract monitoring.  
 
High risk TCF schemes will continue to be monitored and any changes will be reported 
back to the Transport and Environment Board and MCA.  
 

 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion 
Appropriate equality and diversity considerations are taken into account as part of the 
assessment of the project business case. 
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 The business case for the scheme presents opportunities for positive communications; 
officers from the MCA Executive Team will work with the relevant officers on joint 
communications activity at the appropriate. 
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  Appendix A: Sheffield Heart of the City Breathing Spaces Appraisal Panel Summary 
 

 
Report Author  Sue Sykes 

Post Assistant Director – Programme and Performance Unit 
Officer responsible Gareth Sutton 

Organisation Sheffield City Region 
Email Gareth.sutton@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 

Telephone 0114 220  
 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad 
Street West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 

 

Page 111

mailto:Gareth.sutton@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

Appraisal Panel Summary 

Scheme Details 

Project Name Sheffield Heart of the City Breathing Spaces 

Grant Recipient Sheffield City Council 

SCR Executive 
Board 

Transport and 
Environment 

MCA Funding £2m (This approval from TCF) 
£4m (already approved from GBF) 
£6m (Total)  

% SCR Allocation 50% (of the total 
MCA funding) 

Total Scheme Cost £ 12,000,000 

 

Appraisal Summary 

Project Description 

 
Since 2010, Sheffield City Centre Breathing Spaces Strategy has created award winning open spaces 
using S106 to match ERDF, Environment Agency and SCR funding. These spaces enrich the wellbeing 
of residents/ visitors, attracting investment, improve air quality, bio-diversity and reduce flood risk. This 
project will enhance the Rockingham Street element of the City Centre TCF proposals and approved 
SCC capital funding within the Heart of the City budget. The project stands alone from the wider TCF 
scheme in the City Centre. This scheme is closely linked to the Heart of the City Breathing Spaces GBF 
scheme which was approved by the MCA in November 2020. 
 
Across the overall Breathing Spaces project, up to three new spaces will be created: a landscaped 
pocket park on Block G including a cycle hub; a vibrant small square on Carver Street with seating 
terraces for adjoining cafes and civic space and expanding the Peace Gardens between the Town Hall 
and proposed Radisson Blu hotel on Pinstone Street. The Pinstone Street element will be primarily 
delivered through the TCF City centre scheme, and as such, will be subject to a separate TCF business 
case.   
 
The transformation/renewal of Sheffield City Centre has been underpinned by high quality new public 
spaces and connectivity between them. This has driven demand for commercial and residential 
development, attracted new businesses and is a key element of Sheffield's distinctiveness. The new 
spaces adjoin developments within the £480m HOC2 project and will increase attractiveness to 
occupiers and visitors.  
 
The TCF proposal will provide a permanent solution on Rockingham Street to improve the reliability of 
public transport and provide safer routes to promote active travel but provide limited green infrastructure. 
This project will make walking and cycling more enjoyment attractive and help boost public transport use. 
The pocket park is adjacent to a proposed new bus mini-interchange on Rockingham Street and a 
recently installed cycle route into/out of the city centre to western suburbs.  
 
Immediately adjoining the new square on Carver Street the Council will simultaneously be developing a 
striking new 71,421sqft office building. The building is being designed to exemplary environmental 
standards. 
 
The new pocket park on Site G is part of a larger site which will be marketed by the Council for delivery 
by the private sector. In addition to creating a new space for city centre residents, workers and visitors to 
rest and relax the works will provide an attractive setting for the future development as well as well as 
providing connectivity across the site and subdividing the plots. The new park replaces a previous 
proposal to build a multi-storey car park on the site and is a direct response by the Council to both the 
Climate Emergency and the need to build back better from Covid19. 
 
The site is currently a surface car park having previously been the headquarters and central station of 
South Yorkshire Fire Brigade prior to its demolition. The site of the new park therefore needs to be 
reclaimed and reshaped to provide fully accessible open space and routes through. The funds will also 
cover landscaping and, depending on budget costs, new splash and play facilities to attract families to 
use the park and relieve some pressure on overcrowding of the fountains in the Peace Gardens. 

Page 113



 

Adjoining the new park on Block G is this TCF proposal on Rockingham St to provide new bus stops, 
new public realm and restrict private vehicles as a permanent solution to improve reliability of bus 
movements. These works require a strip of Block G to be taken and so it is proposed to seek approval of 
£2m TCF funding and deliver the works in a single project as this will ensure more seamless delivery of 
both elements.  
 

Strategic Case 

 
The applicant sets out a clear strategic rationale, linking the direct contributions that will be made to the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and national Plan for Growth, government aims to 
Rebalance the Economy1 and reinvigorate high streets, the SCR Transport Strategy, the SCC Breathing 
Spaces Strategy, SCC Local Plan and wider plans for development of Sheffield City Centre, tackling the 
climate emergency and requirement for reductions in carbon emissions. 
 
The project aligns closely to SCRMCA SEP and Renewal Action Plan objectives and the scheme 
objectives are directly aligned to the need to respond to the impacts of COVID-19. The project seeks to 
achieve four main objectives: 
 

• Recovery from Covid19 by providing safe outdoor spaces for play, events and leisure (footfall 
counts etc.) 

• Addressing climate change through investment in new green infrastructure, including cycling 
and pedestrian routes (space m2 and length of new routes; cycle counts) 

• Catalysing economic growth and investment with a high-quality environment and place 
making (measure investment £; floor space built/let; job numbers) 

• Place Making, attracting more people to live/work in the City Centre (residential units built and 
occupied; area m2 of adjoining plots sold for development) 

 
The business case describes the complementary nature of the office development, public realm 
investment and improvement to the transport network as part of a holistic approach to support 
regeneration in the city centre and increase footfall. 
 

Value for Money 
 

When initially presented to the MCA Executive only the user benefits of improved public transport 
journeys were included in the assessment of the benefits. This was due to the Rockingham Street 
scheme coming forward ahead of the wider TCF Cross City Bus scheme. The initial business case 
presented a transport related BCR of 2.7. However, the modelling and appraisal which had been 
undertaken for the SOBC was not sufficient to support a decision. The benefit for the Rockingham Street 
scheme had not been apportioned out nor had there been an estimate of the disbenefits to pedestrians 
as a result of the change to the location of bus stops. These gaps meant that the benefits would be 
inflated along with the associated BCR. 
 
By applying the apportionment of the Public Transport benefits with the disbenefits to pedestrians the 
BCR for the scheme falls from 2.7 to 1.3. Compared to the initial approach adopted by the promoter, this 
assessment now provides a clearer indication of the impact of the scheme on existing users. 
 
Based on the assessment of the business case the scheme would provide Low value for money. The 
value for money of the scheme is enhanced when consider alongside the wider Breathing Places 
scheme approved through GBF, overall representing Good value for money. 
 

Risk 

 
The risks for overall Breathing Spaces project, which includes GBF, TCF and SCC funding, are relevant 
to this business case. There is however greater emphasis on the transport related outcomes and costs 
for the specific intervention on Rockingham Street. The key risks to the project in terms of the economic 
case are: 
 

                                                           
1 BIS (2016). ‘Rebalancing the Economy’  

Page 114



 User benefits from public transport and active modes are not realised as the number of people 
traveling to the city centre by these modes are reduced as a result of COVID-19 

 That active mode and public transport routes/services facilitated through the scheme do not link 
with the wider transport network and that residents do not engage in mode shift. This appears to 
be mitigated through the scheme design, which join important pedestrian, cycling and public 
transport routes. 

 Cost overruns: SCC has committed to funding any cost overrun and so the risk to the SCRMCA 
are minimised. 

 
The promoter also identifies that COVID-19 has brought a new degree of risk to secure a contractor to 
undertake the works. The business case highlights that SCC are engaging with several major contractors 
to reduce this risk and secure a provider. 
 
There will be some disruption to city centre transport routes, along Rockingham and Carver Street, while 
the project is delivered. As stated above this is seen as necessary to deliver the benefits associated with 
the scheme. The applicant has listed mitigating actions under the Management Dimension, highlighting 
“good quality stakeholder engagement with highways department and neighbours to properly plan and 
communicate work”. 
 

Delivery 
 

With this part of the TCF scheme separated from the wider TCF City Centre Project there is clarity on the 
deliverability of this investment. The milestones to achieve planning and Traffic Regulation Orders can 
be achieved in tandem with the wider GBF investment to deliver a coherent scheme. The timescales and 
milestones are clear and reasonable for the scale of works to be undertaken. The promoter does 
however need to update these dates to reflect the time for decision making and confirm the final 
programme once the contractor is appointed. This final programme would be captured in the contract for 
the scheme. 
 
The Governance, control and management of the project is clearly described as part of the wider Heart 
of the City Programme. The arrangement is already established, and key individuals are named. This 
existing structure and governance provide confidence that the scheme will be effectively managed as 
part of a package of works in this part of the city. 
 
The benefit of delivering the TCF and GBF schemes as one programme of works is also acknowledged. 
This join-up approach will be more efficient and be less disruptive for people and businesses in this part 
of the city. 
 

Legal 

The proposed scheme will invest in public goods on publicly owned land. Although it will complement 
wider Heart of the City 2 commercial developments, it will not support them directly. As such the scheme 
is in line with State aid requirements. 

 

Recommendation and Conditions 

Recommendation Progress to Full Business Case subject to conditions 

Payment Basis Payment on defrayal 

Conditions of Award (including clawback clauses) 

The following conditions must be satisfied before contract execution. 

Following the procurement of a contractor, SCC to confirm the final tender price is in line with the FBC 
Financial Case. 

The following conditions must be satisfied before drawdown of funding. 

 

The following conditions must be included in the contract 

SCC to work with the MCA to ensure suitable Monitoring and Evaluation is undertaken 

Page 115



 

Record of Recommendation, Endorsement and Approval  

Heart of the City Breathing Spaces  

Appraisal Panel Recommendation Board Endorsement MCA Approval 

Date of Meeting 
 

Date of Meeting 
 

Date of Meeting 
 

Head of Paid Service 
or Delegate 

Ruth Adams 

Deputy CEX 

Endorsing Officer 
(Board Chair) 

 
Approving Officer 
(Chair) 

 

Signature 

 

 

 
Signature 

 
Signature 

 

 

 

Date 
 

Date 
 

Date 
 

S73 Officer or 
Delegate 

Simon Tompkins 

Finance Manager 

Statutory Finance Officer Approval 

 

Name: 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

Signature 

 

 

Date  

Monitoring Officer or 
Delegate 

Steve Davenport 

SCR CA Solicitor 

Signature 

 

 

Date  

P
age 116



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
 1.1 In July 2020, Government formally launched its Comprehensive Spending Review, to set 

out its set out it’s spending plans for the parliament. A submission was made jointly by the 
MCA and Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to inform this process that set out their 
priorities for South Yorkshire. Building on it’s Renewal Action Plan, this sought to make the 
case to secure the funds needed to create a stronger, greener and fairer economy through 
their response to the pandemic.    
 

 1.2 On the 25th November the Chancellor delivered the Spending Review. Given the 
unprecedented impact of the pandemic on public finances, this became a single year focus 
that included some longer-term infrastructure commitments, with the comprehensive 
review instead taking place in 2021. This paper summarises some of the polices from 
within the SR, as they relate to the MCA and seeks to consider potential implications for 
the Authority for discussion.   
 

2. Proposal and justification  
 

 2.1 As anticipated the SR was dominated by the themes of protecting lives and livelihoods in 
response to the magnitude of the challenges posed by COVID to the nation’s physical, 

Purpose of Report 

To summarise the announcements within the Government’s Spending Review as it relates to the 
agenda of the Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) and consider the potential implications.  

 
Thematic Priority 
 
Cross cutting  
 
Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme 

 
Recommendations 
 
For members to consider the issues arising from the Spending Review as they relate to the MCA and 
as set out paragraph 2.4.   
 
For members to note the letter sent from the Mayor to the Chancellor regarding the March Budget 
(paragraph 2.5).   
 

25th January 2021 
 

The Implications of the Spending Review for the MCA  

Page 117

Agenda Item 16



 

economic and fiscal health and wellbeing. The main announcements made in the Review 
were: 

• A further £55bn for Covid-19 support to suppress the virus and support jobs and 
business;  

• £100bn of capital investment for next year, targeted at “high-value, jobs-rich projects”;  

• A new £4bn "levelling up" fund for upgrading local infrastructure, with £600m available 
in 2021/22;  

• A commitment of £1.5bn per year for the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF), with a 
£220m pilot for 2020-21; and 

• £2.9bn for a three-year Restart programme to help unemployed people find jobs. 
 

 2.2 Key opportunities to secure additional funding for the MCA include: 

• The £4bn Levelling up Fund (LUF): targeted at discrete projects of up to £20m 
(although not an absolute top-limit), there will be £600m available in 2021/22. The SR 
indicates that the types of projects that will include upgrades to local infrastructure but 
also arts and culture. All local areas in England will be eligible to apply with bids 
prioritised on the basis of driving growth and regeneration in places in need and in 
areas that have received less government investment in recent years. The Prospectus 
setting out the detail for how the Fund will operate will be published early in 2021.  
 

• UK SPF: The UKSPF will at least match receipts from EU structural funds, on average 
reaching around £1.5 billion per year. There will be a £220m UKSPF pilot for 2021-22 
of predominantly revenue funding, which will sit alongside the region’s existing 
allocation from the region’s European Structural Investment Fund allocation. The 
prospectus for the SPF pilot is expected to be launched in early 2021 alongside the 
LUF Prospectus, whilst the prospectus for the wider SPF is due to be published in the 
spring.  

 

• Restart Programme: The three-year £2.9 billion Restart Programme is to help people 
unemployed for 12+ months to find work. It is expected that 2.6m will be unemployed 
when the scheme starts. 

 

• R&D: £15bn investment in Research and Development in 2021/22 to boost research, 
international competitiveness and support innovation. 

 

• Capital investment: there will be £100 billion of capital spending in 2021-22 with 
funding targeted at “high-value, jobs-rich projects”. It was also announced a new 
Infrastructure Bank will be created with its headquarters in the north to catalyse 
private investment in infrastructure projects across the UK.  

 

• National Infrastructure Strategy: The National Infrastructure Strategy set our more 
detail on the schemes to be delivered across the country, including investing:  

• £4.2bn in intra-city transport settlements starting from 2022/23 (as announced 
at Budget), with £50 million of resource funding provided in 2021-22 to support 
eight MCAs with preparations for these settlements; 

• £1.3 billion in charging infrastructure to accelerate the mass adoption of electric 
vehicles;  

• Funding to plant 30,000 hectares of trees a year in the UK;  

• £5.2 bn by 2027 to better protect 336,000 properties and boost flood risk 
resilience; and 

• £58bn for roads and rail: including £1.125bn for local roads maintenance funding 
in 2021-22, with £500m for the Potholes Fund to fix potholes and resurface roads 
and £260m in 2021-22 for shovel ready local transport schemes through the 
Integrated Transport Block. This also included development and feasibility work on 

Page 118



 

the A1 from Doncaster to Darrington and the Barrow Hill line between Sheffield and 
Chesterfield.  
 

• A refreshed Green Book: to ensure that project appraisals properly analyse how 
proposals deliver the government’s key priorities, including levelling up, and how they 
will impact different places, to move beyond the dominance of benefit-to-cost ratios. 

 
 2.3 So what does this this mean for the MCA in terms of the opportunities and challenges 

before it:  
 

• Significant questions remain regarding levelling up: whilst the LUF has been 
announced as the successor to the Local Growth Fund (LGF), in 21/22 it will only 
contain only 40% of the average amount of funding available per annum of the six year 
programme. The criteria by which government makes its decisions to allocate this fund 
(using its revised Green Book) are expected to be set out within its Prospectus and the 
Authority and Councils will need to bid to secure an allocation from it and the 
UKSPF. The outcome of this competition will also be an early test of the impact of the 
refreshed Green Book on the decision-making process. 
 

• With the exception of the £50m preparatory intra-city transport settlement, the SR 
gave no new additional funds directly to either MCAs or LEPs, even to replace 
funds like LGF that come to an end this financial year.  
 

• But given existing allocations, including the Transforming Cities Fund, Get Building 
Fund, Brownfield Fund, the MCA will have more funds at its disposal in 2021/22 
than received before. 

 

• But the money awarded to the Authority is for defined purposes, targeted at a particular 
issue, which does not provide the same level of flexibility to respond to 
opportunities as the LEP has had in recent years, with control remaining with central 
government (apart from devolution funds). 

 

• That whilst there is funding being made available for infrastructure projects and the 
skills and employment agenda, there is a potential gap on funding for business 
investment. This is a significant issue for the MCA and LEP in delivering the employer 
strand of its Renewal Action Plan and more broadly in providing demand side support 
to boost job creation.     

 
 2.4 Issues for consideration by the MCA in progressing its priorities:  

• Being ‘bid’ ready: with the bidding window expected to open in the New Year for 
allocations from the LUF and UKSPF for 21/22, as well as other funding streams 
including the flood innovation fund, Members should begin to consider which schemes 
it may wish to bring forward in response to these opportunities.  
 

• Best deployment of gainshare to deliver its priorities: the funding landscape within 
which the MCA is operating raises questions for Members in relation to how they use 
the gainshare funding at its disposal. For example, if they wish to use it to fill gaps in 
the landscape or to use it as match to unlock more funds from Government.   
  

• Making the case for further devolution: through the SR there was a significant trend 
to greater national control of funding. When combined with the delayed publication of 
the White Paper, there may be a need to make a renewed case for devolution.  
 

• Delivery is key: having a strong track record whereby the MCA has delivered spend 
on time and on budget, unlocking the agreed outcomes will continue to be important. 
Particularly if it is to secure further funding. The MCA will also need to review its own 

Page 119



 

Assurance Framework, in light of the changes made to the refreshed Green Book 
(considered at Item 21).  
 

• Securing our five-year transport allocation: the allocation of resource funding in 
advance of the intra-city transport settlements is indicative of the scale of work 
Government envisages will be undertaken. To note if this is allocated on a per capita 
basis this would equate to c£5m of revenue funding in 21/22 and between £400-£440m 
from the five-year allocation.  
  

 2.5 Government has indicated that its next Budget will be announced on the 3rd March and set 
out a deadline of the 14th January for representations from stakeholders on this event. 
Given the issues considered in this paper and the short timescales for submissions, a 
letter was sent from the Mayor to the Chancellor regarding priorities for this event (see 
Annex A). This was entirely focused on recovery from the COVID pandemic and securing 
the funding to implement the Region’s Renewal Action Plan, in advance of the 2021 
Comprehensive Spending Review.   
 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 Not applicable – this paper is for information and discussion only.  
 

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial 
As discussed in section 2 of this paper.  
 

 4.2 Legal 
Not applicable – for information only.   
 

 4.3 Risk Management 
Having adequate funding in place so that the MCA can continue to deliver upon its role 
and responsibilities, is of critical importance to the Authority. This is particularly important 
given the scale of the economic and fiscal challenges nationally and in South Yorkshire 
and the need to realise the ambitions of the region’s Renewal Action Plan.  
 
With the end of the six-year LGF in March 2021, the MCA and LEP are experiencing a shift 
in their sources of funding. With less flexibility in the new funding sources, timely delivery 
of the programme will be even more important for the Authority, both from the outputs and 
outcomes it delivers for people businesses and communities and to support the case for 
further funds.  
 

 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  
In developing any subsequent submissions to secure additional funding from government 
the Authority should consider how it could reduce inequalities in South Yorkshire, as set 
out in the refreshed Strategic Economic Plan and Renewal Action Plan.   
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 The MCA should continue to make the case to unlock the funds it needs to deliver its 
Renewal Action Plan.  
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  Annex A – letter to the Chancellor   
 

Report Author  Fiona Boden  
Post  

Page 120



 

Officer responsible Stephen Batey 
Organisation MCA Executive 

Email Stephen.batey@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 
Telephone  

 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad Street 
West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
 
Other sources and references: 
 

 
 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Sheffield City Region Mayoral Combined Authority 

11 Broad Street West  
Sheffield, S1 2BQ 

 
14 January 2021 

 
The Rt Hon Rishi Sunak MP 
Chancellor of the Exchequer  
HM Treasury  
1 Horse Guards Road  
London  
SW1A 2HQ 
 
Dear Rishi, 
 
A Budget to deliver a New Deal for the North and a stronger, greener and fairer South Yorkshire 
 
The North has been hit hard by COVID and the pandemic has exposed the underlying challenges 
we face. The herculean Team South Yorkshire effort in the battle against the virus has been 
immense and an inspiration and whilst there will be extraordinarily difficult weeks and months 
ahead, an end is now in sight. Following the successful roll out of the vaccination programme, we 
hope we can start to ease restrictions in the Spring and begin to reopen our economy. 
 
Your Budget Statement is a critical and timely opportunity to kick-start the process of not just 
recovery, but renewal. After a year like no other, it must provide much needed certainty and 
support for businesses and the urgency of this task cannot be understated. The Spending Review 
provided some welcome support for skills and infrastructure, but there was little detail about 
funding allocations and the role of Mayors in delivery, nor any direct support to unlock inward 
investment in our regions that will create jobs and unlock productivity and prosperity.  
 
Your Budget must go much further. In short, it must provide a New Deal for the North. In South 
Yorkshire, we have a plan to unleash our potential and play our part. It is based on greater 
investment and devolution to deliver the jobs, skills and infrastructure which will create a 
stronger, greener and fairer future for people, places and businesses across South Yorkshire. Our 
ambitious and shovel-ready Renewal Action Plan (RAP) was specifically developed for this 
purpose, after Government commissioned Metro Mayors to lead this agenda.  
 
Unlocking the investment and powers to deliver our RAP will support 55,000 people into work or 
training, help 25,000 businesses to adapt and innovate, and also accelerate key strategic 
objectives like decarbonisation to transform our places. Whilst our track record of creating 
16,100 jobs (rising to 64,000 eventually) and 2,200 apprenticeships; assisting 6,700 learners; 
leveraging £319m of investment and supporting 24,000 companies so far, proves we can be 

Page 123



 
 

trusted to deliver. The Combined Authority is also investing nearly £50m of our own funds to 
begin the delivery of its RAP.  
 
Last September the Combined Authority and I made representations you regarding the 
Comprehensive Spending Review (appended to this letter), founded on our RAP and which was 
aligned with the submission from our anchor institutions. These priorities remain unchanged.  I 
set out below the key interventions I would like to see in the Budget, in advance of the 
Comprehensive Spending Review (2021), which will kickstart this journey - helping unlock 
prosperity for South Yorkshire and the North: 
 
A Stronger South Yorkshire  
 

1. A business stimulus to stave off mass unemployment after furlough concludes, to reboot our 
economy: ‘getting ready to go’ grants are needed to ensure targeted comprehensive support 
is available for entrepreneurs, job creators and innovators to jumpstart the economy. . This 
will support the entire economy but particularly targeted at the hospitality and leisure sectors 
and their supply chain. These have borne the brunt of this crisis. They typically make 40% of 
annual trade between Halloween and New Year, and thus face decimation if investment is 
not forthcoming. In South Yorkshire, these issues are considerable given the area has been 
subject to the highest restrictions since late October.  
 

2. Creating 6,000 highly skilled, innovative jobs in South Yorkshire, providing a post Brexit and 
COVID economic boost: by unlocking our shovel ready, investment pipeline comprising 35 
projects that would lever in £600m of private sector investment (see appendix B). Building on 
the success of the current programme that has secured investments from Boeing, McLaren 
and Curvalux, the companies in the pipeline enhance existing innovation strengths in sectors 
such as Clean Energy, Creative, Advanced Manufacturing, and Scientific Research. Investment 
would return quality jobs to the region: 80% of jobs are at a high level with 30% at Skills Level 
5+, 30% at Level 4, and 40% at Level 3. Whilst there is a £110m funding gap to secure this 
investment, it also equates to a cost per job of £18,300, which is at the top end of good, 
according to Government guidelines.  

 

A Fairer South Yorkshire  
 

3. Investing in apprenticeships and other training to drive up skills levels: with unemployment 
rising and forecasts illustrating that get much worse, there is a need to support people to 
develop their skills and access new opportunities. More funds are needed to ensure better 
support for people who need to acquire new skills so they can change or move up in their 
careers. Government should provide additional devolved funding to support this aim to 
complement support announced for younger people. I would welcome the opportunity to 
work with Government to establish Kickstart South Yorkshire 25+, which we are already 
committing £4.4m of Combined Authority funding towards. I want to continue to raise the 
profile of apprenticeships across South Yorkshire and would ask Government to consider 
extending flexibility for our Authority to manage pooled levy transfer funding so that it can be 
allocated to SMEs in supply chains supporting our priority sectors. 
 

4. Reducing inequalities in the here and now and the future: by providing additional top up 
funding to councils to support those who need to self-isolate, increasing local discretion and 

Page 124



 
 

eligibility criteria for those who can assess the scheme, so that more people are enabled to 
make the right decision. Government should also launch its competition for the eight 
remaining new hospitals to be built and back our proposal for a new central hospital in 
Doncaster. The much-needed new hospital will provide 21st century healthcare, adopting the 
latest in integrated care models with a digitally advanced, environmentally friendly and state 
of the art clinical environment. Not to mention how this will complement our strengths in 
health prevention and wellness.  
 

5. Delivering tangible deeds and not just words by taking bold action to level up: by allocating 
substantial Levelling Up and Shared Prosperity Funds to those places and communities that 
need it the most, as quickly as possible. The Prospecti for these funds should provide 
flexibility so that they can be deployed to meet local circumstances including funding 
innovation and business investment. With the predecessor funds to these arrangements due 
to end shortly, there is an urgent need for allocations to be determined and multi-year 
settlements should be provided to bring forward a pipeline of ambitious schemes and provide 
certainty. In addition, given its central location and multi-modal connectivity, South Yorkshire 
would be a great base for a civil service hub, given Government’s intentions to relocate staff 
from Westminster, creating more opportunities outside London.  

 
A Greener South Yorkshire  

 

6. Protecting our flood ravaged communities: Following the devasting 2019 floods in South 
Yorkshire, action, and not just words, is needed to better protect people, communities and 
businesses from the risks of further floods. The Priority Programme of 27 schemes that the 
MCA developed and presented to Government nearly a year ago would protect over 10,300 
homes and 2,800 businesses. Given you announced last March that the national budget for 
such investment had doubled, commitment is urgently needed to make this programme a 
reality. For example, the provision of an £36m from Government, when combined with 
confirmation of the indicative Grant in Aid and Medium Term Plan allocations, would bring 
forward nine schemes, enabling work to start on £66.2m of our priority programme before 
the end of 2022. 
 

7. Keeping South Yorkshire moving sustainably: with demand so severely impacted on bus, tram 
and tram-train services, revenue support will continue to be needed from Government to 
sustain an appropriate service level that keeps our key workers, people and daily life moving. 
There is an urgent need for clarity on tram funding beyond March, and commitments on 
transitioning to post-pandemic demand. The continuation of the Sustainable Transport 
Access Funding, which provides vital revenue for active travel activity, is critical.  Government 
must also commit to delivering in full, HS2, with the eastern leg constructed to the same 
timetable as that of the western and the Northern Powerhouse Rail Programme.  

 
Finally, and to echo sentiments I have shared with you previously, it’s not just about the amount 
of money that is being made available, but also having the flexibilty locally to deploy this as 
needed amidst rapidly changing circumstances. The ability to convert our capital gainshare funds 
to revenue for the next 18 months would enable our Authority to deliver on more of our 
ambitions to create more jobs and training opportunities without the need for further 
Government resources, as would agreeing to widen our borrowing powers. Empowering directly 
elected Mayors to deliver, by bringing more decisions closer to the people they effect, is a critical 
part of the levelling up agenda.     

Page 125



 
 

 
Getting businesses back-up and running, when safe to do so, will be key to protecting jobs. As will 
investing to create more employment and training opportunities. But we need a clear plan and 
route map for economic renewal and greater prosperity, which your Budget must provide.  
 
Ultimately and throughout the pandemic we have both wanted to achieve the same goal of 
protecting lives and livelihoods. For South Yorkshire and the country to prosper a 
transformational level of investment and a collective effort to deliver will be needed. I look 
forward to working with you to achieve this.  
 
With my best wishes,  
 

 
 
Dan Jarvis MBE MP 
Mayor, Sheffield City Region Mayoral Combined Authority 
 
Copied to: Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP, Secretary of State Housing, Communities and Local 

Government  
Rt Hon Grant Shapps MP, Secretary of State for Transport  
Kemi Badenoch MP, Exchequer Secretary to the Treasury   
South Yorkshire Leaders 
South Yorkshire MPs 

 
Appendix A:  Comprehensive Spending Review Submission  
 
Appendix B :  Investor Pipeline  

Page 126



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
 1.1 In common with other public bodies and local partners, the MCA Group is required to set a 

balanced budget every financial year. This budget must be approved by Members ahead 
of the new year and be supported by a medium-term financial strategy that takes account 
of forecast future expenditure, funding flows, and the requirements for use of reserves. 
 

 1.2 In support of this, the MCA is mid-way through a Group wide integrated business planning 
process. This process seeks to derive resource requirements to deliver upon the 
aspirations set by the Member priorities and foundational strategies such as the Strategic 
Economic Plan and the Renewal Action Plan. The business plan in turn drives the budget 
by ensuring that financial resource is directed to business priorities. 
 

 1.3 In undertaking this activity at the Group level the MCA is better able to begin coordinating 
and aligning its Group wide financial and human resource to Group wide priorities. This 
supports a degree of business integration ahead of the formal integration process. 
 

 1.4 To-date, activity has been focussed on designing service business plans that can 
operationalise the broader MCA Corporate Plan. This work is complemented by the 

Purpose of Report 
 
This report provides an update on the progress towards the finalisation of an integrated MCA Business 
Plan and Budget for the forthcoming financial year. Following engagement with Members, this report 
further seeks approval for the South Yorkshire Transport Levy and the proposal to not set a Mayoral 
Precept. 
 
Thematic Priority 
 
All. 
 
Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme. 

 
Recommendations 
 

1. Approve the South Yorkshire Transport Levy for financial year 2021/22; 
2. Approve the proposal to not set a Mayoral Precept for financial year 2021/22; 
3. Note the proposal to freeze local authority subscriptions for financial year 2021/22; 
4. Note the forecast scale of consolidated Group spending power in the forthcoming year; and, 
5. Note the intention to bring the final Group revenue budget and capital programme for approval 

to the MCA’s March meeting. 
 

25th JANUARY 2021 
 

BUDGET AND BUSINESS PLAN DEVELOPMENT 

Page 127

Agenda Item 17



 

forecasting and identification of the financial resource that will be available to the MCA 
Group to deliver those plans.   

   
 1.5 Initial work highlights a number of issues that will shape financial planning for the 

forthcoming year and beyond: 
1. Concern around the commercial sustainability of the South Yorkshire transport 

network remains, with little certainty on both future demand for services and 
government’s approach to financial support; 

2. The forecast future spending power for the MCA Group in the new financial year is 
considerably in excess of previous years enabling significant investment; 

3. The majority of existing funding is ringfenced to specific activity whilst the Spending 
Review further highlights a potential retrenchment of government funding streams 
to silos of activity, and a move away from the devolved flexibility enjoyed by the 
MCA through the Local Growth Fund (LGF) programme; 

4. Sustaining levels of investment over the medium and long-term will be challenging 
as time-limited funding streams fall away; and, 

5. Medium to long-term risk around the operation of the Supertram system needs to 
be considered and addressed in the coming year. 

   
 1.6 Taken together, these issues highlight both the significant opportunities new funding 

creates, but also the uncertainty across the full spectrum of the MCA’s operations and the 
broad scale and scope of challenges. 

   
 1.7 Transitioning from a heavily-subsidised model to a sustainable transport system 

represents the most immediate and pressing issue. Whilst there are some indications on 
how Government will support this transition on a national level there is, at this stage, little 
certainty. The MCA’s ability to effectively manage a transition without major Governmental 
support is constrained by both legislative and fiscal restrictions. 

   
 1.8 At c. £385m, the scale of resource at the MCA’s disposal in the new financial year is 

considerable and will support significant investment in local priorities, and in some 
instances give the MCA more say on how resource is used. However, much of this 
resource is time-limited, and most is ringfenced to discrete activity. Deploying this resource 
in an efficient and effective manner will be a challenge on already stressed systems. 

   
 1.9 Ongoing reliance on ringfenced grants further presents a number of sustainability 

challenges. Most pressingly, initial work highlights the paucity of future grant funding for 
Business Growth aspirations which risks stalling the significant momentum achieved from 
the deployment of LGF resource.  

   
 1.10 Finally, funding the activity of the MCA Executive in a sustainable manner will remain 

problematic whilst so ever there remains a heavy reliance on time-limited grant streams. 
The likelihood of funding cliff-edges may impede longer-term planning and efficient 
resourcing. 
 

 1.11 These challenges can, however, be considered alongside the significant flexibility afforded 
to the MCA from its annual gainshare funding allocations. This budget setting process 
reflects the first year in which gainshare resource can be factored into financial planning, 
and how the capital and revenue allocations are deployed beyond the next financial year 
will help shape the MCA’s response to other funding challenges. 

   
 1.12 Accordingly, in recognition of the significant risks around the funding of the transport 

network and following discussions at the MCA’s November meeting and separate 1-1 
briefing sessions, this report recommends that Members approve the setting of the South 
Yorkshire transport levy at existing 2020/21 levels. Maintaining the levy at £54.36m will 
support current investment levels and support mitigation of risk. Detailed revenue and 

Page 128



 

capital forecasts for this activity are provided in the appendices to support consideration of 
this proposal. 

   
 1.13 Similarly, the report notes the current proposal to freeze other local contributions via 

transport hub and LEP subscriptions at current levels. 
   
 1.14 The report further seeks approval for the proposal to not set a Mayoral precept for the new 

financial year, with the costs of the Mayoral office being met from Mayoral Capacity Fund 
grant. 

   
 1.15 The business planning process will continue to develop delivery plans and be adjusted as 

better information is received around funding for the new year. The final Group revenue 
budgets, capital programmes, and reserve strategies will be presented to Members for 
approval at the MCA’s March meeting.  

   
2. Proposal and justification  

 
 2.1 This section of the report briefly outlines progress in the development of the segmental 

parts of the MCA Group’s business planning and budgets. This summary reporting is 
supported by detailed appendices. 

   
  MCA Group Spending Power 
 2.2 Spending power reflects the cumulative resource at the disposal of the MCA across the 

whole Group. It consists of both revenue and capital resource and provides an indicator of 
the level of investment possible. 

   
 2.3 Some of the MCA’s spending power is derived from local sources, such as the transport 

levy, local contributions, and retained business rates. The significant majority of the MCA’s 
resource is, however, derived from government grant. Some of this grant is committed 
over the longer-term and free from restrictions, whilst other elements are prescribed for 
certain activity and over certain timeframes. 

   
 2.4 The Spending Review provided more information over the funding that will be available to 

the MCA, but at the time of writing there was still a lack of certainty on the specific 
allocations that would be committed.  

   
 2.5 However, based on known commitments and current forecasts, it is estimated that the 

MCA will have c. £385m of resource at its disposal in financial year 2021/22. This resource 
consists of funding that will be received in year, and underspends that will be rolled over 
from the current year. It does not include resource that may be made available in the new 
year from the proposed Levelling Up Fund nor the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. A full list of 
forecast funding is provided in Appendix 2. 
 

Page 129



 

 2.6 Funding at this level represents a significant increase on prior years, with resource 
available for investment into local services and the wider local economy increasing by over 
£200m on 2020/21, a movement of c. 110%: 

 
 

 2.7 The significant increase in forecast resource reflects the adoption of new funding streams 
arising from the devolution agreement – predominantly the gainshare resource (£30m) and 
the Adult Education Budget (£38.50m) – and those grants made available to the MCA as 
part of the Government’s fiscal stimulus response to the pandemic. It also captures some 
of the significant slippage forecast from the current financial year, particularly around the 
Transforming Cities (TCF) programme. 

   
 2.8 Of this value, c. £83m (24%) will be available to SYPTE, with c. £302m (78%) being 

available to the MCA Executive. The majority of the resource available is for capital 
investment (£252m/66%), with £133m (34%) of revenue resource available. 

  

 
 2.9 The funding is overwhelmingly ringfenced (£355m/92%), with only limited amounts 

(£30m/8%) being flexible. Ringfenced funding refers to that resource which is committed to 
specific activity by grant conditionality, legislation, or local decisions. As an example, the 
Adult Education Budget funding is ringfenced by the grant conditionality to the specific 
activity, the transport levy is ringfenced by legislation to prescribed South Yorkshire 
transport activity, and elements of the annual gainshare resource have already been 
committed to certain priorities by past Board decisions. 
 

£70

£113

£183

£133

£252

£384

£0

£50

£100

£150

£200

£250

£300

£350

£400

Group Revenue Group Capital Total

2020/21 2021/22

£302, 
78%

£83, 22%

MCA SYPTE

£133, 
34%

£252, 
66%

Revenue Capital

Page 130



 

 2.10 Partly reflecting this issue, the majority of the MCA’s forecast resource will be derived from 
government grant (£316m/82%). Around £68m (18%) will be generated from local sources, 
such as the transport levy, planned draws on reserves, and locally generated commercial 
income: 

   
  

 
 2.11 The significant majority of government grant is now ringfenced at the point of award, with 

the notable exception being the gainshare devolution monies. Those ringfences reflect 
government priorities but will often align to MCA priorities. What is of significance is where 
ringfences don’t match the full array of MCA priorities. Initial work highlights this as being 
an issue with our Business funding. 

   
 2.12 Of the forecast grant awards there is a significant weighting of resource to transport and 

infrastructure, with a smaller amount of residual LGF/JESSICA available to Business 
Growth activity. Whilst some year 1 and 2 gainshare resource has been targeted at 
Business RAP activity, this means that Business Growth accounts for c. 5% of current 
ringfenced activity in the new year: 

 
 2.13 The MCA’s ability to influence how Government awards funding is limited, and there are 

indications from the Spending Review of a retrenchment back towards Departmental 
funding lines and away from the flexibilities the LGF programme afforded the region. 

   
 2.14 The loss of flexibilities will impinge on local discretion on how best to target public resource 

in the most effective manner. However, the receipt of un-ringfenced gainshare resource 
and the prospect of borrowing powers for non-transport activity in the new financial year 
does give the MCA the financial tools to influence the shape of its expenditure in a manner 
which would not have been possible pre-devolution.  

   
 2.15 To-date, of the £60m gainshare resource available for financial years 2020/21 and 

2021/22, c. £36m has been committed in support of priority activity. The balance of this 

£355, 
92%

£30, 8%

Ringfenced Flexible

£68, 
18%

£316, 
82%

Locally Generated Government Grant

£167, 57%

£58, 20%

£15, 5%

£53, 18%

Transport Infrastructure & Housing Business Growth Skills & Employment

Page 131



 

resource is available for deployment through application of the grant in-year, or via the 
leverage of that resource for a more expansive borrowing funded programme. 
 

 2.16 Work is currently progressing on proposals for an Investment Fund centred on Member 
priorities and complementing other available funding. This Fund will be supported by the 
Project Feasibility Fund that Leaders have previously endorsed. Proposals for these Funds 
will be brought before Leaders at the MCA’s March meeting.  
 

 2.17 Work to forecast and identify available funding for the new financial year and beyond will 
continue over the coming weeks. Better clarity is expected to be received from 
Government over Quarter 4 as Departmental spending plans are finalised and funding 
announced.  
 

 2.18 Final funding forecasts will ultimately shape the resource rationing exercises required to 
present balanced budgets to the Board in March. 

   
  South Yorkshire Transport Levy 2021/22 
 2.19 The South Yorkshire transport levy resources the operationalisation of the South Yorkshire 

Transport Plan. Funding is used to pay for items that the MCA must provide under statute, 
such as the national concessionary travel scheme; the costs of past financing decisions; 
the upkeep and maintenance of transport infrastructure such as interchanges and bus 
stops; local priorities such as discretionary travel and subsidised bus routes; and the 
operations of the South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE).  
 

 2.20 Public transport in South Yorkshire is currently operating under significant public subsidy 
from local and national government. This subsidy has sustained commercial operators and 
routes following the collapse in fare paying patronage following Covid related restrictions. 
 

 2.21 Under current arrangements a sensitive equilibrium has emerged where the local 
emergency subsidy via SYPTE budgets remains affordable and operators are largely 
shielded from the inherent financial risk in the operating environment. In turn, this has 
protected services for key workers and communities, and provides a valuable platform for 
economic recovery efforts. 

   
 2.22 The key risk to this delicate status-quo is the continuation of government support, and in 

particular the risk of government withdrawing or reducing its support before fare-paying 
patronage returns to sustainable levels. 

   
 2.23 Whilst the MCA understands that it is the government’s intention to continue support for 

public transport whilst it remains affected by restrictions, and then support the transition 
from existing heavily-subsidised arrangements to a post-restriction phase, there is 
currently little certainty beyond March 2021. Government’s desire and ability to support the 
network at a national level is likely to be shaped by wider fiscal realities and competing 
pressures. 

   
 2.24 Equally, forecasting fare-paying demand for public transport in the new financial year is 

particularly difficult. Whilst an eventual removal of restrictions is likely to prime a return of 
passengers to the network, it is not possible to predict with any degree of certainty when 
restrictions will be lifted, how long it will take for passenger confidence to recover, and 
whether there are lasting changes to demand from issues such as home-working and 
leisure and retail behavioural adjustments. 

   
 2.25 Under the MCA’s forecasts patronage will not recover beyond 80% of pre-Covid levels 

during the year. Left unabated, this would leave a full-year revenue shortfall for operators 
of c. £24m and likely precipitate the withdrawal of unviable routes, and potentially, 
ultimately, the withdrawal of operators entirely. 

   

Page 132



 

 2.26 This issue reflects the single largest financial risk for the MCA Group and poses a simple 
question: should government support be withdrawn or reduced to unviable levels before 
fare-paying patronage returns to the network, how can the MCA respond? 

   
 2.27 In support of this question a Group wide workstream is currently developing an exit 

strategy to deliver policy and strategy options. This work is supported by the proposed 
financial strategy which seeks to provide a bridge to the post-pandemic phase when a 
more informed view can be taken on travel behaviours and demand. 

   
 2.28 This strategy is detailed in Appendix 1, but can be summarised as having two 

complementary strands: 
1. Maintaining the current status-quo, through providing local subsidy whilst so ever 

the Government maintains its funding commitments at viable levels; and, 
2. Providing the financial resilience and flexibility to support the transition from the 

existing subsidy-model to post-pandemic realities. 
   
 2.29 In delivering upon this strategy the MCA will also be required to manage business-as-usual 

challenges arising from inflationary pressures and commercial income disruption. 
   
 2.30 This strategy has been socialised with Leaders at the MCA’s November meeting and in 

further detail in individual briefing sessions.  
   
 2.31 To deliver upon the strategy this report recommends that the transport levy is held at 

existing levels. Holding the levy at existing levels when allied to planned draws on the levy-
reduction reserves and budget challenge will allow for both a maintenance of the status-
quo and the mitigation of other financial pressures. 

   
 2.32 However, the levy alone will be insufficient to manage the risk of government withdrawing 

or reducing funding before patronage recovers to viable levels. This report proposes the 
creation of an earmarked reserve at c. £7m from the redeployment of existing Group wide 
reserves, to provide resource to be targeted at the protection of priority services should 
this risk crystallise.  

   
 2.33 In the event of a government withdrawal or reduction of services, it is also proposed that 

the MCA withdraws its local subsidy under existing arrangements transitioning to a more 
targeted approach. On a full year basis, and on current patronage projections, this would 
generate c. £5m p/a. 
 

 2.34 Taken together, the resource freed-up from the existing subsidy approach and the 
earmarked reserves will provide a material amount of funding that could be deployed at the 
MCA’s discretion in support of priorities. Whilst this resource will be insufficient to protect 
all services, and be unsustainable in the longer-term, it will provide a bridge to a future 
point at which a more informed judgement can be made on future passenger transport 
provision and its funding. 

   
 2.35 Appendix 1 of this report provides additional detail on the proposed financial strategy and 

financial forecasts for both the revenue budget and the capital programme. Budget 
projections provided in Appendix 1 are presented on the basis of a continuation of the 
existing status-quo over the full year. Preparing forecasts on this basis affords 
transparency over other underlying budget movements including identified pressures and 
savings. 
 

 2.36 Agreeing the levy at this stage allows for the principal funding envelope to be set within 
statutory deadlines. In line with discussion with Leaders it is, however, proposed to 
continue to develop the budget and capital programme for approval at the MCA’s March 
meeting. This will allow the MCA to continue to shape budget plans in alignment with the 

Page 133



 

latest information that is expected to be received around Government’s intentions for 
financial support to the public transport network in the new year.  
 

 2.37 After adjusting for population movements, holding the levy at current levels will mean the 
levy is apportioned in the following manner: 
 

 
   
  South Yorkshire Transport Levy: Future Risk 
   
 2.38 The financial strategy driving levy proposals for the next financial year is necessarily short-

term: mitigating immediate risk and providing a bridge to an opportunity to consider new 
demand and future funding. 

   
 2.39 In the new financial-year work will need to be undertaken to pivot away from this short-

term approach to a longer-term consideration of how aspirations are delivered on and 
emerging risk is mitigated. 

   
 2.40 Whilst the realities of a post-pandemic period will shape everything, there are two existing 

underlying factors that will need to be addressed: 
1. Meeting the objectives of the Bus Review, and arresting the decline in patronage; 

and, 
2. Managing the Mass Transit Renewal project, and the likely transition from the 

current concession arrangements to a new model for the delivery of tram services. 
   
 2.41 Resource for the delivery of initial Bus Review activity is included within levy proposals. 

However, whilst this resource will shape options available to the MCA, there is a likelihood 
that practical delivery of change to the bus network may cost more than the existing 
network. 
 

 2.42 As part of the Bus Review activity, options will need to be thoroughly costed and income 
streams identified. Managing this exercise whilst demand remains difficult to predict will be 
a challenge, but consideration will need to be given to this in the new year. 

   
 2.43 The MCA Board has also previously given its approval for the development of an outline 

business case for the Mass Transit Renewal project: the update of the physical Supertram 
infrastructure. 

   
 2.44  The development of this business case and its on submission to the DfT has inevitably 

been delayed by Covid. Given the business case’s sensitivity to patronage, better 
information is now required to understand demand in future years. 

   
 2.45  However, delay aside, the MCA’s future financial planning will need to take account of the 

likely need to provide a local capital contribution towards renewal costs, and the revenue 
risk that may arise from the ending of the current concession arrangements in 2024 - 
arrangements that have shielded the MCA from commercial risk for the last decade. 
 

 2.46 These issues can, however, be considered alongside the likelihood of falls in the MCA’s 
underlying cost base as further borrowing is repaid. Whilst such expenditure reductions are 

Authority Population % Share
Levy 

2020/21
Population % Share

Levy 

2021/22
Variance

2018 £'000 2019 £'000 £'000

Barnsley 245,199 17.50% £9,494 246,866 17.52% £9,525 £31

Doncaster 310,542 22.10% £12,053 311,890 22.14% £12,034 -£19

Rotherham 264,671 18.90% £10,275 265,411 18.84% £10,240 -£35

Sheffield 582,506 41.50% £22,542 584,853 41.51% £22,565 £23

1,402,918 £54,364 1,409,020 £54,364 £0

Page 134



 

reflected in the medium-term plan to 2025/26, projections show further falls beyond this as 
expensive legacy debt is retired and not replaced. Medium-term projections will be 
presented to Members in March. 

   
  Mayoral Precepts 
   
 2.47 Legislation requires that proposals for Mayoral precepts are presented to the MCA by the 

end of January as part of a Mayoral budget proposal. 
   
 2.48 The Mayor proposes that no precept be raised for financial year 2021/22, and that the 

costs of the Mayoral office are met in full from the Mayoral Capacity Fund grant (£1m) that 
has been confirmed for the coming year. 

   
 2.49 This report recommends approval of this proposal, confirming that committed Mayoral 

related costs can be resourced from committed grant. 
   
  MCA Executive Budget Development 
   
 2.50 The MCA Executive provides the officer capacity and skills to deliver upon the MCA’s non-

operational transport priorities. The Executive further discharges the statutory obligations 
expected of any public body, provides the policy development and leadership for the 
Group, and delivers its programmes of activity. It will be the MCA Executive, alongside 
delivery partners, who will be responsible for the delivery of the investment enabled from 
the significant increase in spending power referenced earlier in this report. 

   
 2.51 The MCA Executive is funded from a cocktail of sources, including un-ringfenced grant, 

local contributions, commercial income, and recharges to revenue and capital grant funded 
programmes. 
 

 2.52 The budgeted cost of the MCA Executive in 2020/21 was c. £10m, and despite challenges 
over the year expenditure is expected to outturn at around that value. 

   
 2.53 Funding sources for this activity were disrupted during the year, with income shortfalls of c. 

£1.2m being offset by an emergency injection of gainshare funding and the release of 
reserves. 
 

 2.54 Initial funding projections suggest that the income losses will largely rebound in the new 
financial year, though it is likely that they will remain susceptible to Covid related 
pressures. Forecasts also suggest that the opportunity to recharge the costs of delivering 
programmes into ringfenced funding streams will grow next year. This movement largely 
reflects the growth in spending power more generally. 

   
 2.55 In total, whilst further certainty is required around grant funding that will be made available 

in the new year, it is expected that there will be c. £12.5m of resource available to meet the 
costs of the Executive.  
 

 2.56 This value represents an increase on 2020/21 of c. £2.5m, but largely reflects the adoption 
of significant amounts of new activity that wasn’t in the previous year’s budget. This 
includes AEB delivery funding (£0.8m) and the costs of supporting the new capital funding 
streams made available to the MCA during the year (c. £1.1m). The extension and/or 
growth of other funding streams such as Working Win provide further resource and 
cumulatively this new funding will mitigate the loss of resource previously generated from 
recharging delivery costs into the LGF programme. 
 

 2.57 Initial Business Planning work highlights likely growth in the scale and scope of activity and 
associated staffing requirements as the scale of the MCA’s activity accelerates. This 
growth will generally be resourced from the accompanying grant funding. 

Page 135



 

   
 2.58 Whilst the ability to recharge incremental costs into programme grants streams is a useful 

source of funding which allows the MCA to properly resource programmes, it does not 
provide resource for core costs such as policy and strategy development, corporate 
communications, and the discharge of statutory obligations. 

   
 2.59 To support the resourcing of these critical workstreams, the MCA remains reliant on its 

locally generated income, including its retained business rates and local authority LEP and 
transport hub subscriptions. 

   
 2.60 Recognising this, this report proposes the continuation of existing local authority 

subscriptions at current levels. These contributions have been held at these rates since 
2015, with inflationary pressures being offset through budget challenge. Proposed 
subscriptions by authority are presented below:  
 

Authority LEP Subscriptions Transport Hub Total Value 

  £k £k £k 

Barnsley £32 £174 £206 

Doncaster £41 £223 £264 

Rotherham £35 £191 £226 

Sheffield £76 £412 £488 

  £184 £1,000 £1,184 
 
 

 2.61 The MCA is currently undertaking its second Business Planning development sprint. This 
phase of the exercise will allow for a further iteration of delivery plans in support of the 
MCA’s programmes and the matching of financial resource to priorities.  
 

 2.62 A key planning challenge will be around the ability of the MCA to manage peaks and 
troughs in programme funding. Inconsistent and/or unpredictable funding requires the 
MCA to retain the flexibility to scale its capacity at relatively short-notice to meet the 
requirements of government funded programmes of activity. 

   
 2.63 Final proposals on the shape of the revenue budget and capital programme will be brought 

before Members in March. 
 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 The report recommends the approval of the proposed South Yorkshire transport levy and 
the proposal to not set a Mayoral precept for the new financial year. 
 

 3.2 The alternatives to the proposals could include increases to the levy and the setting of a 
precept. This would provide additional resource which would assist in the management of 
the risks described in this report but would require additional calls on local authority 
budgets and the local taxpayer.  
 

 3.3 A further alternative could include reductions to the transport levy. This would reduce the 
resource available to the MCA and limit its ability to manage risk. Whilst deeper draws on 
reserves would be possible to offset a reduction this would affect the MCA’s financial 
resilience in the longer-term. 
 

 3.4 Options to increase the levy and set a precept have been considered and rejected, noting 
the significant financial pressures on local authorities and local taxpayers. 
 

Page 136



 

 3.5 Options to reduce the levy have been considered and rejected, noting the imperative to 
protect, wherever possible, key transport services both in the new financial year and 
beyond. 

   
4. Implications 

 
 4.1 Financial 

This is a financial report, the details of which are included within the main body of the 
report and the appendices. 
 

 4.2 Legal 
This report discharges the obligations to present Mayoral precept proposal by the end of 
January. In setting the South Yorkshire Transport Revenue Budget for 2021/22, the MCA 
must have regard to the Transport Levying Bodies Regulations 1992. In particular, it must 
ensure that the transport levy for the forthcoming financial year is agreed by 15th February 
2021 in order to allow enough time for the constituent authorities to set their council tax 
levels by early March. 
 

 4.3 Risk Management 
This report details a number of major financial and delivery risks. These risks are tracked 
through the Corporate Risk Register and are monitored through the Audit and Standards 
Committee. 
 

 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  
None. 
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 None. 
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  Appendix 1: South Yorkshire Transport Financial Strategy 2021/22 
Appendix 1a: South Yorkshire Transport: Draft Revenue Budget 2021/22 Detail 
Appendix 1b: South Yorkshire Transport: Draft Capital Programme 2021/22 Detail 
Appendix 1c: South Yorkshire Transport: Draft Capital Programme 2021-2026 
Appendix 1d: South Yorkshire Transport: Draft Capital Programme 2021/22 Funding 
Appendix 2: Group Spending Power: Forecast Funding 
 

 
Report Author  GARETH SUTTON 

Post GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR 
Officer responsible GARETH SUTTON 

Organisation SHEFFIELD CITY REGION MCA 
Email Gareth.sutton@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 

Telephone  
 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad Street 
West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
 
 

Page 137

mailto:Gareth.sutton@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 
SOUTH YORKSHIRE TRANSPORT FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

 
1. Introduction 

 
 1.1 This report presents the draft 2021/22 South Yorkshire Transport Revenue Budget – 

comprising the net expenditure of SYPTE and the transport related costs managed directly by 
the Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) – and the Capital Programme. 
 

 1.2 In terms of the Revenue Budget, the main body of this report sets out the proposed Financial 
Strategy for the year, whilst detailed budget reporting and variance analysis is provided in 
Appendix 1a. 
 

 1.3 The principal funding source for this budget is the annually agreed transport levy on the four 
South Yorkshire Local Authorities.  This report sets out proposals for the levy in the new year. 
 

 1.4 For most of the last decade the financial strategy for the levy has been one of managed 
reductions to support partner pressures. Since 2010 the annual levy has fallen by £40.3m 
(42.5%) from £94.7m to £54.4m for financial year 2020/21. Adjusting for inflation, this 
represents a cumulative reduction of over 50%. 
 

 1.5 At the last budget round Leaders indicated their desire to pivot towards investment in public 
transport, agreeing to hold the levy at the current level. That decision represented a 
significant shift in emphasis. 
 

 1.6 This report also outlines the aims of the Capital Programme, the capital budget setting 
process, and the 2021/22 Capital Programme proposals. It then summarises the outstanding 
issues arising from the proposed Capital Programme, the revenue and resource implications, 
and the outcomes which the programme is intended to deliver. 

   
2. Proposal and justification  

 
  Current Year Financial Strategy 

 
 2.1 The current year’s budgeted net expenditure for South Yorkshire transport activity is £59.6m 

which, in addition to the levy of £54.4m, is funded by a contribution of £5.2m from the MCA 
levy reduction reserve.  This reserve is the fulcrum of the medium-term financial strategy, as it 
will sustain existing levels of investment until a significant amount of debt is repaid in 2024. 
 

 2.2 Expenditure can be broadly broken down into four categories: 

 Activities prescribed by statute where the costs cannot be controlled (42%) 

 Expenditure resulting from past investment decisions (21%) 

 Day-to-day running costs (19%) 

 Resource deployed to local priorities (18%) 
 

 2.3 These four categories are illustrated further in the pie chart below.  Figures are expressed in 
£’000: 

Page 139



 

 
 

 2.4 As with other areas of life, the pandemic has had a significant impact on the public transport 
network. Initial restrictions followed by wider social-distancing measures have deeply affected 
public transport patronage, leading to a dramatic collapse in farebox income. To-date, 
patronage on bus has not risen above 60% of pre-Covid levels, and not above 40% on tram. 
 

 2.5 This level of patronage reduction would, if left unmitigated, likely lead to the systemic  
withdrawal of commercially unviable services, and potentially the collapse of operators. 
 

 2.6 In response to this concern, two layers of public support were extended to the transport  
network: 

 Government provided direct support to bus operators through grant (CBSSG) 

 Government provided grant awards for tram to LTAs (LRRRG) 

 Government provided grant awards for bus tendered services to LTAs (LA CBSSG) 

 The MCA via SYPTE budgets provided concessionary support payments to bus and  
tram operators at pre-Covid levels. 

  
 2.7 In total, it is expected that the level of public support to the network may reach £60m by the 

end of the current financial year. This level of funding has sustained the network throughout 
the pandemic and resultant restrictions and protected a level of service that has allowed for 
the ongoing movement of key workers, commuters, students, and other users. 
 

 2.8 These interventions have allowed for an equilibrium of sorts to emerge. The status-quo sees 
operators insulated from commercial risk, services maintained (albeit with capacity 
restrictions) for passengers, and an acceptable interim financial compromise for the MCA 
where current levels of support are affordable in the context of overall pressures. 
 

 2.9 To-date, the intervention into the market has been a success with limited service withdrawals 

and a relatively stable financial outturn forecast for the LTA functions of the MCA.  

  Planning for Uncertainty in Financial Year 2021/22 

 2.10 Financial planning for the new year is beset by uncertainty. Planning requires us to predict 
the behaviour of the three key actors in the current environment: 

 Will Operators continue to run services where they are at best breaking-even? 

 Will Users return to the network, or have travel patterns permanently changed?  

 Will Government sustain its support, for how long, and to what level? 
 

 2.11 Of most immediate concern are the intentions of government beyond March. Whilst  
government has committed to a support package to January 2021, with an expectation of an 
extension of that support to March, there is little concrete support beyond that point. 

Page 140



 
 2.12 A withdrawal of government support, in full or in part, before patronage returns to sustainable 

levels will disturb the sensitive equilibrium that currently exists, and likely precipitate a request 
from operators for greater local subsidy or risk service withdrawals. 
 

 2.13 The MCA does not have the resource to backfill a withdrawal of government support on a 
sustainable basis and recognises that a call on additional levy contributions at this time would 
be difficult. 
 

 2.14 Accordingly, a financial strategy is proposed that will allow the MCA to plan against a base-
case scenario, whilst leaving sufficient resilience to manage disruption should government 
funding be withdrawn before patronage recovers. 

   
  The Central Hypothesis 

 
 2.15 The base-scenario for planning assumes that government support for the South Yorkshire 

passenger transport network continues, in some form, until restrictions are lifted. 
 

 2.16 To maintain the current status-quo, it is proposed that MCA will continue to play its part in 
subsidising the network through pre-Covid volume concessionary fare payments whilst so 
ever government maintains its contributions at current levels. 

   
 2.17 Upon the lifting of restrictions, we assume that government support is withdrawn either in full 

or in part. At this stage the MCA ceases to pay concessionary fares at pre-Covid volume 
levels, and instead reverts to payment based on actuals. 
 

 2.18 The central hypothesis assumes that once restrictions are lifted patronage will begin to 
recover, but not reach 80% of pre-Covid levels before the end of the financial year. 

   
 2.19 In this scenario, modelling suggests that the removal of public support packages and the 

shortfall in fare paying patronage will create a significant revenue shortfall for operators. 
Modelling suggests that over a full year, at the forecast patronage levels, the transport 
network would have a funding deficit of c. £22m. 
 

 2.20 Set against this, modelling suggests that should the MCA revert to paying concessionary 
fares on actuals, and with patronage not rising beyond 80%, concessionary payments would, 
over a full year, fall by c. £5m. 
 

  Sensitivity 
 

 2.21 The financial implications of this hypothesis are largely dependent on two major variables: 

 When government withdraws support; and, 

 To what extent government withdraws support 
 

 2.22 These sensitivities will significantly impact upon the reaction of both operators and 
passengers to events. A cliff-edge withdrawal of funding before passenger confidence returns 
would have a significant effect on the network, whereas a tapered reduction that eases the 
network into a transitionary phase may be more manageable. 
 

  Financial Strategy 
 

 2.23 The proposed financial strategy for the new financial year is predicated on three main  
objectives: 

 Sustaining the current level of service provision wherever possible to support 
communities and the economic recovery; 

 Facilitating the transition to the post-pandemic phase; and, 

Page 141



 Supporting partner financial pressures. 
 

 2.24 Recognising the significant uncertainty, it is proposed that the levy is held at current levels. 
Holding the levy will support the maintenance of the status-quo whilst government maintain 
their funding, and support mitigating actions should that funding be withdrawn. Holding the 
levy also avoids further calls on partner budgets. 
 

 2.25 Budget challenge has been undertaken to support the mitigation of cost inflation, particularly 
around inflationary increases in the cost of operations and tendered services. 
 

 2.26 Pressures arising from activity which we don’t expect to repeat will be met from reserves. This 
includes the forecast costs of Bus Review work (£0.40m), and income shortfalls from  
commercial and investing activity (£0.95m). 
 

 2.27 A short-term approach is proposed to the macro risk of the systemic withdrawal of services  
from the network in the event of a government funding withdrawal. 
 

 2.28 In the event of government support being withdrawn or reduced to unviable levels it is 
proposed that the MCA cease to pay its pre-Covid levels of support to operators and instead 
revert to paying on actuals. Assuming patronage recovers to no more than 80%, this will 
generate a £5m full-year surplus on current budget levels. 
 

 2.29 This budget headroom will be supplemented by a Covid resilience reserve of c. £7m, 
generated from the pooling of reserves from across the Group. Taken together, this resource 
would be available for deployment in support of the interim protection of priority routes and 
services. 
 

 2.30 This approach to managing the macro risks facing the MCA is necessarily short-term. The  
MCA cannot backfill the loss of both government support and fare-paying patronage beyond  
the immediate term. Ultimately, the sustainability of the network is dependent on the recovery  
of patronage. 
 

 2.31 However, this approach does provide a bridge to an opportunity to consider the post pandemic 
phase travel patterns that emerge as the vaccine is rolled out, and new funding realities as the 
government pivots away from emergency support. 
 

 2.32 As the demand and funding landscape becomes clearer, the MCA will be required to re-set its 
financial strategy to realign to more sustainable financial support to its LTA objectives. 
 
Levy Proposals 
 

 2.33 Legislation requires that the cost of the levy is apportioned on a per capita basis. Accordingly, 
whilst the total quantum of the levy will be held at current levels, the apportionment will 
marginally change: 
 

 
 
 

Authority Population % Share
Levy 

2020/21
Population % Share

Levy 

2021/22
Variance

2018 £'000 2019 £'000 £'000

Barnsley 245,199 17.50% £9,494 246,866 17.52% £9,525 £31

Doncaster 310,542 22.10% £12,053 311,890 22.14% £12,034 -£19

Rotherham 264,671 18.90% £10,275 265,411 18.84% £10,240 -£35

Sheffield 582,506 41.50% £22,542 584,853 41.51% £22,565 £23

1,402,918 £54,364 1,409,020 £54,364 £0

Page 142



Supporting Actions 
 

 2.34 In support of this Financial Strategy work will continue on the Covid funding exit strategy, and 
work to set a decision framework around how resource will be deployed to priorities in the 
event of services being withdrawn. 
 

 2.35 Recognising the central importance of government to the existing stage of the pandemic, and 
the transition to a sustainable post-pandemic phase, the MCA will also continue to work with 
government to emphasise the importance of the public transport network to the recovery 

   
 
Capital Programme 
 
Aims 
 

 2.36 The purpose of the Capital Programme is to deliver outcomes that contribute to the delivery 
of the MCA’s public transport goals, and support SYPTE’s statutory and contractual 
compliance requirements such as health and safety legislation and obligations under leases.   
 
The MCA’s strategies relevant to SYPTE’s activities include the: 
 
MCA Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) – The Plan sets out how the Region will build and 
sustain a competitive economy. In relation to transport there are three main objectives, 
collectively aimed at connecting main population centres to each other and to employment 
sites.  
 
MCA Transport Strategy – The Transport Strategy sits beneath the SEP and sets out the 
wider aims and objectives for the MCA transport network, beyond its function to enable 
economic stability and growth. The Strategy has four overarching goals. The first is to support 
economic growth, and the three policies relating to this are those set out in the SEP.  The 
remaining three goals and associated policies are as follows: 
 

 To create healthy streets where people feel safe. 

 To improve the quality of our outdoors 

 To promote, enable and adapt different technologies 
 
The objectives of the capital programme will also support the Renewal Action Plan proposals, 
and it is noted at this stage that, subject to member agreement, capital resource may be 
allocated to support bus investment from the year 1 and 2 gainshare funding.  
 
Paragraph 2.47 in this report summarises how the 2021/22 Capital Programme contributes to 
the goals and policies set out above. 
 

  Summary of Process to Date 
 

 2.37 During September and early October 2020, the initial list of possible projects for inclusion in 
next year’s capital programme was circulated within SYPTE, the Local Authorities and MCA. 
The long list this generated was sifted (see below) by SYPTE Management Board in 
November.  

 
 A further round of engagement is being undertaken with local authority partners and 

operators with comments requested prior to the report going to the MCA meeting. The ITB 
element of the capital programme was considered by SYTDG at their December meeting and 
is progressing through the MCA approval process. 

   
 

Page 143



Proposed 2021/22 Capital Budget 
 

 2.38 The long list of potential schemes arising from the above was reviewed on the basis of: 
 
i) “Committed” schemes first: these include TCF schemes. 
ii) Contribution to SYPTE’s and the MCA’s goals. 
iii) Contribution to SYPTE’s business priorities. 
iv) Degree of support and other comments from partners. 
v) Availability of funding. 
vi) Availability of resources to deliver. 
 
Based on the above, the priorities for non-committed schemes can be summarised as: 
 

 Schemes to improve the financial sustainability of the public transport network as part 
of the post Covid recovery. These include preparatory work and early wins for the Bus 
Review and tram related work. 

 Preparing a pipeline of schemes to assist with the above and improving readiness for 
future bidding opportunities. 

 Life cycle renewals. 
 
The proposals for next year’s capital programme were endorsed by SYPTE’s Transport 
Officers Board on 21 December 2020 and are shown in Appendix 1c. 
 
In summary this shows a total Capital Programme next year of £23.87m funded as below: 
 

Source Amount  Comments 

 £’000  

ITB assumed 2021/22 Allocation £2,049  

ITB assumed 2020/21 Allocation c/d £318 Mass Transit 

ITB Other £70 ‘topslice’ – Wheels to Work 

TCF £19,085  

Capital Grants Unapplied £1,207  

Better Bus Area grant £65  

DfT ring-fenced grant c/d £1,000 Mass Transit 

Previously Approved Borrowing £80 Rail Replacement 
 

  
The total proposed spend broken down by area and mode is given below: 

 

 ITB Overall 

 £’000 % £’000 % 

BMBC £292  14.2% £7,294 30.6% 

DMBC £292 14.2% £7,290 30.5% 

RMBC  £392 19.1% £4,802 20.1% 

SCC £1,074 52.4% £4,488 18.8% 
 

   
 
 

Page 144



 
  

Mode £’000 % 

Bus £16,936 70.9% 

Rail £1,487 6.2% 

Tram £5,275 22.1% 

Other/Non-mode Specific £176 0.7% 
 

  
 
 
2.39 

 
Longer-term Investment Profile 
 
Based on the schemes included in the 2021/22 budget and the information currently available 
about their longer-term impacts and future projects, a 5 year spend forecast is given in 
Appendix 1c. 

   
 Longer-term investment profiles will also be influenced by a number of issues still in 
development. These include: 

i) Funding for the Tram Bridging Strategy – Work is underway on the potential 
requirements for investment in tram infrastructure ahead of the end of the current 
concession in 2024. Work is currently underway on this issue, and a report will be brought 
to the MCA. 

 
ii) Funding for the Mass Transit OBC/FBC – This will be the subject of a separate paper 

to the MCA.   
 
iii) Asset Management Plan- The intention to refresh a Group wider asset management 

plan may change the shape of the current lifecycle renewal programme and/or identify 
opportunities for investments or disposals. 

 
iv) The volume of underspend this year that could be carried forward into next year - 

An updated forecast is being prepared but the actual figure will not be formalised until 
towards the end of the financial year. 
 

v) Outcome of the TCF review – A further MCA-wide review of the TCF programme will be 
undertaken in the new year, where deliverability of existing schemes will be tested and 
opportunities for new schemes will be considered. SYPTE is contributing to this review to 
ensure an equitable share of its schemes across the region.  
 

vi) ITB Funding – This budget has been prepared on the basis that ITB, or similar 
replacement, will be available.  At the time of writing it is understood that ITB grant will 
flow in the new financial year, but should it not, or at lower than forecast levels, a priorities 
led rationing exercise will be required to pare investment back to affordable levels. 

 
vii) SYPTE Business Plans - Links between the capital programme and SYPTE’s business 

plans are being developed.  The MCA Group’s composite business plan will be submitted 
to the March MCA meeting. 
 

viii) There are also some project related tasks that need to be completed before work starts 
next year, for example the review of the Retail and Information Strategy programme. 

 
 

Page 145



Revenue and Resource Implications of the Capital Budget 
  

 
 
2.40 
 

Revenue Impacts 

Where known, the revenue impacts of the schemes in the budget are shown in Appendix 1d. 
Work is ongoing to determine the revenue implications for all schemes in the Capital 
Programme. These costs are factored into the revenue budget. 

  
 
 
2.41 

Resources 

Provision has been made in SYPTE’s Business Plan for 2021/22 for the resources necessary 
to deliver this budget. 

The resources required for schemes where the funding is uncertain at present (e.g. Bus 
Review, Tram Bridging Strategy) will be dealt with in parallel with the project’s overall 
development. 

 
 
   

 

Page 146



APPENDIX 1 

1. The tables presented in this appendix represent the forecast budget based upon a scenario in 
which there is no disruption to the current funding environment, and no requirement for budget 
reorganisation in support of the protection of priority services. 
 

2. Presenting the detailed budget on this basis allows for transparency around underlying trends and 
pressures, without distorting the picture with macro risk which cannot at this stage be accurately 
forecast. 

  2020/21     2021/22   
  Budget Pressures Savings Budget Variance 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Mandatory & Discretionary Expenditure           
ENCTS/Mobility Concessions 24,916 0  -1,455 23,461 -1,455 
Financial Obligations           
Capital Financing 7,202 0  -1,184 6,018 -1,184 
Tram Access 1,500 0  0  1,500 0 
Depreciation 6,475 294 0  6,769 294 
Contribution from reserves to cover 
depreciation 

-6,475 0  -294 -6,769 -294 

Pensions 1,256 0  -516 740 -516 
Discretionary Expenditure           
Child Concessions 2,136 300 0  2,436 300 
Departure Charges -946 0  0  -946 0 
Tendered Bus Services 5,821 0  0  5,821 0 
Community Transport 1,657 0  0  1,657 0 
Operational Departments           
Customer Services 2,209 161 -53 2,317 108 
New establishment posts - assume fully 
funded 

0 51 -51 0 0 

Commission on ticket sales -460 260 0  -200 260 
Public Transport 8,643 277 -16 8,904 261 
New establishment posts - assume fully 
funded 

0 151 -151 0 0 

Rents -479 0  -5 -484 -5 
Service Charges -1,764 0  -326 -2,090 -326 
Car Parking (Inc P&R) -328 280 0  -48 280 
Other (vending, Photo Kiosks etc) -69 15 0  -54 15 
Support Departments 2,592 646 -451 2,787 195 
New establishment posts - assume fully 
funded 

0 194 -194 0 0 

Sub-Total 53,886 2,629 -4,695 51,820 -2,066 
In-Year Investment Fund 1,087 0 0  1,087 0 
SYPTE Total 54,973 2,629 -4,695 52,907 -2,066 
MCA Transport operational expenditure 466 400 0  866 400 
MRP  4,022 0  -163 3,859 -163 
External interest  1,388 0  0  1,388 0 
Investment income  -1,274 404 0  -870 404 
MCA Transport Total 4,602 804 -163 5,243 641 
Overall Transport Total 59,575 3,433 -4,858 58,150 -1,425 
Funded by:           
Transport levy 54,364 0   0 54,364 0 
Levy reduction reserve 5,211 0  0 3,786 1,425 
Total 59,575 0 0 58,150 1,425 

Page 147



Formulation of the 2021/22 Budget 

3. As shown in Table 2 above, the net movement in expenditure is a reduction of £1.43m (2.4%).  In 
gross terms overall, the LTA will absorb £3.43m of pressures and deliver £4.86m savings.  This is 
analysed further in Table 3 below. 

 
Table 3 
 

  £'000 £'000 

Pressures:     

Bus Review work 400  

Increase in depreciation charge 294   

Loss of external funding tbc   

Reduction in zero fare pass income 150   

VfM sale reimbursement 150   

Increase in interchange running costs 277   

Reduction in investment income 404   

Reduction in commission on ticket sales 260   

Reduction in sales, fees and charges 295   

Other - Customer Services 161   

Other - Support Depts 646   

New establishment posts 396   

Total pressures   3,433 

      

Savings:     

Reduction in concessions payments -1,455   

Reduction in capital financing costs -1,184   

Increase in contribution from depreciation reserve -294   

Reduction in pension costs -516   

Re-profiling of MRP -163   

Step-up in bus shelter advertising contract income -326   

Newly let space at interchanges, net of closures -5   

Other - Customer Services -53   

Other - Public Transport -16   

Other - Support Depts -451   

External funding to cover new establishment posts -396   

Total savings   -4,858 

      

Net movement in SY Transport revenue budget   -1,425 

Pressures 

4. In value terms, the most significant category of pressure is income loss stemming from the impact of 
Covid.  The latest indications are that the LTA will suffer gross losses of £1.1m on sales, fees and 
charges in 2021/22, when compared to the approved 2020/21 budget.  It may be possible to mitigate 
some of these losses by claiming from MHCLG’s SFC income loss compensation scheme, which has 
now been extended till July 2021.  However, not all types of income are eligible for the scheme, for 
instance investment income (i.e. interest receivable) the loss on which is forecast at £404k. 
 

5. Amongst new and emerging pressures for 2021/22, two items of note are VfM sale reimbursement 
and interchange running costs. 
 

6. SYPTE reimburses TravelMaster for the sale of GetAbout tickets as they fall outside the scope of the 
4-week average concessionary payments.  At the start of the year (periods 1-6), sales were minimal, 

Page 148



and the reimbursement was c.£20k in total.  However, Periods 7 and 8 have shown a significant 
increase with reimbursement being £19k to £25k per period depending on the number of school days.  
Extrapolating this forward and assuming no school closures, the full year cost including the remaining 
school days would be c.£150k. 
 

7. Interchange running costs are expected to step up due primarily to increased utilities, rates and 
cleaning costs.  This partly reflects new ways of working as a result of the pandemic. 
 

8. There is further work to do in investigating Head of Service budget proposals in Customer Services 
and Support Depts where the combined gross pressure totals £807k.  There are mitigating savings of 
£467k which reduce this pressure to £340k net.  
 

9. This figure excludes the forecast full-year effect of new posts on the establishment of £396k, as well 
as pressures listed separately elsewhere. 
 

10. Other pressures, such as the aforementioned new establishment posts to support capital projects 
within the Transforming Cities Fund programme, and increased depreciation charges, have net nil 
impact on the revenue budget because the costs can be recovered from capital grants. 
 

11. Pay inflation has been assumed as 0% due to the Chancellor’s announcement on 25 November 
2020 as part of SR20 that there will be a public sector pay freeze in 2021/22. Resource will be held 
over in reserves to manage any deviation from this following the national pay award negotiations. 

Savings 

12. For 2021/22, interest payments are forecast to reduce by £1.2m due to the repayment of loans in line 
with the MTFS.  Opportunities for early repayment to yield further interest savings will continue to be 
assessed, but none have presently been included in the draft budget on the basis that the cost of 
implementing such measures (i.e. early redemption penalties) will outweigh the benefits. 
 

13. As well as the step down of £1.5m in concessionary costs (assuming that government intervention 
continues), the other main saving is from pension costs where – due to the Actuary’s conclusion in 
the recent triennial valuation that SYPTE is no longer required to pay a deficit recovery contribution - 
£516k is being released.  The LTA is still responsible for contributing to several closed pension 
funds, hence the residual annual budget for pensions. Employer’s pension contributions for current 
staff is shown under staffing costs for the Operations and Support Department budgets. 
 

14. The amount which the LTA is required to set aside for the repayment of debt (‘MRP’, or Minimum 
Revenue Provision) will decrease in 2021/22 as a result of the re-profiling of MRP charges over a 
longer timeframe than previously set.  This reprofiling reduces the MRP charge by £163k in 2021/22. 
 

15. Although most other sources of income are expected to decline in the short term, certain income 
streams remain intact, for instance advertising income derived from the bus shelter advertising 
contract which steps up by £326k in 2021/22.  Although advertising income has been adversely 
affected nationwide by the pandemic, the contractor has continued to invest in new digital displays 
across the region, and a schedule of deferred payments has been re-negotiated which mitigates the 
bad debt risk. 

 

Medium Term Forecasts and Levy Reduction Reserve 

16. The following table presents revenue budget forecasts for the next five years. These forecasts are 
based on known expenditure profiles, forecast inflationary issues, and estimates of likely changes to 
the cost-base. At this stage, expenditure profiles have not been adjusted for potential patronage 
changes beyond assumptions for 2021/22.  
 

17. Of note is the change in expenditure related to the tram network. Whilst the ‘tram access’ payments 
(a form of financing) will fall away after 2023/24, the MCA will likely be exposed to the commercial 
performance of operating the tram. This assumes that there will be no market for a similar 

Page 149



concession arrangement to the current model. At this stage it is prudent to assume that financial 
support will be required, noting the existing loss-making position and the likely disruption to the 
network as a potential renewal project sees infrastructure investment. 

 
18. For prudency, the forecasts assume that the levy is held at current levels. Whilst the levy reduction 

reserve can sustain this position in the near future meeting inflationary pressures, in the longer term 
it is unsustainable. On-going reliance on it will present a material cliff-edge by 2025/26. 

 
19. The MTFS refresh in 2021/22 will need to begin to address how this cliff-edge can be avoided. 

 
  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
  Forecast Budget Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Mandatory & Discretionary Expenditure             
ENCTS/Mobility Concessions 23,461 23,461 23,930 24,409 24,897 25,395 
Financial Obligations             
Capital Financing 7,202 6,018 5,627 3,406 2,200 2,200 
Tram Access 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 0 0 
Potential Tram Operating Deficit 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 
Depreciation 6,475 6,769 6,355 3,556 3,534 3,534 
Contribution from reserves to cover 
depreciation 

-6,475 -6,769 -6,355 -3,556 -3,534 -3,534 

Pensions 898 740 740 740 740 740 
Discretionary Expenditure             
Child Concessions 2,136 2,436 2,485 2,534 2,585 2,637 
Departure Charges -946 -946 -946 -946 -946 -946 
Tendered Bus Services 5,721 5,821 5,937 6,056 6,177 6,301 
Community Transport 1,657 1,657 1,657 1,657 1,657 1,657 
Operational Departments             
Customer Services 2,215 2,317 2,363 2,410 2,459 2,508 
Commission on ticket sales -260 -200 -200 -200 -200 -200 
Public Transport 8,590 8,904 9,082 9,264 9,449 9,638 
Rents -395 -484 -484 -484 -484 -484 
Service Charges -1,732 -2,090 -2,090 -2,090 -2,090 -2,090 
Car Parking (Inc P&R) -58 -48 -48 -48 -48 -48 
Other (vending, Photo Kiosks etc) -29 -54 -54 -54 -54 -54 
Support Departments 2,864 2,787 2,843 2,900 2,958 3,017 
Sub-Total 52,824 51,820 52,343 51,055 50,301 51,271 
In Year Investment Fund 0 1,087 1,087 1,087 1,087 1,087 
SYPTE Total 52,824 52,907 53,430 52,142 51,388 52,358 
MCA Transport operational expenditure 462 466 466 466 466 466 
MRP  3,647 3,859 3,815 3,777 3,725 3,629 
External interest  1,388 1,388 1,388 1,388 1,153 918 
Investment income  -1,197 -870 -496 -386 -200 -200 
MCA Transport Total 4,300 4,843 5,173 5,245 5,144 4,813 
Overall Transport Total 57,124 57,750 58,603 57,387 56,532 57,171 
Funded by:             
Transport levy 54,364 54,364 54,364 54,364 54,364 54,364 
Levy reduction reserve 2,760 3,386 4,239 3,023 2,168 2,807 
Total 57,124 57,750 58,603 57,387 56,532 57,171 

       
Levy Reduction Reserve             
Balance b/f 19,523 16,763 13,377 9,137 6,114 3,947 
Planned use in-year -2,760 -3,386 -4,239 -3,023 -2,168 -2,807 
Balance c/f 16,763 13,377 9,137 6,114 3,947 1,140 

Page 150



Reserve Forecasts 
20. The table below shows forecast South Yorkshire Transport general reserves. General reserves 

include those reserves which are freely available, or those that have no conditionality on them but 
have been earmarked to certain issues. The table presents the reserves of SYPTE and the MCA 
together to give full transparency over available resource. 
 

21. The table highlights the continuing draws on the Levy Reduction reserve as it is used to offset 
inflationary pressures and keep the levy suppressed in support of partner budget pressures. The 
table further highlights the creation of a Covid Resilience reserve from the re-deployment of resource 
from other reserves: 

  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
  Forecast Budget Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast 
SY Transport General Reserves £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
General Reserve £10,839 £9,000 £9,000 £9,000 £9,000 £9,000 
Levy Reduction Reserve £16,763 £13,377 £9,137 £6,114 £3,947 £1,140 
PFI Reserve £12,447 £11,300 £12,600 £13,900 £15,200 £16,500 
Covid Resilience Reserve* £1,600 £5,886 £5,886 £5,886 £5,886 £5,886 
Total £41,649 £39,563 £36,623 £34,900 £34,033 £32,526 

*Covid reserve is complemented by the in-budget Investment Fund (£1.1m) which is uncommitted. Together 

this provides £7m of available resource. 

22. These reserves are deemed prudent at this stage. Particular attention will continue to be paid to the 
PFI reserve which is accumulating a significant balance. 

 
 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



Proposed 2021/22 Capital Budget APPENDIX 1b

Spend Profile by Quarter
15/12/20

EFC 2021/22 Budget Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Comments

SCR Mass Transit £426,000,000 £2,600,000
Phase 1 - Completion of OBC £80,000 £20,000
Phase 2 - OBC to Programme Entry £280,000 £820,000 £1,400,000
Tram Train £55,974,000 £0 Staff time and revenue costs only

Supertram Rail Replacement £15,239,131 £80,000 £0 £0 £80,000 £0
Previously approved MCA Borrowing. Retention etc - end of 
works inspections Oct 2021

Smart Ticketing / R&I Strategy £1,342,929 £150,000 £37,500 £37,500 £37,500 £37,500 Project under review

Programme Wide Costs £373,837 £373,837 £93,459 £93,459 £93,459 £93,459
To be reviewed and allocated to projects when programme 
approved.

LRT Signal Head Replacement £359,464 £75,348 £0 £35,000 £0 £40,348 Awaiting programme from AMEY

A61 Wakefield Road Bus Corridor £13,831,476 £5,549,263 £297,415 £397,415 £1,899,469 £2,954,964
Cash flow based on initial programme and high level costs. 
Revised programme and more robust cost plan is currently 
being developed.

Barnsley - Doncaster Quality Bus Corridor £10,500,904 £2,272,979 £300,000 £350,000 £361,845 £1,261,134
Spend profile to be reviewed based upon BMBC revised 
option designs once completed

A630 Bus Improvements £1,600,000 £500,000 £50,000 £75,000 £75,000 £300,000

Iport Bridge £5,648,291 £4,206,783 £70,000 £1,525,678 £1,077,509 £1,533,596
Assumes construction starting in August 2021. Includes a 
large risk pot which may or may not be used. Spend profile to 
be reviewed following details of appointed contractor cost.

Magna Tram Train Stop and P&R £5,443,906 £985,422 £10,000 £50,000 £150,000 £775,422
Parkgate P&R £3,415,000 £300,000 £50,000 £50,000 £50,000 £150,000 Assume tendered with TCF Link Road
Parkgate Link Road £6,965,386 £1,451,040 £100,000 £151,000 £50,000 £1,150,040 Programme review indicates site start March 2021

Taylors Lane Roundabout £1,741,900 £1,789,650 £50,000 £39,650 £50,000 £1,650,000
Assumes TCF FBC approval Spring / Summer 2021 - includes 
£600,000 risk

South Yorkshire Rail Improvements
Hatfield and Stainforth Station £425,866
Kirk Sandall Station £408,682
Bolton Station £182,121
Goldthorpe Station £128,196
Thurnscoe Station £88,598
Wombwell Station £126,100
Barnsley Station £394,370
Mexborough Station £710,261
Conisborough Station £475,500
Bentley Station £217,888
Adwick Station £294,377

Bus Review Schemes (Quick Wins and prep costs) £150,000 £20,000 £30,000 £50,000 £50,000

Bus Stop Improvements in Northern General Hospital £65,000 £0 £0 £20,000 £45,000
BBA Completion of works started in 2020/21; This work is 
totally dependant upon Covid-19 restrictions being lifted.

Mexborough Market Gateway £300,000 £250,000 £5,000 £15,000 £80,000 £150,000 Feasibility report will determine expenditure profile.

Tram Bridging Strategy Preparatory Costs/ Quick Wins £20,000,000 £1,000,000 £40,000 £80,000 £250,000 £630,000 Programme funding under discussion.  
Feasibility of Tram / Tram-Train Extensions - - - - Staff time only at present, to be discussed with MCA

Rail Feasibility Work £50,000 £10,000 £10,000 £10,000 £20,000

Shelter Programme £100,000 £5,000 £20,000 £20,000 £55,000
Wind Turbines £5,000 £5,000 Completion of works started in 2021/22
Car Park Equipment £205,000 £90,000 £10,000 £60,000 £10,000 £10,000
Resurface Sheffield Interchange Runways £45,000 £10,000 £35,000
Resurface Meadowhall Interchange Runways £45,000 £10,000 £35,000
Park & Ride - Refurbishment £45,000 £10,000 £10,000 £25,000 Scope to be agreed

Design Work for Future Years/ Projects "Pipeline" £100,000 £10,000 £20,000 £30,000 £40,000 "Pipeline" schemes.

Expansion of Meadowhall Park & Ride £4,996,177 £25,000 £5,000 £20,000 Part of "Pipeline" and a possible TCF additional scheme

CT Vehicle Replacement £150,000 £0 £0 £0 £150,000 Subject to review of CT provision PB
Wheels to Work £70,000 £70,000 Funded from ITB top slice not PTE's allocation
Programme / Project Management Software £5,000 £0 £0 £5,000 £0 Completion of works started in 2020/21
IT Spend (Laptop Refresh Programme) £28,750 £28,750 Spend profile unknown
IT - Monitor Refresh Programme £17,700 £17,700 Spend profile unknown
IT - Network Switch Replacement Programme £50,000 £50,000 Spend profile unknown
IT - Meeting Room Upgrades Awaiting estimated costs
IT - Voice Provision Awaiting estimated costs
IT - Corporate Wireless Network Upgrade Awaiting estimated costs

£577,389,360 £23,874,189 £1,288,374 £3,606,152 £5,339,782 £13,639,880

Funded by ITB £2,048,837
ITB C/F £318,365

TCF £19,085,189
CGU £1,206,798
BBA £65,000

Grant c/f £1,000,000
Borrowing £80,000

Other £70,000
Total £23,874,189

Notes
Figures in RED are an indication of the possible scale of costs where there is no agreed scope of work or estimated costs

£1,248,417

Scheme in Delivery

Transforming Cities Fund Programme

Bus Related Schemes

Tram Related Schemes

Rail Related Schemes

Based on current OBC.

£10,000 £70,000 £95,000 £1,073,417

Life Cycle Works

Others

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



2021/22 Capital Budget - Draft APPENDIX 1c
5 Year Spend Profile

TOTAL TCF ITB Capital Grant TBC TOTAL TCF ITB Capital Grant DfT TBC TOTAL ITB CGU DfT TBC TOTAL ITB DfT TBC

SCR Mass Transit £426,000,000 £2,600,000 £5,300,000 £3,094,801 £2,205,199 £39,500,000 £30,595,477 £8,904,523 £90,300,000 £84,711,320 £5,588,680 £67,900,000 £65,489,000 £2,411,000
Phase 1 - Completion of OBC
Phase 2 - OBC to Programme Entry
Phase 3 - Programme Entry to FBC
Phase 4 - Implementation

Tram Train £55,974,000 £0
Supertram Rail Replacement £15,239,131 £80,000 £0 £0 £0 £0
Smart Ticketing / R&I Strategy £1,342,929 £150,000
Programme Wide Costs £373,837 £394,000 £394,000 £394,000 £394,000 £394,000 £394,000 £394,000 £394,000
LRT Signal Head Replacement £359,464 £75,348 £62,633 £62,633 £100,378 £100,378 £70,870 £70,870

A61 Wakefield Road Bus Corridor £13,831,476 £5,549,263 £7,677,872 £7,627,872 £50,000 £185,000 £185,000
Barnsley - Doncaster Quality Bus Corridor £10,500,904 £2,272,979 £6,546,071 £6,496,071 £50,000 £75,000 £75,000
A630 Bus Improvements £1,600,000 £500,000
Iport Bridge £5,648,291 £4,206,783 £1,000,000 £950,000 £50,000
Magna Tram Train Stop and P&R £5,443,906 £985,422 £4,175,896 £4,125,896 £50,000
Parkgate P&R £3,415,000 £300,000 £2,900,000 £2,850,000 £50,000 £130,000 £130,000
Parkgate Link Road £6,965,386 £1,451,040 £3,243,000 £3,243,000 £159,727 £159,727
Taylors Lane Roundabout £1,741,900 £1,789,650 £199,000 £199,000
South Yorkshire Rail Station Improvements

Hatfield and Stainforth Station £425,866
Kirk Sandall Station £408,682
Bolton Station £182,121
Goldthorpe Station £128,196
Thurnscoe Station £88,598
Wombwell Station £126,100
Barnsley Station £394,370
Mexborough Station £710,261
Conisborough Station £475,500
Bentley Station £217,888
Adwick Station £294,377

Bus Review Schemes (Quick Wins and prep costs) £150,000
Bus Stop Improvements in Northern General Hospital £65,000
Mexborough Market Gateway £300,000 £250,000

Tram Bridging Strategy Preparatory Costs/ Quick Wins £20,000,000 £1,000,000 £10,000,000 £10,000,000 £9,000,000 £9,000,000
Feasibility of Tram / Tram-Train Extensions

Rail Feasibility Work £50,000

Shelter Programme £100,000
Wind Turbines £5,000
Car Park Equipment £205,000 £90,000 £105,000 £105,000 £0 £0 £0
Resurface Sheffield Interchange Runways £45,000
Resurface Meadowhall Interchange Runways £45,000
Park & Ride - Refurbishment £45,000

Design Work for Future Years/ Projects "Pipeline" £100,000
Expansion of Meadowhall Park & Ride £4,996,177 £25,000
CT Vehicle Replacement £150,000
Wheels to Work £70,000
Programme / Project Management Software £5,000
IT Spend (Laptop Refresh Programme) £28,750
IT - Monitor Refresh Programme £17,700
IT - Network Switch Replacement Programme £50,000
IT - Meeting Room Upgrades
IT - Voice Provision
IT - Corporate Wireless Network Upgrade

£577,015,523 £23,874,189 £43,737,976 £30,721,144 £749,000 £62,633 £12,205,199 £49,544,105 £549,727 £394,000 £100,378 £30,595,477 £17,904,523 £90,764,870 £394,000 £70,870 £84,711,320 £5,588,680 £68,294,000 £394,000 £65,489,000 £2,411,000

2022/23

£2,134,504

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
5 Year Spend Profile

TCF Schemes

Schemes in Delivery

EFC 2021/22 Budget

£1,248,417 £2,134,504

Bus Related Schemes

Tram Related Schemes

Rail Related Schemes

Life Cycle Works

Others

P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



2021/22 Capital Budget - Draft APPENDIX 1d
Funding & Revenue Implications

15/12/20

EFC 2021/22 Budget TCF ITB ITB C/F Capital Grant BBA Other funding Completion 
Year

Revenue 
Budget for 
First Full 

Year

Revenue 
Provision 
Confirmed

Resource 
Confirmed

In Delivery
SCR Mass Transit £426,000,000 £2,600,000 £1,031,635 £250,000 £318,365 £1,000,000 2029 tbc N Y

Phase 1 - Completion of OBC
Phase 2 - OBC to Programme Entry

Tram Train £55,974,000 £0 2020 £65,000 N
Supertram Rail Replacement £15,239,131 £80,000 £80,000 2021 £0 n/a Y
Smart Ticketing / R&I Strategy £1,342,929 £150,000 £150,000 tbc tbc tbc tbc
Programme Wide Costs £394,000 £373,837 £373,837 2022 Y
LRT Signal Head Replacement £359,464 £75,348 £75,348

A61 Wakefield Road Bus Corridor £13,831,476 £5,549,263 £5,549,263 Y
Barnsley - Doncaster Quality Bus Corridor £10,500,904 £2,272,979 £2,172,979 £100,000 2023 £32,000 Y
A630 Bus Improvements £1,600,000 £500,000 £500,000 2021 tbc Y
Iport Bridge £5,648,291 £4,206,783 £4,206,783 £12,000 Y
Magna Tram Train Stop and P&R £5,443,906 £985,422 £935,422 £50,000 2023 £25,000 Y
Parkgate P&R £3,415,000 £300,000 £200,000 £100,000 2023 £60,000 N Y
Parkgate Link Road £6,965,386 £1,451,040 £1,451,040 2023 £0 n/a Y
Taylors Lane Roundabout £1,741,900 £1,789,650 £1,789,650 2022 £0 n/a Y
South Yorkshire Rail Improvements

Hatfield and Stainforth Station £425,866 2022 £0 n/a Y
Kirk Sandall Station £408,682 2022 £0 n/a Y
Bolton Station £182,121 2022 £0 n/a Y
Goldthorpe Station £128,196 2022 £0 n/a Y
Thurnscoe Station £88,598 2022 £0 n/a Y
Wombwell Station £126,100 2022 £0 n/a Y
Barnsley Station £394,370 2022 £0 n/a Y
Mexborough Station £710,261 2022 £0 n/a Y
Conisborough Station £475,500 2022 £0 n/a Y
Bentley Station £217,888 2022 £0 n/a Y
Adwick Station £294,377 2022 £0 n/a Y

Bus Review Schemes (Quick Wins and prep costs) £150,000 £150,000
Bus Stop Improvements in Northern General Hospital £65,000 £0 £65,000 2022
Mexborough Market Gateway £300,000 £250,000 £250,000

Tram Bridging Strategy Preparatory Costs/ Quick Wins £20,000,000 £1,000,000 £225,000 £775,000 tbc
Feasibility of Tram / Tram-Train Extensions

Rail Feasibility Work £50,000 £50,000

Shelter Programme Annual Programme 2021/22 £100,000 £100,000 2022 Y
Wind Turbines £5,000 £5,000 tbc

Car Park Equipment £205,000 £90,000 £90,000 2021 £10,000 Y Y

Resurface Sheffield Interchange Runways £45,000 £45,000
Resurface Meadowhall Interchange Runways £45,000 £45,000
Park & Ride - Refurbishment £45,000 £45,000

Design Work for Future Years/ Projects "Pipeline" £100,000 £100,000 2022 Y
Expansion of Meadowhall Park & Ride £4,996,177 £25,000 £25,000 £70,000 Y
CT Vehicle Replacement Annual Programme £150,000 £150,000 2022
Wheels to Work £70,000 £70,000 2022
Programme / Project Management Software £5,000 £5,000 £0
IT Spend (Laptop Refresh Programme) £28,750 £0 £28,750
IT - Monitor Refresh Programme £17,700 £0 £17,700
IT - Network Switch Replacement Programme £50,000 £0 £50,000
IT - Meeting Room Upgrades
IT - Voice Provision
IT - Corporate Wireless Network Upgrade

£577,409,523 £23,874,189 £19,085,189 £2,048,837 £318,365 £1,206,798 £65,000 £1,150,000

Notes
Figures in RED are an indication of the possible scale of costs where there is no agreed scope of work or estimated costs
Revenue Provision  Y = Provision made in relevant budgets, N = no provision yet made in revenue budgets , NR = no reply from budget holder yet
Resource confirmed, for resources outside Project Section ,  Y = resources confirmed, N= No resources to deliver this project, NR = No reply from senior reps

Funding Source

TCF Schemes

Bus Related Schemes

Tram Related Schemes

Rail Related Schemes

Life Cycle Works

Others

£1,248,417 £1,248,417

P
age 157



T
his page is intentionally left blank



TOTAL FORECAST 
RESOURCE        

        

          £301.99 £82.50 £384.49 

        

     MCA SYPTE  GROUP 

Type  Conditions Funding Type Portfolio Fund Value Value Value 

Revenue None Locally Generated - EZ Business Rates £2.17 £0.00 £2.17 

Revenue None Locally Generated - LA Subscriptions £1.18 £0.00 £1.18 

Revenue None Locally Generated - LEP Grant £0.50 £0.00 £0.50 

Revenue None Locally Generated - Asset Portfolio Rents £1.56 £0.00 £1.56 

Revenue None Locally Generated - Investment Income £0.08 £0.87 £0.95 

Revenue None Government Grant - 
Mayoral Capacity 
Funding £2.05 £0.00 £2.05 

Revenue Ringfenced Locally Generated Transport Transport Levy £0.45 £53.91 £54.36 

Revenue Ringfenced Locally Generated Transport 
Transport Levy 
Reserve £3.69 £0.00 £3.69 

Revenue Ringfenced Locally Generated - Commercial Income £0.00 £3.82 £3.82 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Skills & Employment 
Gainshare: Kickstart 
SY £4.00 £0.00 £4.00 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Skills & Employment 
Gainshare: Enhanced 
Apprenticeships £4.40 £0.00 £4.40 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Business Growth Gainshare: Employers £8.10 £0.00 £8.10 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Transport Active Travel £0.84 £0.00 £0.84 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Skills & Employment AEB Implementation £0.22 £0.00 £0.22 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Skills & Employment AEB Grant £38.50 £0.00 £38.50 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Infrastructure & Housing Energy Grant £0.03 £0.00 £0.03 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Skills & Employment Working Win £3.00 £0.00 £3.00 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Skills & Employment Skills Bank £2.50 £0.00 £2.50 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Business Growth Growth Hub £0.41 £0.00 £0.41 

Revenue Ringfenced Government Grant Business Growth Growth Hub - EU Exit £0.28 £0.00 £0.28 

Capital None Government Grant - 
Gainshare 
UNCOMMITTED £21.24 £0.00 £21.24 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Transport Parkway Widening £40.16 £0.00 £40.16 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Infrastructure & Housing GBF £25.86 £0.00 £25.86 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Infrastructure & Housing BF £20.00 £0.00 £20.00 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Transport TCF £71.00 £19.00 £90.00 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Transport Active Travel £5.40 £0.00 £5.40 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Business Growth LGF/JESSICA £13.50 £0.00 £13.50 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Transport 
Gainshare: Bus 
Investment £5.00 £0.00 £5.00 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Infrastructure & Housing Gainshare: Flooding  £5.50 £0.00 £5.50 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Transport 
Gainshare: Active 
Travel £2.24 £0.00 £2.24 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Transport ITB £6.03 £2.40 £8.43 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Transport 
Highways 
Maintenance £12.11 £0.00 £12.11 

Capital Ringfenced Government Grant Transport SYPTE Grants £0.00 £2.50 £2.50 

 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
 1.1 Over the course of the year the MCA’s capital and revenue budgets have seen significant 

change following the economic disruption caused by the pandemic and the resultant fiscal 
response from the government. 
 

 1.2 To ensure the MCA’s financial plans remain aligned to business priorities, a third budget 
revision exercise has been undertaken as at the end of November 2020 (Period 8). This 
exercise sought to re-test income and expenditure assumptions, and re-forecast budgets 
and programmes to the end of the financial year. 
 

 1.3 The results of this exercise highlight a number of notable issues that will influence the 
MCA’s financial position over the remainder of the year, and planning for the year ahead: 

1. Whilst the commercial viability of the South Yorkshire transport network remains a 
significant concern, it has now been confirmed that government will retain support 
packages in their current form until the end of March 2021; 

2. Previously reported disruption to the MCA Executive budget has now been 
stabilised, with resource now being released to support priority activity that was 
previously paused;  

3. The first tranche of gainshare funding is now being accessed, with resource being 
earmarked to Renewal Action Plan priorities and partner recovery efforts; 

Purpose of Report 

This report provides revised budget forecasts to the end of the financial year 2020/21. The report 
recommends the adoption of the budget estimates and adjustments to budgetary ceilings. 

 
Thematic Priority 
 
All. 
 
Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme. 

 
Recommendations 
 
The MCA Board: 

1. Adopt the revised budget estimates; 
2. Note the key conclusions of the mid-year treasury report attached at Appendix 2; and, 
3. Note the slower than forecast pace of the capital programme. 

 

25th JANUARY 2021 
 

BUDGET REVISION 3 

Page 161

Agenda Item 18



 

4. The MCA has received £30m from government in support of those sectors of the 
South Yorkshire economy affected by the transition into Tier 3 restrictions, with c. 
£8m already remitted to businesses at the time of this meeting; and, 

5. Concerns around the pace of some parts of the MCA’s capital programme are now 
crystallising in the form of significant forecast underspends. 

   
 1.4 Taken together, these prominent issues reflect a pivot from reactive management of the 

immediate unplanned consequences of the pandemic to a more proactive stage: 
supporting the stabilisation, protection, and recovery of the wider South Yorkshire 
economy. Significant challenges do, however, lie ahead. 

   
 1.5 Since the last reporting date, concerns around the MCA’s immediate financial exposure to 

falling patronage and fare-box income on buses and trams across the region has abated 
with the announcement that government will extend its existing emergency support 
package to the end of the financial year.  

   
 1.6  This announcement gives much needed near-term stability to financial planning but does 

largely defer the problem to the new financial year. Work continues apace to develop plans 
on how the MCA can support the transition from the currently heavily subsidised 
arrangements to a commercially viable network that reflects post-pandemic travel patterns. 
It is expected that government will shortly publish national plans on how they may use their 
legislative and fiscal powers in support of this transition. 

   
 1.7 The ongoing Covid related restrictions within South Yorkshire continue to present many 

challenges for the region, its communities and businesses. Since the last reporting-date a 
South Yorkshire wide scheme has been designed by the MCA and local authority partners 
to support affected businesses, using the £30m of government support received by the 
MCA. Already, c. £5m has been deployed in support of over four and half thousand 
businesses and individuals within the region.  

   
 1.8  The stabilisation of the MCA financial position following the approval of mitigations noted in 

the Quarter 1 report, and the injection of gainshare funding noted in the Quarter 2 report, 
has allowed for the release of resource to support investment in activity previously paused. 
This principally includes recruitment in the Business Growth and Skills & Employment 
teams who will have an important role to play in support to the local economy and 
communities. 

   
 1.9 Complementing this investment, Gainshare resource has also now been committed to 

Renewal Action Plan priorities around business support and skills and apprenticeships. 
Delivery plans for this activity, along with proposals for capital investment, are now in 
development whilst it is expected that the £5.75m of gainshare resource committed to 
partner recovery efforts will be deployed imminently. 

   
 1.10 In common with peer authorities across the country, this report also notes concerns around 

the pace of the capital programme. As delivery capacity has been challenged following the 
stimulus packages announced earlier in the year, and restrictions impact upon practical 
delivery, concerns have now crystallised on a number of schemes. These issues were 
identified early, and work is underway with partners and peer authorities to identify 
mitigations. 
 

 1.11 Finally, in compliance with Constitutional reporting requirements, this report sets out the 
MCA’s treasury management performance over the first half of the year.  
 

2. Proposal and justification  
 

  South Yorkshire Operational Transport Revenue Budgets 
 2.1 The Operational Transport revenue budget activity consists of that of the South Yorkshire 

Transport Executive (SYPTE), and those associated costs managed at the MCA level. 

Page 162



 

Those latter costs largely relate to the costs of debt and receipts arising from cash 
management which are managed at the Group level. 
 

 2.2 These budgets have experienced significant disruption over the first eight months of the 
year, as the public transport network has been impacted by the pandemic and resultant 
restrictions implemented to stem its proliferation. 
 

 2.3 Initial travel restrictions, the shift to home-working, and the impact of social distancing 
measures on the leisure, retail and hospitality sectors have all impacted on patronage on 
the public transport network. To-date, patronage on the bus and tram networks has not 
reached beyond 60% and 50% of pre-Covid levels respectively.   
 

 2.4 This loss of fare-paying patronage significantly impacts revenue generation, leading to 
concerns around the commercial viability of services. As services are generally run on a 
for profit basis by commercial operators, there is a significant underlying risk that unviable 
services are withdrawn by operators to the detriment of community mobility and the wider 
recovery effort.  
 

 2.5 In mitigation of this risk, the bus and tram network has received significant public subsidy 
since March 2020. The MCA, through SYPTE budgets, has contributed material support 
through paying concessionary fares at pre-Covid volume levels, which has guaranteed a 
baseline of income for operators. This has been complemented by significant amounts of 
direct grant support to the operators by government. 
 

 2.6 Government support to-date has been on a short-term rolling cycle, with cliff-edges leading 
to major concerns around the capacity of the MCA to react to a withdrawal of that support.  
 

 2.7 However, in the last month government support at existing levels has now been 
guaranteed until the end of the financial year. This extension delivers much needed near-
term financial stability and allows the Group to better develop plans for sustainable local 
support to the network should government withdraw or reduce its support in the new 
financial year. 
 

 2.8 The stability this commitment provides gives the MCA greater confidence on its budget 
forecasts, which now suggest that the Operational Transport budgets will cumulatively 
underspend by c. £2.45m.  
 

 2.9 This underspend consists of a number of issues including income shortfalls, underspends 
on concessionary fares, and increased Covid related expenditure: 
 

Budget Movements £k 

Forecast Savings:   

Concessions -£1,455 

Debt Provisions -£375 

Pensions -£358 

Tendered Bus Services -£100 

  -£2,288 

Forecast Pressures:   

Operational Departments £221 

Income Shortfalls £703 

  £924 

Carry-forward of Investment Fund to 
2021/22 risk mitigation 

-£1,087 

    

Net Underspend -£2,451 
 

Page 163



 

 2.10 Concessions are currently underspending against budget in recognition of the agreement 
with government and operators to pay a flat fee to operators based on pre-Covid 
patronage volumes, whilst so ever government support is in place. This guarantees 
operators a baseline of predictable income and is significantly in excess of the levels that 
would be paid if actual volume levels were used. The underspend arises largely because 
base budgets anticipated growth in volumes and unit cost in the new year. 

   
 2.11 Underspend on debt provisions reflects a timing issue, with a longer-repayment profile 

adopted than originally forecast for debt taken on to finance the Rotherham Interchange 
renewal works.   
 

 2.12 A review in Quarter 3 of the budget for pension costs has also resulted in the release of 
£0.36m. The pensions budget had been rolled forward from previous years to cover the 
anticipated ongoing cost of the deficit recovery contribution to the South Yorkshire Pension 
Fund (SYPF). However, the outcome of the triennial valuation of the SYPF in March 2020 
is that no such contribution is required over the next three financial years.  
 

 2.13 The budget for bus tendered services has been thoroughly reviewed in Quarter 3 to ensure 
that any eligible expenditure is being reclaimed from central government, thus maximising 
the use of DfT’s Covid-19 Bus Services Support Grant for local transport authorities (LTA 
CBSSG). Consequently, the forecast outturn has improved by £0.36m since the position 
reported as at Quarter 2. 

   
 2.14 Income shortfalls arise from a number of sources including rents generated from 

interchanges, car parking charges, and commission generated on ticket sales. The MCA is 
hopeful that some of this shortfall will be recovered from government’s income loss relief 
scheme. 
 

 2.15 Resource was also set aside as part of the Revision 2 exercise for Bus Review 
implementation activity (£0.29m). Planned work around the environmental, route, and 
quality workstreams is now being reconsidered in light of expected announcements from 
government on how they intend to use legislative and fiscal powers to support the 
transition away from the currently heavily subsidised funding model. Whilst procurement 
activity is expected to commence in Quarter 4, it is now expected that the majority of the 
cost of the activity will fall into the new year.  

   
 2.16 Finally, it should also be noted that provision was earmarked in this year’s levy contribution 

for a degree of investment in services (£1.09m). As concerns have focussed on 
maintaining existing levels of service provision rather than growth, this resource has not 
yet been adopted into the budget and will now be carried forward to support the mitigation 
of risk in the new year 

   
 2.17  Noting the ongoing uncertainty beyond the near-term, it is proposed that underspend and 

uncommitted resource be held as in-year reserve. This resource can be deployed to 
immediate pressures or priority activity should the need arise. Resource not used in year 
will flow to reserves to support the mitigation of the significant risks forecasts in the new 
year. 

   
  MCA/LEP Operational Revenue Budget 
 2.18 The MCA/LEP revenue budget funds the core costs of the MCA Executive, providing much 

of the required infrastructure and support for the delivery of the capital and revenue 
programmes, and delivering the policy, development, and statutory functions.  

   
 2.19 The MCA/LEP budget is funded from a disparate variety of funding streams. These include 

small envelopes of ringfenced grant, recharges to the capital and revenue programmes, 
and then un-ringfenced funding. Un-ringfenced funding includes general grants, member 

Page 164



 

subscriptions, commercial income generated from the MCA’s property assets, and retained 
business-rates generated from the Enterprise Zones. 
 

 2.20 The net-budget was set at £9.9m for the year, and funded from in-year contributions, a 
draw on the LGF revenue grant reserve, and a draw on a previously earmarked General 
Fund revenue reserve. 
 

 2.21 Previous reports have noted significant strain on this budget area arising from Covid 
related income shortfalls and expenditure pressures. Mitigations proposed in the last 
budget report were approved by Board and have now been implemented. 

   
 2.22 These mitigations stabilised the budget and have since been complemented by the 

Board’s formal approval (agreed at the meeting in November 2020) to release £0.74m of 
gainshare resource to unlock previously paused activity that had been held in abeyance 
given the severity of the reported pressures. 
 

 2.23 This additional resource has allowed the MCA to target resource into priority vacant 
establishment posts in the Business Growth and Skills and Employment Team, and also 
support extra capacity to support the delivery of the AEB Implementation Plan.  
 

 2.24 As the year has progressed a number of proposed commissions have fallen away or been 
deferred to the new year. These changes largely reflect the ongoing Covid restrictions 
which have limited the proposed scale and scope of some pieces of activity (such as trade 
missions), whilst capacity has also been consumed by the immediacy of the response to 
the pandemic. 
 

 2.25 Coupled with ongoing budget challenge to mitigate pressures, net expenditure has fallen 
by c. £0.58m since the last reporting date. After adjustments for funding sources, this 
reduces the required draw on reserves by c. £0.39m. 

   
Appendix 1 details expenditure and income forecasts along with variances to budget, but 
cumulative identified pressures and mitigations can be summarised as: 
 
 

  Budget Movements £k 

Pressures   

Net Expenditure Pressures -£173 

Income Pressures -£1,187 

Total Pressures -£1,360 

    

Mitigations:   

New Income Sources £1,342 

Draw on Provisions £238 

Total Mitigations £1,580 

Requirement for Reserves Reduced by £220 
 

 
 

  

 2.26 Appendix 1 details budget movements, but the following table summarises the overall 
budget movements at each review point since the adoption of the base budget. Despite 
the disruption, loss of income, and expenditure pressures, mitigations now mean that net 
expenditure is almost on budget, and use of reserves within £0.22m of the original budget 
estimate: 
 

   

Page 165



 

   

  Base Var. Rev. 1 Var. Rev. 2 Var. Rev. 3 
Var. to 

Base 

  £k £k £k £k £k £k £k £k 

Gross Expenditure £9,986 £335 £10,321 £681 £11,002 -£843 £10,159 £173 

Recharges & 
Specific Grant 

-£3,425 -£511 -£3,936 -£840 -£4,776 £284 -£4,492 -£1,067 

Net Expenditure £6,561 -£176 £6,385 -£159 £6,226 -£559 £5,667 -£894 

                  

Available Funding -£6,278 £430 -£5,848 £81 -£5,767 £163 -£5,604 £674 

                  

Net 
(Surplus)/Deficit 

£283 £254 £537 -£79 £459 -£396 £63 -£220 

                  

Contribution 
(from)/to General 
Fund Reserves 

-£283 -£254 -£537 £79 -£459 £396 -£63 £220 

 

   
  MCA/LEP Revenue Programmes 
 2.27 The 2020/21 budget provides resource for the MCA to deliver several revenue 

programmes in-year. Expenditure and income related to these programmes is 
differentiated from the core operational revenue budget, reflecting the discrete funding of 
the programmes and their often time-limited nature.  
 

 2.28 In recent months the value of these programmes has significantly increased as resource 
flowing to the MCA to support Covid recovery efforts has been announced and gainshare 
resource has been received.  
 

 2.29 The latest forecast expenditure shows full year expenditure of £42.79m, representing an 
increase on the opening budget of £36.31m. This expenditure is fully funded from ring-
fenced grant allocations received in year or held from prior years. 
 

 2.30 The following table exemplifies the exemplifies the net growth in this area: 
 

  Budget Movement £k 

Opening Budget £6,476 

New Funding £38,219 

Additional Draw on Unapplied Grant 495 

Lower Forecast Expenditure -£2,397 

Forecast to Outturn at Period 8 £42,793 
 

   
 2.31 New funding largely relates to the addition of £30m of new funding negotiated with 

government for a discretionary business support scheme, designed and administered in 
South Yorkshire. By the end of the calendar year over 5k grants totalling c. £5.28m had 
been awarded to businesses and individuals across South Yorkshire. The shape of this 
scheme is under constant review to ensure that it remains responsive to the needs of 
business as Covid restrictions are changed. 
 

 2.32 New funding also reflects the adoption of gainshare resource into the revenue budget. An 
allocation of £12m of gainshare revenue is available for deployment in this financial year, 
and Members have previously committed this value in full to recovery and RAP priorities. It 
is forecast that c. £7m of this resource will be deployed in the current year. This includes 
£5.75m deployed in support of local authority partner recovery plans, with resource ready 
to be remitted to partners. Gainshare resource not deployed in the current financial year 

Page 166



 

can be rolled forward to future periods at the MCA’s discretion. A breakdown of current 
commitments made on gainshare resource is provided in Appendix 3. 
 

 2.33 Revenue resource granted to complement capital delivery schemes associated with the 
Active Travel and Brownfield programmes is also forecast to be released in the current 
year. This resource will support the pace and quality of development of capital delivery 
schemes. The MCA intends to complement this funding through the creation of a Project 
Feasibility Fund, designed to deliver a sustainable pipeline of investable propositions. 
Work is underway to identify how this Fund could be resourced, both in the immediate and 
longer-term.  
 

 2.34 Appendix 1 details the full scope of the MCA’s revenue programmes, presenting forecast 
performance against budget at each revision period.  

   
  MCA Group Capital Programme 
   
 2.35 The MCA’s Group level programme was set for the year at c. £113.478m. Since that point 

a number of new programmes of funding have been announced, whilst delivery pressures 
have been identified.  

   
 2.36 Despite the addition of c. £44.58m of new funding and schemes into the overall 

programme, the forecast outturn expenditure levels has now fallen below the base budget 
as slippage and deferrals has more than offset new funding. These movements can be 
summarised as follows: 
 

Programme Movements £k 

Base Budget Position £113,478 

New Programmes £44,580 

Slippage/Deferrals -£63,715 

Forecast to Outturn £94,343 

 
 

 2.37 Forecast programme pressures now account for 56% of the opening programme. These 
pressures are evident across a number of programmes and are reflected in peer 
authorities across the country.  
 

 2.38 Work is underway within the MCA, and with the collaboration of partners, to understand 
the drivers for this slippage and seek longer-term mitigations. However, Covid restrictions 
coupled with the announcement of a significant number of new time-limited programmes 
has undoubtedly made a challenging target more difficult. 
 
New Funding not yet Adopted into the Programme 

 2.39 Since the last reporting-date the MCA has formally received two new funding allocations: 
1. A630 Parkway Widening Scheme: £40.16m; and, 
2. Active Travel 2: £4.37m. 

 
 2.40 Whilst the MCA has previously approved the acceptance of this funding the schemes have 

not formally been adopted into the programme. At this stage it is not forecast that there will 
be any material expenditure before the end of the year, and therefore the capital 
programme ceiling will not need to be adjusted.  
 

  Gainshare Funded Programme 
 2.41 The MCA has £18m of gainshare capital at its disposal in the current financial year. To-

date the MCA has committed to deploying this resource in support of flooding and Active 
Travel aspirations and has further indicated its intent to deploy resource in support of bus 
investment. Substantive work is also underway to develop a South Yorkshire Investment 

Page 167



 

Fund centred on Member priorities to leverage the long-term gainshare capital 
commitments. 

   
 2.42 At this stage it is forecast that gainshare funded expenditure will be limited in the current 

year. Resource earmarked to Active Travel will track the deployment of funding from the 
Active Travel 2 scheme whilst negotiations around local support to the Environment 
Agency’s South Yorkshire flooding programme are ongoing.  
 

 2.43 Gainshare resource not deployed in the current year can be rolled forward at the MCA’s 
discretion. 
 

  Local Growth Fund Programme (LGF) 
 2.44 The LGF programme is now in its final year, with MHCLG reiterating the requirement for all 

monies to be spent in-year. 
 

 2.45 Although the LGF programme is showing a material outturn underspend against the full 
year budget, the key parameter is the forecast outturn expenditure against the in-year 
funding. On this metric the programme is currently performing well, with forecast 
expenditure currently in excess of target by £0.55m: 

   
  LGF Programme £k 

Target Expenditure £43,239 

Forecast to Outturn £43,786 

Current Headroom on Target £547 
 

   
 2.46 This position has been achieved despite reported slippage of £10.83m over the year-to-

date. Dynamic use of the pipeline has allowed slipped or removed activity to be largely 
replaced by pipeline funding: 
 

LGF Programme £k 

Target Expenditure £43,239 

Slippage -£10,829 

Use of Pipeline £11,376 

Forecast Outturn £43,786 
 

   
 2.47 This approach protects the time limited LGF allocations, with slipped activity falling into the 

new year. That activity can be funded up to the available capital resource held by the 
MCA. At this time, this is limited to the £15m capital funding recycled from the former 
JESSICA fund and a number of recycled loans and receipts totalling £3.46m. 

   
 2.48 Work is ongoing to test whether there will be further slippage as the year progresses. At 

this stage there is c. £2.71m of further pipeline schemes that could potentially absorb 
additional underspend, but as the year progresses it will become ever more difficult to flip 
schemes in this manner. Should slippage exceed the available resource and LGF 
underspend not be retained in the region, there is a risk of schemes being unfunded in the 
new year. Balancing the need to spend the LGF resource and managing the risk of over 
committing is particularly important. 

   
  Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 
 2.49 The TCF programme is currently reporting slippage of c. £28.87m against the funding 

profile given to the region by government. This represents c. 88% of the programme for the 
year. Performance issues with this programme were identified early in the year, and there 
has been no further forecast deterioration since a major review was undertaken and 
reported on in August. 

   

Page 168



 

 2.50 TCF is awarded in annual allocations, and whilst there is flexibility to move funding 
between years within a programme cycle, there is a growing risk that the amount of activity 
being pushed into the final years of the programme will become increasingly difficult to 
deliver by the end of the programme in March 2023. 
 

 2.51 Work has been undertaken between the MCA and local authority partners to review this 
programme and the Transport Executive Board and Chief Executives have been briefed on 
performance. Further collaborative engagement with delivery partners has been planned 
for January, and Members will be kept apprised of the issue and identified mitigations. 

   
  Getting Building Fund (GBF) 
 2.52 The Getting Building Fund represents part of the government’s fiscal stimulus package, 

with £33.6m of funding being awarded to the region for fourteen ‘shovel-ready’ schemes. 
   
 2.53 MCA processes are being refined to accelerate these schemes through to FBC, contract, 

and into delivery. A number of schemes have submitted FBCs and are progressing. At this 
stage it is anticipated that expenditure will outturn at £5.19m (£7.73 at Revision 2) with 
further expenditure in financial year 2021/22 ahead of the conclusion of the programme in 
March 2022. 

   
  Brownfield Fund 
   
 2.54 The Brownfield Site Fund represents a further strand of the government’s fiscal stimulus 

package, with an initial £40m of capital awarded to the region over five years. The region 
was also successful in bidding for a further £840k of revenue funding that will be used to 
accelerate activity over the early years. 

   
 2.55 Grant conditionality around this scheme requires that the programme is assessed under 

government Green Book processes. To expedite expenditure schemes are completing 
FBCs with the intention of a number of proposals being brought before Members in March. 
 

 2.56 The accompanying report in this agenda pack notes the intention to bring scheme 
proposals forward in the current financial year of up to £8.73m, but it is not forecast that 
expenditure incurred will be beyond £2m at this stage. 

   
  Highways Maintenance Programmes 
 2.57 There are three strands to the maintenance programmes: 

1. Highways Capital Maintenance (HCM) 
2. Integrated Transport Block (ITB) 
3. Pot Hole & Challenge Fund  

   
 2.58 As part of the government’s stimulus package £13.61m of un-budgeted capital resource 

has been made available to the region for Pot Hole repair. At the MCA’s November 
meeting approval was granted for the acceptance of this funding and its onward 
deployment. Due to the late receipt of the grant determination, it is expected that 
expenditure this year will be limited (c. £3.40m). 
 

 
 

2.59 At this stage it is forecast that ITB and HCM allocations will largely spend to budget. 
 

 2.60 Highway maintenance funding is not generally subject to the same degree of time-
restraints as some of the other funding afforded to the MCA. 

   
  Reserves 
 2.61 In common with all partners, the MCA holds revenue reserves. These reserves serve a 

number of purposes.  
 

 2.62 Earmarked reserves are held to earmark grant funding that is yet to be deployed, whilst 
other reserves are held to mitigate risk or exploit opportunity around specific issues. 

Page 169



 

General reserves are held to manage latent risk and, again, exploit opportunities that may 
arise. 
 

 2.63 The importance of retaining access to deployable un-ringfenced reserves has been 
particularly apparent in this financial year as the MCA and partners have reacted to un-
forecast challenges. 
 

 2.64 Since the last reporting-date the forecast reserve position has been adjusted to reflect the 
latest outturn forecasts. These include the forecast underspend on the SYPTE position 
(£1.14m), the forecast reduced use of reserves to balance the MCA Executive position 
(£328k) and adjustments in the drawdown of grants unapplied. 
 

 2.65 The MCA Group retains a prudent level of reserves. The majority of these reserves will be 
drawn upon in the coming years to support the Reserve Strategy. The level of reserves will 
be reviewed annually as part of the budget setting process: 

   
    B/f Movement C/d 

Revenue Reserves £k £k £k 

MCA/LEP       

General £1,000 £0 £1,000 

Earmarked £12,044 -£1,465 £10,579 

  £13,044 -£1,465 £11,579 

        

MCA Transport       

General £5,888 £0 £5,888 

Earmarked £30,678 -£1,471 £29,207 

  £36,566 -£1,471 £35,095 

        

SYPTE       

General £4,951 £0 £4,951 

Earmarked £11,065 £0 £11,065 

  £16,016 £0 £16,016 

        

Total Group Revenue Reserves £65,626 -£2,936 £62,690 
 

   
   
  Mid-Year Treasury Performance 

 
 2.66 The MCA’s Constitution requires that it reports at least twice a year on the performance of 

its treasury management function. The MCA chooses to report at the mid-year mark and at 
the outturn of the financial year. 
 

 2.67 Appendix 2 outlines performance up to Period 8. The report notes that the MCA has 
performed within its prudential indicators and that performance is largely on-track.  

   
 2.68 In common with many authorities, however, the report notes that investment returns 

remain suppressed. This factor reflects the premium placed on ‘safe-harbour’ investment 
instruments as global financial markets weather Covid disruption. The impact of this issue 
is felt within our revenue budgets with a net shortfall on revenue generated of c. £150k. 
This issue would have been exacerbated but for the higher levels of cash held by the MCA 
as unplanned grants were received and the capital programme slipped. 
 
 
 

Page 170



 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 

 3.1 This report recommends the adoption of the third budget revision of the financial year. 
These forecasts are aligned to the latest delivery information available, and thus ensure 
that financial and business planning remain aligned. 
 

 3.2 Do nothing – as far as the mid-year treasury report is concerned, this is not an option as 
the MCA would fail to comply with the reporting requirements of the Prudential Code 
resulting in a loss of scrutiny. 
 

4. Implications 
 

 

 4.1 Financial 
This is a financial report. The financial implications of proposals are detailed in the body of 
the document. 
 

 4.2 Legal 
This report notes the authorisation required by the MCA for the adoption of revised budget 
estimates. 
 

 4.3 Risk Management 
Failure to monitor compliance with the treasury management strategy and investment 
strategy and related Prudential Indicators, could lead to the MCA making capital 
investment decisions which are unaffordable or expose the MCA to the risk of loss beyond 
its risk appetite. 
 

 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  
None directly as a result of the recommendations of this paper. 
 

5. Communications 
 

 

 5.1 None.  
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 

 6.1  Appendix 1: Detailed Budget Monitoring Reports 
Appendix 2: Mid-year Treasury Report 
Appendix 3: Gainshare Commitments  

 
Report Author  GARETH SUTTON 

Post GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR 
Officer responsible GARETH SUTTON 

Organisation SHEFFIELD CITY REGION MCA 
Email Gareth.sutton@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 

Telephone  
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad Street 
West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
 

Page 171

mailto:Gareth.sutton@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

1. South Yorkshire Operational Transport Revenue Budgets 
 

  2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 

  Budget Forecast Variance 

  £k £k £k 

Mandatory & Discretionary 
Expenditure 

      

ENCTS/Mobility Concessions £24,916 £23,461 -£1,455 

Financial Obligations       

Capital Financing & Depreciation £15,177 £15,177 £0 

Pensions £1,256 £898 -£358 

Discretionary Expenditure       

Child Concessions £2,136 £2,136 £0 

Departure Charges -£946 -£946 £0 

Tendered Bus Services £5,821 £5,721 -£100 

Community Transport £1,657 £1,657 £0 

Operational Departments       

Customer Services £2,209 £2,215 £6 

Commission on ticket sales -£460 -£260 £200 

Public Transport £8,643 £8,590 -£53 

Rents -£479 -£395 £84 

Service Charges -£1,764 -£1,732 £32 

Car Parking (Inc P&R) -£328 -£58 £270 

Other (vending, turnstiles etc) -£69 -£29 £40 

Support Departments £2,592 £2,864 £272 

Sub-Total £60,361 £59,299 -£1,062 

Levy Funding Available for Deployment £1,087 £0 -£1,087 

SYPTE Total £61,448 £59,299 -£2,149 

MCA Transport operational expenditure £466 £462 -£4 

MRP  £4,022 £3,647 -£375 

External interest  £1,388 £1,388 £0 

Investment income  -£1,274 -£1,197 £77 

MCA Transport Total £4,602 £4,300 -£302 

Overall Transport Total £66,050 £63,599 -£2,451 
 

  

Page 173



 

 
2. MCA/LEP Operational Revenue Budget 

 

  2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 

  Budget Forecast   Orig. 
Variance 

vs Orig.  
  R2* R3 Variance Budget Budget  
  £k £k £k £k £k 

 Business Growth, Skills & Employment  £2,858 £2,338 -£520 £2,495 -£157 

 Transport, Infrastructure & Housing  £1,746 £1,719 -£27 £2,103 -£384 

 Governance & Mayoral Office  £645 £645 £0 £606 £39 

 Chief Executive Office  £1,829 £1,702 -£127 £1,818 -£116 

 Business Services  £2,032 £1,975 -£57 £1,485 £490 

 Property Running Costs  £1,732 £1,620 -£112 £1,729 -£109 

 Corporate  £160 £160 £0 £0 £160 

 Vacancy Allowance  £0 £0 £0 -£250 £250 

 Total Gross Operational Budget  £11,002 £10,159 -£843 £9,986 £173 

 Specific grant income and recharges  -£4,776 -£4,492 £284 -£3,425 -£1,067 

 Total Net Operational Budget  £6,226 £5,667 -£559 £6,561 -£894 

            

 Funded By:            

 General Income  -£5,481 -£5,366 £115 -£6,278 £912 

 Release of Provisions  -£138 -£238 -£100 £0 -£238 

 Release of Aged Creditors  -£148 £0 £148 £0 £0 

 PLANNED USE OF GENERAL FUND RESERVES  £459 £63 -£396 £283 -£220 
*Revision 2 numbers re-stated for presentational purposes 

 
 

3. MCA/LEP Revenue Budget General Income (before recharges/capitalisations) 
 

  2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 

  Budget Forecast   Orig. 
Variance 

vs Orig.  
  R2 R3 Variance Budget Budget  
  £k £k £k £k £k 
 Enterprise Zone Business Rates  £1,137 £1,137 £0 £2,009 -£872 
 BEIS LEP Grant  £500 £500 £0 £500 £0 
 BEIS Growth Hub Grant  £410 £410 £0 £410 £0 
 Transport Hub Subscriptions  £1,000 £1,000 £0 £1,000 £0 
 LEP Subscriptions  £184 £184 £0 £184 £0 
 AMP Income  £1,382 £1,382 £0 £1,620 -£238 
 Treasury Management  £323 £323 £0 £400 -£77 
 Gainshare  £390 £275 -£115 £0 £275 
 Other Property Income  £155 £155 £0 £155 £0 
  £5,481 £5,366 -£115 £6,278 -£912 

 
  

Page 174



 

4. MCA/LEP Revenue Programmes 
 

  2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 

  Budget Forecast   Orig. 
Variance vs 

Orig.  

Programme Activity R2 R3 Variance Budget Budget  

  £k £k £k £k £k 

 Tier 3 Business Support Scheme  £30,000 £30,000 £0 £0 £30,000 

 Gainshare Revenue Schemes  £11,259 £6,300 -£4,959 £0 £6,300 

 Sustainable Travel Access Fund  £2,500 £1,975 -£525 £2,500 -£525 

 Mayoral Capacity Fund  £1,166 £631 -£535 £671 -£40 

  - Active Travel  £0 £190 £190 £0 £190 

  - Net Zero  £0 £125 £125 £0 £125 

 Health Led Trial  £859 £936 £77 £1,499 -£563 

 Health Led Trial - Extension   £461 £461 £0 £0 £461 

 Brownfield  £251 £567 £316 £0 £567 

 Active Travel Fund (Revenue)  £798 £100 -£698 £0 £100 

 Skills Bank  £408 £153 -£255 £790 -£637 

 Adult Education Budget Implementation  £332 £332 £0 £0 £332 

 One Public Estate  £293 £194 -£99 £338 -£144 

 Enterprise Advisor Pilot  £180 £180 £0 £180 £0 

 HS2 Growth  £160 £160 £0 £184 -£24 

 Key Account Management  £140 £140 £0 £140 £0 

 Homeless Veterans  £90 £90 £0 £90 £0 

 Planning Delivery Fund  £72 £72 £0 £41 £31 

 Energy & Sustainability  £43 £43 £0 £43 £0 

 Air Quality Grant  £72 £144 £72 £0 £144 

  £49,084 £42,793 -£6,291 £6,476 £36,317 
 

5. Group Capital Programme 
 

  2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 

  Budget Forecast   Orig. 
Variance 

vs Orig.  
  R2 R3 Variance Budget Budget  

  £k £k £k £k £k 

 Local Growth Fund  £43,700 £43,786 £86 £47,286 -£3,500 

 Brownfield Fund  £4,226 £2,000 -£2,226 £0 £2,000 

 Getting Building Fund  £7,735 £5,193 -£2,542 £0 £5,193 

 Active Travel Emergency Fund (Capital)  £603 £603 £0 £0 £603 

 Active Travel (phase-2)  £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

 Highways Capital Maintenance  £13,456 £13,552 £96 £13,552 £0 

 Pothole & Challenge Fund  £13,605 £3,401 -£10,204 £0 £3,401 

 SYPTE (excluding ITB & TCF)  £4,676 £6,957 £2,281 £10,054 -£3,097 

 Integrated Transport Block  £8,730 £8,668 -£62 £9,443 -£775 

 Transforming Cities Fund  £3,800 £3,800 £0 £32,671 -£28,871 

 Gainshare Capital  £18,000 £5,500 -£12,500 £0 £5,500 

 Parkway Widening A630  £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

 ICT and Asset Renewals  £411 £411 £0 £0 £411 

 BDR Transport Capital Pot  £472 £472 £0 £472 £0 

  £119,414 £94,343 -£25,071 £113,478 -£19,135 
 

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 
 

SHEFFIELD CITY REGION MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY  
 
Investment strategy  
 
The investment strategy agreed at the start of the year set out the intention to look at options to diversify 
the investment portfolio in view of the availability of core funds over the longer term to seek better returns 
on investments, whilst paying due regard to security, liquidity and yield.  
 
This was before the advent of the Coronavirus pandemic.  
 
The greatly increased uncertainty this has brought about has meant that, for the time being at least, the 
MCA has continued with its existing prudent approach to managing its investment portfolio. This entails 
investing in a relatively narrow range of financial instruments with highly rated counterparties, namely: 
 

 Fixed term deposits with local authorities through the local authority to local authority market 

 Call accounts with reputable banks with a high credit rating, and  

 Low volatility low risk highly liquid Money Market Funds which provide for instant access. 
 
The MCA Group follows statutory MHCLG investment guidance and CIPFA recommended good practice 
in placing a high priority on the prudent management of risk by prioritising security and liquidity over 
maximising returns. 
 
Expected return on Investments.  
 
The expected return on investments at the time that the 2020/21 Treasury Management strategy was 
agreed were as follows: 
 

Average earnings in 
each year 

 

2020/21 0.75% 

2021/22 1.00% 

2022/23 1.25% 

2023/24 1.50% 

2024/25 1.75% 

 

The landscaped has completely transformed since and our treasury advisors are now suggesting that the 
target performance for relatively short term investments of three months duration is as follows: 

Average earnings in 
each year 

 

2020/21 0.10% 

2021/22 0.10% 

2022/23 0.10% 

2023/24 0.10% 

2024/25 0.25% 

  
 
Current investment portfolio 
 
The SCR Group has continued to hold a substantial investment portfolio throughout the 2020/21 financial 
year up to and including November 2020.  
 

Page 177



 

 

As illustrated below, core funds have increased from £217m at the end of March 2020 to £308m at the 
end of November 2020. 
 
The increase in core funds is primarily of a temporary nature reflecting the inflow of funding relating to 
LGF, Gainshare, Getting Building Fund, Transforming Cities Funding, South Yorkshire transport capital 
funding which has not yet been defrayed. 

 
 
Longer term investments of more than 365 days 
 
Whilst much of the increase in core funds is of a temporary nature, some of them are longer term, 
principally those relating to funds being built up to repay MCA Group debt as it falls due.  
 
This allows some of the investment portfolio to be invested longer term which has helped secure much 
better returns than those available on short duration investments.  
 
The table below summarises the current level of longer term investment instruments in absolute terms 
and as a percentage of the total investment portfolio against the maximum approved in the 2020/21 
Treasury Management Strategy as at the end of November 2020.  
 

 
 Investment greater than 365 days 

2020/21 2020/21 

Indicator Period 8  

£'000 £'000 

Total core funds - maximum available £113,400 £113,400 

Existing long term investments  £60,000 £75,000 

Balance available to invest  £53,400 38,400 

As a % of total investment portfolio  75.0% 24.3% 

 
 
All of the longer term investments are fixed term deposits held with local authorities.  
 
 
Overall return on investments  
 
Performance against the target return on the investment portfolio as a whole set in the Treasury 
Management Strategy is as follows for the year to date up to and including November 2020: 
 

Returns on investments   

2020/21 2020/21 

Indicator Period 8 

% % 

Target return on treasury investments  1.4 0.77 

 

Page 178



 

 

Whilst performance for the year to date is less than the target set at the start of the year it is 
nevertheless still considerably higher than the revised target for 2020/21 of 0.1% suggested by the 
MCA’s treasury advisors.  
 
This has been achieved because of the significantly higher returns being earned on longer term 
investments. This is illustrated in the table below which shows the average return on investments on a 
quarterly basis together with the average level of investments: 
 

  

2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Period 8 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

L T investments  65,000 60,000 75,000 

S T investments  133,760 174,885 226,547 

All investments - weighted average  198,760 234,885 301,547 

  

L T investments return  2.155% 2.160% 1.855% 

S T investments return  0.448% 0.271% 0.132% 

All investments – weighted average 1.006% 0.754% 0.561% 
 
The table clearly illustrates the declining returns being earned on short term investments which have 
fallen from 0.448% on average in Q1 to 0.132% in Period 8.  
 
Security  
 
The 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy permitted in principle that there be a limited relaxation of 
the criteria for investing with counterparties (duration and type of investment) in order to progress the 
diversification of the portfolio outside the current narrow range of investment types.  
 
The continuation of the existing prudent approach to managing the investment portfolio has meant it has 
not been necessary to consider such a relaxation to date. 
 
The risk of default in respect of the current narrow range of investment types is considered to be very 
low (potential default risk is assumed to be zero on local authority deposits and estimated to be c. 
0.013% in respect of reputable banks with a high credit rating based on historic default rates).  
 
 
Liquidity  
 
The 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy stated that a balance of £25m should be maintained in 
highly liquid instant access investments / the bank in order to manage day to day treasury activity. This 
relatively high balance is considered necessary given the uncertainty of the timing of expenditure on the 
MCA’s major capital investment programmes and major initiatives (for example the £30m Tier 3 business 
assistance scheme) that the MCA is responsible for delivering.  
 
The £25m minimum threshold has been maintained throughout the year to date.  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 179



 

 

Borrowing Strategy  
 
The borrowing strategy currently relates solely to the transport functions of the MCA pending powers 
being granted to enable borrowing to be taken out in respect of its LEP functions.  
 
The current borrowing strategy is to meet any borrowing need for the year internally from treasury 
investments rather than taking out externally borrowing. This is in the expectation that the cost of new 
borrowing will continue to exceed likely investment returns.  
 
On 26 November 2020 the Government introduced changes to the terms under which it provides Public 
Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans to local authorities. This resulted in a 1% cut in the interest rate 
payable on new loans taken out with effect from 26 November onwards. This has meant that, where 
previously, PWLB rates were in the range of 2% for loans of 1 year rising to 3% for 25 year borrowing, 
they are now available in the range between 0.95% and 1.90%. 
 
However, as noted in the section above on investment strategy, there has been a substantial fall in the 
expected returns on short duration investments to 0.1% 
 
Hence, the strategy agreed at the start of the financial year still remains valid and is likely to remain so 
for the short to medium term at least, whilst ever returns are forecast to stay at the current historic low 
level of c. 0.1% 
 
In addition, the current strategy is to repay debt as it falls due rather than to refinance debt. This 
assumption has been built into the financial plans resulting in a projected fall in debt servicing costs as 
debt is repaid. 
 
The strategy also seeks to take opportunity to reschedule existing debt where this will lead to a net 
benefit. However, for the reasons described further on in this report it is considered very unlikely that any 
such opportunities will arise.  
 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) estimates 
 
The table below shows how planned capital expenditure was expected to be financed at the start of the 
financial year and the latest current forecast as at Period 8.  
 

2. Capital Financing Requirement Estimates  2020/21 2020/21 

  Indicator  Period 8  

  £'000 £'000 

South Yorkshire Transport Programmes:     

Government Grants £54,809 £115,056 

Borrowing £5,279 £0 

Capital Receipts £0 £0 

Earmarked reserves £664 £0 

Revenue contributions  £588 £0 

  £61,340 £115,056 

Local Growth Fund Programme:     

Government Grant £60,400 £18,000 

  £60,400 £18,000 

Corporate  £0 £0 

  £0 £0 

      

Net borrowing needed for the year  £5,279 £4,707 

Page 180



 

 

 
Any capital expenditure not funded by capital grants, capital receipts, or revenue contributions, results in 
a need for borrowing. 
 
The borrowing need for 2020/21 of £5.279m as originally approved comprised £4.235m for re-railing and 
£1.043m towards the M1 junction 31 Highways Improvement scheme which Barnsley MBC are funding 
from their share of the BDR capital pot.  
 
In the event, Barnsley accelerated their draw down from the BDR capital pot in 2019/20 which means 
that there is only £472k remaining to be drawn down in 2020/21.  
 
The overall borrowing requirement after allowing for the additional borrowing need of £5.279m remains 
within the overall amount approved by the MCA in 2018/19 to borrow up to £23.3m to support capital 
investment on South Yorkshire transport schemes (Rotherham Interchange, re-railing and the BDR 
capital pot). 
.  
The forecast change in the underlying need to borrow or Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) in 
2020/21 is as follows:  
 

Capital Financing Requirement  2020/21 2020/21 

  Indicator  Period 8 

  £'000 £'000 

Opening CFR  £115,603 £116,054 

      

movement in CFR      

Additional borrowing requirement   £5,279 £4,707 

      

Amounts set aside from revenue for the 
repayment of debt (MRP)  -£4,022 -£3,647 

Capital receipts set aside for the repayment of 
debt £0 £0 

Other adjustments  £0 £0 

      

Closing CFR  £116,860 £117,114 
 
 
The lower than budgeted charge for MRP is due to a reprofiling of MRP in relation to Rotherham 
Interchange. 
 
Amount of external debt against the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)  
 
The purpose of this indicator is to assess the extent to which borrowing is only being used in the medium 
to longer term to finance capital expenditure.  
 

CURRENT BORROWING POSITION 

2020/21 2020/21 

Indicator   Period 8  

£'000 £'000 

External Debt     

   -MCA Loans at 1st April / 30 November £25,660 £25,660 

   -Expected change in MCA Loans £0 -£660 

   -SYPTE Debt at 1st April / 30 November £161,375 £123,375 

   -Expected change in SYPTE Loans -£53,000 -£15,000 

Page 181



 

 

Gross Debt £134,035 £133,375 

The Capital Financing Requirement £116,860 £117,114 

Debt in excess of CFR  £17,175 £16,261 
 
The benchmark recommended by CIPFA is that the estimated amount of gross debt should not exceed 
the estimated CFR for the current and following two years. 
 
The reason why gross debt is in excess of CFR is due to the fact that historic debt taken out in the 1990s 
has only recently started to be repaid whereas over the same period MRP has been charged annually to 
the transport levy to write down the CFR.  
 
This situation is now starting to rebalance as debt matures and significant loan repayments are being 
made. Hence, the £53.6m of loan repayable in 2020/1 has reduced the amount by which debt exceeds 
CFR from £71m in 2019/20 to £16m in 2020/21.  
 
Further substantial loan repayments will be made as debt matures as illustrated in the table below.  This 
will bring gross debt below the CFR. 
 

Maturity of borrowing: 

Amount     

£'000 % 

2020/21 53,000 28% 

2021/22 7,975 4% 

2022/23 8,000 4% 

2023/24 50,400 27% 

2024/25 4,000 2% 

2025/26 4,000 2% 

2026/27 4,000 2% 

2027/28 22,000 12% 

2028/29 0 0% 

2029/30 4,000 2% 

2030/31 4,000 2% 

2043 to 2056 25,000 13% 

Total £186,375 100% 

 
 
Debt Rescheduling / Early Repayment 
 
The interest rates on the existing debt portfolio ranges from 4.25% to 8.50%.  
 
Following the government’s introduction of the new lending terms for PWLB interest rates for new 
borrowing are in the range in the range between 0.95% and 1.90%. The interest rates for premature 
repayment which might facilitate rescheduling or early repayment of existing debt are c. 1% lower than 
this in the range -0.2% to 0.8%. 
 
The differential between the rates on the existing debt portfolio and premature repayments determine 
what premium would be incurred from rescheduling or repaying debt early.  
 
The size of the differential at present means that cost of premature repayment will far outweigh any 
potential gain. There is therefore little realistic prospect of repaying PWLB debt early in the current 
environment. 

Page 182



 

 

The prospect of refinancing or paying off early some of the underlying PFI debt relating to Doncaster 
Interchange in order to reduce future unitary payments over the remainder of the PFI term is discussed 
at the regular review meetings with the PFI Operator. No such opportunities have presented themselves 
to date.   

 
Borrowing limits 
 
There are two indicators on borrowing limits: the authorised limit and operational boundary 
 
The authorised limit represents a control on the maximum amount of debt that can be borrowed for 
capital investment and temporary cash flow purposes. It reflects the level of external debt which, while 
not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the long term. The authorised 
limit allows £40m headroom over the maximum expected amount of gross debt in the year.  
 
The operational boundary is the maximum amount of money that the MCA group expects to borrow 
during the financial year. It acts as a useful warning if breached during the year that underlying spend 
may be higher than expected or income lower than budgeted. The operational boundary allows for £25m 
headroom.  
 

Authorised Limit 

2020/21 2020/21 

Indicator  Period 8  

£'000 £'000 

Loans £228,500 £228,500 

Other Long Term Liabilities - PFI £11,500 £11,500 

Total £240,000 £240,000 

Operational Boundary 

2020/21 2021/22 

Indicator Period 8  

£'000 £'000 

Loans £213,500 £213,500 

Other Long-Term Liabilities - PFI £11,500 £11,500 

Total £225,000 £225,000 

 
 
The amount of external debt at the end of Period 8 stood at £149m and is forecast to fall to £133m by 
the end of the financial year.  

No temporary revenue borrowing has been necessary or is anticipated.  

The PFI liability is on profile to fall by £0.246m in 2020/21 from its current balance of £11.019m.  

Hence, for the year to date, borrowing is well within the Authorised Limit and operational Boundary 
approved at the start of the year, and, no changes are required. 

 
Financing Costs 
 
The affordability of decisions taken to finance capital investment is assessed by the ratio of Financing 
Costs to Net Revenue Stream. 
 
As illustrated below the latest forecast outturn position at Period 8 shows financing costs of 22.1% to be 
within the ratio approved at the start of the year. It represents a marked reduction against the 
comparative figure for 2019/20 of 25.8% due to interest savings of £3.6m being made as a consequence 
of £53m of debt being repaid in 2020/21.  
 

Page 183



 

 

 
 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue streams 

2020/21 2020/21 

Indicator  Period 8  

£'000 £'000 

Interest £9,541 £9,572 

MRP £4,022 £3,647 

Less Investment Income -£1,274 -£1,197 

Net Financing Costs £12,289 £12,022 

Income - transport levy £54,365 £54,365 

Finance Costs/Unrestricted                                
Revenue Income % 

22.6% 22.1% 

 
 
Managing exposure to the risk of interest rate changes 
 
Borrowing 
 
The MCA Group’s debt portfolio as at Period 8 comprises the following : 
 
 

Gross Debt   

Period 8 Period 8 

Actual  Actual  

£'000 % 

Fixed rate PWLB  128,375 80 

Market loans   20,000 12 

Other loans   660 1 

Doncaster PFI    11,019 7 

Total  160,054 100 
 
 
All of the PWLB debt is fixed rate. As such there is no risk to the amount of interest payable from interest 
rate fluctuations. The interest payable is therefore a function of the maturity profile and future interest 
can be forecast accurately. 
 
The £20m of market loans include an option for the lender to change the interest rate periodically on 
specified call dates, typically every 6 months. As the interest rates currently being paid on these loans 
range from 4.50% to 4.95% it seems most unlikely in the current low interest rate environment that the 
option will be exercised. Future interest can therefore be forecast with a good degree of certainty. 
 
 
Investments  
 

The table overleaf shows the analysis of investments by investment type at Period 8. 

 

 

 

Page 184



 

 

Investments by investment type  

Period 8 Period 8 

Actual  Actual  

£'000 % 

Fixed term local authority deposits - long term  75,000 24 

Fixed term local authority deposits – short term  35,000 11 

Call accounts  60,000 20 

Money Market Funds 138,605 45 

      

Total investments  308,605 100 
 

The strategy is to move money out of Money Market Funds into other types of investment as soon as 
possible as the returns being offered on MMFs are now very low.  

This strategy is however being hampered by the fact that the local authority to local authority market for 
deposits of longer duration remains suppressed due to the amount of Government funding being 
pumped into local authorities to support their response to Covid.  

It is worth noting that the Money Market Funds, although technically equity instruments, are treated as 
cash equivalents as they are instant access, very low risk funds with a high credit rating which are 
subject to only minimal risk of price fluctuation.  
 

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 

Gainshare Commitments 

 

  Revenue Capital Total 

  £m £m £m 

Allocations       

2020/21 £12.00 £18.00 £30.00 

2021/22 £12.00 £18.00 £30.00 

  £24.00 £36.00 £60.00 

        

Commitments:       

Emergency Recovery £6.49   £6.49 

        

Welcome to Yorkshire Grant £0.30   £0.30 

        

SY Capital Programme:       

 - Flooding Proposal   £5.50 £5.50 

 - Active Travel Proposal   £2.24 £2.24 

 - Uncommitted   £21.26 £21.26 

        

Bus Investment   £5.00 £5.00 

Kickstart SY £4.00   £4.00 

Enhanced Apprenticeships £4.40   £4.40 

Employer RAP Priorities £8.10   £8.10 

  £23.29 £34.00 £57.29 

        

Balance for Reserves and Feasibility Fund  £0.71 £2.00 £2.71 
 

 

 

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



1. Introduction

1.1 This paper reports back on the Mayor’s recent meeting with the Leaders of the MCA’s 
Non-Constituent member authorities convened in order to solicit views on possible future 
arrangements for continuing purposeful engagement – the backcloth being that all 
MCA/LEP funding and decision making now relates directly to the South Yorkshire 
administrative footprint only. 

1.2 Additionally, with the Government’s agreement in July 2020 to a Devolution Deal for the 
MCA and with this being focused on the geographic and administrative footprint of South 
Yorkshire, the opportunity presents to rebrand the MCA, if the MCA so wishes, to become 
the ‘South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority’ or a variant thereof (rather than the 
Sheffield City Region MCA). 

Purpose of Report 

To update Members on work underway with Non-Constituent Member Authorities to agree future 
arrangements for collaboration and engagement. 

To confirm MCA Members’ wish in principle to begin preparatory work for rebranding of the MCA as 
the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority (or variant thereof).   

Thematic Priority 

Cross-cutting – Governance. 

Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 

The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme. 

Recommendations 

That MCA Members take a decision in principle to rebrand the MCA so that necessary preparations 
can occur for rebranding timed to follow May’s local elections.   

Additionally, Members are invited to identify any issues they would like to be considered as part of the 
exercise underway on future engagement with Non-Constituent Authorities. 

25 January 2021 

Geographic Focus and brand of the MCA and future collaboration with the MCA’s non-
constituent authorities 

Page 189

Agenda Item 19



 

2. Proposal and justification  
 

 2.1 A positive meeting between the Mayor and the Leaders of the MCA’s Non-Constituent 
Member Authorities recognised that these Authorities had been an important and valued 
component of the Combined Authority since its inception.   
 
While some had hoped, when the SCR MCA was established, that the Non-Constituent 
Members would eventually become full Constituent Members, the Government’s decision 
to change the geographies of Local Economic Partnerships and the agreement of an SCR 
Devolution Deal last year had resulted in all funding for the SCR MCA now being South 
Yorkshire focused.  
 
As a result, although the perspective which the Non-Constituent Authorities bring to cross 
boundary issues remains important, there is decreasing direct interest in MCA business 
from the perspective of non-constituent members who, technically, do not have voting 
rights except to the extent the Constituent Council Members and the Mayor agree that they 
can vote on a matter. Given all future business is South Yorkshire related it is unlikely that 
voting rights would be given. 
 
It was agreed that the MCA Chief Executive conduct a short exercise involving Chief 
Executives of the Non Constituent Authorities to consider the future direction of 
their engagement.  Dave Smith will lead this work and report back on options in the 
Spring. 
 

 2.2 

 

 

Renaming of the MCA from the SCR to SYCA, or a variant, would potentially reflect better 
the identification residents across the region have with ‘South Yorkshire’ rather than the 
current ‘Sheffield City Region’ brand.  The SCR brand was developed to recognise a wider 
economic footprint taking in the geography of the non-constituent Council areas. As this no 
longer applies to the LEP or the Mayor and as described above no longer relates to the 
core business of the MCA it may be considered appropriate to change the name and 
rebrand.  
 
An opportune moment to introduce the new brand could be after the local elections, 
assuming these proceed, in May.  The period from end-Jan to May will be used to prepare 
costed proposals, including proposed changes to marketing as well as nomenclature (the 
website, logo, building name and other branding, including considerations around 
integration with the PTE). 
 
If agreeable in principle, costed rebranding proposals will be worked up allowing for 
a final decision on implementation to be taken at May’s MCA meeting.   
 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 Non-Constituent Members to become non attending members – regarded as unattractive 
without considering how to improve engagement generally. 
 

 3.2 Leaving the name / brand as is.  In these circumstances marketing and communications 
will be required to re-establish the SCR MCA brand. 
 

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial 
None at this stage on branding given agreement in principle only is being sought. Costed 
proposals will aim to stay within existing budgets and clearance sought as appropriate. 
 
 
 

Page 190



 

 4.2 Legal 
The Non-Constituent Members are legally non-voting Members, but the Constituent 
Members can, by resolution, allow them to vote on any matter. Any change to the legal 
status of the Non-Constituent Members would require secondary legislation. Changing the 
branding will not alter the legal name of the MCA (the Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham 
and Sheffield Combined Authority).  
 
A formal (legal) name change can be implemented by a resolution of the MCA agreed by 
at least 2/3rds of the voting Members. 
 

 4.3 Risk Management  
None 
 

 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  
None except in as far as a rebrand ‘South Yorkshire’ may be deemed to be more inclusive 
and show greater recognition of the region’s diversity than the SCR brand. 
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 None proposed 
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  None. 
 

 
Report Author  Stephen Batey 

Post Director of the Mayor’s Office 
Officer responsible Dave Smith, Chief Executive 

Organisation SCR MCA Executive 
Email stephen.batey@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 

Telephone  
 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad Street 
West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
 
Other sources and references: 
 
 

Page 191

mailto:stephen.batey@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
 1.1 The South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive is required by law to have between 2 

and 8 Directors appointed by the Combined Authority.  Presently there are 8 Directors (2 
PTE employed directors and 6 non-executive positions) with each South Yorkshire District 
and the SCR Mayoral Combined Authority having one senior transport officer appointed 
and the Chief Executive of Barnsley MBC chairing the Board.   
 

2. Proposal and justification  
 

 2.1 Agree that Dan Swaine, the newly appointed Director of Economy and Environment of 
Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council be appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the 
South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive.  
 

 2.2 Dan Swaine will fill the vacancy created by the departure of Mr. P. Dale.   
 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 Not applicable. 
 

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial 
  None. 

 

Purpose of Report 

Appointment of a Non-Executive Director of the South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive.  

Thematic Priority 

Not applicable. 

Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 

The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme. 

Recommendations 

Agree that Dan Swaine, the newly appointed Director of Economy and Environment of Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough Council be appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the South Yorkshire 
Passenger Transport Executive.  

25th JANUARY 2021 
 

APPOINTMENT OF SYPTE NON-EXECUTIVE DIECTOR  

Page 193

Agenda Item 20



 

 4.2 Legal 
  Under the Combined Authority’s constitution and the South Yorkshire Passenger Transport 

Area (Establishment of Executive) Order 1973 the appointment of Members of the PTE is 
a matter for the Combined Authority. 
 

 4.3 Risk Management 
  None. 

 
 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  
  None. 

 
5. Communications 

 
 5.1 None. 

 
6. Appendices/Annexes 

 
 6.1  None.  

 
 

Report Author  Steve Davenport 
Post Principal Solicitor and Secretary/MCA Monitoring Officer 

Officer responsible Steve Davenport 
Organisation South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive 

Email Steve.davenport@sypte.co.uk 
Telephone 0114 2211353 

 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad Street 
West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
 
Other sources and references: 
 

 

Page 194



1. Introduction

1.1 The National Assurance Framework and the LEP Review: Strengthened Local Enterprise 
Partnerships (2018), have necessitated the LEP and MCA update and approve a local 
Assurance Framework and the LEP Policies annually. Government require assurance that 
these updates have been undertaken prior to releasing annual grants.  

For areas with devolution deals, Government has issued further guidance for Assurance 
Frameworks (the Single Pot Assurance Framework guidance). This guidance, whilst 
recognising the local determination of strategies and decision making for devolved policies 
and programmes, outlines a number of requirements MCA have to consider in order to 
comply with the 5-year Gateway process.  

The locally agreed 2021-2022 Assurance Framework will require consideration of local 
decision making and process set against the requirements set out in: 

• The National Assurance Framework;

Purpose of Report 

This report updates Members on policy updates that the MCA are required to conclude prior to the 
end of the financial year; namely the Assurance Framework and the Monitoring and Evaluation 
Framework.  

The report highlights for Members any known issues that are to be addressed and provides an 
indicative timeline, highlighting when further detailed information will be presented for Members 
consideration and decision making.   

Thematic Priority 

Cross Cutting Governance 

Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 

This paper and its appendices will be made available under the SCR Publication Scheme. 

Recommendations 

That the MCA: 
1. Considers the documents and policies to be updated and the indicative timeline for

progression to the MCA Boards and on to National Government
2. Reviews the draft Monitoring and Evaluation Framework and provides feedback on any

additional developments Members would wish to be considered

25th January 2021 

ASSURANCE AND MONITORING AND EVALUATION FRAMEWORK UPDATE 

Page 195

Agenda Item 21



 

• Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships.   

• The Single Pot Assurance Framework Guidance 

• The New Green Book guidance 
 

Prior to finalising the local document for submission to government. 
 

 1.2 In addition to the Assurance Framework, there is also a requirement for the MCA to 
produce, update and submit to Government for approval, a revised Monitoring and 
Evaluation Framework. The MCA current Monitoring and Evaluation Policy has been in 
place since 2017. A review of the 2017 policy document is underway to ensure a revised 
draft can be considered by Members.  
 

 1.3 This paper outlines,  
1. A summary of the known changes to be made to the Assurance Framework and to 

the Monitoring and Evaluation Framework following the review of guidance in order 
for the MCA (and LEP) to be compliant,  

2. A first draft for consideration of the Monitoring and Evaluation Framework 
3. An indicative timetable for activity in quarter 4 2020/21 so Members are aware when 

they will be asked to approve documents prior to the submission and approval by 
government.  
 

2. Proposal and justification  
 

  Assurance and Accountability Framework 
 2.1 Each year the MCA and LEP is required by Government to update and publish its 

Assurance Framework by the 31st March.  The Assurance Framework sets out how the MCA 
and LEP will use public money responsibly, make robust decisions, achieve best value for 
money and act in an open and transparent manner.  It explains the governance structures in 
place for making decisions, outlines the policies and procedures that are in place to support 
decision-making and monitor and evaluate investments and interventions, and how the MCA 
and LEP will publish information. 
 
The Government requires Mayoral Combined Authorities with devolution deals to specify, in 
their Assurance Framework, how all devolved monies and powers, including Gainshare, 
Transforming Cities Fund and the Adult Education Budget (AEB) will be administered.  Four 
Government departments (BEIS, MHCLG, DfT and DfE) must approve the Assurance 
Frameworks of all MCAs with devolution deals. 
 

 2.2 Work is underway to review the document to ensure it reflects: 
 

1. the agreement reached locally by Members regarding the management of Gainshare 
and the Adult Education Budget (AEB)  

2. the recent changes to the governance Boards, agreed by Members; 
3. any changes required to local processes following the recently published revised HM 

Treasury Green Book (November 2020)  
4. any requirements, stipulated by funding departments, for recently secured, non-

devolved funds, including Get Britain Building and Brownfield Housing Funds, to 
ensure the MCA is compliant with grant requirements  
 

 2.3 The sections of the Assurance Framework that require amendments or addition are: 
 

Page 196



 

Management of Gainshare – Members will be asked to agree and approve a process for 
allocating, managing, monitoring and evaluating the use and impact of Gainshare including 
the five-year Gateway Review process with Government.  
 
Adult Education Budget (AEB) – Following detailed discussion with the Thematic Board 
and approval by the MCA, the document will be updated to reflect the Member’s decision on 
the procurement and approval process for contracting with AEB delivery partners and 
priorities for investing AEB.  
 
SYPTE integration with MCA – Detail of the integration of SYPTE with the MCA, where 
relevant, will be added to highlight potential changes in governance in the year 2021.  
 
Funding Flexibilities – Subject to Members reaching agreement on borrowing, and the 
proposed investment strategy, the document will be updated to reflect the flexibilities 
available to the MCA and assurance processes.  
 
Project Development – the section will be reviewed and updated to recognise any 
flexibilities in the new HMT Green Book and local processes for scheme development to 
deliver the Strategic Economic Plan and Renewal Action Plan objectives. 
 

 2.4 As there is a requirement for Government to sign off this document, the following timeline is 
suggested for local consideration and decision making: 
 

• First draft of the Assurance Framework 2021 - presented to the Audit and Standards 
Committee January 21. Aim for the ASC to scrutinise and consider decision making 
and value for money processes 

• Second draft – presented to Members February 21 for debate and 
recommendations, particularly to consider and ensure the additions to the 
documents on gainshare decision making accurately capture the Members agreed 
position 

• Second draft – presented to an informal meeting of the private sector LEP Board 

• Third draft - submitted to the four Government departments for review and comment   

• A fourth draft - presented to the Audit and Standards Committee and to the LEP 
Board for final endorsement 

• Final draft - presented to the MCA for approval in March. 

• The locally approved draft will the then be submitted to Government for final 
approval. 
 

  Monitoring and Evaluation Framework 
 

 2.5 The MCA is required to produce and publish a Monitoring and Evaluation Framework to 
outline how projects and programmes funded with either devolved or awarded monies will 
be robustly monitored and evaluated.  Following devolution, the Monitoring and Evaluation 
Framework needs to be approved by Government.   
 
An initial review phase has been undertaken to consider:  
 

• the Monitoring and Evaluation Frameworks of other devolved MCA to consider how 
the strategy for the devolved programmes differs from the strategies for grants 
awarded with stipulated conditions 

• the Government’s Magenta Book (evaluation guidance), and the evaluation guidance 
issued for TCF, as well as the Adult Education Budget (AEB) to consider any 
requirements 

• national and academic best practice to propose changes to current approaches. 
 

Following this review the following proposed amendments have been identified 

Page 197



 

 
  Monitoring projects and programmes  
 2.6 Strengthen the type of data and information that is collected from projects to more 

accurately measure delivery of the new SEP and RAP outputs, outcomes and targets. 
 

  Evaluation of projects and programmes 
 2.7 Set out with greater clarity the level and frequency of evaluation for all MCA and LEP 

funded projects and programmes, including those utilising Gainshare to provide 
greater understanding on what will be evaluated, how the evaluation will be undertaken and 
how often a project or programme will be evaluated both during the delivery phase and ex-
post.  The framework also specifies the prescribed evaluation for TCF and AEB. 
 

  Outlines the role of the MCA Board, Thematic Boards and Statutory Officers in 
determining the evaluation plan, agreeing the specifications and the role of the MCA as 
accountable body and Thematic Boards in reviewing all evaluations and utilising the 
intelligence to inform future commissioning and performance reviews. 
 

  Sets out with greater clarity considerations of impartiality and transparency – this is to 
remove any ambiguity and to ensure compliance with the requirement for the impartial 
commissioning and review of programme and project evaluations. 
 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 Do Nothing - The conclusion of the devolution deal in 2020/21 and the requirement to 
comply with the Single Pot Assurance Framework Guidance, and to reflect the updated HMT 
Green Book, failing  to review the guidance, update, endorse and submit the Assurance 
Framework and the Monitoring and Evaluation Framework for Government approval would 
risk the MCA being non-compliant with national standards on governance and transparency, 
and not fulfilling the conditions for devolution or non-devolved grant awards.   
 

 3.2 Do Something- The proposal outlined for Members includes a review of national guidance, 
learning from other devolved areas and updating local documents. The aim being to achieve 
government sign off. Further amendments can be made mid-year in 2021/22 if additional 
local changes are required which could include changes required as a result of the 
integration of the PTE with the MCA. 
 

 3.3 Do More - A separate strand of work has commenced to detail all policy and process 
documents, not simply those required to be approved by National Government, and to 
establish a timetable for regular review. This document library will be published to improve 
transparency and scrutiny of the MCA / LEP and the MCA Executive Policy and Processes. 
Whilst this is underway, it is not required to be in place by the end of the financial year and 
so will be finalised in Q1 of 2021/22. 
 

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial 
The MCA and LEP are required to demonstrate compliance with national guidance in order 
to receive devolved and core funding including any monies allocated by Government.  The 
release of Gainshare funding is dependent on the Government’s approval of the Assurance 
Framework.  
 
To secure greater value for money, the proposal is to procure an evaluation panel via a 
framework, that can be utilised by the MCA and partners, the Evaluation Panel  procurement 
will commence in the new financial year, following the MCA Board approval of the 
Monitoring and Evaluation Framework with an aim to be established by Autumn 2021. 
The costs of compliant assurance, monitoring and evaluation is being considered as part of 
the 2021/22 budget setting process. 

Page 198



 

 
 4.2 Legal 

The Assurance Framework outlines the legal duties of the MCA as the Accountable body for 
the LEP and the policies and procedures that are in place to ensure that the MCA and LEP 
make decisions in a legally compliant, robust and transparent manner.  This includes 
referencing the responsibilities of the Section 73 Officer, the purpose of internal and external 
audit, the role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the project appraisal process 
which complies with the principles outlined in HM Treasury’s Green Book. 
 

 4.3 Risk Management 
The Assurance Framework specifies the processes and procedures that the MCA and LEP 
has in place to manage risk.  These processes are in accordance with HM Treasury’s Orange 
Book principles and include the Strategic Risk Management Framework, the SCR Risk 
Register and quarterly monitoring of projects and programmes. 
 

 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  
The Assurance Framework outlines the LEP’s commitment to equality and diversity and 
current gender composition of the LEP Board, as required by the LEP review Strengthened 
Local Enterprise Partnerships.  Diversity indicators and metrics could be one of the agreed 
monitoring criteria for programme and projects where this is a relevant indicator. 
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 The MCA and LEP is obliged to publish information on the decisions that are being made, 
particularly on investments, in an open and transparent way.   
The Assurance Framework, LEP Policies and Monitoring and Evaluation Framework will be 
published on the website and the Assurance Framework will set out in detail how the 
general public can access information that the MCA and LEP holds.  
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  Appendix A - Draft Monitoring and Evaluation Framework  
 

Report Author  Lyndsey Whitaker 
Post Senior Economic Policy Manager 

Officer responsible Dr Ruth Adams 
Organisation Sheffield City Region 

Email ruth.adams@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 
Telephone 0114 220 3442 

Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad Street 
West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
 
Other sources and references: 
 

 

Page 199

mailto:ruth.adams@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

 

 

 

Monitoring & Evaluation Framework 

Appendix A 

Page 201



2 
 

Contents 

 
 

1 Introduction  

2 About the Monitoring & Evaluation Framework  

3 The Monitoring Process  

4 The Evaluation Process  

5 Appendix A: Metrics, Measures, Outputs & Outcomes  

6 Appendix B: Logic Chains for the Thematic Areas  

 
 
 
List of Tables and Figures 

Figure 1 The ROAMEF Cycle - The Magenta Book: Guidance for Evaluation, UK Government  

Figure 2 SCR Strategic Economic Plan 2020-2040  

Figure 3 SCR Renewal Action Plan  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
 
 
 
Version Control 

V1 First draft based on the framework commissioned in 2017 L Whitaker 

V2 Second draft R Adams 

V3 Inclusion of RAP, Getting Building Fund and Brownfield Fund L Whitaker 

V4 Minor amends to third draft R Adams 

 

  

Page 202



3 
 

1. Introduction 

 

Purpose of the Monitoring and Evaluation Framework 

1.1 The Monitoring and Evaluation Framework is a requirement of national government and requires agreement 

by both the MCA and HMG. The framework is the primary mechanism for how the Mayoral Combined 

Authority (MCA) will assess progress towards the delivery of the South Yorkshire Devolution Deal and 

delivery of the strategic vision, objectives and output and outcome targets of the Strategic Economic Plan 

(SEP) and the Renewal Action Plan (RAP). 

 

1.2 The Framework outlines the level of monitoring and evaluation activity that is considered appropriate and 

proportional for each programme and project funded by the MCA and Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  

The requirement set by HMG is that the framework  includes programmes and projects funded through 

devolved monies such as Gainshare, Adult Education Budget (AEB) and Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) as 

well as funding awarded to the MCA and LEP; specifically funds for local growth such as the UK Shared 

Prosperity Fund, Get Britain Building and Brownfield Housing Funds, for example.     

 

1.3 As well as the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) and the Renewal Action Plan (RAP), the Monitoring and 

Evaluation Framework sits alongside key governance and policy documents – most notably the Assurance 

Framework, the MCA Constitution, the Financial Regulations and the LEP Terms of Reference.   

 

1.4 The Monitoring and Evaluation Framework has been designed in accordance with HM Treasury’s Magenta 

(Guidance for Evaluation) and Green (Guidance on Appraisal and Evaluation) Books, and with reference to 

specific evaluation guidance on programme funds including AEB and TCF.  

 

1.5 The Monitoring and Evaluation Framework, subject to approval, takes effect from 1 April 2021. 

 

 

Updating the Monitoring and Evaluation Framework 

1.6 The MCA are required to reviewed and update its Monitoring and Evaluation Framework at the end of each 

year as part of the annual review of assurance processes and procedures.  The Framework is then 

submitted to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) for review and 

approval before being finalised and published. The next annual review of this document is scheduled to 

commence in November 2021.   

 

 

The Structure of this Document 

1.7 The remainder of this document is structured into the following sections: 

 

 Section 2 sets out the importance of monitoring and evaluating project and programme performance, 

the programmes and activities covered by this framework and how the framework relates to the City 

Region’s plan for economic growth; 

 Section 3 outlines the monitoring process for all programmes and projects and the roles and 

responsibilities of the MCA, the MCA Executive, scheme promoters and project applicants in accounting 

for and reporting performance; 

 Section 4 explains the processes and options for evaluating the impact and value of programmes and 

projects and how evaluation informs decision-making by the MCA and LEP; and 

 Appendix A lists the nationally and locally defined metrics, measures, outputs and outcomes that 

programmes and projects funded by SCR are assessed against. 

Page 203



4 
 

2. About the Monitoring & Evaluation Framework 

 

Why Monitor and Evaluate Programmes and Projects 

2.1 As a recipient and distributor of public funding, the MCA has a duty to ensure that all funding devolved and 

awarded to the MCA and LEP is accounted for and invested appropriately and effectively.  Due to pressures 

on public funding, the MCA and LEP also need to ensure that investment is directed in the areas where it 

will have the greatest impact. 

   

2.2 Regular and consistent monitoring of programmes, schemes and projects during their delivery phase, 

enables the MCA as the legally Accountable Body to fulfil its obligations for accountability and transparency 

over the use and application of public funding.  Monitoring also ensures that any risks associated with a 

programme, scheme or project are appropriately controlled and managed, and enables the MCA and LEP to 

mitigate any risks by taking corrective action in a prompt and timely manner.  

 

2.3 Evaluation enables the MCA to determine how effective the investment of public funding has been, and the 

impact that programmes, schemes and projects are having, or have had, on the economy.  Evaluation also 

provides the MCA and LEP with an assessment of how well programmes, schemes and projects are 

delivering against their plan for economic growth and the economic, social and environmental output and 

outcome targets. 

 

2.4 Regular monitoring and evaluation provides an indication of how the investment of devolved and awarded 

funding can be continually improved and it therefore supports better policy making, investment planning and 

project development and delivery.  It also provides quantitative and qualitative information and evidence on 

what happens once a policy or intervention is implemented, and the impact that it has had on the local 

economy which can then inform future policy and strategy direction and programme and project 

development.  This is illustrated in Figure 1 below: 

 
Figure 1:  The ROAMEF Cycle - The Magenta Book: Guidance for Evaluation, UK Government 

 

    

Page 204



5 
 

Plan for Economic Growth 

2.5 The Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) is a twenty-year economic strategy which sets out the vision and policy 

objectives for growing the economy at pace; ensuring that all people and places have a fair opportunity to 

benefit from prosperity whilst protecting and enhancing our environment. 

 

2.6 The SEP is built on a broad range of socio-economic data and is the result of extensive consultation with 

business representatives, local industry leaders, local authorities and stakeholder organisations.  The vision 

and policy objectives for future economic growth across the City Region, are set out in Figure 2 below. 

 
Figure 2: SCR Strategic Economic Plan 2020-2040  

 

 

 
 

2.7 The SEP will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis to ensure a sound strategic basis for investment 

and action. 

 

2.8 The Renewal Action Plan (RAP) is a jobs-led plan that was developed in response to the significant impact 

of Covid-19 on South Yorkshire’s economy and residents.  It outlines £1.7bn of priority interventions for 

supporting our Employers, People and Places over the immediate, medium and longer-term.  The priorities 

are set out in Figure 3 below: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205



6 
 

Figure 3: SCR Renewal Action Plan  

 
 

2.9 Together, with the Transport Strategy and Sustainable Development Plan, the SEP and the RAP sets the 

blueprint for how devolved and awarded funding from Government will be invested.  It also sets the criteria 

that all programmes, schemes and projects will be measured and assessed against; from application stage 

through to contracting and delivery.    

 

 

Programmes and Activities Covered by the Monitoring and Evaluation Framework 

2.10 This Monitoring and Evaluation Framework applies to all funding awarded to the MCA and LEP. This includes 

Transforming Cities Fund, Get Britain Building Funding, Brownfield Housing Funding and local growth 

monies (UK Shared Prosperity Fund) for example, where award of the funds carries obligations for the MCA 

or LEP to deliver pre-determined outputs and outcomes. The framework also needs to cover devolved funds, 

where the strategic intent and outputs and outcomes are determined and agreed locally by the MCA, this 

includes Gainshare, Adult Education Budget, and the future devolved consolidated transport budgets. 

 

 

Gainshare 

2.11 The Gainshare (grant-based investment funding) allocation for South Yorkshire through the Devolution Deal 

is £30m per annum for a period of 30 years.  This consists of 60% capital and 40% revenue funding and is 

to be invested in the delivery of the MCAs strategic and economic priorities. 

 

 

Adult Education Budget (AEB) 

2.12 From the start of the 2021/22 academic year, the MCA will assume responsibility for adult education budget 

(AEB). Devolution of AEB will support high quality adult education across the city-region. This equates to 

around £35m per annum. 

 

 

 

 

Page 206



7 
 

Transport Settlement 

2.13 The MCA has control of the consolidated devolved capital transport budget.  This consists of the Integrated 

Transport Block, the Highways Maintenance Block (excluding PFI), and Highways Maintenance incentive 

funding. 

 

 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 

2.14 In March 2020, the Government awarded £166m from the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) to the Sheffield 

City Region for a period of three years. 

 

 

Getting Building Fund (GBF) 

2.15 In June 2020 the MCA was awarded £33.6m for a prioritised programme of Major Capital Infrastructure 

Schemes under the Government’s Getting Building Fund.  The fund is to be used to accelerate ‘shovel ready’ 

infrastructure schemes. 

 

 

Brownfield Fund (BF) 

2.16 The MCA was awarded £40m in June 2020 to deliver a programme of housing schemes on brownfield sites 

over the next 5 years through the Government’s Brownfield Fund. 

 

 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 

2.17 In November 2014, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced that a UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 

pilot programme in 2021-22 to help UK regions to prepare for a longer-term UKSPF from 2023.  The UKSPF 

will replace the previous six-year Local Growth Fund (LGF) programme and EU Structural Funds.  

 

2.18 More detailed information on the UKSPF pilot will be published in early 2021 but it is expected to be focussed 

on supporting infrastructure improvements and regeneration in areas of deprivation, tailored employment 

and skills development and supporting businesses with innovation and green technology adoption. 

 

 

Approach to Monitoring and Evaluation 

 

2.19 This Monitoring and Evaluation Framework will provide transparency to partners, Government and the 

general public, on the MCA and LEP’s activities, intended outputs, outcomes and impacts on the local 

economy, people and the environment.  

 

2.20 The MCA’s approach to monitoring and evaluation is based on: 

  

 Incorporating Good Practice - this Monitoring and Evaluation Framework is based on recognised good 

practice and guidance including HM Government’s Magenta Book and research conducted by the What 

Works Centre for Local Economic Growth.  Additional evaluation guidance from Government 

departments has also been used; specifically, guidance on AEB from the Department for Education and 

TCF from the Department for Transport.   

 Ensuring that it is Proportional and Supports Transparency - ensuring that monitoring and 

evaluation activity is proportional to the level of investment, complexity and risk of each programme and 

project.  Pilot programmes and projects are subjected to more intensive and in-depth evaluation, with 

evaluation results published on the MCA/LEP website. 

Page 207



8 
 

 

 

Principles of Monitoring and Evaluation  

2.21 This Monitoring and Evaluation Framework: 

 

 Focuses on Understanding Results, Outcomes and Impacts – the Framework has a strong focus 

on understanding and demonstrating the impacts of the MCA and LEP investments on the economy, 

and the extent to which programmes and projects are addressing the challenges and opportunities 

outlined in the SEP and the RAP.   

 Represents a Single Approach to Monitoring and Evaluation for the MCA and LEP - the Framework 

provides a strategic tool for monitoring and evaluating the delivery of the outcomes and impacts desired 

through the Devolution Deal, SEP, and the RAP in addition to the impact of all funding devolved and 

awarded to the MCA and LEP.  

 Adopts a Thematic Approach to Monitoring and Evaluation - the Framework reflects the strategic 

objectives and overarching ambitions of the SEP and the RAP, which have been agreed by partners, 

and to which all MCA and LEP funded activity must contribute.  It will capture the contribution and 

impacts of the portfolio of programme and project investments across the thematic areas of Business 

Growth, Employment and Skills, Housing and Infrastructure and Transport and the Environment, using 

a series of logic chains,  which disaggregate strategic objectives into the outputs, outcomes and impacts 

sought from investment.  

 Incorporates all Contractual Commitments – the Framework supports the MCA in complying with the 

legal and contractual requirements agreed with the Government on monitoring and evaluating the 

delivery of awarded funds and associated outputs and locally agreed outcomes aligned to the Devolution 

Deal, and programme funding, including but not limited to, AEB and TCF. 

 Supports the Gateway Review Process - the Framework will support the national evaluation panel to 

conduct the five-yearly Gateway Reviews on the impact of projects and schemes that are funded with 

Gainshare.  

  

Page 208



9 
 

3. The Monitoring Process 

 

Introduction to Monitoring 

3.1 Once a project or programme is approved, a contract is issued to the project applicant/scheme promoter or 

AEB and TCF delivery partner.  The contract forms the basis of the monitoring that will take place during the 

project’s or programme’s lifetime. 

 

3.2 The contract specifies the milestones for the project or programme (these are dependent on complexity, cost, 

timescales and risks) and confirms the financial profile for income and expenditure, and the payment 

schedule for the grant and/or loan that the MCA will issue.   

 

3.3 The contract also stipulates the outputs and outcomes that are expected to be delivered, including, but not 

limited to, jobs created or safeguarded, the level of qualification that will be achieved by any learner or other 

transport or infrastructure-based outputs.  This enables decision makers to receive reports on progress of 

delivering against the SEP, RAP or a programme specific set of target performance indicators and outputs 

and outcomes.  

 
 

Roles and Responsibilities of Scheme Promoters, Project Applicants and Delivery Partners 

3.4 All project applicants/scheme promoters and AEB and TCF delivery partners, are required to submit a report 

outlining timely financial and delivery information. This information will be collated by the MCA Executive for 

onward reporting to the MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards, as relevant.  

 

3.5 The project applicants/scheme promoters and AEB and TCF delivery partners are responsible for informing 

the MCA Executive of any changes to the scope, costs and implementation timescales for their project.   

 

 

Role and Responsibilities of the MCA 

3.6 The MCA, and its Thematic Boards, is responsible for all investment decisions and is ultimately responsible 

for overseeing the monitoring of financial, output and outcome performance against all devolved and 

awarded funding to the MCA and LEP. 

 

3.7 On behalf of the MCA and LEP, the Section 73 Officer, in conjunction with the other Statutory Officers, will 

sign-off returns on delivery and financial spend before being submitted to the appropriate Government 

department.  This enables the MCA and LEP to fulfil their duties on reporting and accounting for public 

monies.  

 

3.8 Information, as a result of Monitoring activity, is collated and reported to Decision Making Boards by the MCA 

Executive. Reporting of monitoring information will be derived from a number of sources; the submitted 

reports received from Scheme Promotors and deliverers of AEB and TCF schemes, maintaining regular 

contact with applicants, scheme promoters and delivery partners including conducting site visits where 

appropriate and, if required internal and / or external audit reporting.  The Executive will support the MCA to 

discharge its duties on reporting and accounting for public monies by gathers information and data to ensure 

that a robust audit trail is in place and escalating any issues or risks to performance. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 209



10 
 

Level, Frequency and Format of Monitoring 

3.9 All projects and programmes are subject to quarterly monitoring.  This is supplemented by regular contact 

between the MCA Executive and project applicants/scheme promoters and AEB and TCF delivery partners. 

 

3.10 Site visits to project applicant/scheme promoters and AEB and TCF delivery partners are conducted once 

per year as a minimum. 

 

3.11 The delivery information required in the quarterly monitoring report from project applicants/scheme promoters 

and AEB and TCF delivery partners, combines qualitative narrative on progress made in delivering the project 

or programme, as well as quantitative data on outputs and outcomes delivered during the monitoring period: 

 

 Information on whether the project has encountered issues or problems affecting delivery 

 Confirmation of project milestones that have been met 

 Information on project achievements and successes 

 An indication of any risks or issues that will affect the timescale, cost or scope of the project 

 Confirmation of project income and expenditure 

 Confirmation of outputs and outcomes delivered   

 

3.12 Quarterly reports on project and programme performance for Gainshare and local growth funds (UKSPF) are 

submitted by the MCA Executive to Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 

 

3.13 Quarterly reports on AEB project and programme performance are submitted by the MCA Executive to the 

Department for Education.   

 

3.14 Quarterly reports on TCF project and programme performance are submitted by the MCA Executive to the 

Department for Transport.   

 

  

Page 210



11 
 

4. The Evaluation Process 

 

Introduction to Evaluation 

4.1 The level of evaluation required on a project or programme is an integral part of the decision-making process 

of the MCA and Thematic Boards. Strategies for evaluation will be identified and fully worked-up at the 

Outline Business Case stage of a project application.  This enables evaluation to be factored into a project 

and programme’s design from the outset. 

 

4.2 The frequency and type of evaluation conducted, depends on the contract value, duration and complexity of 

each project and programme.   

 

4.3 Pilot projects and major schemes are subject to more extensive evaluation.  As a minimum, all projects are 

expected to be evaluated on impact to ascertain whether the project’s objectives, outputs and outcomes 

were achieved and the reasons and results of any under or over performance 

 
 

Objectives for Evaluation 

4.4 Evaluation will determine the effectiveness of the MCA and LEP’s investments.  It enables the MCA and its 

Boards, to understand what works, why and who benefits from the investment, and provides evidence to 

inform future investment planning and improve the delivery and management of projects and programmes.  

It also adds depth and understanding to quantitative monitoring data and provides insight into: 

 

 The effectiveness of new, innovative approaches and the factors which have supported or hindered their 

success 

 Levels of satisfaction with products and services and the value of the project or programme to the target 

market/audience 

 Non-quantifiable benefits, the development of intangible assets, and longer-term impacts 

 Attribution and the refinement of additionality calculations 

 Opportunities for product/process improvements 

 Cost effectiveness and value for money of the project or programme  
 
 

Roles and Responsibilities for Evaluation  

4.5 The MCA Board is ultimately responsible for overseeing the evaluation of projects and programmes funding 

with devolved and awarded monies, to ensure that there is a process for assurance to be gained on the 

impact of activity and spend.  

 

4.6 The MCA Executive will support the Board decision making process through the development and 

commissioning of evaluation and the dissemination of results and lessons learned, collating findings and 

presenting them to the relevant Thematic Board. To ensure transparency and impartiality, evaluation 

management will be independent of programme delivery.  

 

4.7 Evaluation reports on programmes and major projects will be presented to the MCA and LEP Boards, and 

reports published on the website to fulfil the MCA’s and LEP’s responsibilities on accounting for public 

monies.  All evaluation reports are published on the SCR website.  

 

 

 

Page 211



12 
 

Level and Frequency of Evaluation 

4.8 The level and frequency of evaluation will depend on the project value, level of risk and complexity. A 

suggested benchmark for evaluation strategy based upon value, to ensure proportionality, is suggested 

below: 

 

A Project of Less than One Year and with a Total 

Project Value of Less than £500,000  

Summative final ex-post evaluation  

A Project of One Year or More and a Total 

Project Value of Less than £500,000 

One interim evaluation plus a summative final ex-

post evaluation 

A Project with a Total Project Value of more than 

£500,000 

One interim evaluation plus a summative final ex-

post evaluation 

A Pilot Project of More than One Year of any 

Value 

One interim evaluation for every year of the pilot 

plus a summative final ex-post evaluation 

 

4.9 Interim evaluation will assess process, and the effectiveness and efficiency of projects and programmes 

during the delivery phase.  These interim evaluation reports will capture early lessons learned to inform any 

improvements in process or delivery models.  

 

4.10 Final evaluations will be conducted ex-post (after delivery has ceased) and will assess overall performance 

and net impact of the project or programme and the impact that the MCA and LEP’s investment has had on 

the economy.  It will particularly identify the following: 

 

 Good practice and policy/delivery lessons 

 The contribution and added value of the intervention, it’s effectiveness in tackling the problem or 

market failure it was designed to address 

 The extent to which the project or programme represents good value for money 

 

Approach to Evaluation  

4.11 Evaluation for projects and programmes will follow the logic chains outlined in Appendix B for each thematic 
area.  
 

4.12 The evaluation will give consideration to the following: 
 

 Consideration of the Counterfactual and Additionality - consideration of the counterfactual is 

acknowledged as a key feature of policy impact evaluation i.e. what would have occurred in the absence 

of the policy. Determining the counterfactual allows analysis of the changes (impacts) resulting from an 

intervention, over and above those which would have occurred anyway and is therefore a key feature in 

understanding additionality. 

 The Use of Randomised Control Groups – where possible, this provides one of the most robust 

methodological solutions to assessing additionality as it enables comparison of impacts in a policy on 

and policy off situation.  There are however several challenges to the use of control groups particularly 

where the rationale for intervention is to support communities already disadvantaged and/or 

underperforming against national trends and expectations. Only in some cases will it be possible to 

identify a similar population or group not receiving support. It is anticipated therefore that the majority of 

evaluation activity will explore the counterfactual position through primary research with beneficiaries to 

determine what would have happened in the absence of support; whether the same outcomes would 

have been achieved; and whether these would have been achieved over the same timescale and to the 

same intensity/scale/quality. Where relevant to do so, national datasets will be drawn upon to provide a 

comparison group. The counterfactual position will also be considered at appraisal through the 

presentation of ‘do nothing’ and ‘do something’ scenarios, with transport schemes’ options appraisal 

expected to be TAG compliant. 

Page 212



13 
 

 Attribution - the scope and scale of impacts generated by an intervention will be influenced by a range 

of factors including the duration/intensity of the intervention and its quality/appropriateness for the 

challenges being addressed. These variables will also be influenced by variables including the quality 

of delivery teams and project management processes. Primary research with beneficiaries is therefore 

important to help understand how/the extent to which interventions contributed to change and the types 

of interventions that generate the most economic impact.  

 Capturing Soft Impacts - in contrast to quantitative performance monitoring, evaluation will provide an 

opportunity to capture the full range of qualitative impacts that interventions support. In addition to 

assessing contribution to the City Region’s strategic overarching objectives and ambitions, evaluation 

will assess the development of intangible assets such as relationship building; knowledge creation; 

leadership and communication; culture and values; and effective processes and systems. 

 

 

Evaluation Methods 

4.13 The key evaluation questions and methods used will be bespoke to each project and programme.  Evaluations 

are expected to include consideration of some or all of the following areas of investigation: 

 

 Contextual - the contribution of the intervention at a strategic level; complementarity and integration 

with any associated themes/activities; and whether activity is fit for purpose/required given the prevailing 

policy/operating context and demand. 

 Design - the suitability of the intervention and delivery model given the rationale for intervention and 
theory of change. 

 Progress and Performance - assessment of the baseline position, progress against contracted targets 

and whether implementation has progressed as planned. Any areas of under or over-performance and 

the factors influencing this. 

 Process - the effectiveness of the delivery model and the factors which have supported/hindered 

delivery. 

 Management - an assessment of whether management and governance processes are fit for purpose; 

their strengths, weaknesses and contribution to effective delivery. 

 Impact - the type and quality of strategic and beneficiary level outcomes, the net impacts taking account 

of adjustment factors; evidence of unintended benefits/impacts; additionality and the factors which have 

supported/hindered the achievement of positive impacts. 

 Financial - whether value for money has been achieved given unit costs (cost per output) and likely 

return on investment (GVA per £1 invested); the financial sustainability of the intervention. 

 Sustainability - an assessment of long-term sustainability given demand, needs and market failures.  

 

 

Evaluation Panel 

4.14 The use of external evaluation experts to provide technical expertise and specialist advice on conducting 

project and programme evaluation, ensures that all evaluation conducted on projects and programmes 

funded by the MCA and LEP is as objective and impartial as possible. 

 

4.15 Research and evaluation consultants are invited to apply to be part of the Evaluation Panel and deliver 

independent evaluation of projects, schemes and programmes.  This is an open and competitive process 

and experts will be contracted based on their subject and thematic expertise and evaluation experience.   

 

4.16 When evaluation is required, a pre-approved member of the Evaluation Panel with specific expertise or 

experience in the type of project or programme being evaluated, will be contracted to deliver the evaluation.      

 

Page 213



14 
 

 

Applying Evaluation Findings to Future Policy, Strategy and Delivery 

4.17 A review of the evaluation reports for all projects and programmes funded by the MCA and LEP will be 

conducted to analyse delivery and impact, as well as capturing the lessons learnt on what has worked well, 

where there have been issues, constraints or risks to delivery and the extent to which projects and 

programmes have achieved the expected outputs, outcomes and impact on the economy anticipated in the 

original project or programme Business Case. 

 

4.18 The lessons learnt will then be applied to future socio-economic policy, the MCA’s internal processes for 

managing the delivery of devolved and awarded funding and project and programme appraisal and 

monitoring, and the design and management of future MCA and LEP funded projects and programmes.   

 

4.19 This will ensure that the MCA and LEP builds-on successful pilots and continues to fund interventions that 

yield higher value outputs and outcomes, whilst also tackling any identified blockages or weaknesses in the 

MCA’s application, appraisal or project management processes.  It will also deliver against the Government’s 

ROAMEF cycle (Rationale, Objectives, Appraisal, Monitoring, Evaluation, Feedback) by ensuring that 

feedback from projects and programmes is applied to policy, strategy and project development.  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 214



15 
 

 

Appendix A: Metrics, Measures, Outputs & Outcomes 

 
To reference the output and outcome targets for AEB and TCF. 

 

 
 

National Metrics 

XXX 

 
 
 

Standard Outputs 

XXX 

 
 

Additional Outcomes 

XXX 

  

P
age 215



16 
 

SCR Strategic Economic Plan – Targets and Indicators 

 Indicator Desired Outcome Data 2040 

Target 

B
u

si
n

es
s 

G
ro

w
th

 

Productivity Our workforce’s productivity will increase, positively 
benefitting the prosperity of our residents. 

Labour productivity measured in Gross Value Added (GVA) per 
employee. Annual Population Survey. 
 
82% of UK average (2017) 

100% of UK 
average 
 

Economic output 

per capita 
The size of our economy relative to our population will 
increase. 

GVA per capita, rather than employee as above. Annual Population 
Survey. 
 
68% of UK average (2017) 

100% of UK 
average 

R&D expenditure  A greater investment in R&D (relative to our economy) 
indicates an innovative economy.  

R&D expenditure as a proportion of economy using ONS and 
EUROSTAT data. 
SCR approx. 1% 

UK 
Government 
target of 
2.4% 

Enterprise Higher density and growing business base. Enterprise growth rate is approximately 15-16% using ONS 
Business Demography data. 

Target birth 
rate of 16% 

Tr
a

n
sp

o
rt

 &
 

In
fr

a
st

ru
ct

u
re

 

Car usage Car usage falls, indicating mode share and lower pollution 
due to transport. 

Car usage measured by vehicle miles. Annual road traffic statistics 
by Department for Transport. 
 
4,960 million vehicle miles (2018) 

To be 
developed. 

Digital 

connectivity 
A higher proportion of our region is covered by both full 
fibre & 5G broadband. 

Percentage of full fibre coverage of residential and business 
premises. Weekly network rollouts modelled by Think Broadband 
based on Openreach data. 
 
8.4% (2020) 

Equal to UK 
level 

Housing costs The housing system and wider economy means that 
earning power is not being eroded by inflating house 
prices. 

Lower quartile house price to earnings ratio. MHCLG ‘House price 
(existing dwellings) to residence-based earnings ratio’. 
 
 

No increase 
in ratio 

P
age 216



17 
 

 Indicator Desired Outcome Data 2040 

Target 

S
ki

lls
 &

 e
m

p
lo

ym
en

t 

School leavers More children leave secondary school with better 
attainment to boost their prospects entering further 
education and employment. 

Attainment 8 scores average, Department for Education 
administration data. 
 
BMBC – 42.5, DMBC – 42.7, RMBC – 43.6, SCC – 44.6 
England – 46.1 
(2018) 
 

Equal to 
England 
level 

Education A higher proportion of working-age population possess 
higher qualifications, indicating progression in education 
and employment. 

NVQ level 3 and above included. Annual Population Survey. 
 
SCR – 54.2%  
GB – 57.8% 
(2018) 
 

Equal to UK 
level 

Wage levels A lower proportion of employees on low earnings 
(defined as 20th percentile of earnings distribution). 

Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings. 
£8.92 per hour 
3% below UK level 
(2019) 
 

Equal to UK 
level 

Higher-level 

occupations 
Higher proportion of employees in managerial, technical 
& professional occupations. 

Standard Occupation Classifications 1-3 represent higher-level 
occupations. Annual Population Survey. 
 
SCR – 43.4% 
UK – 47.0% 
(2019) 
 

Equal to UK 
level 

Unemployment More working-age people are in employment. Annual Population Survey. 
 
SCR – 5.2%  
UK – 4.0% 
 (2019) 
 

Equal to UK 
level 

P
age 217



18 
 

 Indicator Desired Outcome Data 2040 

Target 

S
u

st
a

in
a

b
ili

ty
 &

 P
la

ce
s 

Air quality Improvement in air quality, as measured by relevant 
different particulate matter. 
 

To be developed based on public health agreements and available 
data. 

Equal to 
England 
level 

Health Our population live increasingly long, healthy lives. Healthy life expectancy at birth. 
SCR – male 60.2 years, SCR – female 60.2 years 
UK – male 63.1 years, UK – female 63.6 years 

Equal to UK 
level 

Fuel poverty Fewer households living in fuel poverty. BEIS Sub-Regional Fuel Poverty Estimates. 
SCR – 10.6% 
England – 10.9% 
(2017) 

Equal to UK 
level 

Cultural 

participation 
Gap for overall participation in cultural activity between 
SCR and national average closes. 

To be developed awaiting regular updates and reliable data. Equal to UK 
level 

Deprivation Lower share of local areas in deprivation. MHCLG Index of Multiple Deprivation – a composite of indicators 
including income, employment, education, health, crime, barriers 
to housings and services, living environment deprivation. 
 
BMBC – 22%, DMBC – 24%, RMBC – 22%, SCC – 22% 
(2019) 
 

Equal to UK 
level 

Climate and 

environment 
Improving ‘value’ of natural environment measured by 
ecosystem service provision. 

To be developed awaiting regular updates and reliable data.  

 
 
 

  

P
age 218



19 
 

SCR Renewal Action Plan – Targets and Indicators 

 Objective Intervention Desired Outcome 

 

Target 
P

eo
p

le
 

Help people find 

jobs and adapt to 

the new economy. 

Train to work Increase of 3,000 apprentices and over 17,000 other education, training, and 
paid work experience positions in 18 months leading to sustainable employment.   
 
The programme will also be structured to help fill skills gaps that hold back our 
tech companies, placing people in sustained employment. 

Approximately 20,000 people 
supported.  
 
The programme is targeted towards 
young people (and apprentices, 
graduates and leavers), women, 
disabled, people from BAME 
background and people from 
disadvantaged backgrounds. 
 

Back to Work This will contribute to SCR’s unemployment rate returning to pre COVID-19 
levels (5% or lower). It will also contribute to a rise in economically active people 
in SCR. 

10,000 unemployed people supported. 
 
The programme is targeted towards 
vulnerable cohorts and communities. 

Young People’s 

Skills Guarantee 

(Post-16) 

Young job seekers will be supported to secure and remain in employment 
commensurate with their skills and ambition.  
 
Additionally, learners who have fallen behind will be supported to catch up. It will 
ensure that NEET levels are below the national average. Success will be 
measured by a greater share of young people staying in employment or in 
education after 6 and 12 months. Targets will be developed through current 
graduate and leaver surveys. Data will be confirmed with longitudinal data on 
outcomes. 

4,500 people supported with a specific 
focus on the most ‘at-risk’ young 
people. 

Overcome barriers Unemployment benefit claimant counts have risen due to COVID-19. 
 
Specific targets will be dependent on nature of eventual support (e.g. caring 
responsibilities or digital skills). Empowering individuals to work (e.g. at home) 
and/or stay in education or training will allow them to support their families and 
re-engage with the labour market. Addressing challenges and the provision of 
digital assets and/or childcare could help people embrace job opportunities. This 
will result in numerous positive outputs for the City Region, such as lower UC 
claimants, higher levels of wellbeing, inclusion, productivity and income tax. In 
addition to direct benefits to the exchequer, this will result in avoided costs for 
the NHS on physical and mental health, and local economic multiplier effects. 
 

At least 15,000 people supported to re-
engage with the labour market.  
 
 

P
age 219



20 
 

 Objective Intervention Desired Outcome 
 

Target 
E

m
p

lo
ye

rs
 

Support 

employers to 

adapt, survive and 

thrive despite 

COVID-19. 

Services and 

knowledge 

support for 

COVID-19 

adaptation 

 

Arrest any decline in business stock and survival rates will improve.  Anticipated 
impacts will include direct jobs created and safeguarded, and eventual sustained 
GVA and productivity rise. 

22,727 businesses  
Based on £110 per employer 

Digital adoption 

and upskilling for 

our organisations 

Arrest any decline in business stock and survival rates will improve. Anticipated 
impacts will include direct jobs created and safeguarded, and eventual sustained 
GVA and productivity rise. 
 

Support up to 10,000 SMEs 

Flexible 

investment and 

recapitalisation 

Business stock will begin to grow. Increase business birth rate over the next 12 
months. Significant contributions to reducing carbon footprint and improving 
social inclusion. Equity investments will seek competitive rates of return and 
induce local economic multiplier effects. 

3,765 
businesses 
Based on £850,000 per employer 

Employer 

leadership 

support 

 

Arrest any decline in business stock. Longer term impacts such as GVA and 
productivity rises will be quantified in accordance with timeframe and scope. 

Support up to 1,000 businesses 

Supply chain and 

procurement 

support 

 

The programme will utilise baseline figures on local spend and supply chains to 
identify improvements. The MCA will work with Department for International 
Trade to exploit re-shoring potential. 

Support 300 businesses initially  
Protect 15,000 jobs 

  

P
age 220



21 
 

 Objective Intervention Desired Outcome 
 

Target 
P

la
ce

s 

Infrastructure 

investment to 

level up our 

economy, create 

jobs, and 

transform our 

communities. 

Covid-19 spatial 

adaptation 
Baseline information for all urban centres to allow targets to be established 
based on support offered. This would include: 

 Footfall and vacant units – e.g. no increase in empty retail premises by Q3 
2021 

 Day time/evening economy spend 

 Independent shops (ratio to national chains) 

 Density of businesses 
 

To be developed. 

Sustainable travel Capital projects which contribute to 620 miles of accessible walking and cycling 
routes across SCR to enable people to leave their cars at home and support 
multi modal travel. Improvements to bus network coverage and patronage.  
 
Delivery will also have an indirect impact upon footfall and spend. Lastly, health 
and wellbeing data from PHE will be utilised to understand direct and indirect 
health outputs. 

Maintaining COVID-19 lockdown active 
travel levels. As of the end of May 
2020, 64% of adults walked, and 14% 
cycled – representing an extra 100,000 
cyclists.  
Increased public transport patronage 
(baseline increasing but targets linked 
to pre-COVID-19 levels). 
 

Shovel-ready 

investment (de-

carbonisation) 

Key development indicators across all programmes include employment, GVA 
and other wide indicators including indirect employment, social value delivery 
and biodiversity enhancement. Benefits will be specific to capital investment 
project, and additionally will induce local economic multiplier effects. 
 
This will enable SCR to progress against ambitions for a net zero City Region by 
2040. Benefits will depend on which capital investment project are delivered, but 
will include reduced pollution, enhanced biodiversity, and health improvements. 

Creation of 2,000 new jobs across all 
programmes and carbon emissions 
outputs in line with SCR’s Net Zero by 
2040 target. 

Shovel-ready 

investment 

(infrastructure) 

Key development indicators across all programmes include employment, GVA 
and other wide indicators including indirect employment, social value delivery 
and biodiversity enhancement. Benefits will be specific to capital investment 
project, and additionally will induce local economic multiplier effects. 
 
This will begin to level up South Yorkshire and accelerate the renewal of the 
economy. The investment will enhance existing world class assets and enable 
underperforming parts of the City Region to become catalysts for growth, 
inclusion and sustainability. 

Creation or safeguarding of 4,000 new 
jobs across all programmes and 
programme indicators. 

 

 

P
age 221



22 
 

Appendix B: Logic Chains for the Thematic Areas 

 
To include the logic chain diagrams for Business Growth, Skills and Employment, AEB, Housing and Infrastructure, Transport and TCF. 

 
 
  

P
age 222



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

Sheffield City Region 

11 Broad Street West 

Sheffield 

S1 2BQ 

 

+44 (0)114 220 3400 

enquiries@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 

 

www.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 

Page 223

mailto:enquiries@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk
http://www.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Appendix A provides details of the delegations agreed by the MCA, which are in addition to those made 
under the Scheme of Delegation.  
 
Appendix B provides details of decisions taken under the delegation made to Thematic Boards and the 
subsequent delegations made to officers where appropriate. In accordance with Combined Authority’s 
Constitution/Terms of Reference for the Board, Board decisions have been ratified by the Head of Paid 
Services (or their nominee) in consultation with the Chair of the Board. 
 

Report Author  Claire James 
Post Senior Governance and Compliance Manager 

Officer responsible Stephen Batey 
Organisation Sheffield City Region 

Email Stephen.batey@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 
Telephone 0114 220 3000 

 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad 
Street West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
Other sources and references: n/a 

 

Purpose of Report 

This paper updates the Mayoral Combined Authority on  

• Decisions and delegations made by the MCA 

• Decisions and delegations made by Thematic Boards  

Thematic Priority 

All. 

Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 

Under the Freedom of Information Act this paper and any appendices will be made available under 
the Combined Authority Publication Scheme.  

Recommendations 

Members are asked to note the decisions and delegations made. 

25th January 2021 

Decisions & Delegated Authority Report 

Page 225

Agenda Item 22



This page is intentionally left blank



UI Decision Maker Date of delegation Decision Delegation Delegated to Financial value Update Status

123 MCA 27th July 2020 LGF Capital Programme Approvals - Delegates authority to 
the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the S73 and 
Monitoring Officer to enter into legal agreements for the  
progression of Greasbrough Road Improvements to full 
approval and award of £2.45m grant to Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough Council 

Enter into legal agreements Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the S73 and 
Monitoring Officer

£2.45m grant In progress Active

127 MCA 27th July 2020 Delegated authority to be given to the Head of Paid Service 
in consultation with the s73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements with the four Local Authorities for their 
respective schemes for Phase 2 schemes.

Enter into legal agreements with the four Local Authorities 
for their respective schemes for Phase 2 schemes.

 Head of Paid Service in
consultation with the s73 and 
Monitoring Officer

upto £7.939m In progress Active

139 MCA 16th November 2020 Approved the award of grant totalling £5.75m to the four 
South Yorkshire authorities to support local Covid economic 
recovery efforts.

Award of grant totalling £5.75m to the four South Yorkshire 
authorities to support local Covid economic recovery efforts.

Chief Executive and the Section 
73 Officer to transact the grant 
awards to the South Yorkshire 
authorities in the most efficient 
means possible.

£5.75m In progress Active

141 MCA 16th November 2020 Acceptance of a grant from the Department for Transport 
totalling £40.16m for the A630 Parkway Widening Scheme, 
and the onward award of that grant to Rotherham MBC.

Acceptance of a grant from the Department for Transport 
totalling £40.16m for the A630 Parkway Widening Scheme, 
and the onward award of that grant to Rotherham MBC.

Delegated authority be given to 
the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the Section 73 
and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

£40.16m Grant Accepted - Contraxt in progress Active

142 MCA 16th November 2020 Progression of Heart of the City Breathing Spaces to full 
approval and award of £4m grant to Sheffield City Council 
subject to the conditions set out in the Appraisal Panel 
Summary Table.

Progression of Heart of the City Breathing Spaces to full 
approval and award of £4m grant to Sheffield City Council

Delegated authority be given to 
the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the Section 73 
and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

£4m Contract negotiation Active

143 MCA 16th November 2020 Progression of Rotherham Town Centre Masterplan to full 
approval and award of £2.18m grant to Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough Council subject to the conditions set 
out in the Appraisal Panel Summary Table.

Progression of Rotherham Town Centre Masterplan to full 
approval and award of £2.18m grant to Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough Council 

Delegated authority be given to 
the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the Section 73 
and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

£2.18m Contract negotiation Active

144 MCA 16th November 2020  Progression of Century BIC II to full approval and award of 
£2m grant to Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 
subject to the conditions set out in the Appraisal Panel 
Summary Table.

Progression of Century BIC II to full approval and award of 
£2m grant to Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 

Delegated authority be given to 
the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the Section 73 
and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

£2m In progress Active

145 MCA 16th November 2020 Progression of iPort Bridge to Full Business Case and 
award of up to £546k business case development costs to 
South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive subject to 
the conditions set out in the Appraisal Panel Summary 
Table.

Progression of iPort Bridge to Full Business Case and 
award of up to £546k business case development costs to 
South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive

Delegated authority be given to 
the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the Section 73 
and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

£546k Stage 2 Grant Letter currently being drafted - a 
couple of issues to iron out before sending to 
Legal for approval.

Active

146 MCA 16th November 2020 Project change request from “Digital Engineering Skills 
Development Network” to agree an extension to works 
completion from September 2020 to September 2021, 
reprofile of £1.2m grant from 20/21 to 21/22 and reprofile of 
outputs and outcomes in accordance with the revised 
timescales.

Project change request from “Digital Engineering Skills 
Development Network” 

Delegated authority be given to 
the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the Section 73 
and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

£1.2m Contract Variation in Development Active

P
age 227



T
his page is intentionally left blank



UI Decision Maker Date of delegation Decision Delegation Delegated to Financial value Update Status

080 Business Board 28th August 2019 Progression of Project 0098 to full approval and award of 
£619,000 subject to the agreed conditions

Enter into the contractual arrangements required Head of Paid Service, in 
conjunction with the Monitoring 
and Section 73 Officers

£619,000 Contract in Development.
Approval conditions being progressed

Active

119 Transport Board 12th June 2020 Active Travel Emergency Fund Programme
to Sheffield City Council.

Enter into legal agreements Head of Paid Service on 
consultation with S73 Officer 
and the Monitoring Officer

£584,000 grant In Progress Active

120 Transport Board 3rd July 2020 Release of scheme costs to 4 local authorities and SYPTE 
to deliver a series of active travel and public transport 
schemes.

Enter into legal agreements Head of Paid Service on 
consultation with S73 Officer 
and the Monitoring Officer

28 schemes of values 
between £8k and 
£335k, totalling £2.94m 

In progress Active

131 Business Board 2nd September 2020 Delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the s73 and Monitoring Officer to enter into 
legal agreements for Project ‘Metlase Core Digital Products 
Architecture’ to full approval and award of £400,000 grant 
from the Local Growth Fund

Delegated Authority to the Head of Paid of Service, in 
conjunction with the Section 73 and the Monitoring Officer, 
to enter into the contractual arrangements 

Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the s73 and 
Monitoring Officer

£400,000 Funding agreement with recipient for signing Active

136 Education, Skills 
and Employment 
Board

13th November 2020 
(written procedure)

Approve the award of a £630,000 grant to DN Colleges 
Group for the Doncaster College Digital Infrastructure 
proposal subject to conditions set out in the Appraisal Panel 
Summary Table. 

Award of a £630,000 grant to DN Colleges Group for the 
Doncaster College Digital Infrastructure proposal 

Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the s73 and 
Monitoring Officer to enter into 
legal agreements for the 
scheme

£630,000 In progress Active

137 Education, Skills 
and Employment 
Board

13th November 2020 
(written procedure)

Approve the award of a £990,557 grant to DN Colleges 
Group Doncaster for the College Construction Space 
proposal subject to the conditions set out in the Appraisal 
Panel Summary Table.

 Award of a £990,557 grant to DN Colleges Group 
Doncaster for the College Construction Space

Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the s73 and 
Monitoring Officer to enter into 
legal agreements for the 
scheme

£990,557 In progress Active

P
age 229



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
 1.1 The Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority (Functions and 

Amendment) Order 2020 provides that the MCA can pay an allowance for the role of 
Mayor and Deputy Mayor following consideration of a report produced by an Independent 
Remuneration Panel (IRP). This aligns the SCR MCA to all other MCA areas. The Order 
sets out the process to be followed. The legislation states:- 
 

The Combined Authority may only pay an allowance to the Mayor or to the Deputy Mayor 

if—  

(a)the Combined Authority has considered a report published by the independent 

remuneration panel established under paragraph 7A which contains recommendations 

for such an allowance; and  

Purpose of Report 

The purpose of this report is to propose to the Combined Authority the recommended level of 
remuneration/allowance for the role Elected Mayor and for the MCA to determine the level of 
allowance payable to the Mayor. 

 
Thematic Priority 
 
N/A 
Freedom of Information and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The paper will be available under the Combined Authority Publication Scheme 

 
Recommendations 
 
 
The Combined Authority is recommended to:- 
 

a) Endorse the establishment of the Independent Remuneration Panel and that their reasonable 
time commitment be remunerated; 

b) Determine the remuneration payable to the incumbent Mayor considering the Independent 
Remuneration Panel’s recommendation that the appropriate allowance payable for the role of 
City Region Mayor is £79,000; 

c) Agree the allowance will be payable from 28th July 2020 being the date that the legislation 
allowed an allowance to be payable from; 

d) Agree that no allowance will be paid for the Deputy Mayor role; and 
e) Agree that the remuneration be reviewed in April 2023 and every 4 years thereafter; 

 

25th JANUARY 2021 
 

MAYORAL ALLOWANCE 

Page 231

Agenda Item 23



 

(b)the allowance paid by the Combined Authority does not exceed the amount 

specified in the recommendation made by the independent remuneration panel. 

 
 1.2 The IRP was established by the Monitoring Officer in November 2020. The Panel met on 

several occasions to consider comparator data/benchmarking information, the role 
generally including sphere of influence and undertook interviews with a number of MCA 
Officers, the Leader of RMBC and the Mayor himself. 
 

2. Proposal and justification  
 

 2.1 The remit of the IRP was to consider and recommend the allowance payable for the role of 
City Region Mayor. The Panel were asked not to consider the role of Deputy Mayor as the 
Leaders had indicated that they would not take up the allowance if they were appointed 
Deputy Mayor (under the 2014 MCA Establishment Order the Deputy Mayor has to be one 
of the other MCA Members i.e. one of the Leaders) 
 

 2.2 The IRP’s report is Appended hereto and will be presented at the meeting by the Chair of 
the IRP. The MCA may only pay an allowance once they have considered the report of the 
IRP recommending an allowance and that allowance payable cannot exceed the amount 
recommendation by the panel. The panel makes a recommendation that the allowance 
payable for the role of Mayor should be set at £79,000. 
 

3. Consideration of alternative approaches 
 

 3.1 Not to pay an allowance- this was not considered appropriate. Not remunerating the role of 
Mayor would mean the SCR MCA was out of line with all other MCA Mayoral roles and 
other senior elected roles and the lack of remuneration may mean that attracting suitable 
candidates for the role of Mayor is more difficult or limits the pool of candidates to those 
that have other sources of income. The remuneration reflects the important role afforded to 
City Region Mayors and the time commitment required. 
 

4. Implications 
 

 4.1 Financial 
The cost of the IRP and the allowance payable to the Mayor will initially be met from 
Mayoral Capacity Funding. From the beginning of the financial year when any MCF ceases 
the allowance will be funded from core funding. 
 

 4.2 Legal 
The MCA is statutorily allowed to pay an allowance as set out in the body of the report 
 

 4.3 Risk Management 
No implications 
 

 4.4 Equality, Diversity and Social Inclusion  
By paying an allowance the position of Mayor may be more accessible for a wider pool of 
candidates. 
 

5. Communications 
 

 5.1 N/A 
 

6. Appendices/Annexes 
 

 6.1  Appendix 1 - Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel 
 

 

Page 232



 

Report Author  S. Davenport 
Post Monitoring Officer 

Officer responsible D. Smith 
Organisation SCR MCA 

Email steved@sypte.co.uk 
Telephone 01142211353 

 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report are available for inspection at: 11 Broad Street 
West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 
 
Other sources and references: 
 
 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

A Review of Remuneration 

 

For the 

 

Elected Mayor  

 

Of the 

 

Sheffield City Region 

Combined Authority (SCRCA) 

 

 

By the 

 

Independent Remuneration Panel 

______________________________ 
 

 

Dr Declan Hall (Chair) 

Rachel Hannan 

Lisa Pogson 

 

      December 2020 

  

Page 235



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

1 
 

 

 

 

Introduction: The Regulatory Context – the SCRCA 
 

1. This report contains the recommendations made by the statutory independent 
remuneration panel (Panel or IRP) appointed by the Sheffield City Region 
Combined Authority (SCRCA) to make recommendations to the SCRCA on the 
remuneration of the elected Mayor (the Mayor) of Sheffield City Region 
Combined Authority. 
 

2. The Sheffield City Region Combined Authority was established under the 
Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority Order 2014 
(S.I. 2014/863). The SCRCA covers the four metropolitan boroughs that make 
up South Yorkshire. The Order provided for each constituent council to appoint 
one formal member of the SCRCA. These are the Leaders (or elected Mayor in 
the case of Doncaster) of the four Sheffield City Region Councils and also 
constitute the SCRCA 'cabinet' in that they each hold a thematic policy portfolio.  

 

3. The office of the elected Mayor of Sheffield City Region Combined Authority 
was established by the Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield 
Combined Authority (Election of Mayor) Order 2016 (S.I. 2016/800). This 
provided for the election of a Mayor for SCRCA on 4th May 2017 but was 
subsequently amended by the Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield 
Combined Authority (Election of Mayor) (Amendment) Order 2017 (S.I. 
2017/432) which put back the election of the SCRCA Mayor to 3rd May 2018. 
The office of elected Mayor of SCRCA was established from this date. 

 
 
The SCRCA Independent Remuneration Panel 

 
4. The Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority 

(Functions and Amendment) Order 2020 (S.I. 2020/806) provides the statutory 
basis to remunerate the elected Mayor of the SCRCA, prior to the 
implementation of this Order (28th July 2020) the post could not be 
remunerated. The same Order provides authority for the SCRCA to establish an 
Independent Remuneration Panel (or IRP) to make recommendations for the 
remuneration of the SCRCA elected Mayor and Deputy Mayor. The SCRCA 
cannot pay more than the IRP recommends although it may pay less. 
 
 

The Terms of Reference for the Review 
 

5. In accordance with the provisions of the Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and 
Sheffield Combined Authority (Functions and Amendment) Order 2020 (S.I. 
2020/806) (Part 8, paragraph 7B) the IRP has been established and tasked with 
making a recommendation to the SCRCA on the appropriate remuneration of 
the elected Mayor of the SCRCA. It has not been asked to consider 
remuneration for the Deputy Mayor. The IRP has also been tasked to 
recommend an implementation date for any recommended remuneration. 

 
 

Page 236



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

2 
 

The Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) 
 

6. The SCRCA appointed the following members of the IRP: 
 

 Dr Declan Hall (Chair):  a former lecturer at the Institute of Local   
    Government, the University of Birmingham,  
    currently an independent consultant who  
    specialises in Members Allowances and  support 
 

 Rachel Hannan::  Holds a number of Chair and Non-Executive                  
                                      Director posts across the private and not for profit  
                                      sectors. Including on a University Board where she  
                                      chairs the Remuneration Committee. Previously  
                                      Founder and Board Director of executive search &  
                                      leadership specialists GatenbySanderson. 

 

 Lisa Pogson:   Chair of Rotherham Business Growth Board,  
    immediate past President of Barnsley and  
    Rotherham Chamber of Commerce, Managing  
    Director of Air Con business, and Trustee of a  
    literacy charity 

 
7. Administrative support to the IRP was provided by Steve Davenport, Monitoring 

Office for the SCRCA.  
 
 
How the Panel approached the review 

 
8. Due to the restrictions imposed by the current Covid-19 pandemic the IRP met 

virtually via MS Teams on the following occasions:  
 

 23rd November 2020 

 26th November 2020 

 30th November 2020 

 8th   December 2020 
  

9. It was at these meetings that the IRP: 
 

 Scoped and planned the review, in terms of determining the information 
the Panel required to conduct the review, which Members to interview 
and from which Officers to receive factual briefings on the SCRCA and 
the powers of the elected Mayor. 

 Conduct interviews/factual briefings 

 Consider written data 

 Consider benchmarking data 

 Arriving at recommendations and signing off on final report 
 

10. For further details on the range of evidence the IRP considered in its 
deliberations and in arriving at its recommendations see: 
 

 Appendix 1: sets out the list of range of information that was formally 
   presented to and considered by the IRP 

Page 237



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

3 
 

 

 Appendix 2: Members who made representations to the IRP  
 

 Appendix 3 the Officers who provided factual briefings to the IRP 
 

 Appendix 4: Benchmarking data (BM1-3) reviewed by the IRP 
 
 

The evolving role of the SCRCA and Elected Mayor 

 
11. The SCRCA was established in April 2014. Is functions were related to 

Transport and Economic Development including replacing the South Yorkshire 
Integrated Transport Authority. In 2015 the government agreed a devolution 
deal with the SCRCA. This was implemented by the 2020 Order and included 
additional funding of £30 million per annum  for 30 years and the conferral of 
the following additional functions: 
 

 Spatial planning 

 Housing/Infrastructure 

 Transport 

 Skills and Education, including devolution of the annual £35 million Adult 
Education budget. 

 Tourism/Culture 

 Power to create Mayoral Development Corporations 

 Employment e.g., Health led employment trial 
 
 

12. All are SCRCA functions, but some functions are exercisable only by the 
SCRCA Mayor. The default position is that functions are non-Mayoral unless 
specified as Mayoral in an order or other enactment. The main Mayoral 
functions include 

 

 Chairing the SCRCA 

 Preparation of spatial development strategy (but needs approval of all 

SCRCA members) 

 Powers to propose the Mayoral budget, subject to full SCRCA approval 

 Bus franchising 

 Powers to designated areas of land as Mayoral development areas leading 
to the establishment of Mayoral development corporations (MCDCs) (but 
needs consent of SCRCA member(s) for area concerned) 

 Lead on Local Industrial Strategy 

 Chairing the Joint Assets Board 
 
 

13. The SCRCA is now a fully functioning Combined Authority that operates on a 
par with other longer established Combined Authorities. Similarly, the formal 
powers of the elected Mayor are now comparable, if not exceeding in some 
cases, the powers of most other Combined Authority elected Mayors. Both the 
Authority and role of elected Mayor has evolved significantly since 2014. 

 
 

Page 238



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

4 
 

Mayoral 'Soft' Powers and Leadership Skills 
  

14. In addition to the (evolving) responsibilities of the SCRCA and the 'hard' powers 
exercisable by the Mayor there is also the more ill-defined or 'soft' powers that 
the Mayor exercises. The mandate arising from being directly elected on a 
South Yorkshire-wide basis provides the Mayor with a unique platform to 
represent the SCRCA to the rest of the world and be the public face of the 
Authority on a regional, national and international level. 
 

15. By virtue of holding the post the elected Mayor is appointed to a number of 
external bodies that involve key stakeholders across the region and beyond, for 
example: 

 

 Transport for the North and Rail North 

 Yorkshire Leaders Boards 

 Convenes South Yorkshire Leaders meeting that includes the South 
Yorkshire Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Meets with South Yorkshire University Vice Chancellors and Chief 
Executives of Colleges of Further Education  

 
 
16. Also by virtue of being the elected Mayor it gives the post holder a unique 

platform that allows the Mayor to engage with other stakeholders and exercise 
influence in areas where there are no formal powers to do so. For example, the 
Mayor has set up and chairs the South Yorkshire Covid Economy Recovery 
Group with relevant stakeholders and has the aim to explore ways to emerge 
from the pandemic that protects and promotes economic growth. The Mayor is 
also the voice of South Yorkshire vis-à-vis the local and national media when 
addressing Covid-19 related issues. Another example is in relation to the recent 
flooding that affected South Yorkshire. The Mayor has no formal powers vis-à-
vis the environment, but the Mayor has used the Mayoral platform to work with 
local authorities, DEFRA and the regional Water Authority to address solutions 
to future potential flooding in South Yorkshire. 
 

17. If anything it is this aspect of the role of SCRCA Mayor that has become more 
important than their formal power. The Mayor has been called upon to take on a 
wider regional (i.e. Northern) role and has become the public face of the SCR. 
The SCRCA Mayor has become the main point of public accountability for 
SCRCA and the region. This can be in response to major events of public 
interest or simply seen as the ‘go to’ office holder for the media when they want 
a SCR response on topics of regional interest or a whole plethora of issues that 
are seen as having a SCR  impact, even where the SCRCA Mayor is not 
directly responsible for such issues. 
 

18. An element of enhanced regional role and sharpened accountability may be 
down to having an active SCRCA Mayor, but irrespective of the individual who 
may hold the post the nature of the SCRCA is such that the profile of the 
SCRCA Mayor would be significant regardless. It produces a whole place and 
people approach and partnership style of working. The SCRCA Mayor has 
become the principal champion and spokesperson for the SCR on both the 
national and international stage.  Moreover, the role of elected Mayor will 

Page 239



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

5 
 

continue to evolve as devolution rolls out generally and in Sheffield City Region 
in particular. 

 

 

The current post holder and role of the IRP 

 

19. The IRP notes that the current SCRCA elected Mayor is also an MP. This partly 
arises out of the historical context, in that as a non-remunerated post it meant 
that only someone who had independent means or other remuneration could 
stand for the post as it could not be paid until this year. The IRP views the post 
as a full time equivalent and notes that the current elected Mayor is active, 
putting a great deal of time to both elected posts held. 

 

20. Nonetheless, the remit of the IRP is to assess the role rather than the individual. 
As such, taking into account the significance of the role, it has to recommend a 
remuneration that provides sufficient support to enable a wide range of potential 
candidates to put themselves forward for election without having to rely on other 
means to support themselves. 

 
 

Benchmarking - other comparable roles  
South Yorkshire Council Leaders/Mayor, Other Public Office Holder and Metro 
Mayors 
 
21. The IRP undertook an extensive benchmarking exercise to compare how other 

public posts were paid. A starting point was the remuneration of the 
Leaders/elected Mayor of the four South Yorkshire Councils, which shows a 
median remuneration of £37,943. While it is acknowledged that the South 
Yorkshire constituent council Leaders and elected Mayor have extensive 
executive powers within their respective authorities, the scope and remit of the 
SCRCA and nature of the role and responsibilities of the SCRCA Mayor, has 
led the IRP to conclude that the roles are not directly comparable. 
 
 
Comparing SCRCA  Mayor to other public posts 
 

22. The IRP also looked at the remuneration of a range of other public post holders 
(see appendix four for full details) and noted that IRPs for other Combined 
Authorities paid particular attention to the remuneration of their local Police and 
Crime Commissioner and that of a UK MP, particularly what MPs were paid at 
the time of their review. In particular, a number of other Combined Authority 
IRPs had linked their respective recommended Mayoral remuneration to that of 
an MP, followed by paying close cognisance to the remuneration of the local 
Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 

23. The IRP noted that these posts are currently paid a follows: 
 

 UK MP       £81,932 

 South Yorkshire Police & Crime Commissioner £85,000 
 
 

Page 240



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

6 
 

24. The IRP concluded that these posts and their remuneration were not particularly 
relevant for benchmarking purposes. While the role of SCRCA elected Mayor 
can be seen as larger than that of both MP and South Yorkshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner in terms of strategic responsibilities and range of soft 
powers, the remuneration of both MPs and Police and Crime Commissioners 
have been determined nationally, by the Independent Parliamentary Standards 
Authority (IPSA) in the case of MPs and the Home Secretary on advice from the 
Senior Salaries Review Body (SSRB) in the case of Police and Crime 
Commissioners. As such, national determination has traditionally paid higher 
remuneration than when the matter is a locally devolved responsibility. 
 
 
Elected Mayors of other English Combined Authorities 

 
25. Unlike when other IRPs were assessing remuneration for their respective 

Combined Authority Mayors there is now a meaningful number of elected 
Mayors of the other Combined Authorities to benchmark against. The current 
remuneration of other Metro Mayors are as follows 
 

 Greater Manchester     £110,000 

 Liverpool City  Region    £80,631 

 West Midlands     £79,000 

 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough    £75,000 

 West of England     £65,000 

 North of the Tyne     £65,000 

 Tees Valley      £36,592 
 
 

26. The median remuneration of English metro Mayors is £75,000. 
 

27. The IRP notes that the remuneration of nearly all other Metro Mayors was 
determined 2-3 years ago (thus building in a lag when it comes to 
benchmarking). It also considered that the SCRCA was more comparable to the 
Liverpool City Region and West Midlands Combined Authorities, therefore 
making the role of the SCRCA elected Mayor more significant than that of the 
average CA elected Mayor. Therefore, the IRP has taken the median 
remuneration (£75,000) paid to other Combined Authority elected Mayors as a 
baseline and uplifted it to £79,000. 

 

28. In arriving at this figure the IRP noted that the role of elected Mayor of the 
SCRCA is significant and complex - not necessarily fully recognised in the 
constitutional roles, but also in the exercise of 'soft' powers derived from the 
platform that the role gives the elected Mayor. The IRP has looked at a wide 
range of benchmarking, across other public sector and elected roles. The IRP 
concluded that the level of influence, scale and complexity of the role was 
greater than some other roles used as benchmarks elsewhere by other IRPs in 
the absence of other MCA comparators in the past. Therefore, while the IRP 
considered the role of MPs and the PCC in South Yorkshire and assessed they 
did not have the same level of breadth and influence as that of the elected 
Mayor, the IRP did note their remuneration was higher than the level the IRP is 
recommending. However, the IRP concluded these comparisons were not as 
useful as other Mayoral Combined Authorities in terms of being relevant 

Page 241



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

7 
 

benchmarks and noted that the higher levels of remuneration for MPs and 
Police and Crime Commissioners may have been influenced by the fact this 
remuneration had been set by national bodies. The IRP did feel that the level of 
these other salaries in the region, while the roles are not directly comparable, 
did further underline the appropriateness of setting the SCRCA remuneration 
slightly above the median remuneration of English Metro Mayors. 
 

29. The IRP was also cognisant that the Authority could not adopt a higher 
remuneration than recommended, but could always adopt a lower figure than 
recommended. It further notes that the remuneration of Metro elected Mayors is 
not pensionable, unlike MPs and Police and Crime Commissioners for instance. 
In London under provisions of the Greater London Authority Act 1999 (section 
26) the Mayor and members of the Assembly may still be entitled to other 
pension provision. Such alternative provision has been made and from 1st 
January 2018 pensions for elected Members are provided under a Master Trust 
Pension Scheme and administered by Aviva, for Members who choose to join it. 
No similar separate provision exists for Metro Mayor’s remuneration. 

 

 
The IRPs recommendation 

 
30. Thus bearing in mind the evolution of the role of the SCRCA Mayor, the 

representation received and benchmarking the IRP has concluded that the 
remuneration of the SCRCA Mayor should be £79,000.  

 

31. The IRP recommends that the remuneration of the SCRCA Mayor is set at 
£79,000. 
 

 
A future review 

 
32. The IRP notes that it is the intention of the SCRCA to undertake a further review 

of Mayoral remuneration to be completed by April 2023. The IRP welcomes this 
intention and will use that opportunity to review the appropriateness of the 
recommendation arising out this review taking into account any changes in the 
remit of the SCRCA and the role of elected Mayor. 

 
 

Implementation of Recommendations 

 

33. The IRP recommends that the recommended remuneration of £79,000 for 

the SCRCA elected Mayor is backdated to the date when the Barnsley, 

Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority (Functions and 

Amendment) Order 2020 (which gives authority for the SCRCA to 

remunerate the Mayor) came into force, which is 28th July 2020. 

Page 242



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

8 
 

Appendix One: List of Information considered by the IRP 
 
 
Information the IRP has received 
 
1. Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority Order 2014 

(S.I. 2014/863). 
 

2. Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority (Functions 
and Amendment) Order 2020 (S.I. 2020/806), which also provides legal authority 
for the IRP and sets out the IRP’s terms of reference 
 

3. Independent Mayoral Panel – Independent Member Brief – November 2020 
 

4. SCRCA Constitution, 21 September 2020 with particular reference to  
a. Article 2  –   Functions of the Authority 
b. Article 3  –   Members of the Authority 
c. Article 4 –   Chairing the Authority 
d. Article 14 Part 3 –  Functions of the Authority 
e. Article 14 Part 4 –  Responsibility for Functions 
 

5. SCRCA meetings schedule 2020/21 
 

6. SCRCA Thematic/Portfolio Responsibilities, as set out in Appendices 4-7 of the 
Constitution 
 

7. SCRCA – Mayoral Role/Job Description 
 

8. Benchmarking data (see appendix four for summary data) 
a. BM1 – Remuneration of S. Yorks Leader/elected Mayor 

b. BM2 – Remuneration of other CA elected Mayors 

c. BM3 – Remuneration of other Public Post holders, including 

i. S. Yorks Police and Crime Commissioner 

ii. Members of the devolved assemblies/Parliament 

iii. MPS and Government Ministers 

iv. NHS Trusts – Chair and Non-Executive Directors 

v. GLA and Other London-wide Public Bodies 

d. Comparing CA population, devolved powers budgets and Mayoral 

remuneration 

 

9. IRP Reports from other Combined Authorities, namely 

a. West of England Combined Authority IRP Reports September 2019  

b. Report by the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority 

IRP, April 2017 

c. Liverpool City Region, IRP Report – City Region Elected Mayor 

Remuneration, 21 April 2017 

d. A Review of Remuneration for the Elected Mayor of the SCR CA and 

the Independent Members/Person appointed to the SCR CA Audit and 

Standards Committee by the IRP, March 2020  

Page 243



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

9 
 

e. West Midland IRP Report on Mayoral Remuneration, 3 March 2017 

f. IRP Report for Elected Mayor’s Remuneration, North of Tyne Combined 

Authority, January 2019 

 
 

 
 

Page 244



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

10 
 

Appendix Two: Member Representations to IRP 
 
 
Dan Jarvis   SCRCA elected Mayor  
 
Cllr C. Read Leader of Rotherham Council and SCRCA Board Member 

and Thematic Portfolio Holder for Transport & 
Environment 

  
 
 
 
  

Page 245



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

11 
 

 

Appendix Three – Officers who briefed the Panel 
 
David Smith   Chief Executive, SCR CA 
 
Stephen Batty  Director of Mayor’s Office / Head of Governance, SCR CA
    
Gareth Sutton  SCRCA Group Finance Director / Section 73 Officer 
 
Steve Davenport  SCRCA Monitoring Officer 
 
 
  

Page 246



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

12 
 

Appendix Four: Benchmarking Data 
 

Remuneration Paid to Leaders/Elected Mayor in the four South 
Yorkshire Authorities 2020/21 

South Yorkshire 
Council 

Basic Allowance SRA Total Remuneration 

Barnsley £11,309 £27,255 £38,564 

Doncaster £13,216 £52,864 £66,080 

Rotherham (17/18) £11,471 £25,851 £37,322 

Sheffield £12,678 £19,616 £32,294 

Mean £12,169 £31,397 £43,565 

Median £12,075 £26,553 £37,943 

Lowest £11,309 £19,616 £32,294 

Highest £13,216 £52,864 £66,080 

 
  

Page 247



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

13 
 

Remuneration Paid to Elected Mayors in English Combined 
Authorities 2020/21 

Combined Authority Remuneration 

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough  £75,000 

Greater Manchester £110,000 

Liverpool City Region £80,631 

North of Tyne £65,000 

Tees Valley £36,592 

West of England £65,000 

West Midlands £79,000 

Sheffield City Region Not Paid 

West Yorkshire No Mayor 

Mean £73,032 

Median £75,000 

Lowest £36,592 

Highest £110,000 

 
 
 
  

Page 248



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

14 
 

SCR CA: Salaries other public posts benchmarked 
 – November 2020 (unless indicated otherwise) 
 

UK/Devolved Nations – elected representatives  
 

 UK MPs:       £81,932 
 

 Minister of State (UK)     £116,0191 
 

 UK Parliamentary Under Secretary   £106,4092 
 

 Member of the (NI) Legislative Assembly:  £50,500 
 

 Member of the Scottish Parliament:   £64,470 
 

 Member of the Welsh Assembly:   £67,649  
 
 

GLA/Other London Public Bodies  
 

 Mayor of London:     £152,734 
 

 Statutory Deputy Mayor    £105,269 
 

 Chair of London Assembly:    £70,225 
 

 London Assembly Members:    £58,543  
 

 Chair London Pension Funds Authority  £50,800 

 

NHS – Non Executive Appointments Remunerations 
 

 NHS Non-Executive £13,000 (1 April 2021) 
 

 NHS Trust Chair £40,000 - £55,500 (min 1/04/21) 
 £43,000 - £60,000 (min1/04/22)3 

Police and Crime Commissioners 
 

 South Yorkshire   
Police & Crime Commissioner £85,0004 
 

 Where a PCC also has responsibility for fire £3,000 extra 

                                                           
1 MPs Salary £81,932 (April 2020)  + Minister of State Salary £34,087 (April 2019) 
2 MPs Salary £81,932 (April 2020)  + Parliamentary Under Secretary  Salary £24,477 (April 2019) 
3 NHS, Structure to align remuneration of chairs and non-executive directors of NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation 
Trusts. Chairs salary range is dependent on annual turnover of Trust. 
4 SSRB recommended 2% increase across the board in 2018 but found no evidence of implementation 

Page 249



SCR CA: Comparing CA population, devolved powers, budgets and Mayoral remuneration 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority 

Council areas covered Population 
size 

Devolved powers Devolved budget 
(£’000) 

Elected Mayor 
remuneration 

Sheffield City Region 
(Mayoral) Combined 
Authority 

Sheffield City Council 
Rotherham MBC 
Barnsley MBC 
Doncaster MBC 
 

1.4 million 
South 
Yorkshire only 

Transport  
Skills, training & Adult Education 
Housing 
Economic development 
Business Support 
Non-statutory spatial planning 
Tourism/Culture; 
Power for to create Mayoral 
Development Corporations; 
Employment 

£189,729 N/A 

Liverpool City Region 
(Mayoral) Combined 
Authority 

Liverpool City Council 
Halton Borough Council 
Knowsley MBC 
Sefton Council 
St Helens Borough Council 
Wirral MBC 
 

1.5 million Transport 
Economic development; 
Energy & environment 
Skills, Adult Education and 
apprenticeships  
Culture 
Power to create Mayoral 
Development Corporation 

£631,966 
 

£80,631 

Greater Manchester 
(Mayoral) Combined 
Authority 

Manchester  
City Council  
Salford City Council Bolton 
MBC 
Bury MBC 
Oldham MBC, Rochdale 
MBC 
Stockport MBC 
Tameside MBC 
Trafford MBC 
Wigan MBC  

2.8 million Transport; 
Economic development, 
Business support; 
regeneration and housing; 
Strategic spatial planning  
Skills and training; 
Police and Crime Commissioner; 
Fire and Rescue 
Waste 
Public health co-ordination 
powers 
Power to create Mayoral 
Development Corporation  

£973,303 £110,000 

P
age 250



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

1 
 

West of England 
Combined Authority 

Bath and North East 
Somerset Council 
Bristol City Council 
South Gloucestershire 
Council 
 

1.1 million 
 

Economic development; 
transport 
Skills, apprenticeships and adult 
education; 
Power to create Mayoral 
development Corporation 
Housing 
Employment 

£182,372 £65,000 

Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough 

Cambridgeshire County 
Council 
Cambridge City Council 
Peterborough City Council 
Fenland District Council 
East Cambridgeshire District 
Council 
Fenland District Council 
Huntingdon District Council 

855,796  
 

Transport  
Skills & Adult Education budget; 
Housing 
Economic growth/Business 
Support 
Non-statutory spatial planning 
 

£198,124 £75,000 

North of Tyne  
 

Newcastle City Council 
North Tyneside MBC 
Northumberland County 
Council 

880,000 Economic Development/Business 
Support; 
Housing; 
Power to create Mayoral 
development Corporation; 
Skills and adult education budget; 
Tourism/culture. 
Transport 
 

£59,155 £65,000 

Tees Valley  
 
 
 
 

Darlington, 
Hartlepool; 
Middlesbrough; 
Redcar; and  
Stockton-on-Tees 
 

1.2 million Economic Development; 
Business support; 
Skills and Adult Education 
Budget; 
Transport 
Mayoral Development corporation 
Powers; 
Tourism/culture; 
Housing. 

£185,056 £36,592 

P
age 251



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

2 
 

West Midlands 
 
 
 

Birmingham 
Coventry 
Dudley 
Sandwell 
Solihull 
Walsall 
Wolverhampton 
 

2.9 million Transport 
Economic Development 
Housing & Regeneration 
Productivity & Skills 
Culture & Digital 
Environment & Energy & HS2 
Industrial Strategy 
  

£940,400 £79,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 252



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

3 
 

 
 
 
 
SCRCA BM3: Salaries other public posts benchmarked 
 – March 2020 (unless indicated otherwise) 
 

UK/Devolved Nations – elected representatives  
 

 UK MPs:        £79,468  
 

 Minister of State (UK)      £113,5555 
 

 Member of the (NI) Legislative Assembly:   £50,050 
 

 Member of the Scottish Parliament:    £63,579 
 

 Member of the Welsh Assembly:    £67,649  
 
 

GLA/Other London Public Bodies  
 

 Mayor of London:      £152,734 
 

 Statutory Deputy Mayor     £105,269 
 

 Chair of London Assembly:     £70,225 
 

                                                           
5 MPs Salary £79,468  + Minister of State Salary £34,087 (April 2019) 

P
age 253



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

4 
 

 London Assembly Members:     £58,543  
 

 Chair London Pension Funds Authority   £50,800 
 
 

Elected Mayors Combined Authorities salaries 
 

 Greater Manchester      £110,000 
 

 Liverpool City  Region      £89,000 
 

 West Midlands       £79,000 
 

 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough     £75,000 
 

 West of England       £65,000 
 

 North of the Tyne      £65,000 
 

 Tees Valley       £38,500 
 

 Sheffield City  Region      No remuneration6 
 

 West Yorkshire       No elected Mayor 

 

NHS – Non Executive Appointments Remunerations 
 

 NHS Non-Executive £11,500 (1 April 2020) 
 

 NHS Trust Chair £35-£40,000 (2018/19)7 
                                                           
6 Post holder is also an MP and draws MPs salary only 

P
age 254



SCRCA IRP  Review of Mayoral Remuneration 2020 

5 
 

 £55,500 (minimum 1/04/21) 
 £60,000 (minimum 1/04/22) 
 
 

Police and Crime Commissioners 
 

 West Midlands & West Yorkshire  
Police & Crime Commissioner £100,0008 
 

 Where a PCC also has responsibility for fire £3,000 extra 
 
 

 
 
 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
7 UHL Full Annual Report 2018-19, p.31 
8 SSRB recommended 2% increase across the board in 2018 but only implemented for four lower bands 

P
age 255



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 257

Agenda Item 24
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	10 Minutes of the last meeting
	11 Working Win Extension
	Appendix A : The service

	12 Housing Fund (Brownfield)
	Appendix 1 – Housing Fund (Brownfield) Appraisal Panel Summary
	Appendix 2 – Housing Fund (Brownfield) Draft Prospectus

	13 Adult Education Budget Commissioning - Update
	Annex A – Lot descriptions as per live procurement.

	14 Strategic Economic Plan
	Appendix A - Final SEP

	15 Programme Approvals
	Appendix A: Sheffield Heart of the City Breathing Spaces Appraisal Panel Summary

	16 Implications of the Spending Review
	Annex A – letter to the Chancellor

	17 Budget and Business Plan Development 2021/22
	Appendix 1: South Yorkshire Transport Financial Strategy 2021/22
	Appendix 1a: South Yorkshire Transport: Draft Revenue Budget 2021/22 Detail
	Appendix 1b: South Yorkshire Transport: Draft Capital Programme 2021/22 Detail
	Appendix 1c: South Yorkshire Transport: Draft Capital Programme 2021-2026
	Appendix 1d: South Yorkshire Transport: Draft Capital Programme 2021/22 Funding
	Appendix 2: Group Spending Power: Forecast Funding

	18 Budget Revision 3
	Appendix 1: Detailed Budget Monitoring Reports
	Appendix 2: Mid-year Treasury Report
	Appendix 3: Gainshare Commitments

	19 Geographic Focus and brand of the MCA and future collaboration with the MCA's non-constituent authorities
	20 Appointment of SYPTE Non-Executive Director
	21 Assurance and Monitoring & Evaluation Framework
	Appendix A - Draft Monitoring and Evaluation Framework

	22 Delegated Authority Report
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	23 Mayoral Remuneration
	Appendix 1 - Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel

	24 Freeport Bid Submission

